Endodontic Prognosis

Clinical Guide for Optimal Treatment Outcome

Nadia Chugal Louis M. Lin *Editors*



Endodontic Prognosis

Nadia Chugal • Louis M. Lin Editors

Endodontic Prognosis

Clinical Guide for Optimal Treatment Outcome



Editors Nadia Chugal Section of Endodontics UCLA School of Dentistry Los Angeles California USA

Louis M. Lin Dept of Endodontics NYU College of Dentistry New York New York USA

ISBN 978-3-319-42410-1 ISBN 978-3-319-42412-5 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-42412-5

Library of Congress Control Number: 2016960548

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG Switzerland The registered company address is Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland To my family, friends, and mentors for their love, support, and encouragement. Nadia Chugal

Foreword

It is indeed a privilege to write this foreword for an Endodontics book with prognosis as its main emphasis. While all practitioners aspire to achieve the highest levels of success of treatment, the definition of this success and the factors that affect it receive very little attention among clinicians. Complicating this matter is that, with the exception of resolution of pain or purulent drainage, true and complete endodontic success is not demonstrable clinically until a long period has passed after treatment, typically measured in years. The difficulty in establishing an effective follow-up program for all patients, especially that they are typically asymptomatic, has led many practitioners to rely only on surrogate measures of success like the quality of the obturation and the resolutions of symptoms. While there are some population-based data in the literature to support reliance on these parameters, they clearly provide an incomplete assessment of prognosis.

As one reflects on this book's working definition of endodontics, as the prevention and/or elimination of apical periodontitis, it is reasonable to reconsider whether this is still consistent with recent information as noted in the relevant chapters. For example, the word "prevention" is used in a discipline in which home care is not thought to affect the outcome of treatment. The intent likely arose from the need to diagnose irreversible pathosis more vigilantly, in order to perform the endodontic treatment at this stage, and avoid pathogenesis of apical periodontitis. However, recent advances in vital pulp therapy leads one to question whether the priority is still to remove the vital inflamed pulp at all costs to assure the goal of preventing apical periodontitis. The growing interest in pulp and dentin regeneration, the advent of more biocompatible reparative materials, and the presence of good outcome studies on vital pulp therapy make one reflect more on this classic definition of endodontic therapy.

This book also provides an excellent discussion in several chapters of the radiographic detection of emergent and residual disease, as it has evolved in the last 60 years or so. Today, tools like CBCT allow us to visualize this disease earlier in the diagnostic process, and for a longer period after treatment. Therefore, there is more of an overlap in the pulpitis/apical periodontitis spectrum of diagnosis, and perhaps a longer period when teeth with apical radiolucencies may be considered healing. There are even questions as to whether teeth with long-standing small radiolucencies, and no other abnormalities, should be retreated or subjected to root end surgery. There is more realization that complete bone regeneration may not be achievable in many of these asymptomatic cases, the way it is not achievable in cases with marginal periodontitis.

Postoperative factors that affect the prognosis are also of particular interest. The profession has in the last decade transitioned from relying on bench-top laboratory studies to clinical outcome studies in making many clinical decisions that are related to coronal leakage. The question remains as to who controls the prognosis to a larger extent: is it the practitioner that did the endodontic therapy or the one who restored the tooth?

Finally, this book eloquently addresses the emerging concept of personalized endodontics, in which the prognosis may be affected by a combination of the unique and complex microbiota that causes the disease, together with the systemic health of the patient, as well as genetic and epigenetic variability among patients. This area promises to provide us in future more detailed predictors for outcomes, which can help the provider with treatment planning and help the patient with decision making.

Ashraf F. Fouad, DDS, MS

Preface

This book distinguishes itself from endodontic textbooks because it is the first textbook completely focused on the prognosis of endodontic treatments. Our goal for this book was to make recent results at the forefront of endodontics accessible for clinical practice.

The book is intended to serve as a clinical guide to help practitioners in their clinical decision-making process and ultimately improve endodontic treatment outcomes.

The goal of endodontic treatment is to prevent and/or eliminate apical periodontitis, a disease entity occurring as a result of microbiologic challenge to the pulp and periradicular tissues. Like many other human diseases, endodontic treatment outcomes are profoundly affected by a multitude of prognostic factors. These determinants of treatment success or failure can exert their effect preoperatively, intraoperatively, and postoperatively. Therefore, it is important for the clinician to be familiar with the favorable predictors of outcome as well as prognostic risk factors. This knowledge is essential to effectively circumvent and manage risks in order to achieve the desired treatment result.

We first outlined the theme of every chapter that we considered important for the book. We then invited experts in their respective areas to write on the specific topics. These topics include both basic and clinical sciences and cover several key aspects of endodontic prognosis. The multidisciplinary authorship by highly respected clinicians and scientists reflects the multifactorial nature of endodontic outcome.

Outcome assessment of endodontic therapy has evolved from Strindberg's stringent criteria that emphasized the absence of clinical symptoms/signs and restoration of normal structure of the periapical tissues to newer patient-centered criteria focusing on the absence of clinical symptoms/signs and survivability and functionality of endodontically treated teeth even with the presence of small and stable periapical lesions. However, as pulpal and periapical pathosis is a disease, a tooth with a persistent inflammatory periapical lesion after treatment, regardless of its size, should be considered as unsuccessful elimination of the disease. Therefore, complete elimination of the disease still remains the ultimate goal of root canal treatment.

We hope that the readers will enjoy this book and benefit from it, as much as we have enjoyed spending our time and energy working on it.

Nadia Chugal Louis M. Lin

Acknowledgments

We thank all contributors for their time, support, and contributions to this book. Without their generosity and dedication, this book would not have been published. We wish to express our deep appreciation for the many cases, radiographic images, photographs, and histologic slides provided by our colleagues. We also thank the editors from Springer for believing in us and for their support, understanding, and patience.

> Nadia Chugal Louis M. Lin

Contents

1	Introduction: Endodontic Prognosis and Outcome Nadia Chugal, Louis M. Lin, and Bill Kahler	. 1
2	Microbiology and Immunology of Endodontic Infections Luis E. Chávez de Paz and Gunnar Dahlén	13
3	Diagnosis of Pulpal and Periradicular Disease Katsushi Okazaki, Matthew Malek, Nadia Chugal, and Louis M. Lin	29
4	Endodontic Treatment of Mature Teeth Louis M. Lin, Simona Loghin, and Domenico Ricucci	43
5	Regenerative Approaches in Endodontic Therapies of Immature Teeth. Mo K. Kang and George Bogen	65
6	Endodontic Pharmacotherapeutics	87
7	Anatomy, Access, and Length Determination	115
8	Instrumentation and Disinfection of Root Canals Frederic Barnett and José F. Siqueira Jr.	131
9	Obturation of Root Canals Dag Ørstavik	141
10	Restoration of Endodontically Treated Teeth Nadim Z. Baba, Shane N. White, and George Bogen	161
11	Local, Systemic, and Genetic Considerations of Endodontic Treatment Prognosis Matthew Malek and Louis M. Lin	193

12	Criteria for Outcome Assessment of Nonsurgical Endodontic Treatment Nadia Chugal, Sanjay M. Mallya, and Bill Kahler	211
13	From Tooth Retention Through Root Canal Treatment to Extraction and Replacement Shane N. White and Mahmoud Torabinejad	229
Ind	ex	239

Introduction: Endodontic Prognosis and Outcome

1

Nadia Chugal, Louis M. Lin, and Bill Kahler

Many authors display a propensity to reduce complex problems such as success and failure to terms so simple that a casual reader with little effort can expand a narrow grasp of the subject into a broad convenient misunderstanding

Dudley Glick, DDS Excerpt from a lecture Year unknown

Abstract

Prognosis and outcome are two terms routinely used in medicine and dentistry to predict and assess the treatment of disease. Prognosis is a practitioner's assessment about how a patient will recover from an illness or injury. It is a forecast of the probable course of recovery for any particular disease considering the assessment of the case. Outcome is the end result of the treatment and a consequence of treatment decisions made by the practitioner. In endodontics, there are prognostic factors which are universal to all cases as well as variables unique to a specific case, all of which can affect endodontic treatment outcomes. Prognostic factors can be grouped into preoperative, intraoperative, and postoperative. They influence endodontic treatment outcomes indirectly through control and elimination of infection. Importantly, an understanding of prognostic factors helps practitioners as well as patients decide the appropriate treatment procedures and is especially important for higher-risk conditions such as teeth with a periapical

L.M. Lin

B. Kahler

N. Chugal (\boxtimes)

Section of Endodontics, UCLA School of Dentistry, Los Angeles, CA, USA e-mail: nchugal@dentistry.ucla.edu

Department of Endodontics, New York University College of Dentistry, New York, NY, USA e-mail: lml7@nyu.edu

School of Dentistry, University of Queensland, Brisbane, QLD, Australia e-mail: wyattkahler@bigpond.com

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 N. Chugal, L.M. Lin (eds.), *Endodontic Prognosis*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-42412-5_1

lesion, calcified canals, resorption, and others. This applies to immature or mature teeth for consideration for nonsurgical or surgical management. Although many prognostic factors are not under the control of the practitioners, they can nevertheless be managed by a practitioner's thorough evaluation of the presenting condition, risk assessment inherent in each individual case, and application of biologically based therapies alongside with technical competency. Treatment outcome is usually assessed using clinical and radiographic examination and has evolved from Strindberg's stringent criteria to patient-centered criteria. Practitioners have to be familiar with the prognostic factors to inform patients of the appropriate treatment modalities and to achieve the optimal treatment outcome.

1.1 Introduction

The terms prognosis and outcome are routinely applied in medicine and dentistry. They are used to predict and evaluate the result of disease treatment. Prognosis is a forecast about probable course and outcome of a disease and chances of recovery [1]. Applied to endodontics, it is a prediction of the outcome of resolution of apical periodontitis. This forecast of the outcome is summarized by the practitioner for the patients and serves to inform them how they will recover from an illness or injury [1]. It synthesizes the prospect of recovery as anticipated from the usual course of disease, or in the case of endodontics, the risk assessment of variables that may influence the treatment outcome [1]. Outcome, on the other hand, is a measure of the success of the treatment, as a result of an activity or a process, and is a consequence of the decisions made during the course of treatment. Applied to endodontic treatment [1].

There are a number of well-researched studies that elucidated prognostic factors that exert significant effect on endodontic outcome. In turn, this information can be used to prognosticate the course of disease resolution and predict the end result of the proposed treatment.

Practitioners can systematically evaluate prognostic factors to guide their patients in the decision-making process and ultimately propose the best treatment options to achieve an optimal outcome. In accordance with evidence-based dentistry principles, the patients are also members of the treatment planning team and have the right to know the prognosis and expected outcome before commencement of treatment. Given this information, patients can evaluate their treatment options and make an informed decision about the need or preference for their treatment choices [2].

Optimal dental treatment planning requires an accurate assessment of the outcome of the proposed endodontic treatment. This assessment, however, is dependent on a correct understanding of variables affecting the outcome and must be done with both high validity and reliability [3]. When such assessment

is made, it is possible to offer the patient a wide range of appropriate endodontic treatment options.

1.2 Multifactorial Nature of Endodontic Outcome

The multifactorial nature of endodontic outcome has been demonstrated in numerous studies that have addressed a wide range of factors with the potential to impact on endodontic treatment outcome. Outcome studies and recent systematic reviews identified biologic- and treatment-associated variables as well as restorative factors that are the most predictive of treatment outcome for contemporary conventional endodontic therapy [4–9]. These studies applied advanced statistical methods to determine the magnitude of risk the identified variables exert on outcome [3, 10]. Therefore, prognostic factors, which can affect the outcome of endodontic therapies, are multiple and intertwined in complex relationships. An overview of these interconnected variables and their possible relationships is illustrated (Fig. 1.1).

Some prognostic factors, such as the presence and extent of periapical lesion (Fig. 1.2); the complexity of the root canal system, especially in cases with apical periodontitis (Fig. 1.3); obliterated canal(s) due to hyper-mineralization (Figs. 1.4 and 1.5); pathologic or idiopathic root resorption (Fig. 1.6); and infection-induced apical root resorption (Fig. 1.7), are not under the control of treatment providers. However, most conditions can be managed by practitioners through a systematic evaluation and risk assessment followed by application of sound biologic treatment



Fig. 1.1 Possible relationships between prognostic factors affecting the outcome of endodontic treatment



Fig. 1.2 (a) Occlusal radiograph showing large periradicular cyst-like lesion that extended to the floor of the nasal sinuses and along the mesial surface of the canine and the distal border of the implant in the central incisor site. (b) Occlusal radiograph showing the completed root filling. Some extrusion of sealer is evident. (c) Occlusal radiograph showing complete osseous repair consistent with favorable healing outcome.

Lower frame (a) Cone-beam imaging showing extent of lesion surrounding the lateral incisor. (b) Cone-beam imaging showing extent of lesion surrounding the implant. (c) Cone-beam imaging showing lesion involving the distal aspect of the implant and the roots of the lateral incisor, canine, and first premolar tooth (Images reproduced from Kahler B. Healing of a cyst-like lesion involving an implant with nonsurgical management. Journal of Endodontics 2015;41:749–752)



Fig. 1.3 (a) Preoperative radiograph of tooth #10 exhibiting complex tooth anatomy. Large periapical radiolucency is approximately 10 mm in diameter. (b) Completion of root canal treatment. Final radiograph after obturation shows the extent of periapical bone destruction. (c) A 15 month follow up radiograph prior to commencing orthodontic treatment shows significant reduction in size of periapical radiolucency. (d) A two year post endodontic treatment and one year in orthodontic treatment. The residual radiolucency that remains may be indicative of healing with scar formation. (e) A four year follow up after endodontic treatment and six months after completion of orthodontic treatment, the treatment exhibits successful outcome. (f) An eighteen year follow up shows normal periradicular structures (Images courtesy of Dr. Nadia Chugal)



Fig. 1.4 (a) Radiograph of tooth #8 showing large periapical lucency and no canal is evident. (b) The tooth is root filled though the root filling is not centered in the root which has the potential to affect outcome. (c) At 18 month review the PA lucency is reduced in size and the tooth is asymptomatic. This case is an example of a 'functional outcome' as the strict Strindberg criterion has not yet been met. However further healing with time is still possible (Images courtesy of Dr. Bill Kahler)

principles and technical expertise in order to achieve an optimal treatment outcome. Often, a complex-presenting condition of the tooth comprises multiple risk factors (Fig. 1.8).

Importantly, an understanding of these high-impact factors assists practitioner's decision-making process about the appropriate treatment procedures. In addition, it also has practical implications related to treatment execution and preparation of armamentariums necessary to treat these preexisting conditions. For example, protocols may be different for immature vs. mature teeth, teeth with or without a periapical lesion, and for both nonsurgical and surgical management.

For clarity of analysis and comprehension, they can be grouped into three major categories: preoperative, intraoperative, and postoperative.

1.3 Preoperative Factors

An accurate assessment of the pulpal and periapical diagnosis is essential for an understanding of the major biological factors as this diagnosis reflects a change in the disease process and the extent of the infection into the periapical tissues [4, 6, 11, 12]. The literature is unequivocal that preoperative presence *vs.* absence of periradicular osteolysis is one major indicator of postoperative healing or failure [4, 10, 13, 14]. Consequently, teeth with a preoperative periapical lesion have a poorer outcome than teeth without a periapical lesion after nonsurgical root canal treatment [4, 7, 10, 14]. In addition, larger bone lesions show a significantly lower frequency of complete regeneration of the periapical bone than smaller lesions (4, 103). Therefore, when a periapical lesion is present, the smaller the lesion, the more favorable is the treatment prognosis [4, 10]. However, successful resolution of large



Fig. 1.5 (a) Radiograph of tooth #9 with a history of trauma. The root tip is blunted consistent with apical resorption. The canal appears to have undergone complete obliteration in the coronal half of the root. The canal in the apical half of the root is of an irregular shape and not centered in the root. (b) CBCT imaging revealed an irregular resorptive lesion in the apical half of the root. Therefore more complex imaging was advantageous as interpretation of conventional periapical radiography was suggestive of canal patency. Furthermore the extensive periapical radiolucency is revealed with erosion of the buccal and palatal cortical bone plates. After consultation with the patient it was decided that optimal treatment option was surgical management due to the prognostic considerations of calcified canal, resorptive defect in the apical third of the root and the extensive periapical radiolucency. (c) A radiograph taken after the surgical revision and placement of a MTA retrofill. (d) A radiograph at a 2 year review showing an intact lamina dura and periodontal ligament space around the root. The periapical radiolucency is consistent with a periapical scar and is a common observation following surgery when both cortical plates have been eroded (Images courtesy of Dr. Bill Kahler)

periapical radiolucencies is often achieved (Figs. 1.2 and 1.3), although the risk of future surgical treatment remains.

Teeth with a preoperative periapical lesion usually have a long-standing root canal infection compared to teeth without a periapical lesion. Therefore, these teeth have a well-established biofilm in the canal [15]. In addition, bacteria may also establish infection in some periapical lesions, resulting in an extraradicular infection [16].



Fig. 1.6 (a) Preoperative periapical radiograph of symptomatic first maxillary molar where crown was placed one month earlier. (b) CBCT images revealed a Heithersay Grade III invasive cervical lesion highly suggestive of pulpal involvement. (c) Radiograph showing completed root filling and resorptive lesion filled with mineral trioxide aggregate (Images courtesy of Dr. Bill Kahler)



Fig. 1.7 (a) Pre-treatment periapical radiograph showing periapical radiolucency around the mesial root of the mandibular first molar (*white arrow*). Note external resorption of the mesial root apex. (**b**–**e**) Sequential periapical radiographs over twenty four months follow up after completion of endodontic treatment show an increase in the radiodensity of the periapical bone, although a minimal area of rarefaction remains. Further resolution of the radiolucency with time is expected and at this stage can be considered as healing and a functional outcome as the tooth is asymptomatic (Images courtesy of Dr. Nadia Chugal)



Fig. 1.8 (a) Preoperative periapical and (b) bitewing radiographs shows large periapical radiolucencies associated with mesial and distal root apices, missed and untreated canals, fractured instrument and near perforation of pulpal floor. (c) Completion of root canal treatment. (d) Nine months follow up radiograph shows significant reduction in size of periapical lesion. Further healing with time is likely. Patient remained asymptomatic and the tooth was functional (Images courtesy of Dr. Nadia Chugal)

Consequently, it would be more difficult to eliminate bacteria in the root canal system in teeth with than without a periapical lesion, thus affecting treatment outcome.

Medical conditions such as diabetes is one of the constitutive preoperative factors, negatively affecting the success of endodontic treatment of teeth with apical periodontitis [17, 18]. This is in addition to the major effect of the presence and magnitude of the infection of root canal system and structural condition of the tooth in question. The existence of these factors is usually not under the control of the practitioner.

1.4 Intraoperative Factors

Practitioners through systematic and thorough preoperative evaluation and a wellexecuted clinical protocol can manage most intraoperative factors, such as level of instrumentation, quality of root canal obturation, and procedural mishaps. Overinstrumentation could introduce necrotic tissue and bacteria in the root canal into the periapical tissues [19, 20]. Under-instrumentation could leave bacteria in the apical few millimeters of the root canal [21].

The level of instrumentation of root canals is important for elimination of infection and may not be the same for roots with a normal periapex or with apical periodontitis [22]. For teeth with apical periodontitis, it has been shown that one millimeter loss of working length is associated with 14% and 12% decrease in favorable outcome, respectively [10, 23].

In terms of underfilling, it should be distinguished between complete instrumentation and underfilling and incomplete instrumentation and underfilling. The former has a better outcome than the latter because of elimination of intra-canal bacteria. Inadequate root canal obturation with voids may allow coronal leakage of oral bacteria to reach the periapical tissues [24, 25]. A separated instrument or root perforation may prevent complete chemomechanical debridement of the canal system apical to the separated instrument or perforation, thus preventing effective elimination of bacteria in the root canal system and compromising the treatment outcome [26].

1.5 Postoperative Factors

Postoperative factors, such as timely placement and quality of coronal restoration of endodontically treated teeth, are under the control of the dentist and the patient. The importance of an adequate coronal restoration of endodontically treated teeth in relation to the success of root canal treatment has been demonstrated in many studies [27–30]. For the best outcome, endodontically treated teeth should have both an adequate root canal treatment and adequate coronal restoration [30]. A permanent coronal restoration is critical for prevention of reinfection and further damage to the structural integrity of the tooth [3, 9, 27, 28, 31].

1.6 Effect of Root Canal Infection on Treatment Outcome

Maximizing successful outcomes for endodontic treatment rests on the elimination of microorganisms from the infected root canals [6, 11-14] and without bacterial inoculation of the periapical tissue [19, 20]. It must be emphasized that of all prognostic factors, the reduction and/or elimination of root canal infection is the key to the successful endodontic treatment outcome [32]. The effect of residual infection on treatment results was demonstrated in human and animal studies. A clinical study of the human teeth with apical periodontitis showed that negative bacteriologic cultures before root filling resulted in 94% success rate of root canal therapy. In contrast, if bacteriologic cultures were positive, the success rate was reduced to 68% [13, 14]. An animal model study on monkeys showed that 79% of treated root canals had non-healed periapical lesions when bacteria remained after endodontic treatment, compared to 28% where no bacteria were found [33]. It was also reported that it is the presence of bacteria in the canal and not underfilling or overfilling that is the primary cause of persistent apical periodontitis of endodontically treated teeth [12]. Periapical lesions could heal even without placement of a root canal filling, if the root canal infection was effectively controlled and coronal leakage was prevented [34, 35]. Sometimes, even endodontically well-treated teeth could fail [36]. Therefore, prognostic factors have a profound effect on the control of root canal infection and subsequent treatment outcome.

1.7 Outcomes in Endodontic Therapy

Outcome is the consequence or the result of the treatment of disease, which is profoundly influenced by a multitude of prognostic factors. Outcome of endodontic therapy is usually assessed using radiographic and clinical examination. Radiographic examination is to detect the presence or absence of a periapical lesion and clinical examination for the presence or absence of symptoms/signs. Both conventional periapical radiography and cone beam computed tomography have been employed for radiographic examination in endodontics [37, 38]. Outcome assessment of endodontic therapy has evolved from Strindberg's stringent criteria emphasizing the absence of clinical symptoms/signs and restoration of normal structure of the periapical tissues [4] to the patient-centered criteria focusing on absence of clinical symptoms/signs and survivability and functionality of endodon-tically treated teeth even with the presence of small and stable periapical lesions [39, 40]. However, the patient should be fully informed of the difference between disease and survival or function of a tooth. As pulpal and periapical pathosis is considered a disease, then a tooth with persistent inflammatory periapical lesion after treatment, regardless of its size, should be considered as unsuccessful elimination of the disease. Therefore, complete elimination of disease still remains the ultimate goal of root canal treatment.

There is a wide range in reported success rates of endodontic therapy [4-6]. This can be attributed to variations in criteria for outcome measures, proportion of teeth of a given type in a study, length of follow-up period, distribution of preoperative diagnoses, interoperator and inter-evaluator variability, and endodontic treatment-associated factors [4, 5, 41-43]. These variations make it difficult to make a valid comparison between the findings of different studies.

Most prognostic factors in endodontic therapy can be managed by practitioners through careful evaluation of the risk factors and execution of appropriate treatment planning. Practitioners should always perform at the best standard of care to achieve the best treatment outcome [44]. It is paramount that both the patient and practitioner have a full understanding of the prognostic factors and the risks to subsequent outcome before commencement of root canal treatment.

Conclusion

To augment understanding and effective management of prognostic factors associated with optimal outcome of endodontic treatment, individual chapters of this book are dedicated to key facets of endodontic therapy. These include the range of essential topics, from accurate diagnosis of pulpal-periapical status to pathobiology of pulpal-periapical tissues. The appropriate treatment plan for the various stages of pulpal-periapical disease and meticulous treatment procedures to eliminate root canal infection and prevent reinfection are presented. At the end, the outcome assessment of the treatment and post-treatment sequelae is presented.

Acknowledgments We thank Dr. Sanjay Mallya and Brian Lozano for assistance with preparation of the illustrations.

References

- Friedman S. Treatment outcome and prognosis of endodontic therapy. In: Ørstavik D, Pitt Ford TR, editors. Essential endodontology. Oxford: Blackwell Science Ltd; 1998. p. 367–401. Chapter 15.
- 2. American Dental Association. Center for Evidence-Based Dentistry. http://ebd.ada.org/en/
- Chugal NM, Clive JM, Spångberg LSW. A prognostic model for assessment of the outcome of endodontic treatment: effect of biologic and diagnostic variables. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2001;91:342–52.

- 4. Strindberg LZ. The dependence of the results of pulp therapy on certain factors. Acta Odontol Scand. 1956;14:1–175.
- Seltzer S, Bender IB, Smith J, Freedman I, Nazimov H. Endodontic failures an analysis based on clinical, roentgenographic and histologic findings. Part II. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1967;23:517–30.
- Sjögren U, Hägglund B, Sundqvist G, Wing K. Factors affecting the long-term results of endodontic treatment. J Endod. 1990;16:498–504.
- Ng Y-L, Mann S, Rahbaran J, Lewsey J, Gulabivala K. Outcome of primary root canal treatment: systematic review of the literature – Part 2. Influence of clinical factors. Int Endod J. 2008;41:6–31.
- Chugal N, Wang JK, Wang R, He X, Kang M, Li J, Zhou X, Shi W, Lux R. Molecular characterization of the microbial flora residing at the apical portion of infected root canals of human teeth. J Endod. 2011;37:159–64.
- 9. Ng Y-L, Mann V, Gulabivala K. A prospective study of the factors affecting outcomes of nonsurgical root canal treatment: Part 2: tooth survival. Int Endod J. 2011;44:610–25.
- Ng Y-L, Mann V, Gulabivala K. A prospective study of the factors affecting outcomes of nonsurgical root canal treatment: Part 1: periapical health. Int Endod J. 2011;44:583–609.
- 11. Engström B, Härd af Segerstad L, Ramström G, Frostell G. Correlation of positive cultures with the prognosis for root canal treatment. Odontol Revy. 1964;15:257–70.
- 12. Lin LM, Skribner J, Gaengler P. Factors associated with endodontic treatment failures. J Endod. 1992;18:625–7.
- Byström A, Happonen R-P, Sjögren U, Sundqvist G. Healing of periapical lesions of pulpless teeth after endodontic treatment with controlled asepsis. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1987;3:58–63.
- Sjögren U, Figdor D, Persson S, Sundqvist G, Wing K. Influence of infection at the time of root filling on the outcome of endodontic treatment of teeth with apical periodontitis. Int Endod J. 1997;30:297–306.
- 15. Ricucci D, Siqueira Jr JK. Biofilm and apical periodontitis: study of prevalence and association with clinical and histopathologic findings. J Endod. 2010;36:1277–88.
- Tronstad L, Barnett F, Riso K, Slot J. Extraradicular endodontic infections. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1987;3:86–90.
- 17. Fouad AF, Burlson J. The effect of diabetes mellitus on endodontic treatment outcome: data from an electronic patient record. J Am Dent Assoc. 2003;134:43–51.
- Sequra-Egea JJ, Castellanos-Cosano L, Machca G, López-López J, Martín-González J, Velasco-Ortega E, Sánchez-Domínguez B, López-Frías FJ. Diabetes mellitus, periapical inflammation and endodontic treatment outcome. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2012;17:e356–61.
- 19. Bergenholtz G, Lekholm U, Milthon R, Engström B. Influence of apical overinstrumentation and overfilling on re-treated root canals. J Endod. 1979;5:310–4.
- Bergenholtz G, Lekholm U, Milthon R, Heden G, Ödesjö B, Engström B. Retreatment of endodontic fillings. Scand J Dent Res. 1979;87:217–24.
- 21. Baumgartner JC, Falkler Jr WA. Bacteria in the apical 5 mm of the infected root canals. J Endod. 1991;17:380–3.
- Wu MK, Wesselink PR, Walton RE. Apical terminus location of root canal treatment procedures. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2000;89:99–103.
- Chugal N, Clive JM, Spångberg LSW. Endodontic infection: some biologic and treatment factors associated with outcome. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2003;96:81–90.
- 24. Boucher Y, Matossian L, Rillard F, Machtou P. Radiographic evaluation of the prevalence and technical quality of root canal treatment in a French subpopulation. Int Endod J. 2002;35:229–38.
- 25. Frisk F, Hugoson A, Hakeberg M. Technical quality of root fillings and periapical status in root filled teeth in Jonkoping, Sweden. Int Endod J. 2008;41:958–68.
- Lin LM, Rosenberg PA, Lin J. Do procedural errors cause endodontic treatment failure? J Am Dent Assoc. 2005;136:187–93.

- 27. Ray HA, Trope M. Periapical status of endodontically treated teeth in relation to the technical quality of the root canal filling and coronal restoration. Int Endod J. 1995;28:21–8.
- Tronstad L, Asbjornsen K, Doving L, Pedersen I, Eriksen HM. Influence of coronal restoration on the periapical health of endodontically treated teeth. Endod Dent Traumatol. 2000;16:218–21.
- 29. Tavares PB, Bonte E, Boukpessi T, Siqueira Jr JF, Lasfargues JJ. Prevalence of apical periodontitis in root canal-treated teeth from an urban French population: influence of quality of root canal fillings and coronal restorations. J Endod. 2009;35:810–3.
- 30. Gillen BM, Looney SW, Gu L-S, Loushine BA, Weller RN, Loushine RJ, Pashley DH, Tay FR. Impact of the quality of coronal restoration versus the quality of root canal filling on success of root canal treatment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Endod. 2011;37:895–902.
- 31. Chugal N, Clive JM, Spångberg LSW. Endodontic treatment outcome: effect of the permanent restoration. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2007;104:576–82.
- 32. Nair PN. Pathogenesis of apical periodontitis and the cause of endodontic failure. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med. 2004;15:348–81.
- 33. Fabricius L, Dahlin G, Sundqvist G, Happonen RP, Möller AJ. Influence of residual bacteria on periapical tissue healing after chemomechanical treatment and root filling of experimentally infected monkey teeth. Eur J Oral Sci. 2006;114:278–85.
- 34. Klevant FJ, Eggink CO. The effect of canal preparation on periapical disease. Int Endod J. 1983;16:68–75.
- 35. Sabeti MA, Nekofar M, Motahhary P, Ghandi M, Simon JH. Healing of apical periodontitis after endodontic treatment with and without obturation in dogs. J Endod. 2006;32:628–33.
- 36. Siqueira Jr JF. Aetiology of root canal treatment failure: why well-treated teeth can fail. Int Endod J. 2001;34:1–10.
- Cotton TP, Geisler TM, Holden DT, Schwartz SA, Schindler WG. Endodontic applications of cone-beam volumetric tomography. J Endod. 2007;33:1121–32.
- Ørstavik D, Kerekes K, Eriksen HM. The periapical index: a scoring system for radiographic assessment of apical periodontitis. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1986;2:20–34.
- 39. Friedman S. Prognosis of initial endodontic therapy. Endod Top. 2002;2:59-88.
- Friedman S, Mor C. The success of endodontic therapy healing and functionality. CDAJ. 2004;32:493–503.
- Kerekes K, Tronstad L. Long-term results of endodontic treatment performed with a standardized technique. J Endod. 1979;5:83–90.
- Goldman M, Pearson AH, Darzenta N. Reliability of radiographic interpretation. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1974;38:287–93.
- 43. Reit C, Hollender L. Radiographic evaluation of endodontic therapy and the influence of observer variation. Scand J Dent Res. 1983;91:205–12.
- 44. American Association of Endodontists. The standard of practice in contemporary endodontics. Colleagues for Excellence Newsletter. 2014. http://www.aae.org/publications-and-research/ endodontics-colleagues-for-excellence-newsletter/standard-of-practice-in-contemporaryendodontics.aspx

Microbiology and Immunology of Endodontic Infections

Luis E. Chávez de Paz and Gunnar Dahlén

Abstract

Endodontic infections are complex diseases associated with apical tissue inflammation that is determined by microbial, immunological, and environmental factors. During the past years, the integration of research tools, including molecular techniques for identification, sophisticated in vitro modeling, and human microbiome analysis, has provided additional insight in the understanding of endodontic infections. Recent studies suggest that the basis for infections associated to root canals of teeth is polymicrobial in nature and includes the emergence of microbial colonization in form of biofilms. Biofilms deep seated in areas that are difficult to reach by mechanical treatment will enhance microbial virulence, antibiotic resistance, colonization potential, and resistance. Furthermore, with the advent of the human oral microbiome project, insights on the differences among oral microfloras in different individuals appear to have an important role in progressing endodontic infections. This chapter discusses the current data regarding the role that microbial biofilms play in endodontic infections, as well as its place in the current knowledge of endodontic microbiology. The complex relations between the root canal microflora and the inflammatory response in apical periodontitis are also highlighted in this chapter, as well as their implications in regard to the diagnosis and clinical management of endodontic infections.

L.E. Chávez de Paz, DDS, MS, PhD (🖂)

G. Dahlén, DDS, PhD

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-42412-5_2

Department of Endodontics, Karolinska Institute, Stockholm, Sweden e-mail: luis.chavez.de.paz@ki.se

Department of Oral Microbiology and Immunology, Institute of Odontology, Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, Box 450, Göteborg, SE 40530, Sweden

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 N. Chugal, L.M. Lin (eds.), *Endodontic Prognosis*,

2.1 The Oral and Root Canal Environments

2.1.1 The Oral Ecosystem

The oral ecosystem comprises a group of sites including the tongue, mucosa, gingival sulcus, and tooth surfaces, each of which possesses unique ecological characteristics that foster the growth of different kinds of microorganisms. The general characteristics of the oral ecosystem include a constant temperature; the presence of various soft and hard tissue surfaces to adhere, colonize, and grow; and a variable supply of soluble nutrients. Specific collections of oral bacteria, also known as oral plaque, are associated to different sites in the oral ecosystem [1,2].

2.1.2 Microbial Colonization of Tooth Surfaces

The tooth surface is an ideal site for microbial colonization, as it comprises plenty of moisture, air, and the intervallic input of nutrients during food intake [3,4]. The microbial plaque associated to the tooth surfaces is divided into supragingival and subgingival, in reference to its location from the gingival margin. The microbial composition and differences of these two types of dental plaque are principally connected to ecological changes, pH, and nutritional factors. While the nutritional sources for supragingival plaque include dietary components, saliva, and gingival crevicular fluid, the subgingival plaque depends predominately on host-derived components of crevicular fluid, which has a composition similar to serum [5].

2.1.3 Oral Health and Disease

Health of the different structures in the oral cavity is dependent on the interplay between bacteria and their microenvironments, including the participation of immunological factors such as antigens, both humoral and cellular. This ecological balance affecting oral health is of great complexity as it can also be influenced by external factors such as nutrition, habits, and the social lifestyle of each individual.

Marsh in 2003 proposed the ecological plaque hypothesis to clarify the changes in oral ecology that lead to the development of common oral diseases such as caries or periodontal disease. Caries and periodontitis occur as consequence of imbalances in the resident microflora resulting from enrichment within the microbial community of selected microorganisms that are associated with disease [6,7]. Excessive consumption of dietary fermentable carbohydrates will favor the overgrowth of highly fermentative aciduric organisms, e.g., *Streptococcus mutans* and *Lactobacillus* species. The acidified microenvironment produced by these organisms promotes the demineralization of the hydroxyapatite matrix of enamel, thus increasing the risk of dental caries. In the case of periodontal disease, lack of oral hygiene causes accumulation of dental biofilm in the subgingival sulcus, thus inducing a chronic inflammatory condition. This inflammatory process will concomitantly lead to a change of the subgingival flora favoring the increase of anaerobic proteolytic Gram-negative bacteria and ultimately result in the destruction of the connective tissues and bone that supports the teeth [8].

2.1.4 The Root Canal Ecosystem

Unlike other sites in the oral ecosystem, the root canals of teeth are naturally sterile compartments that contain healthy dental pulp tissue. Dental pulp is a highly vascularized and innervated connective tissue that extends to the apex of the tooth. Dental pulp also contains an efficient immune system that reacts in response to microbial invasion [9-11].

Once bacteria have invaded the root canal space, they encounter with a highly controlled environment primarily affected by the presence of active inflammatory mediators. After the pulpal inflammatory barrier is defeated, a variety of environmental changes in root canals act as selective factors limiting the growth of one species relative to others [10]. The main selective factors that influence bacterial colonization and growth in root canals are pH, oxygen (redox potential), and nutrient availability. Following root canal treatment, other selective factors become involved, in particular during treatment and the short-/long-term effects of the antibacterial medicaments applied. Hence, microbial survival in root canal environments, especially after root canal treatment, is based on the capacity of organisms to adapt to the existing conditions [12]. Microbial adaptation to environmental challenges is facilitated by survival, in many cases in a dormant stage, and growth in biofilms.

2.2 Root Canal Infections

2.2.1 Pathways of Microbial Entry

The integrity of the hard tissue barriers that protect the pulp may be breached by a number of reasons. The most common microbial challenge of the pulp derives from deep carious lesions. Other routes of entry include trauma, fracture, and cracks as well as following unprotected iatrogenic exposure in mechanic dental procedures. The root canal space may be also exposed in teeth with severe periodontal disease. In the later cases, bacteria may gain access through accessory lateral and furcal canals and lastly through the apical foramen. Root resorption, root caries, and breaches in the cementum may also lead to bacterial invasion into the pulpal space [13,14].

2.2.2 Pulp Inflammatory Reaction

The pulp tissue reacts with inflammation already when the caries lesion and the bacteria reach the dentin. The bacteria and their metabolic products, such as acids, enter the dentin tubuli and have a direct communication with the pulp. At this stage the pulp executes a rapid inflammatory response that neutralizes the invasive agents and repairs the damaged tissue. However, depending on the damage caused by the offensive stimulus, e.g., an extensive caries lesion, the inflammatory response

executed by the pulp may intensify reaching up to destructive levels. The stage when the inflammatory response exceeds the limit from a reversible to an irreversible state is unknown. However, irreversibility is marked by the accumulation of mediators that ultimately lead to necrosis. These alterations in the pulp tissues may result in severe pain that could last for several days [15–17].

2.2.3 Primary Invaders

Typically, the microorganisms that are responsible for the initial inflammatory response of the vital pulp tissue are associated to the carious dentin. The flora is predominantly Gram-positive saccharolytic species, foremost *Lactobacillus* spp. and *Streptococcus* spp (*Streptococcus mutans, Streptococcus sanguinis, Streptococcus oralis, Streptococcus mitis, Streptococcus salivarius*), but also *Actinomyces, Propionibacterium, Corynebacterium*, and *Bifidobacterium* spp. are commonly present. They are acid producers (acidogenic) and acid tolerant (aciduric). These microorganisms will acquire their nutrients from the saliva through the carious lesion as well as from the exudate of the pulp.

2.2.4 Progression of the Infection

During and after necrosis of the pulp, a critical invasion of the pulp chamber and the canals will occur, with microbial invaders establishing in the necrotic mass or attached to inner dentin walls in the form of biofilms. Bacteria that progress with the invasive mass have an armamentarium of immunoevasive strategies, including the secretion of exoproducts, antibiotic-resistance proteins, and phenotypic changes, which renders them virtually invulnerable from the remaining immune response (Fig. 2.1). The physical and immunological protection provided by the biofilm structures they form is probably key in their long-term survival. After a while, an inflammatory lesion in the periapical tissues known as apical periodontitis will develop.

2.2.5 The Endodontic Pathogen

Endodontic pathogens are defined as any organism capable of inducing the tissue destruction in apical periodontitis [18]. Currently, however, there is no substantial evidence indicating that certain microorganisms of the microbial flora in root canal infections are more virulent than others. Thus, it is very hard to differentiate between simple bystanders (commensals) and those that are actively participating in the infection (true pathogens). The majority of endodontic-microbiology studies refer to the endodontic pathogen as the bacterium isolated from a symptom-associated root canal that grows in the laboratory in a specific media. By this approach, the most frequently recovered species have assumed the role of endodontic pathogen [12].

Production of specific proteases that are produced as modulators or toxins	The bacterial cell surface is modulated to avoid recognition: lipid A of LPS, carbohydrates in capsules, outer membrane proteins and by expressing adhesins & invasins
Inhibition of phagocytosis by multiple-cell clustering	Immune cells/phagocytes are directly subverted or killed by superantigens, avoidance of phagolysosomal fusion, blockage of inflammatory pathways or replication within immune cells
Interference with TLRs ligands to decrease recognition, to dampen inflammation and to inhibit downstream inflammation signaling	Blockage of antimicrobial small molecules by secretion of proteases, alteration of cell surface to avoid peptide insertion, usage of pumps to transport peptides and directly sense small molecules to trigger defence mechanisms
Blockage of acquired immunity by IgA proteases and antigen presentation	Modulation of apoptosis/autophagy by direct inhibition, activation of death signaling pathways and alteration of apoptotic signaling pathways
Production of antigenics: surface structures, pili, outer membrane proteins, LPS (hyper-variable from specie to specie)	Complement system is inhibitied by degrading proteases, capsules and long chain LPS
Inhibition of cytokines interferon/chemokines by blocking inflammatory pathways, activation of alternate pathways and secretion of degrading proteases	

Fig. 2.1 Immunoevasive strategies of bacteria

2.2.6 Polymicrobial Nature of Root Canal Infections

Based on results from traditional culture techniques, root canal infections are provoked by only few pathogens. For example, the predominance of proteolytic blackpigmented anaerobic organisms in cultures from infected root canals associated with acute symptoms and the occurrence of monocultures of *E. faecalis* in persistent root canal infections have suggested that these organisms are primary agents in such cases. However, comprehensive analyses of the root canal microbiome by using high-throughput molecular techniques have revealed that the root canals are a reservoir of previously unrecognized but clinically relevant organisms [19].

The polymicrobial nature of root canal infections was also confirmed by a number of studies using in vivo animal models [20]. In a study with monkeys, different combinations of bacteria were experimentally inoculated in root canals, and periapical lesions were induced. The teeth were treated endodontically and followed up radiographically and histologically for 2–2.5 years. In the root canals with bacteria present when the root filling was removed, 30 of the 31 canals had persisting periapical lesions.

Importantly, more of these non-healed lesions were associated with various combinations of bacterial strains, i.e., mixed infections, than single strains. Additional experiments using an "eight-strain collection" of species, derived from one infected root canal that were reinoculated in equal proportions into other monkey teeth, revealed a more potent capacity for tissue destruction than inoculations with pure cultures [20].

2.3 The Biofilm Lifestyle

The biofilm mode of growth is the preferred lifestyle of bacteria in natural and artificial settings. When bacteria in a liquid phase are in the presence of available surfaces, such as dentinal walls in the root canal of teeth, they have the affinity to adhere and form biofilms. Biofilm communities are structured and heterogeneous, matrix-encased bacterial communities where bacteria adapt their phenotype into highly resistant toward stress, host immunological defenses, and antibiotics [21,22].

2.3.1 How Bacteria Build Biofilms

There are several steps bacteria undertake to build a biofilm. First, a free-floating cell (planktonic) approaches a surface that has been pre-coated with proteins (constituting receptors) and deposits from the environment. The bacterial cell then establishes a transient association with the surface by means of Brownian motion, convective transport, and/or expression of structural elements such as fimbriae and flagella [23,24]. Within short, this cell-surface association becomes stable and starts the formation of a microcolony, either by co-adhesion with other biofilm cells or by active reproductive traits. The colony/biofilm formation is further favored by mechanical forces in areas with narrow compartments and no streaming (flow) system such as the apical labyrinth. Of importance during this phase is the expression of extracellular polymers (EPS) such as polysaccharides, proteins, nucleic acids, and phospholipids [25], which will build up the backbone of the biofilm, the matrix. Lastly, the microcolonies mature into a three-dimensional structure encased in the extracellular matrix. Occasionally, the biofilm-associated bacteria detach from the biofilm matrix. These steps in biofilm formation are shown in Fig. 2.2.

2.3.2 Biofilms Formed in Root Canals

Microorganisms in root canals have been found to colonize by adhering to dentin walls in all the extension of the root canals, such as the inner walls of complex apex anatomies and accessory canals [26,27]. In 2004, Svensater and Bergenholtz proposed a hypothesis for biofilm formation in root canals. Root canal biofilm formation is initiated directly after the first invasion of the pulp chamber by oral organisms following pulp tissue inflammatory breakdown. The inflammatory lesion frontage will then move successively toward the apex providing the fluid vehicle for the invading organisms so these can multiply and continue attaching to the root canal walls. This hypothesis has been confirmed by light microscopy observations, where



Fig. 2.2 Development of a multispecies biofilm over time. (1) Formation of conditioning film on the surface, (2) initial adherence of bacterial cells, (3) irreversible attachment and multiplication and formation of microcolonies, and (4) maturation of the biofilm, matrix formation

bacteria have been observed to detach from inner root canal surfaces and occasionally mass in the inflammatory lesion per se. This observation could explain how the inflammatory lesion would serve as a fluid source for bacterial biofilm detachment and colonization of apical areas of root canals and beyond.

2.3.3 Why Bacteria Form Biofilms

The physiology of a bacterium in planktonic culture is profoundly different from that of the same organism growing on a surface in a biofilm [28]. Planktonic bacteria are generally more sensitive to antimicrobial agents as they are in direct contact with the agent in bulk fluid. Current knowledge indicates that biofilm formation is regulated in response to environmental conditions that vary among different species. After a planktonic cell has recognized a "surface signal," a number of regulatory mechanisms take place in the cell that turn on the switch from a free-floating to a biofilm lifestyle. These regulatory mechanisms, also known as surface sensing, in many cases involve specialized outer cell membrane receptors and projections such as the bacterial flagellum [29]. This primary mechanosensory role of flagella is critical in the initial stages of the formation of a biofilm and is what triggers a cascade of intracellular events leading to the formation of the biofilm phenotype. Acquiring this biofilm phenotype will cause that bacteria are protected against antimicrobial agents mainly due to the establishment in heterogeneous populations in biofilms, with differences in growth rate and gene expression [30]. The heterogeneous nature of dental biofilms, with cooperation and selective binding of antimicrobials, further makes the biofilm a difficult therapeutic target.

2.3.4 Biofilm Resistance to Antimicrobials

Typically, the efficacy of antimicrobials in endodontics has often been based on their activity against microorganisms grown in liquid cultures in vitro. However, these test systems using planktonic cells do not represent the conditions in vivo because the microorganisms to be targeted rather than being free-floating are organized in biofilm

structures attached to the root canal walls. These microbial biofilm communities are noticeably resistant to and difficult to eradicate with antimicrobials.

The increased tolerance and resistance of biofilm cells compared to planktonics are thought to be regulated by a number of mechanisms including slow penetration of the antimicrobial agent through the biofilm, changes in the chemical microenvironment within the biofilm (leading to zones of slow or no growth), adaptive stress responses, and the presence of a small population of extremely tolerant "persister" cells [31]. These persister cells can tolerate antimicrobial agents (i.e., they are not killed) and can be considered as specialized survivors.

Studying the resistance of biofilm bacteria to antimicrobials calls for relevant in vitro models that will approximate the clinical conditions. Although the testing of antimicrobial agents against bacteria in biofilms has not been standardized, some studies have used models that include the mechanical removal of biofilm cells followed by traditional cell cultures for CFU enumeration [32,33]. Alternative approaches include the use of confocal microscopy combined with fluorescent viability staining for in situ investigation of antimicrobial effects on biofilms [34]. In a recent report, a biofilm analysis method was presented which included the assessment of both cell membrane viability and biofilm structure to assess in situ the effectiveness of antimicrobials against bacteria in biofilms. It was determined that after controlling variables such as substratum conditioning, variations of structure in biofilms and the distribution of viable cells with active metabolism could be monitored after the application of common antimicrobial agents used in the clinic [35]. NaOCl (1%) affected the membrane integrity of all organisms tested and removed most biofilm cells. Exposure to EDTA (50 mmol/L) affected the membrane integrity in all organisms but failed to remove more than a few cells in biofilms of E. faecalis, L. paracasei, and S. anginosus. Chlorhexidine (2.5%) had a mild effect on the membrane integrity of *E. faecalis* and removed only 50% of its biofilm cells. It has to be noted that the antimicrobial effects were substratum dependent and that most organisms displayed increased resistance to the antimicrobials on collagen-coated surfaces. These findings provide further evidence that bacteria in surface-adhered biofilm monocultures have a variable resistance to antimicrobial stress, which demands for reproducible multispecies biofilm models.

2.4 Microbiological Methods Used in Endodontics

2.4.1 Microbial Identification by Culture and Molecular Methods

Conventionally, microorganisms from root canals were identified from samples obtained during endodontic treatment procedures via culture techniques that grew bacteria with improved media. Although culture techniques are laborious and require a great deal of knowledge and lab experience, accurate identification of species by means of anaerobic methods, biochemical tests and analysis for antibiotic sensitivity can be efficiently accomplished. Traditional culture-based studies have identified an increased number of anaerobes, which in some cases they totally predominate the microbial results from teeth with primary infections.

More recently, however, molecular techniques have been applied on root canal samples [36]. Molecular techniques do not rely on culture but instead use specific probes to search for bacterial DNA and/or RNA. The principle of molecular techniques is based on targeting highly conserved DNA sequences that different species of microorganisms possess. These conserved genes, mainly the 16S rRNA gene, make molecular identification extremely accurate. A plethora of molecular methods now exist some of which can also quantify different bacterial groups, at least in relative values. Molecular studies have shown an unsuspected wide range of bacteria, including previously uncultured bacteria, for which most laboratories do not search with conventional culture. By using even more advanced methods like pyrosequencing, it has been possible also to identify a lot more species previously unknown in root canal infections. On the other hand, molecular biology methods are hampered by the fact that they do not distinguish between dead and viable bacteria. Generally, it is believed that molecular biology methods especially in teeth under treatment disclose dead bacteria or even remaining nucleic acids that are of little relevance for the infection ("false positives"). It is also important to point out that the root canal flora is highly variable depending at the stage of infection.

In conclusion, it is important to point out that both techniques are complementary to each other rather than one can substitute the other. Further clinical trials combining both techniques are granted in order to complement their results (Fig. 2.3).



Fig. 2.3 Outline of the methods used for the isolation and identification of root canal bacteria

2.4.2 Differences in Microbial Composition

Conclusively, culture and molecular methods have determined that the root canal flora varies according to the clinical condition. It should be emphasized that even in studies using molecular biology methods, anaerobic Gram-negative bacteria such as *Porphyromonas (P. gingivalis, P. endodontalis), Prevotella (P. intermedia, P. nigrescens), Campylobacter (C. rectus, C. gracilis), Fusobacterium nucleatum, and Tannerella forsythia* constitute the dominating part of the microbial recovery. In addition, molecular biology methods have disclosed a number of previously unculturable bacterial species, e.g., *Treponema (T. denticola, T. socranskii, T. pectinovorum, T. maltophilium, T. endodontalis), Dialister, Megashaera, Olsenella,* and some unnamed clones of *Synergistes*.

2.4.3 In Situ Microscopy

In situ microscopy techniques are valuable tools to study microbial community structures in an undisturbed fashion [37–39]. Techniques such as scanning electron microscopy (SEM) and laser scanning microscopy (LSM) offer impressive views of the structural organization of microbial communities in three dimensions.

SEM offers impressive views of the structural organization of microbial biofilms; however, it needs careful preparation of samples that might affect the natural structure of the communities (Fig. 2.4).

LSM allows the direct analyses of biofilm communities without destructive preparation steps. LSM combines the scanning possibility of the electron microscope with simultaneous observations of organism identity (using specific hybridization probes). One of the main advantages of this technique is that it collects information from discrete points of the sample and removes the information from locations that are not in focus. Sample scanning is performed plane by plane, and it allows passing all images through image analysis. LSM gives thus a detailed and well-resolved 3D illustration of the biofilm sample (Fig. 2.5). Furthermore, information on specific structures in the community can be obtained by applying specific fluorescent markers such as those for microbial viability and metabolism.

2.5 Prognosis of Root Canal Infections

Root canal treatment aims to mechanically prepare (including widening, debridement, and cleaning) the root canal so that no necrotic tissue/bacteria remain and a proper root filling can be made. Removal of bacteria and debris is supported by irrigation of the root canal with antiseptics. The most relevant risk factor affecting prognosis of root canal treatment infections is contamination during root canal treatment in combination with a technically insufficient permanent root filling. This risk factor has been assessed in prospective microbiological studies where it was found that teeth with periapical lesions visualized on radiographs are associated Fig. 2.4 SEM microphotography, the apical region of a tooth with chronic apical infection. An extraradicular biofilm is observed where bacterial cells are adhered adjacent to dentinal tubuli





Fig. 2.5 Three-dimensional reconstruction of a biofilm section observed with the CSLM technique. Bacterial viability is analyzed by fluorescence emission where the *green* channel shows intact cytoplasmic membranes and the *red* channel shows damaged cytoplasmic membranes

with remaining bacteria in the root canals [40]. Such studies have clearly shown that the chance of healing is 2–5 times higher if the bacteria are eradicated as indicated by a no growth in a sample prior to root filling. However, if the periapical lesion persists 2 years after root filling, it is up to 4 times more likely that the root canal contained bacteria at the time of root filling. Understanding the ways in which bacteria thrive in root canal habitats after root canal treatment and their cooperative strategies for surviving stress, such as nutrient deprivation, can shed light on chronic apical periodontitis pathogenesis. This may translate into progress in predicting persistent infections and portray biofilm communities as key players in chronic endodontic infections.

2.5.1 Where Are Bacteria Located After Treatment

Bacteria may survive in root canal systems by invading dentinal tubuli along the root canal wall. Although their elimination from these microscopic areas seems very difficult, it is questionable whether these bacteria are necessary to eradicate. The

common view is that if they are not properly removed from the tubuli, they could be entombed with a proper root filling and they may not have any significant implication on the periapical tissues.

Another possible location for remaining bacteria is in complex apical labyrinth. Areas such as apical deltas and lateral canals constitute regions that are extremely difficult to reach by antiseptic measures. Bacteria located in complex anatomies may provoke inflammation even after a permanent root filling has been performed. The extent of inflammation is related to the degree of communication and the complexity of the apical anatomy. In older teeth there is little communication and space, and the remaining bacteria can live there for years without doing much harm but maintain an inflammatory reaction to some degree. Whether these bacteria should be removed is a matter of academic discussion, and a clear consensus has not been reached at present.

It is also possible that persistent bacteria are located on the apical root surface and in root resoptions/lacunae. These bacteria cannot be reached with the antibacterial efforts made through the root canal. They are complicated to sample, and this condition is difficult to diagnose clinically. Apical surgery may be an option to eliminate these bacteria.

2.5.2 How Bacteria Survive Root Canal Treatment

Persistent biofilm bacterial infections with dormant or/and bacteria in low metabolic activity are implicated in the failure of root canal treatments. Biofilm bacteria in dormant or low metabolic states, which remain in the root canal system despite the antimicrobial efforts to remove them, are implicated in most of these persistent infections. Dissemination of bacterial biofilms beyond the apical limits induces chronic immunological responses and in some cases bacteremia through the surrounding tissues.

2.5.3 Most Resistant Species

One of the most persistent bacterial species is *Enterococcus faecalis*. This organism has been isolated, usually as monocultures, from cases with refractory root canal infections [41,42]. *E. faecalis* has been found to be extremely resistant to various antimicrobial measures (chemical and physical) and to have an innate mechanism to thrive in alkaline environments, e.g., the high tolerance against CaOH [43]. Enterococcal species are intermittently present in low numbers in the oral flora in most humans, and with other oral bacteria, they invade together the infected neorotic canal. It is seldom identified among other bacteria in the primary infected neorotic root canal but is selected during treatment. The virulence and ability to cause exacerbations are probably low. Other Gram-positive species have been also found persisting in root-filled teeth. *Streptococcus, Lactobacillus* and *Actinomyces* spp., which are mainly commensal organisms from the oral cavity, have been isolated

from persistent root canal infections [12,41,42]. In vitro studies with these Grampositive organisms found that their resistant capacities to stress conditions, such as alkaline, are very similar to those of *Enterococci* while forming biofilms.

2.5.4 The Chronic Inflammatory Response

The most characteristic histological pattern of a chronic inflammatory response is formation of a granulation tissue with a predominant infiltration of lymphocytes and plasma cells. The granulation tissue forms a barrier against further invasion of bacteria, and the risk of spreading from these lesions is low. Most root canal infections develop directly into this chronic phase when the infection front line reaches the periapical tissues. The communication between the root canal and the periapical tissues is probably the most common factor on how to decide whether the infection will take an acute or a chronic route. The chronic periapical inflammation is also characterized by showing few symptoms. In fact, most of these lesions are not perceptible to the patients themselves, but the dentist may disclose the lesion on radiographs.

2.6 Concluding Remarks

- Bacteria in root canals are established as multicellular biofilm communities, which respond and adapt collectively to survive environmental stress and antimicrobial treatment.
- Infected root canals containing necrotic tissues provide a selective environment with limited oxygen and fluctuating nutrient availability, in which certain oral bacteria may survive and grow.
- Mechanical endodontic treatment including irrigation with antimicrobials and filling with cement and gutta-percha will further select for resistant bacteria. The degrees to which root canal bacteria tolerate these endodontic clinical procedures determine their persistence and are the main cause of chronic inflammatory lesions.
- The establishment of multispecies biofilm communities in root canals expands the overall potential for survival of individual species.
- The pathogenic potential of bacteria in biofilms is determined by intercellular interactions, and the establishment of heterogeneous subpopulations where signal molecules triggered in response to environmental factors plays a key role.
- Finally, the role of bacteria in apical periodontitis relies on the interactions between species and their microenvironment. All species, whether pathogenic or not, will potentiate their resistance capabilities within complex biofilm communities. Deepening our understanding on the mechanisms controlling these interactions is vital to clarify the resistance of root canal bacteria to antimicrobial agents and to open up for new opportunities for the control and treatment of these biofilm infections.
References

- 1. Bowden GH, Hamilton IR. Survival of oral bacteria. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med. 1998;9(1):54–85.
- Marsh PD, Hunter JR, Bowden GH, Hamilton IR, McKee AS, Hardie JM, Ellwood DC. The influence of growth rate and nutrient limitation on the microbial composition and biochemical properties of a mixed culture of oral bacteria grown in a chemostat. J Gen Microbiol. 1983;129(3):755–70.
- 3. Marsh PD. Dental plaque as a biofilm: the significance of pH in health and caries. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 2009;30(2):76–8, 80, 83–77; quiz 88, 90.
- 4. Marsh PD. Microbiology of dental plaque biofilms and their role in oral health and caries. Dent Clin N Am. 2010;54(3):441–54.
- 5. Marsh PD. Are dental diseases examples of ecological catastrophes? Microbiology. 2003;149(Pt 2):279–94.
- 6. Do T, Devine D, Marsh PD. Oral biofilms: molecular analysis, challenges, and future prospects in dental diagnostics. Clin Cosmet Investig Dent. 2013;5:11–9.
- Marsh PD, Devine DA. How is the development of dental biofilms influenced by the host? J Clin Periodontol. 2011;38 Suppl 11:28–35.
- Cook GS, Costerton JW, Lamont RJ. Biofilm formation by Porphyromonas gingivalis and Streptococcus gordonii. J Periodontal Res. 1998;33(6):323–7.
- 9. Nair PN. Apical periodontitis: a dynamic encounter between root canal infection and host response. Periodontol 2000. 1997;13:121–48.
- 10. Sundqvist G. Ecology of the root canal flora. J Endod. 1992;18(9):427-30.
- 11. Sundqvist G. Taxonomy, ecology, and pathogenicity of the root canal flora. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1994;78(4):522–30.
- 12. Chávez de Paz LE. Redefining the persistent infection in root canals: possible role of biofilm communities. J Endod. 2007;33(6):652–62.
- Nair PN, Sjögren U, Krey G, Kahnberg KE, Sundqvist G. Intraradicular bacteria and fungi in root-filled, asymptomatic human teeth with therapy-resistant periapical lesions: a long-term light and electron microscopic follow-up study. J Endod. 1990;16(12):580–8.
- Siqueira Jr JF, Roças IN, Paiva SS, Magalhaes KM, Guimaraes-Pinto T. Cultivable bacteria in infected root canals as identified by 16S rRNA gene sequencing. Oral Microbiol Immunol. 2007;22(4):266–71.
- 15. Hahn CL, Liewehr FR. Relationships between caries bacteria, host responses, and clinical signs and symptoms of pulpitis. J Endod. 2007;33(3):213–9.
- Martin FE. Carious pulpitis: microbiological and histopathological considerations. Aust Endod J. 2003;29(3):134–7.
- Siqueira Jr JF, Roças IN. Bacterial pathogenesis and mediators in apical periodontitis. Braz Dent J. 2007;18(4):267–80.
- Figdor D, Sundqvist G. A big role for the very small understanding the endodontic microbial flora. Aust Dent J. 2007;52(1 Suppl):S38–51.
- 19. Roças IN, Siqueira Jr JF. In vivo antimicrobial effects of endodontic treatment procedures as assessed by molecular microbiologic techniques. J Endod. 2011;37(3):304–10.
- Möller AJ, Fabricius L, Dahlén G, Öhman AE, Heyden G. Influence on periapical tissues of indigenous oral bacteria and necrotic pulp tissue in monkeys. Scand J Dent Res. 1981;89(6):475–84.
- Costerton JW, Cheng KJ, Geesey GG, Ladd TI, Nickel JC, Dasgupta M, Marrie TJ. Bacterial biofilms in nature and disease. Annu Rev Microbiol. 1987;41:435–64.
- 22. Costerton JW, Stewart PS, Greenberg EP. Bacterial biofilms: a common cause of persistent infections. Science. 1999;284(5418):1318–22.
- van Loosdrecht MC, Lyklema J, Norde W, Zehnder AJ. Influence of interfaces on microbial activity. Microbiol Rev. 1990;54(1):75–87.

- van Loosdrecht MC, Norde W, Zehnder AJ. Physical chemical description of bacterial adhesion. J Biomater Appl. 1990;5(2):91–106.
- Mayer C, Moritz R, Kirschner C, Borchard W, Maibaum R, Wingender J, Flemming HC. The role of intermolecular interactions: studies on model systems for bacterial biofilms. Int J Biol Macromol. 1999;26(1):3–16.
- 26. Nair P. Light and electron microscopic studies on root canal flora and periapical lesions. J Endod. 1987;13:29–39.
- Ricucci D, Siqueira Jr JF. Biofilms and apical periodontitis: study of prevalence and association with clinical and histopathologic findings. J Endod. 2010;36(8):1277–88.
- Romling U, Kjelleberg S, Normark S, Nyman L, Uhlin BE, Akerlund B. Microbial biofilm formation: a need to act. J Intern Med. 2014;276(2):98–110.
- Gode-Potratz CJ, Kustusch RJ, Breheny PJ, Weiss DS, McCarter LL. Surface sensing in Vibrio parahaemolyticus triggers a programme of gene expression that promotes colonization and virulence. Mol Microbiol. 2011;79(1):240–63.
- Stewart PS, Franklin MJ. Physiological heterogeneity in biofilms. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2008;6(3):199–210.
- 31. Stewart PS, Costerton JW. Antibiotic resistance of bacteria in biofilms. Lancet. 2001;358(9276):135-8.
- 32. Kayaoglu G, Erten H, Bodrumlu E, Orstavik D. The resistance of collagen-associated, planktonic cells of Enterococcus faecalis to calcium hydroxide. J Endod. 2009;35(1):46–9.
- Noiri Y, Katsumoto T, Azakami H, Ebisu S. Effects of Er:YAG laser irradiation on biofilmforming bacteria associated with endodontic pathogens in vitro. J Endod. 2008;34(7):826–9.
- 34. Zaura-Arite E, van Marle J, ten Cate JM. Confocal microscopy study of undisturbed and chlorhexidine-treated dental biofilm. J Dent Res. 2001;80(5):1436–40.
- Chávez de Paz LE, Bergenholtz G, Svensäter G. The effects of antimicrobials on endodontic biofilm bacteria. J Endod. 2010;36(1):70–7.
- 36. Roças IN, Alves FR, Santos AL, Rosado AS, Siqueira Jr JF. Apical root canal microbiota as determined by reverse-capture checkerboard analysis of cryogenically ground root samples from teeth with apical periodontitis. J Endod. 2010;36(10):1617–21.
- Auschill TM, Arweiler NB, Netuschil L, Brecx M, Reich E, Sculean A. Spatial distribution of vital and dead microorganisms in dental biofilms. Arch Oral Biol. 2001;46(5):471–6.
- Boulos L, Prevost M, Barbeau B, Coallier J, Desjardins R. LIVE/DEAD BacLight : application of a new rapid staining method for direct enumeration of viable and total bacteria in drinking water. J Microbiol Methods. 1999;37(1):77–86.
- Branda SS, Vik S, Friedman L, Kolter R. Biofilms: the matrix revisited. Trends Microbiol. 2005;13(1):20–6.
- Byström A, Claesson R, Sundqvist G. The antibacterial effect of camphorated paramonochlorophenol, camphorated phenol and calcium hydroxide in the treatment of infected root canals. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1985;1(5):170–5.
- 41. Molander A, Reit C, Dahlén G, Kvist T. Microbiological status of root-filled teeth with apical periodontitis. Int Endod J. 1998;31(1):1–7.
- 42. Möller AJ, Fabricius L, Dahlén G, Sundqvist G, Happonen RP. Apical periodontitis development and bacterial response to endodontic treatment. Experimental root canal infections in monkeys with selected bacterial strains. Eur J Oral Sci. 2004;112(3):207–15.
- Chávez de Paz LE, Bergenholtz G, Dahlén G, Svensäter G. Response to alkaline stress by root canal bacteria in biofilms. Int Endod J. 2007;40(5):344–55.

Diagnosis of Pulpal and Periradicular Disease

3

Katsushi Okazaki, Matthew Malek, Nadia Chugal, and Louis M. Lin

Abstract

Arriving at an accurate diagnosis is essential for the development of an optimal treatment plan and making a proper treatment decision. It is important to distinguish between diagnostic entities, such as reversible and irreversible pulpitis and pulp necrosis. Differentiating between these diagnoses will enable the clinician to plan on a specific course of treatment, be it stepwise caries excavation, pulpotomy, or root canal treatment. This is also important for the assessment of prognosis of the proposed treatment. Large number of studies have demonstrated less optimal prognosis for teeth with pulp necrosis and apical periodontitis, compared to teeth with irreversible pulpitis and without apical periodontitis. Teeth with necrotic pulps and apical periodontitis have well-established infection in the root canal system and require more aggressive root canal infection control protocol. Based on the findings from the prognosis studies, it is essential that a treating dentist be a good diagnostician in order to render appropriate treatment with optimal outcome.

M. Malek Department of Endodontics, NYU College of Dentistry, New York, NY, USA

N. Chugal Section of Endodontics, University of California Los Angeles School of Dentistry, Los Angeles, CA, USA e-mail: nchugal@dentistry.ucla.edu

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 N. Chugal, L.M. Lin (eds.), *Endodontic Prognosis*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-42412-5_3

K. Okazaki • L.M. Lin (🖂)

Department of Endodontics, New York University College of Dentistry, New York, NY, USA e-mail: lml7@nyu.edu

3.1 Introduction

Correct diagnosis of pulpal-periapical disease determines the appropriate treatment plan, which could lead to predictable prognosis and outcome of the therapy. Diagnosis of pulpal-periapical disease is a complex process and is usually based on several factors, such as chief complaint, medical history, dental history, clinical examination, diagnostic tests, and radiographic examination.

Diagnosis of pulpal-periapical disease made clinically is a provisional or clinical diagnosis. The diagnosis based on histological examination is a final diagnosis and is used to confirm clinical diagnosis. Therefore, clinical diagnosis does not carry a high level of accuracy, when compared to the gold standard – histological examination. Pulpal disease is different from many other diseases in the human body. Biopsy can be performed in many diseased organs to obtain a definitive diagnosis. However, histological examination cannot be carried out to determine the definitive diagnosis of pulpal disease before deciding the treatment plan. In addition, unlike medicine, sophisticated molecular biology technology and other advanced technologies are not available in endodontics to help diagnose the true state of the pulpal-periapical disease. Therefore, under clinical conditions, when making a diagnosis of pulpal-periapical disease, all available information and tests should be employed to reduce the possibility of false-positive or false-negative error and to arrive at the evidence-based best clinical diagnosis.

3.2 Diagnosis of Pulpal Disease

3.2.1 Chief Complaint (CC)

Chief complaint is a subjective statement made by a patient describing the most significant or serious symptoms or signs of illness or dysfunction that caused him or her to seek health care. The patient's chief complaint should be carefully evaluated. Chronological history of chief complaint is important and should be noted.

3.2.2 Medical History

Any medical history related to dental disease or treatment must be recorded, such as cardiovascular disease, renal disease, liver disease, hematologic disease, immunecompromised disease, and neoplastic disease. Peripheral neuropathy of diabetes mellitus may mimic toothache.

3.2.3 Dental History

Dental history gives important information concerning what is happening or happened to the suspected tooth. Did the suspected tooth have history of trauma and what kind of trauma? When and where did the trauma occur? How did the suspected tooth respond to trauma? The traumatized teeth may temporarily lose sensibility to pulp tests; however, the sensibility may return within the first 2 months [1, 2]. Therefore a long-term follow-up is necessary to determine the sensibility of the teeth after traumatic injury [1, 2]. Did the suspected tooth have operative procedures performed and what kind of procedure? When was the operative procedure performed? How did the suspected tooth respond to operative procedure? The operated tooth may be sensible to thermal stimuli or EPT immediately after operative procedures and then return to normal response gradually. If the sensibility of the operated tooth continues to persist, it may indicate pulp injury [3]. Does the suspected tooth have symptom of pain? When did the symptom first occur? What are the nature, intensity, and duration of the symptom? Can anything provoke or reproduce the symptoms?

3.2.4 Clinical Examination

3.2.4.1 Extraoral Examination

Extraoral examination includes but is not limited to evaluation of facial swelling, sinus tract, and cervical or submandibular lymphadenopathy. All these signs are indications of infection. The source of infection should be determined.

3.2.4.2 Intraoral Examination

Intraoral examination includes evaluation of hard and soft tissues and suspected tooth/teeth. Swelling and sinus tract should be noted. Draining sinus tract should be traced with gutta-percha point to its origin. Caries, discoloration, periodontal condition, and fracture or crack of the suspected tooth must be inspected. Types of restoration or defective restorations of the suspected tooth also have to be examined. Sensibility to palpation and/or percussion is an indicator of apical periodontitis of the suspected tooth. Mobility may be due to periodontal disease, root fracture, or apical periodontitis. Transillumination can be used to detect cracks or fractures of the crown. Caries may or may not cause painful pulpitis [4].

3.2.4.3 Diagnostic Pulp Tests

Cold, heat, and low-voltage electric current are used clinically as diagnostic tests of the pulpal-periapical disease. These tests aim to assess the physiological function of the sensory nerve fibers rather than the vitality of the pulp. The vitality of the pulp is determined by the physiological function of blood supply. Pulp tests are also used to reproduce symptoms, which the patient is or was experiencing.

The dental pulp is innervated by A- and C-type sensory nerve fibers [5, 6]. A- δ and A- β fibers are located around the odontoblast layer and C fibers in the pulp proper. A- δ fibers have a low-threshold for activation. When stimulated, a sharp and stabbing pain is induced and lasts few seconds and is related to dentin sensibility [6]. C fibers have a high-threshold for activation. When stimulated, a dull and lingering pain is induced and may last several minutes [6]. C fiber activation is considered related to pulpal inflammation. The physiological function of A- β fibers is not well defined.

Cold test most frequently used is Endo-Ice (tetra-fluoroethane). It has temperature of about -26.2 °C (Figs. 3.1 and 3.2). Other cold tests include CO₂ snow and



Cold test

EPT

Heat test





Fig. 3.2 Devices or material used for pulp tests

ethyl chloride. Heated gutta-percha is employed as heat test and its temperature varies (Figs. 3.1 and 3.2). The pluggers of System B unit can also be used as heat test (Fig. 3.2). The temperature of System B can be set at desirable temperature. For electric pulp test (EPT), the electric pulp tester is used (Figs. 3.1 and 3.2).

Test Site

It is recommended that the cotton pellet with refrigerate spray for cold test and the probe of electric pulp tester for EPT should be applied to the cusp of the tooth, where the density of nerve fibers is the highest. For the heat test, it is suggested that the heated gutta-percha or plugger of System B should be applied to the cervical area of the tooth. In this area the tooth surface is closest to the pulp cavity and the enamel is thinnest. Pulp tests of the tooth with full-crown coverage can present a diagnostic challenge. The tooth with full-crown coverage can be isolated with the rubber dam. An irrigation syringe is filled with a cold or hot liquid, and the liquid is then expressed from the syringe onto the isolated tooth. For EPT, the tip of

endodontic explorer is placed in contact with the natural tooth structure, and the tip of the electric pulp tester probe is then placed in contact with the side of the endodontic explorer to complete the electric circuit. For all pulp tests, it is recommended to use the teeth without caries and/or restoration on the contralateral side as controls. The pulp tests should be performed several times to confirm the reproducibility.

Thermal Tests Interpretation

It is believed that if the sensibility of the suspected tooth is felt but disappears in few seconds after removal of cold or heat stimulus, the pulp is healthy. However, if the sensibility of the suspected tooth continues to persist for several minutes or intensifies after removal of cold or heat stimulus, the pulp is considered to be inflamed. Abnormal response may also occur as soon as the stimulus is placed on the suspected tooth and the patient immediately feels range of sensation, from moderate to excruciating pain. No response of the suspected tooth to cold or heat test is considered to be the confirmatory test that the pulp is necrotic. If the pulp is inflamed, the suspected tooth will be more sensitive to thermal stimuli, compared to normal (control) teeth, because the inflammatory mediators sensitize the pulp sensory nerve fibers [7].

Electric Pulp Test (EPT) Interpretation

The response of the suspected tooth to EPT only indicates presence of viable sensory nerve fibers in the pulp and does not give any information about the blood supply or health status of the pulp. The numerical readings on the electric pulp tester cannot be used to differentiate the pathological status of the pulp, for example, reversible or irreversible pulpitis. EPT is most useful to determine the necrosis of the pulp when no response is obtained to electric current. Similar to thermal test, if the pulp is inflamed, the suspected tooth can be more sensitive to EPT and respond at lower values, compared to normal (control) teeth, because inflammatory mediators sensitize the sensory nerve fibers [7]

Reliability of Pulp Tests

To determine the reliability of pulp tests, a study was performed to evaluate the sensitivity, specificity, and positive and negative predictive values of pulp tests [8]. The sensitivity value indicates the ability of a test to identify the disease, i.e., that the pulp of the tooth is necrotic. The specificity value implies the ability of a test to identify the absence of the disease, i.e., that the pulp of the tooth is vital [8]. The positive predictive value (PPV) of the pulp tests is the probability that tooth without a sensitive response (a positive test result) indicates a diseased tooth (necrotic pulp). The negative predictive value (NPV) is the probability that a tooth with a sensitive response (negative test result) is free from disease (vital pulp) [8]. Sensitivity, specificity, PPV, and NPV are shown in Fig. 3.3.

The test with the highest sensitivity value of all pulp tests is cold test (Fig. 3.3). The sensitivity of 88% to cold test means that the probability of pulp necrosis is 88% (Fig. 3.3). The remaining 12% of cases may have no reaction to cold test



Fig. 3.3 Sensitivity, specificity, PPV, and NPV of pulp tests



Fig. 3.4 PPV and NPV of the combination of cold and electric pulp tests

because of the other reasons, for example, calcification of the canal space. The specificity of 100% to cold test means that the probability of vital pulp is 100% (Fig. 3.3). The NPV of cold test is 90%; this indicates the probability of 90% that the dental pulp with a sensibility response to cold test is vital (Fig. 3.3). The PPV of cold test is 100%; this indicates the probability of 100% that the dental pulp without a sensibility response to cold test is necrotic (Fig. 3.3). The NPV and PPV of the heat test are 89% and 100%, respectively. For the EPT, NPV and PPV are 83% and 100%, respectively (Fig. 3.3).

A clinical study reported on the reliability of the combination of two commonly used diagnostic pulp tests as well as their PPV and NPV [9]. The NPV and PPV of the combination of cold test and EPT were reported as 97% and 90%, respectively (Fig. 3.4).

The combination of cold test and EPT has a higher reliability to detect vital pulp than if only one test is used. Yet 3% of the teeth may still have risk of pulp necrosis based on 97% NPV (Fig. 3.4). On the other hand, 10% of teeth may potentially have vital pulp and may be subjected to unnecessary treatment based on 90% PPV (Fig. 3.4). Combination diagnostic pulp tests using cold and EPT is more reliable to

predict if the pulp is vital, based on the probability of NPV than it is to predict if the pulp is necrotic, based on the probability of PPV [9].

Correlation of Clinical Signs/Symptoms, Diagnostic Data, and Actual Histological Status of the Pulp

Signs of swelling, sinus tract, as well as symptoms of pain can be related to the pulpal-periapical disease. However, the correlation of clinical signs/symptoms and actual histological status of the pulp appears to be poor [10–12]. Recently, one study indicated that the correlation of clinical and histological diagnosis of irreversible pulpitis could be as high as 84.4% [13]. This discrepancy can be due to the definition of histological criteria of reversible and irreversible pulpitis. The correlation of diagnostic data such as thermal and electric current tests and the actual histological status of the pulp is also poor [10–12].

3.2.5 Radiographic Examination

3.2.5.1 Conventional Intraoral Radiography

Conventional radiography is a two-dimensional view of a three-dimensional structure. Conventional radiography can be used to detect dental caries, restorations, calcification of the pulp chamber and root canal, or external and internal root resorptions of the suspected tooth. However, conventional radiography is not able to detect pulp disease.

3.2.5.2 Cone Beam Computed Tomography (CBCT)

CBCT is able to generate accurate three-dimensional images by means of axial, sagittal, and coronal views of the tooth structure. It is the most advanced clinical contemporary imaging technique available in addition to the conventional radiography. It is an excellent technique for detecting extra canals, root fractures, internal or external root resorptions, and displacement (axial or lateral) of the suspected tooth (Fig. 3.5).

3.2.6 Clinical Diagnostic Terminology of Pulpal Disease

The clinical diagnostic terminology of the pulpal disease is adapted from the American Association of Endodontics (AAE) Consensus Conference Recommended Diagnostic Terminology (2009) [14] (see Table 3.1).

3.3 Diagnosis of Periapical Disease

Diagnosis of periapical disease is based on the results of multiple tests: (1) pulp tests; (2) periapical tests, such as percussion, palpation, and bite tests; (3) periodontal examination that include periodontal probing and mobility; (4) special tests such



Fig. 3.5 Radiographic presentation of external cervical root resorption by conventional radiography and CBCT (Courtesy of Dr. K. Okazaki)

Pulpal	
Normal pulp	A clinical diagnostic category in which the pulp is symptom-free and normally responsive to pulp testing
Reversible pulpitis	A clinical diagnosis based on subjective and objective findings indicating that the inflammation should resolve and the pulp return to normal
Symptomatic irreversible pulpitis	A clinical diagnosis based on subjective and objective findings indicating that the vital inflamed pulp is incapable of healing. Additional descriptors: lingering thermal pain, spontaneous pain, referred pain
Asymptomatic irreversible pulpitis	A clinical diagnosis based on subjective and objective findings indicating that the vital inflamed pulp is incapable of healing. Additional descriptors: no clinical symptoms but inflammation produced by caries, caries excavation, trauma
Pulp necrosis	A clinical diagnostic category indicating death of the dental pulp. The pulp is usually nonresponsive to pulp testing
Previously treated	A clinical diagnostic category indicating that the tooth has been endodontically treated and the canals are obturated with various filling materials other than intracanal medicaments
Previously initiated therapy	A clinical diagnostic category indicating that the tooth has been previously treated by partial endodontic therapy (e.g., pulpotomy, pulpectomy)

Table 3.1 Clinical diagnostic terminology of pulp disease

Reproduced from AAE Consensus conference recommended diagnostic terminology AAE Consensus conference recommended diagnostic terminology. J Endod 2009; 35: 1634.

as transillumination and tooth sloth; (5) clinical examination of swelling or draining sinus tract; and (6) radiographic examination of the suspected tooth/teeth.

3.3.1 Pulp Tests

Tooth with apical periodontitis usually does not respond to thermal tests or EPT. However, in certain conditions, for example, if an immature tooth still contains inflamed, vital pulp tissue in the apical portion of the canal or if a multi-rooted tooth has vital pulp tissue remaining in one of the canals, the tooth with apical periodontitis may respond positively to thermal test or EPT.

3.3.2 Periapical Tests

3.3.2.1 Percussion

Percussion test is conducted with the flat portion of the dental instrument to tap the tooth edge or the cusp. Percussion test evaluates whether the type and the magnitude of sensibility caused by the percussion of the suspected tooth are the same, compared to the adjacent or contralateral normal teeth (control).

3.3.2.2 Palpation

Palpation test employs digital palpation with a finger to examine the swelling or tenderness of periosteum in the periapical area of the suspected tooth.

Abnormal tenderness to percussion or palpation of suspected tooth is an indication of apical periodontitis, which implies inflammatory involvement of the apical periodontal tissues. However, not all teeth with apical periodontitis are tender to percussion or palpation; for example, teeth with long-standing chronic periapical inflammation may not be tender to percussion or palpation.

3.3.2.3 Swelling or Draining Sinus Track

Swelling in the periapical area of the suspected tooth is the result of acute exacerbation of chronic apical periodontitis or acute apical abscess. Draining sinus track associated with the suspected tooth is usually the result of chronic apical abscess. Sinus track should be traced with a gutta-percha point to the suspected tooth.

3.3.3 Radiographic Examination

3.3.3.1 Conventional Intraoral Radiography

Periapical bone destruction is the hallmark of the tooth with apical periodontitis. This bone destruction may be detectable by conventional radiographs. Therefore, radiographic examination is invaluable in diagnosing apical periodontitis. It has been shown that osteolytic periapical lesion located in the cancellous bone will not be easily detected on a conventional periapical radiograph. However, if the



Fig. 3.6 Comparison of periapical radiograph (*PA*) and CBCT images efficacy to detect the osteo-lytic periapical lesion (Courtesy of Dr. K. Okazaki)

osteolytic lesion extends to the junction of cancellous and cortical bone, the lesion will be observed by conventional radiographs [15, 16]. The radiographic appearance of osteolytic periapical lesion is related to its relationship to the thickness of cortical and cancellous bone [15]. Most anterior and premolar teeth are located close to the junction of cancellous and cortical bone as compared to molars. Therefore, the osteolytic periapical lesions associated with anterior and premolar teeth are easier to detect than those of molars. It is important not to exclude the possibility of apical periodontitis even though there is no radiographic evidence of periapical bone destruction, especially in molar teeth.

3.3.3.2 Cone Beam Computed Tomography

CBCT has been shown to be superior to conventional radiography in detecting the periapical bone destruction in apical periodontitis [17–21]. Some of periapical lesions may not be detected with conventional radiography but can be observed with CBCT (Fig. 3.6), and some may appear much smaller on periapical radiographs than on the CBCT scans (Figs. 3.7 and 3.8). Another advantage of CBCT is that it can provide three-dimensional images of the lesions by means of axial, sagittal, and coronal views. According to recent systemic reviews, the level of diagnostic efficacy of CBCT in endodontics is low. The CBCT is used mainly because of its technical characteristics or the accuracy of its imaging [22, 23].

In addition to being superior in detecting periapical lesions, CBCT scans offer unique advantage to detect canals that cannot be visualized on periapical radiographs.



PAs (parallel and Eccentric views)



CBCT (Sagittal view)

Fig. 3.7 Comparison of conventional radiograph and CBCT to detect the size of osteolytic periapical lesion (Courtesy of Dr. K. Okazaki)

Currently, CBCT is not recommended for routine use for diagnosing the pulpalperiapical disease, because of the concern of radiation to the patients. The ionizing radiation dose of one intraoral radiograph is 1–8 uS, for one panoramic radiograph is 4–30 uSv, and for one CBCT is 34–652 uSv [24]. The joint statement of the American Association of Endodontists and the American Academy of Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology indicates that CBCT should be limited to the assessment and treatment of complex endodontic conditions and should be considered an adjunct to two-dimensional imaging in dentistry [25].

3.3.4 Clinical Diagnostic Terminology of Periapical Disease

The diagnostic terminology of periapical disease is adapted from American Association of Endodontics (AAE) Consensus Conference Recommended Diagnostic Terminology, 2009 [14] (see Table 3.2).

In addition, if the tooth has previous endodontic therapy and the periapical lesion persists or enlarges or new lesion develops, the following terms, such as previously



Fig. 3.8 Comparison of conventional radiographs and CBCT to detect the size of osteolytic periapical lesion and missed anatomy. Periapical radiographs (\mathbf{a} , \mathbf{b} , \mathbf{c}) were performed at different angles, but none revealed the presence of an unfilled MB2 canal. CBCT scan revealed the presence of untreated and unfilled MB2 in axial, coronal, and sagittal views (*red arrows* (\mathbf{d} , \mathbf{e} , \mathbf{f})). The periapical bone destruction appears more extensive on the CBCT scan than on the periapical radiographs (*yellow arrows* (\mathbf{e} , \mathbf{f})) (Courtesy of Dr. N. Chugal and Dr. S. Tetradis)

Table 3.2	Clinical	diagnostic	terminology	of	periapical	disease

Apical	
Normal apical tissues	Teeth with normal periradicular tissues that are not sensitive to percussion or palpation testing. The lamina dura surrounding the root is intact, and the periodontal ligament space is uniform
Symptomatic apical periodontitis	Inflammation, usually of the apical periodontium, producing clinical symptoms including a painful response to biting and/or percussion or palpation. It might or might not be associated with an apical radiolucent area
Asymptomatic apical periodontitis	Inflammation and destruction of apical periodontium that is of pulpal origin appears as an apical radiolucent area and does not produce clinical symptoms
Acute apical abscess	An inflammatory reaction to pulpal infection and necrosis characterized by rapid onset, spontaneous pain, tenderness of the tooth to pressure, pus formation, and swelling of associated tissues
Chronic apical abscess	An inflammatory reaction to pulpal infection and necrosis characterized by gradual onset, little or no discomfort, and the intermittent discharge of pus through an associated sinus tract
Condensing osteitis	Diffuse radiopaque lesion representing a localized bony reaction to a low-grade inflammatory stimulus, usually seen at the apex of tooth

Reproduced from AAE Consensus conference recommended diagnostic terminology AAE Consensus conference recommended diagnostic terminology. J Endod 2009; 35: 1634

endodontically treated asymptomatic or symptomatic apical periodontitis or acute or chronic posttreatment apical abscess, are used.

3.4 Endodontic Prognosis and Pulpal-Periapical Disease

Teeth diagnosed with preoperative irreversible pulpitis have the best prognosis after root canal therapy [26]. Necrotic teeth without preoperative apical periodontitis have better prognosis than with preoperative apical periodontitis [26]. Therefore, it behoves a clinician to develop excellent diagnostic skills in order to detect and treat pulpal disease in its earlier stages. If irreversible pulpitis is detected, the tooth should be treated endodontically to prevent development of apical periodontitis, which is associated with poorer treatment outcome.

References

- 1. Andreasen J, Andreasen F, Anderson L. Textbook and color atlas of traumatized injuries to the teeth. 4th ed. Hoboken: Wiley-Blackwell; 2007.
- Bastos JV, Goulart EM, de Souza Cortes MI. Pulpal response to sensibility tests after traumatic dental injuries in permanent teeth. Dent Traumatol. 2014;30:188–92.
- Langeland K, Langeland LK. Pulp reaction to crown preparation, impression, temporary crown fixation, and permanent cementation. J Prothet Dent. 1965;15:129–43.
- 4. Michaelson PL, Holland GR. Is pulpitis painful? Int Endod J. 2002;35:829-32.
- Narhi MV. The characteristics of intradental sensory units and their responses to stimulation. J Dent Res. 1985;64:564–71.
- Narhi M, Jvvasjarvi E, Huoganiemi T, et al. Role of intradental A- and C-type nerve fibers in dental pain mechanisms. Proc Finn Dent Soc. 1992;88 Suppl 1:507–16.
- Byers MR, Henry MA, Narhi VO. Dental innervation and its responses to tooth injury. In: Hargreaves KM, Goodis HE, Tay FR, editors. Dental Pulp. 2nd ed. Chicago: Quintessence Publishing Co; 2012. p. 133–57.
- Villa-Chavez CE, et al. Predictive values of thermal and electrical dental pulp tests: a clinical study. J Endod. 2013;39(8):965–9.
- 9. Weisleder R, Yamauchi S, Caplan DJ, et al. The validity of pulp testing: a clinical study. J Am Dent Assoc. 2009;140(8):1013–7.
- Seltzer S, Bender IB, Ziontz M. The dynamic of pulp inflammation: correlations between diagnostic data and actual histologic findings in the pulp. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1963;16:969–77.
- Dummer PMH, Hicks R, Huws D. Clinical signs and symptoms in pulp disease. Int Endod J. 1980;13:27–35.
- 12. Mejare IA, Axelsson S, Davidson T, et al. Diagnosis of the condition of the dental pulp: a systematic review. Int Endod J. 2012;45:597–613.
- Ricucci D, Loghin S, Siqueira Jr JF. Correlation between clinical and histologic pulp diagnosis. J Endod. 2014;40:1932–9.
- 14. AAE Consensus conference recommended diagnostic terminology. J Endod 2009; 35: 1634.
- Bender IB, Seltzer S. Roentgenographic and direct observation of experimental lesions in bone: I and II. JADA 1961; 61: 152–60 and 1961; 62: 708–16.
- Barthel CR, Zimmer S, Trope M. Relationship of radiographic and histologic sign of inflammation in human root-filled teeth. J Endod. 2004;30:75–9.

- 17. Stavropoulos A, Wenzel A. Accuracy of cone beam dental CT, intraoral digital and conventional radiography for detection of periapical lesions. An ex vivo study in pig jaws. Clin Oral Invest. 2007;11:101–6.
- Estrea C, Bueno MR, Azevedo BC, et al. A new periapical index based on cone beam computed tomography. J Endod. 2008;34:1325–31.
- Patel S, Mannocci F, Wilson R, et al. Detection of periapical defects in human jaw using cone beam computed tomography and intraoral radiography. Int Endod J. 2009;42:507–15.
- Carcia de Paula-Silva FG, Wu M-K, Leonardo MR, et al. Accuracy of periapical radiography and cone-beam computed tomography scans in diagnosing apical periodontitis using histopathological findings as a gold standard. J Endod. 2009;35:1009–12.
- 21. Lopez FU, Poli Kopper PM, Cucco C, et al. Accuracy of cone-beam computed tomography and periapical radiography in apical periodontitis diagnosis. J Endod. 2014;40:2057–60.
- Rosen E, Taschieri S, Del Fabbro M, et al. The diagnostic efficacy of cone-beam computed tomography in endodontics: a systematic review and analysis by a hierarchical model of efficacy. doi:10.1016/J.joen.2015.20.021.
- Kruse C, Spin-Neto R, Wenzel A, Kirkevang L.-L. Cone beam computed tomography and periapical lesions: a systemic review analysing studies on diagnostic efficacy by a hierarchial model. 2014. doi:10.1111/iej.12386
- 24. UNITED NATIONS Scientific Committee on the Effects of Anatomic Radiation, UNSCEAR 2000 REPORT Vol. 1: sources and effects of ionizing radiation, United Nations, New York 2000.
- AAE and AAOMP joint position statement. Use of cone-beam-computed tomography in endodontics. Available at www.aaomr.org/page=AAOMRAAE.
- Ng YL, Mann V, Gulabivala K. A prospective study of the factors affecting outcomes of nonsurgical root canal treatment: part 1: periapical health. Int Endod J. 2011;44:583–609.

Endodontic Treatment of Mature Teeth

4

Louis M. Lin, Simona Loghin, and Domenico Ricucci

Abstract

Pulpal-periapical disease can be caused by carious infection or traumatic injury. However, carious infection is the primary etiology of pulpal and periapical disease. When caries involves the irritation dentin, the pulp becomes irreversibly inflamed. If untreated, the pulp will be infected and colonized by oral microbes. The infected pulp is not capable of self-healing because of lack of collateral circulation and restricted blood supply to effectively deliver innate and adaptive immune defense mechanisms. As pulp infection/inflammation spreads apically, periapical inflammation develops. Apical periodontitis is the extension of apical pulpitis. Usually, microbes from the infected canal would not establish infectious process in the periapical tissues, which have plenty of collateral circulation to deliver cellular and humoral defense components. When the pulp becomes infected, nonsurgical root canal therapy should be initiated as soon as possible to prevent the development of apical periodontitis. In teeth with infected pulp and apical periodontitis, the microbes have well-established infection in the canal system, form biofilm on the canal walls and isthmus, and have penetrated into the dentinal tubules and lateral/accessory canals. Therefore, it is difficult to eliminate the majority of microbes in the root canal system by chemomechanical debridement. Accordingly, teeth with irreversible pulpitis without apical periodontitis have a better prognosis than the teeth with apical periodontitis after nonsurgical root canal therapy. Understanding the pathogenesis of pulpal and periapical disease will guide the clinicians to take appropriate treatment procedures to achieve satisfactory wound healing of the disease.

L.M. Lin (🖂)

S. Loghin • D. Ricucci Private Practice, Cetraro, Italy e-mail: simonaloghin@gmail.com; ohicucci@lifero.it

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 N. Chugal, L.M. Lin (eds.), *Endodontic Prognosis*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-42412-5_4

Department of Endodontics, New York University College of Dentistry, New York, NY, USA e-mail: lml7@nyu.edu

4.1 Introduction

Inflammatory pathosis of the pulp-periapical tissue complex can be caused by many factors such as caries, trauma, mechanical and chemical injuries, or periodontal disease. Nevertheless, caries, an infectious disease caused by plaque biofilm, is the primary etiology. If caries is not treated, dentin will be gradually destroyed. The bacterial toxins and their metabolic by-products will penetrate through the involved dentinal tubules into the pulp leading to immuno-inflammatory reaction in the pulp. When the pulp is exposed by progressing caries, bacteria start invading the pulp. The infected pulp is not capable of self-healing because of lack of collateral circulation and restricted blood supply to effectively deliver innate and adaptive immune defense mechanisms. If vital pulp therapy or root canal therapy is not performed, bacteria will continue to invade the apical pulp. Eventually, pulpal infection/inflammation will spread into the periapical tissue and result in apical periodontitis.

Bacteria are usually not present in inflammatory periapical lesions, except maybe in acute apical abscess or chronic apical abscess with draining sinus tract or apical cysts because inflamed periapical tissues are equipped with powerful cellular and humoral components of the innate and adaptive immune defense mechanisms [1]. Bacteria may temporarily contaminate the inflamed periapical tissues, only to be killed by the host's immune defense mechanisms after complete root canal therapy. In rare occasions, bacteria may establish an independent infection in the periapical tissues without concomitant intracanal infection. It has been claimed that in some situations perhaps because of specific microbial community and/or compromised host resistance, independent extraradicular infection such as actinomycosis may occur [2–4]. However, in these studies, the bacteriologic status in the associated canals was not examined. One recently published report, however, does not support the possibility of extraradicular actinomycosis independent from the intraradicular infection [5].

Similar to all infectious diseases, endodontic therapy is aimed to eliminate or reduce bacterial count to the level that the host immune defense mechanisms are able to overcome the bacterial insults. Therefore, effective control of root canal infection plays an important role in determining the prognosis of endodontic therapy.

4.2 Pathosis of the Pulpal-Periapical Tissue Complex

Inflammatory disease of the pulp tissue can be caused by caries, trauma, mechanical and chemical injuries, or periodontal disease. However, bacterial infection caused by caries (plaque biofilm) is the primary etiology of inflammatory disease of the pulp tissue [6]. When caries lesion penetrates into the dentin, depending on the caries activity, immuno-inflammatory reaction is usually induced in the pulp beneath the dentinal tubules involved by caries [7, 8] (Fig. 4.1). Bacteria and their products can act as nonantigenic and antigenic irritants to elicit innate and adaptive immune responses in the pulp tissue [9, 10]. If caries is not removed and treated, pulpal



Fig. 4.1 (a) Asymptomatic maxillary third molar of a 25-year-old man with a mesial caries. Histologic section cut on a mesiodistal plane. Dentin is not cavitated but is layered by a thick bacterial biofilm (Taylor's modified Brown and Brenn, orig. mag. $\times 16$). (b) Detail of the area indicated by the *lower arrow* in (a). Dentinal tubules are heavily colonized by bacteria (orig. mag. $\times 100$). (c) Detail of the area indicated by the *upper arrow* in (a). A mild accumulation of inflammatory cells can be seen subjacent to the odontoblastic layer, where the dentinal tubules involved by caries terminate in the pulp (orig. mag. $\times 100$). (d) High-power view shows that these are mononuclear chronic inflammatory cells, mainly lymphocytes (orig. mag. $\times 400$)

immuno-inflammatory reaction will continue to persist because bacteria are in the avascular dentin, which is not accessible to host's defense mechanisms.

The severity of immuno-inflammatory reaction in the pulp is proportional to the depth of bacterial penetration in carious dentin toward the pulp [11]. When the distance between penetrating bacterial front in the involved dentin and the pulp, including the thickness of reactionary dentin, was approximately 1.11 mm or more, the pulpal inflammation was insignificant. However, when the bacteria invaded the reactionary dentin, the pulpal immuno-inflammatory reaction became irreversible [11]. If the pulp is exposed by caries, bacteria are observed in the necrotic tissue at the exposure site because the necrotic tissue is completely deprived of defense mechanisms (Fig. 4.2). The surrounding pulp tissue may be inflamed but is usually free of bacteria [12]. It is assumed that when the pulp is exposed by caries, the pulp is not capable of self-healing because it is enclosed in uncompromised rigid dentin walls and lacks collateral blood circulation to effectively deliver cellular and humoral immune components to the injured site to eliminate bacteria. Therefore, root canal therapy is required. However, recent systematic review of vital pulp therapy in vital permanent teeth with carious exposed pulps showed that vital teeth with carious pulp exposure could be successfully treated with vital pulp therapy [13, 14].

If vital pulp therapy or root canal therapy were not performed after carious pulp exposure, bacteria in the infected canal would continue to multiply and overwhelm the host's defense mechanisms and infect the rest of the pulp tissue. Eventually, the pulpal infection/inflammation will spread into the periapical tissues and results in apical periodontitis. Once bacteria have established infection in the root canal system, they form biofilm firmly attached to the canal walls by extracellular matrix of polymers (Fig. 4.3) [15–18]. They also penetrate into isthmuses [17, 19], root canal dentinal tubules [12, 20], and lateral and accessory canals [21].

Bacteria from the infected root canal may temporarily contaminate the periapical tissue in apical abscess, only to be killed by the host's immune defense mechanism after complete root canal treatment to eliminate the primary source of infection inside the canal. On rare occasions, intraradicular bacteria may invade the compromised necrotic periapical tissues and establish an infectious process as an extraradicular endodontic infection [22, 23].

There are two forms of extraradicular infection, which unlike the acute abscess are usually characterized by the absence of overt symptoms:

- 1. Formation of biofilm-like structures or bacterial calculus on the external apical root surface [17]
- 2. Formation of cohesive colonies within the body of the inflammatory lesion such as actinomycosis

Biofilm-like structures have been observed on the external surface of the apical portion of the teeth with a long-standing apical periodontitis [24–26]. Ricucci et al. [27] described two cases in which bacterial calculus was present on the external surface of teeth with a long-standing apical periodontitis and sinus tract that had not responded to the nonsurgical endodontic treatment.



Fig. 4.2 (a) Symptomatic mandibular third molar in a 45-year-old man with a deep distal caries. Histologic section encompassing the caries perforation of a distal pulp horn. The pulp tissue under the perforation is necrotic, while the mesial part of the pulp tissue in the pulp chamber shows normal appearance (Taylor's modified Brown and Brenn, orig. mag. ×16). (b) Distal pulp horn in (a). Tissue debris colonized by bacteria. A biofilm structure is present on the left dentin wall. Bacteria also colonize some dentinal tubules (orig. mag. ×100). (c) High-power view of the bacterial colony at the center of the pulp horn. This is surrounded by a concentration of PMNs (orig. mag. ×400)



Fig. 4.3 (a) left side of the canal wall; (b) right side of the canalwall. Biofilm on the root canal walls of a mandibular premolar with a large epithelialized periapical lesion (Taylor's modified Brown and Brenn, orig. mag. ×400)

It has been suggested that in rare instances, extraradicular infection such as actinomycosis may be independent of intraradicular infection [2, 4]. However, the presence of an actinomyces colony in the inflamed periapical tissues as the cause of nonsurgical root canal treatment failure without a continuum of intraradicular infection has been questioned by Ricucci and Siqueira [5]. The mechanism of establishment of extraradicular endodontic infection is not fully understood and may be due to specific microbial community and/or compromised host defense mechanisms.

Pulpal inflammation or necrosis can also be caused by trauma without bacterial colonization and infection [28]. Teeth with this kind of pulpal inflammation or necrosis are self-limited and will not result in periapical inflammation/infection.

The correlation between diagnostic data and actual histological status of the pulps in the diseased teeth is poor [29]. Pulpal disease clinically diagnosed as having irreversible pulpitis does not necessarily imply that the entire pulp tissue is irreversibly inflamed because the apical pulp tissue may be free of inflammation. Likewise, apical periodontitis does not necessarily indicate complete necrosis of the pulp tissue in the canal [30, 31]. Apical periodontitis is the extension of apical pulpitis.

This chapter is focused on biological considerations of treatment of endodontically involved mature teeth with and without apical periodontitis. The chemomechanical preparation and obturation of the root canal system of endodontically treated mature teeth are described in the Chaps. 9 and 10.

4.3 Biological Considerations of Treatment of Endodontically Involved Mature Teeth Without Apical Periodontitis

Similar to all infectious diseases, the goal of root canal therapy of teeth with infected or necrotic pulp is to eliminate bacteria and necrotic pulp tissue in the root canal system. Although antibiotics are effective in helping the host's defense mechanisms eliminate bacteria, they are not useful in root canal therapy since bacteria are in the necrotic pulp tissue, which is devoid of blood circulation. Accordingly, antibiotics cannot make a direct contact with and kill bacteria. Root canal therapy requires mechanical debridement and antiseptic irrigation to disrupt and remove biofilm on the canal walls and antimicrobial intracanal medication to kill bacteria in the root canal system, such as isthmus, lateral/accessory canal, and dentinal tubules. The most frequently used canal irrigant and intracanal medicament are sodium hypochlorite and calcium hydroxide, respectively.

In teeth with irreversible pulpitis, bacteria usually colonize only in the coronal area of necrotic pulp tissue or in the area of pulp abscess (Fig. 4.2). There are no bacteria in the rest of the pulp tissue. Therefore, after elimination of the infected and disintegrated tissue in the pulp chamber by low-speed burs and NaOCl irrigation, the vital pulp tissue in the root canals is removed by routine mechanical debridement and antiseptic irrigation, and a pulp wound – as smallest as possible – is created at the apical constriction. Aseptic treatment procedures should be strictly followed to avoid introducing bacteria into the root canal system. In vital cases, such as irreversible pulpitis, excessive removal of canal dentin walls is not necessary because few coronal dentinal tubules are invaded by bacteria. Teeth diagnosed with irreversible pulpitis, i.e., with infection only confined in the pulp horn (Fig. 4.2), can be treated in one visit, with no need for an intracanal medication, to avoid reinfection between visits.

If bacterial infection involves the entire pulp tissue, biofilm will be formed on the canal walls, and bacteria will penetrate into the isthmus, lateral/accessory canals, and canal dentinal tubules [32–36]. Consequently, mechanical debridement of the root canal with severely infected pulp should be more thorough than that with irreversible pulpitis to disrupt biofilm and remove bacterial toxin-contaminated canal walls as well as bacteria in the dentinal tubules and necrotic tissue debris. In addition, antimicrobial intracanal medication is required to kill residual bacteria remaining in the root canal system between visits because mechanical debridement and antiseptic irrigation are not able to completely eliminate bacteria in the root canal system [37, 38]. Therefore, the remaining anaerobic microbes would begin to multiply in oxygen-deprived environment after the root canal system is closed following chemomechanical debridement. Important note! One or more intracanal medications are also highly recommended in addition to chemomechanical debridement for teeth with severely infected necrotic pulp without apical periodontitis.

If pulpal necrosis of the teeth is caused by trauma without bacterial contamination, endodontic treatment of the involved teeth is not necessary biologically, because this kind of pulp disease is self-limited and does not result in apical periodontitis. However, the teeth with a necrotic pulp are completely devoid of immune defense mechanisms and can be easily infected and develop apical periodontitis; endodontic treatment is usually recommended before development of apical periodontitis to enhance treatment outcome. Biologically, the traumatized necrotic teeth without bacterial infection can be treated as those teeth with irreversible pulpitis.

4.4 Biological Considerations of Treatment of Endodontically Involved Mature Teeth with Apical Periodontitis

In teeth with apical periodontitis, the infection in the root canal system is well established. Biofilm formation and bacterial colonization in the isthmus (Fig. 4.4), lateral/accessory canals (Fig. 4.5), and dentinal tubules (Fig. 4.6) become more pronounced [16, 17, 39, 40]. Bacterial colonization in the apical 5 mm of the canals is difficult to eliminate. Therefore, chemomechanical debridement of the root canal system in infected teeth with apical periodontitis must be performed even more completely than that in infected teeth without apical periodontitis, and antimicrobial intracanal medication is mandatory to control residual root canal infection. On rare occasions, extraradicular endodontic infection may be associated with therapyresistant apical periodontitis [23]. In such cases, endodontic surgery is necessary to eliminate infection.

Although bacteria remaining in the dentinal tubules of well-filled roots after chemomechanical debridement and antimicrobial intracanal dressing would unlikely affect the outcome of endodontic therapy [41], bacteria in the dentinal tubules could survive, proliferate, and infect the root canals in poorly filled roots [21].

Because persistent intraradicular infection is the primary cause of endodontic treatment failures [25, 42–46], more effort and attention should be devoted to the treatment of endodontically involved teeth with apical periodontitis.

4.5 Healing of the Apical and Periradicular Tissues Following Endodontic Treatment

Clinical procedures for treating both infected (necrotic or retreatment cases) and noninfected (vital) teeth involve the use of instruments and antimicrobial agents for cleaning, disinfection (infected cases), and shaping of the canals, as well as filling materials. The cumulative effects of these procedures inevitably result in damage to the periradicular tissues. The extent of injury, adding to the damage resulting from the existing pathology, should be kept to a minimum so as not to interfere negatively on the treatment outcome.

The healing process can be separated into regeneration and repair. Regeneration results in the complete restitution of lost or damaged tissue, while repair involves replacement of some of the original structures with fibrosis [47]. Healing in most



Fig. 4.4 (a) Crosscut section of the mesial root of a mandibular first molar with apical periodontitis. The section is taken at the transition between the apical and the middle third. A long narrow isthmus is present, with a dilation in the middle (Taylor's modified Brown and Brenn, orig. mag. ×16). (b) High-power view of the area indicated by the *arrow* in (a). A thick bacterial biofilm with abundant extracellular matrix fills completely the lumen at this level (orig. mag. ×400)



Fig. 4.5 (a) Distobuccal root of a maxillary first molar with a large apical periodontitis lesion. Section encompassing the apical canal. The canal is filled with a bacterial biofilm. Note the anticipated foramen and a minor apical ramification more apically (Taylor's modified Brown and Brenn, orig. mag. ×16). (b) Detail of the foraminal area (orig. mag. ×50). (c) High magnification of the apical ramification. Its lumen is occupied by a bacterial biofilm, faced apically by inflammatory cells (orig. mag. ×400)



Fig. 4.6 (a) Distal root of a mandibular first molar with a large apical periodontitis lesion. Crosscut section from the apical third. Debris and a bacterial biofilm are present on the canal circumference (Taylor's modified Brown and Brenn, orig. mag. ×50). (b) Detail of the left wall. Bacteria have colonized deeply some dentinal tubules (orig. mag. ×400)

sites in the body, including teeth and their surrounding structures, involves the following highly integrated and overlapping phases: hemostasis, inflammation, proliferation, and tissue remodeling or resolution [48]. The endodontic treatment of teeth with irreversibly inflamed pulps can be regarded essentially as a prophylactic measure. The pulp tissue is severed at the apical constriction (or at a slightly more coronal seat), and the immediate reactions are characterized by an area of necrosis, which involves varying portions of the pulp stump. In teeth with necrotic pulp, after having removed the disintegrated and infected pulp tissue, the wound surface at the level of the apical canal is established in a tissue that most of the times is vital. This may be pulp tissue that has not yet been affected by the progression of necrosis in an apical direction [1], granulation tissue in the root canal in response to advancing infection, or even periodontal tissue proliferated within the apical canal. Similarly to all surgical wounds, an accumulation of PMNs can be seen, which in a period of days or weeks is replaced by a chronic infiltrate.

The subsequent stages are generally characterized by the gradual disappearance of the inflammatory phenomena in the periradicular tissues, restoration of a normal bone trabeculature, and reestablishment of a normal periodontal ligament [1, 49]. In the apical portion of the canal, a fibrous connective tissue free from inflammation, with prevalence of fibers over the cellular component, can be observed (Fig. 4.7). This could be a remnant of the original pulp tissue or periodontal connective tissue that proliferated into the apical portion of the root canal. Cementum formation extending from the external root surface into the foramen can be observed, narrowing the lumen of the foramen to varying degrees (Fig. 4.7). With the passage of time, successive layers of cementum may be deposited until the obliteration of the apical portion of the canal is almost complete. The connective tissue in the very apical canal is reduced to a thin strand. The periodontal tissue that covers the apex is free from inflammation (Fig. 4.7).

4.6 Management of Emergency of Endodontically Involved Mature Teeth

Endodontically involved teeth can manifest as pain and/or swelling, which could occur before, during, or after treatment as emergency situation.

4.6.1 Symptomatic Irreversible Pulpitis

Pulpotomy with or without anodyne dressing has been shown very effective in relieving pain [50, 51]. If clinician has time, complete chemomechanical debridement with the aid of electronic apex locator and intracanal antimicrobial dressing (calcium hydroxide) is recommended to manage pain (Fig. 4.7) [52]. Partial pulpectomy is not recommended because it has been shown to induce higher incidence of pain [51].

Fig. 4.7 (a) Maxillary canine with necrotic pulp and asymptomatic apical periodontitis lesion in a 41-year-old man. (b) The canal was instrumented and medicated with calcium hydroxide. Obturation followed after 1 week, with gutta-percha laterally condensed and a sealer. (c) Follow-up radiograph taken after 9 years. Normal periradicular conditions could be appreciated. The tooth was asymptomatic. (d) The patient presented after 19 years with swelling on the buccal gingiva. Probing revealed a 8 mm deep pocket buccally. A radiograph revealed an angular distal bony defect. Note that the periapical conditions were still normal. The diagnosis of vertical root fracture was made and the tooth extracted. (e) Section taken approximately at the center of the canal and encompassing the apical canal and foramen. Calcified tissue is present in the very apical part of the canal (hematoxylin and eosin, orig. mag. ×16). (f) Detail of the foramen. The calcified tissue occupying the apical canal resembles cementum and it is crossed by a strand of connective tissue. The periodontal tissue fragment, attached to the root tip at extraction, is free from inflammation (orig. mag. ×100). (g) High-power view of the soft tissue at the foramen. Only fibroblasts and collagen fibers can be seen. No inflammatory cells (orig. mag. ×400)





Fig. 4.7 continued

4.6.2 Pretreatment or Inter-treatment of Symptomatic Apical Periodontitis Without Swelling

Complete chemomechanical debridement with the aid of electronic apex locator and intracanal antimicrobial dressing is necessary [52]. If the involved tooth is sensitive to bite, occlusal reduction is highly recommended [52]. Analgesic can be prescribed if necessary. Antibiotic is not indicated.

4.6.3 Pretreatment or Inter-treatment of Apical Periodontitis with Swelling (Localized or Diffuse)

The treatment is similar to that of symptomatic apical periodontitis with the exception of swelling. If the swelling is indurated, incision and drainage (I&D) is not indicated. Usually, drainage can be obtained from the canal after access opening, perhaps due to pressure difference between atmosphere and the periapical tissues (Fig. 4.8). However, if drainage does not occur after access opening and cautiously irrigating the chamber, pushing an endodontic file through the apical constriction with the intention of widening the foramen to evacuate exudate is not indicated, as it can bring more bacteria from the infected canal into the periapical area. Attempt should be made to perform thorough chemomechanical debridement of the infected canal. If swelling is fluctuant, I&D can be performed to help evacuate the exudate from the periapical lesion. Ideally, the involved tooth should also be opened, and the infected canal is chemomechanically debrided because the source of irritant, bacteria, is inside the canal (Fig. 4.9). Antibiotic therapy is not indicated for localized swelling. Antibiotics are not capable of killing bacteria in the infected canal, because there is no blood circulation in the infected necrotic pulp. In case of facial cellulitis (diffuse swelling), antibiotics can be prescribed to prevent spread of infection into fascial spaces of the head and neck. The patient should be closely followed up [53]. Analgesic can be prescribed if necessary.

To leave involved tooth open is not recommended because indigenous oral microorganisms are the primary cause of pulpitis and apical periodontitis. Antibiotics are indicated for systemic manifestations of infection such as fever, malaise, lymphadenopathy, facial cellulitis, progressive diffuse swelling, and medically compromised patients [53] and not for endodontic pain control [54]. Pain should be managed with analgesics [55, 56].

4.6.4 Posttreatment Endodontic Pain or Swelling

The management of posttreatment endodontic pain or swelling is different from that of pretreatment or inter-treatment pain or swelling. Any pain and/or swelling that occurs after completion of root canal therapy should be investigated first for the possible causative factor/factors such as super-occlusion, untreated extra-canal, root fracture, or cracks of the endodontically treated teeth. Posttreatment endodontic pain should be managed with analgesics [56]. If the swelling is fluctuant, I&D is



Fig. 4.8 (a) Mandibular first molar with the diagnosis of symptomatic pulpitis. The radiographs revealed a leaking restoration, calcification in the pulp chamber, and severe apical resorption. (b) Aspect of the crown after removal of the restorative materials and the carious tissue. (c) View of the pulp chamber after access and orifice preparation. (d) Following root canal instrumentation, the canals were filled with chemically pure calcium hydroxide mixed with sterile saline to a creamy consistency

indicated and the patient should be closely observed. Antibiotic therapy is recommended if the swelling is indurated and persistent. The patient must be closely followed up for the progression of signs and symptoms. If pain and/or swelling continue to persist after analgesic and antibiotic therapy, periapical surgery may be indicated after ruling out root fracture.

4.7 Prognosis of Mature Teeth with and Without Apical Periodontitis After Nonsurgical Endodontic Treatment

According to the systematic review of the outcome of primary root canal treatment, nonvital teeth without periapical lesion have approximately 1.95 time higher odds of success than nonvital teeth with periapical lesion [57]. When comparing the



Fig. 4.9 (a) 35-year-old woman seeking treatment for severe pain caused by the maxillary right incisors. The diagnosis of symptomatic apical periodontitis was made. There was swelling in the vestibule with no fluctuation, and the teeth were extremely painful to palpation and percussion. (b) Incision of the soft tissues was not indicated, and drainage was obtained after opening access cavities in both teeth

lesion size into <5 or >5 mm in diameter, the estimated pooled odds of success for small lesions is higher but not statistically significant when compared with the pooled odds of success for large lesions [57]. Acute flare-ups during endodontic treatment do not appear to have effects on outcome [58]. Another factor affecting the prognosis of endodontically treated teeth is the apical level of the endodontic procedures. The excess of root canal filling material decreases the rate of successful treatment [59].

4.8 Quality of Root Fillings and Coronal Restorations in Endodontic Prognosis

Persistence of root canal infection is the major cause of endodontic treatment failures [45, 60, 61]. Another suggested cause of failure is the leakage of bacteria through the coronal restorations and root canal fillings. The assumption that coronal leakage (secondary infection) plays a major role in treatment failure [62–66] has been recently reviewed on the basis of radiographic [67] and histologic studies [49, 68] demonstrating that well-prepared and filled root canals resist bacterial penetration even upon frank and long-standing oral exposure by caries, fracture, or loss of restoration. However, leakage of bacteria or bacterial elements as a possible cause of root canal treatment failure cannot be ruled out in the presence of less than ideal coronal restorations and root canal fillings. An example is emergent disease, like the one developing in teeth that were vital at the time of treatment but later developed an apical periodontic treatment. Clinically and

radiographically, it cannot be determined for sure if the root canal system is bacteriatight sealed from the oral environment. Accordingly, good coronal restorations prevent coronal bacterial leakage and decrease the prevalence of apical periodontitis. Because studies indicate that the best outcome is achieved in teeth with adequate root canal fillings associated with adequate coronal restorations [69–77], it is advisable to treat the tooth as a continuum, placing a well-adapted permanent coronal restoration as soon as possible after finishing root canal treatment.

References

- 1. Ricucci D, Siqueira Jr JF. Endodontology. An integrated biological and clinical view. New Malden/Surrey: Quintessence Publishing; 2013.
- 2. Happonen PP. Periapical actinomycosis: a follow-up study of 16 surgically treated cases. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1986;2:205–9.
- 3. Sjögren U, Happonen RP, Kahnberg KE, Sundqvist G. Survival of *Arachnia propionica* in periapical tissue. Int Endod J. 1988;21:277–82.
- 4. Sundqvist G, Reuterving CO. Isolation of *Actinomyces Israeli* from periapical lesions. J Endod. 1980;6:602–6.
- Ricucci D, Siqueira Jr JF. Apical actinomycosis as a continuum of intraradicular and extraradicular infection: case report and critical review on its involvement with treatment failure. J Endod. 2008;34:1124–9.
- Kakehashi S, Stanley HR, Fitzgerald RJ. The effect of surgical exposure of dental pulps in germ-free and conventional laboratory rats. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1965;20:340–9.
- Bjørndal L. The caries process and its effect on the pulp: the science is changing and so is our understanding. J Endod. 2008;34:S2–5.
- 8. Langeland K. Tissue response to dental caries. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1987;3:149-71.
- 9. Hahn C-L, Liewebr FR. Innate immune responses of the dental pulp to caries. J Endod. 2007;33:643–51.
- 10. Hahn C-L, Liewebr FR. Update on the adaptive immune response of the dental pulp. J Endod. 2007;33:773–81.
- 11. Reeves R, Stanley HR. The relationship of bacterial penetration and pulpal pathosis in carious teeth. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1966;22:59–65.
- Lin LM, Langeland K. Light and electron microscopic study of teeth with carious exposures. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1981;51:292–316.
- 13. Aguilar P, Linsuwanont P. Vital pulp therapy in vital permanent teeth with cariously exposed pulp: a systematic review. J Endod. 2011;37:581–7.
- 14. Hilton TJ, Ferracane JI, Mancl L. Comparison of Ca(OH)₂ with MTA for direct pulp capping: a PBNR randomized clinical trial. J Dent Res. 2013;92 Suppl 1:16S–22.
- 15. Chávez de Paz L. Redefining the persistent infection in root canals: possible role of biofilm communities. J Endod. 2007;33:652–62.
- 16. Nair PNR. Light and electron microscopic studies of root canal flora and periapical lesions. J Endod. 1987;13:29–39.
- 17. Ricucci D, Siqueira Jr JF. Biofilm and apical periodontitis: study of prevalence and association with clinical and histopathologic findings. J Endod. 2010;36:1277–88.
- 18. Svensäter G, Bergenholtz G. Biofilms in endodontic infection. Endod Top. 2004;9:27-36.
- Nair PN, Henry S, Cano V, Vera J. Microbial status of apical root canal system of human mandibular first molars with primary apical periodontitis after "one-visit" endodontic treatment. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2005;99:231–52.
- Siqueira Jr JF, Rocas IN, Lopes HP. Patterns of microbial colonization in primary root canal infections. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2002;93:174–8.

- Ricucci D, Siqueira Jr JF. Fate of the tissue in lateral canals and apical ramifications in response to pathologic conditions and treatment procedures. J Endod. 2010;36:1–15.
- Sunde P, Olsen I, Debelian G, Transtad L. Microbiota of periapical lesions refractory to endodontic therapy. J Endod. 2002;20:304–10.
- Tronstad L, Barnett F, Riso K, Slots J. Extraradicular endodontic infection. Dent Traumatol. 1987;3:86–90.
- Lomçali G, Sen BH, Cankaya H. Scanning electron microscopic observations of apical root surfaces of teeth with apical periodontitis. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1996;12:70–6.
- Siqueira Jr JF, Lopes HP. Bacteria on the apical root surfaces of untreated teeth with periradicular lesions: a scanning electron microscopy study. Int Endod J. 2001;34:216–20.
- Tronstad L, Barnett F, Cervone F. Periapical bacterial plaque in teeth refractory to endodontic treatment. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1990;6:73–7.
- Ricucci D, Martorano M, Bate AL, Pascon EA. Calculus-like deposit on the apical external root surface of teeth with post-treatment apical periodontitis: report of two cases. Int Endod J. 2005;38:262–71.
- Sundqvist G. Bacteriological studies of necrotic dental pulps. Umeå University Odontological Dissertations no. 7, Umeå University, Sweden; 1976.
- Seltzer S, Bender IB, Ziontz M. The dynamics of pulp inflammation: correlations between diagnostic data and actual histological findings in the pulp. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1963;16:969–77.
- 30. Lin LM, Shovlin FE, Skribner J, et al. Pulp biopsies from teeth associated with periapical radiolucency. J Endod. 1984;10:436–48.
- Ricucci D, Pascon EA, Pitt Ford TR, et al. Epithelium and bacteria in periapical lesions. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2006;101:239–49.
- Ando N, Hoshino E. Predominant obligate anaerobes invading the deep layers of canal dentine. Int Endod J. 1990;23:20–7.
- Armitage GC, Ryder MI, Wilcox SE. Cemental changes in teeth with heavily infected root canals. J Endod. 1983;9:127–30.
- 34. Love RM. Regional variation in root dentinal tubule infection by *Streptococcus gordonii*. J Endod. 1996;22:290–3.
- Ørstavik D, Haapasalo M. Disinfection by endodontic irrigants and dressings of experimentally infected dentinal tubules. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1990;6:142–9.
- 36. Şen BH, Piskin B, Demirci T. Observation of bacteria and fungi in infected root canals and dentinal tubules by SEM. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1995;11:6–9.
- 37. Bystrom A, Sundqvist G. Bacteriological evaluation of the efficacy of mechanical root canal instrumentation in endodontic therapy. Eur J Oral Sci. 1981;89:321–8.
- Haapasalo M, Endal U, Zandi H, Coil JM. Eradication of endodontic infection by instrumentation and irrigation solution. Endod Top. 2005;10:77–102.
- Matsuo T, Shirakami T, Ozaki K, et al. An immunologic study of the localization of bacteria invading root pulpal walls of teeth with periapical lesions. J Endod. 2003;29:194–200.
- 40. Peters LB, Wesselink PR, Buijs JF, et al. Viable bacteria in root dentinal tubules of teeth with apical periodontitis. J Endod. 2001;27:76–81.
- 41. Peters LB, Wesselink PR, Moorer WR. The fate and the role of bacteria left in root dentinal tubules. Int Endod J. 1995;28:95–9.
- 42. Lin LM, Pascon EA, Skribner J, et al. Clinical, radiographic, and histologic study of endodontic treatment failures. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1991;71:603–11.
- 43. Lin LM, Skribner JE, Gaengler P. Factors associated with endodontic treatment failures. J Endod. 1992;18:625–7.
- 44. Nair PNR, Sjögren U, Krey G, et al. Intraradicular bacteria and fungi in root-filled asymptomatic human teeth with therapy-resistant periapical lesions: a long-term light and electron microscopic follow-up study. J Endod. 1990;16:580–8.
- Nair PNR. Pathogenesis of apical periodontitis and the causes of endodontic treatment failures. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med. 2004;15:348–81.

- 46. Ricucci D, Siqueira Jr JF, Bate AL, et al. Histological investigation of root canal-treated teeth with apical periodontitis: a retrospective study from twenty-four patients. J Endod. 2009;35:493–502.
- 47. Kumar V, Abbas AK, Fausto N, Aster JC. Robbins and Cotran pathologic basis of disease. 8th ed. Philadelphia: Saunders/Elsevier; 2010.
- 48. Gosain A, DiPietro LA. Aging and wound healing. World J Surg. 2004;28:321-6.
- 49. Ricucci D, Lin LM, Spångberg LSW. Wound healing of apical tissues after root canal therapy: a long-term clinical, radiographic, and histopathologic observation study. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2009;108:609–21.
- Hasselgren G, Reit C. Emergency pulpotomy: pain relieving effect with and without the use of sedative dressings. J Endod. 1989;15:254–6.
- Oguntebi BR, DeSchepper EJ, Taylor TS, et al. Post operative pain incidence related to the type of emergency treatment of symptomatic pulpitis. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 1992;73:470–83.
- 52. Rosenberg PA. Clinical strategies for managing endodontic pain. Endod Top. 2002;3:78–92.
- 53. American Association of Endodontists. Use and abuse of antibiotics. Endodontics Colleagues for Excellence, Winter 2012.
- 54. Fouad AF. Are antibiotic effective for endodontic pain?: an evidence-based review. Endod Top. 2002;3:52–66.
- Holstein A, Hargreaves KM, Niederman R. Evaluation of NSAID for treating post-endodontic pain. Endod Top. 2002;3:3–13.
- Keiser K, Hargreaves KM. Building effective strategies for the management of endodontic pain. Endod Top. 2002;3:93–105.
- 57. Ng Y-L, Mann V, Rahbaran S, et al. Outcome of primary root canal treatment: systematic review of the literature part 2. Influence of clinical factors. Int Endod J. 2008;41:6–31.
- Sjögren U, Hagglund B, Sundqvist G, et al. Factors affecting the long-term results of endodontic treatment. J Endod. 1990;16:498–504.
- 59. Ricucci D, Russo J, Rutberg M, Burleson JA, Spångberg LSW. A prospective outcome study of endodontic treatments of 1,369 root canals: results after 5 years. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2011;112:825–42.
- 60. Fabricius L, Dahlén G, Sundqvist G, Happonen RP, Möller AJR. Influence of residual bacteria on periapical tissue healing after chemomechanical treatment and root filling of experimentally infected monkey teeth. Eur J Oral Sci. 2006;114:278–85.
- Sjögren U, Figdor D, Persson S, Sundqvist G. Influence of infection at the time of root filling on the outcome of endodontic treatment of teeth with apical periodontitis. Int Endod J. 1997;30:297–306.
- Chailertvanitkul P, Saunders WP, MacKenzie D. Coronal leakage of obturated root canals after long-term storage using a polymicrobial marker. J Endod. 1997;24:610–3.
- Madison S, Wilcox LR. An evaluation of coronal microleakage in endodontically treated teeth. Part III. In vivo study. J Endod. 1988;14:455–8.
- 64. Ray HA, Trope M. Periapical status of endodontically treated teeth in relation to the technical quality of the root filling and the coronal restoration. J Endod. 1995;28:12–8.
- Swanson K, Madison S. An evaluation of coronal microleakage in endodontically treated teeth. Part I. Time periods. J Endod. 1987;13:56–9.
- Torabinejad M, Ung B, Kettering JD. In vitro bacterial penetration of coronally unsealed endodontically treated teeth. J Endod. 1990;16:566–9.
- 67. Ricucci D, Gröndahl K, Bergenholtz G. Periapical status in root-filled teeth exposed to the oral environment by loss of restoration or caries. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2000;90:354–9.
- 68. Ricucci D, Bergenholtz G. Bacterial status in root-filled teeth exposed to the oral environment by loss of restoration and fracture or caries a histobacteriological study of treated cases. Int Endod J. 2003;36:787–802.
- 69. Gillen BM, Looney SW, Gu LS, et al. Impact of quality of coronal restoration versus the quality of root canal fillings of root canal treatment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Endod. 2011;37:895–902.
- Hommez GMG, Coppens CRM, De Moor RJG. Periradicular health related to the quality of coronal restorations and root fillings. Int Endod J. 2002;35:680–9.
- Segura-Egea JJ, Jimenez-Pinzon A, Poyato-Ferrera M, et al. Periapical status and quality of root fillings and coronal restorations in an adult Spanish population. Int Endod J. 2004;37:525–30.
- 72. Siqueira Jr JF, Rocas IN, Alves FR, et al. Periradicular status related to the quality of coronal restorations and root canal filling in a Brazilian population. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2005;100:369–74.
- Son M, Park M, Lee C-Y, Kim E. Periapical status related to the quality of coronal restorations and root filling in a Korean population. J Endod. 2014;40:182–6.
- 74. Tronstad L, Asbjørnsen K, Doving L, et al. Influence of coronal restorations on the periapical health of endodontically treated teeth. Dent Traumatol. 2000;16:218–21.
- 75. Tsesis I, Goldberger T, Taschieri S, et al. The dynamics of periapical lesions in endodontically treated teeth that are left without intervention: a longitudinal study. J Endod. 2013;39:1510–5.
- Weiger R, Hitzler S, Hermle G, et al. Periapical status, quality of root canal fillings and estimated endodontic treatment needs in an urban German population. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1997;13:69–74.
- 77. Siqueira Jr JF. Aetiology of root canal treatment failures: why well-treated teeth can fail. Int Endod J. 2001;34:1–10.

Regenerative Approaches in Endodontic Therapies of Immature Teeth

5

Mo K. Kang and George Bogen

Success is dependent on effort.

____ Sophocles

Abstract

Regenerative therapies in endodontics have recently gained momentum in clinical dentistry primarily due to the availability of effective root canal disinfection protocols, biocompatible materials with enhanced marginal seal, and discovery of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) in the dental pulp. These constitute the "triad" of tissue engineering required for pulp regeneration, assembled to meet the unique needs of the pulp-dentin microenvironment. Endodontic regeneration may be offered to patients at varying levels, including direct and indirect pulp capping, partial and complete pulpotomy, apexogenesis, apexification, and revascularization procedures, all of which require the triad of pulp tissue preservation or engineering. Successful outcomes in revascularization, for example, depend on root canal disinfection employing irrigation and medicaments using biocompatible calcium silicate-based cements (CSCs) paired with adhesion-based restorations that ultimately promote recruitment of MSCs from the apical papillae. These regenerative procedures yield high success rates in treatment outcome, although they are not routinely performed in the day-to-day practice of dentistry. In this chapter, we discuss the rationale for endodontic regeneration procedures in the era of markedly successful conventional therapies, and we outline the procedural aspects of available regenerative endodontic therapies.

M.K. Kang (🖂)

Section of Endodontics, Division of Constitutive and Regenerative Sciences, UCLA School of Dentistry, 10833 Le Conte Ave, Los Angeles, CA 90095, USA e-mail: mkang@dentistry.ucla.edu

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 N. Chugal, L.M. Lin (eds.), *Endodontic Prognosis*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-42412-5_5

G. Bogen Private Practice Limited to Endodontics, Los Angeles, CA, USA

5.1 Introduction

Endodontic regeneration encompasses vital pulp therapy and regenerative procedures. These include direct and indirect pulp capping, partial and complete pulpotomy, apexogenesis, apexification (apical barrier formation), and revascularization strategies. Perhaps the most clinically challenging treatments involve vital and nonvital immature permanent teeth, where therapy options depend on the degree of pulpal involvement and root maturation. These teeth are characterized by incomplete root formation, thin-walled roots, and open apical foramina. Immature permanent teeth also exhibit greater dentinal permeability due to the presence of large dentinal tubules, thus increasing the potential for microbial penetration [1]. After their primary eruption into the oral cavity, these teeth may require one to 5 years to complete maturation and root-end closure [1, 2]. When root development is interrupted or halted due to trauma, caries, or anatomical anomalies, the thin radicular walls and compromised root length predispose these teeth to root fracture and potential tooth loss.

During process of odontogenesis, immature teeth are characterized by a unique soft tissue organ at the developing apical collar known as the apical papilla. The apical papilla is a potent source of stem cells that contribute to pulp and root maturation and can survive after pulpal necrosis [3]. The preservation and proper management of this tissue can promote continued development of radicular structures, thus having a positive impact on long-term tooth function and retention. The same objective applies to vital pulps in immature permanent teeth – preserving and protecting the remaining healthy tissue to achieve tooth maturation and continued maintenance of biological functions. It is therefore critical to adopt biologically driven strategies designed to preserve and harness the healing and growth potential of both the apical papilla and dental pulp in order to encourage continued root formation.

Traditionally, treatment strategies for immature necrotic teeth included extraction, conventional root canal treatment, or apexification procedures. Necrotic teeth with open apices were managed using calcium hydroxide (CH) over multiple appointments in order to generate hard tissue barriers to allow predictable canal obturation using gutta-percha [4, 5]. In immature teeth with reversible pulpits or vital pulp tissue, pulpotomy or pulp capping procedures were performed using a wide variety of dental materials including CH. Some of these obsolete materials like formocresol were designed to embalm tissues rather than to encourage preservation and embrace the innate repair potential of the remaining dentin-pulpal tissue complex. However, with our improved understanding of pulp biology and discovery of the stem cells of the apical papilla (SCAP) combined with the introduction of bioactive silicate cements, a revolution in biologically based treatment alternatives has evolved. These treatment modalities not only encompass vital and reversibly inflamed pulp tissues using vital pulp therapy (VPT) but also address immature teeth with necrotic pulp using regenerative endodontic techniques using calcium silicate-based cement (CSC) obturation methods. Once diseased, immature teeth with open apices may now undergo root maturation after resolution of intracanal infection and periradicular inflammation. Regenerative endodontic therapies have

been introduced in order encourage root maturation of non-vital teeth with future efforts directed to fully regenerate a functional pulp-dentin complex. This chapter will present an overview of current and future treatment modalities in vital and necrotic immature permanent teeth with open apices designed to promote the natural healing dynamics of the pulp-dentin complex and provide the clinicians with treatment regimens that can be incorporated into their daily dental practice.

5.2 Treatment of Teeth with Vital Pulp and Open Apices

5.2.1 Vital Pulp Therapy

Treatment strategies are designed to preserve the existing pulpal tissue/dentin complex, encourage the deposition of reparative hard tissue at the injury site, and promote maturation of incompletely formed roots in immature permanent teeth (apexogenesis). The indications include advanced caries, restorative induced pulp exposures, anatomical anomalies, or traumatic injuries in cases generally diagnosed with reversible pulpitis. The in vivo protocols require the recruitment of dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) to replace injured or removed odontoblasts and also stimulate SCAP to advance the process of apexogenesis in immature teeth. VPT procedures encompass direct pulp capping (DPC), indirect pulp capping (IPC), and partial (PP) and complete pulpotomy (CP). Clinical outcome studies have been encouraging when advanced treatment protocols have been implemented using MTA and other CSCs compared to other commonly used materials [6–9].

Recent studies have confirmed that CSCs in particular offer physicochemical properties that provide superior characteristics for VPT procedures [10–14]. The setting of the material is not affected by blood, serum, or moisture and forms a zero micron interfacial layer with dentin similar to hydroxyapatite in composition [15–17]. The slow release of calcium ions and the high pH during curing stimulates dentin sialoprotein (DSP) and heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) and extracts growth factors nested in the adjacent dentin promoting hard tissue barrier formation [18, 19]. A sustained alkaline pH contributes to bacterial neutralization, while the crystallization and occlusion of dentinal tubules during setting allow for entombment of remaining acidogenic microorganisms [20–22]. The surface morphology of the cured MTA also provides a favorable environment for preodontoblast-like cell recruitment and differentiation [23, 24]. Vital pulp therapy can be classified into the following basic categories:

5.2.2 Direct Pulp Capping

The procedure requires the placement of a bioactive material over an exposure site without selective pulp tissue removal. Dental material and clinical protocol improvements have changed the perception that the pulp is a "doomed organ" when an exposure occurs during caries excavation (Fig. 5.1) [25]. Initial success has been



Fig. 5.1 Preoperative radiograph of maxillary right second molar associated with deep caries in a 15-year-old female patient diagnosed with reversible pulpitis (**a**). Clinical photograph of molar after caries removal and NaOCL hemostasis showing two direct pulp exposures in a carious field (*arrows*) (**b**). Photograph showing white MTA placement over axial wall and surrounding dentin (**c**). Postoperative radiograph of molar with wet cotton pellet and provisional restoration (**d**). Radiograph of final bonded composite restoration placed over cured MTA after one week (**e**). Sixyear 6-month radiographic review (**f**). The molar was asymptomatic and responded normally to carbon dioxide cold testing ([®]Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)

seen with DPC in independent studies and clinical trials when the pulp capping materials are CSCs rather than CH, resin-modified glass ionomer (RMGI) cements, or hydrophilic resins [7, 9, 12, 26, 27]. Calcium silicate-based cements appear to reliably promote reparative bridge formation by activating the differentiation of DPSCs or pulpal progenitor cells into newly generated odontoblast-like cells through a complex biological process of recruitment, proliferation, and migration as demonstrated in Fig. 5.2 [28]. Although the origin and specificity of the new hard tissue-forming cells have not been established, a recent histological analysis of directly pulp capped human teeth using CH has shown that reparative calcified barriers generated after injury and loss of the primary odontoblasts may be the end product of pulpal fibroblasts rather than differentiation of the odontoblast-like cell phenotype [29]. Examination of formed hard tissue bridges revealed atubular mineralized tissue exhibiting tunnel defects containing necrotic debris similar to pulp stones produced as a result of dystrophic calcification.

5.2.3 Indirect Pulp Capping

This technique preserves the original odontoblastic cell population in order to stimulate the formation of reactionary (tertiary) dentin by the upregulation of the primary cells in cases of deep caries and avoids pulpal exposure. The treatment involves either stepwise technique (two visit) or one-step techniques leaving carious tissue to remineralize after pulp capping material and restoration placement [30–32]. IPC



Fig. 5.2 (a) Initial radiograph of mandibular right first molar showing temporary restoration and cotton pellet placement in a 12-year-old male patient with advanced caries (a). Postoperative radiograph with MTA direct pulp capping, wet cotton pellet, and provisional restoration (b). One-year postoperative review radiograph shows reparative bridge formation below MTA placement (*arrow*) (c). Nine-year recall radiograph (d). The patient was asymptomatic with normal responses to sensitivity testing ([®]Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)

studies have shown promising results in younger patients; however, the treatment protocol is technique sensitive and caries reactivation and/or loss of dentin volume during remineralization are potential drawbacks.

5.2.4 Partial and Complete Pulpotomy

Both procedures require pulp tissue removal and are based on clinical appearance of the remaining healthy tissue or the extent and location of tooth fracture in trauma cases. During pulp exposure, irreversibly inflamed or necrotic tissue (representing bacterial colonization) is removed until healthy tissue is reached and capping material placed leaving some portion of remaining healthy coronal tissue during PP. In cases of CP, the pulp tissue is effectively removed to the level of the pulpal floor in posterior teeth to encourage apexogenesis in younger patients. Partial removal of tissue (3–4 mm) in anterior teeth that have sustained traumatic fractures is also known as the "Cvek technique" (Fig. 5.3) [33]. The procedure relies on the SCAP and resident DPSC for reparative bridge formation and continued apexogenesis. The procedures have shown efficacy when CSC materials are used in both children and adults even with a diagnosis of irreversible pulpits [34–37].



Fig. 5.3 Cvek pulpotomy promotes root-end closure. Clinical photograph of traumatized maxillary left central incisor in an 8-year-old male patient (**a**). Periapical radiograph showing two oblique coronal fractures and open apex (*arrow*) (**b**). Clinical photograph of pulp exposure and Cvek pulpotomy using white MTA after NaOCl hemostasis (**c**, **d**). Radiograph of completed pulpotomy and bonded composite restoration (**e**). Two-year radiographic follow-up (**f**) and 5-year recall radiograph (**g**). Clinical photograph and radiographic review after 7 years showing minor staining of composite restoration and complete maturation of root apex (*arrow*) (**h**, **i**) (Courtesy Dr. Paul Anstey, Beverly Hills, California)



Fig. 5.4 Preoperative radiograph of symptomatic mandibular left second molar exhibiting deep caries in a 32-year-old male patient (**a**). Postoperative radiograph one week after MTA direct pulp capping and restoration with bonded composite (**b**). The patient symptoms resolved 24 h after MTA placement. Two-year 4-month recall radiograph showing normal periapical structures (**c**). The tooth responded normally to sensitivity testing ([®]Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)

All strategies in VPT rely on the substantial regenerative potential of the dental pulp under a variety of clinical conditions [38]. Treatment options are essentially dictated by the extent of tissue inflammation and the ability to achieve hemostasis when CSCs are used to promote hard tissue deposition and apexogenesis. Partial or complete pulpal preservation can be viewed as a strategic advantage when compared to more aggressive endodontic treatment options [39]. In cases of irreversible pulpitis, CP could provide reliable therapy for adult patients in underserved areas globally. Most importantly, all VPT treatment outcomes are ultimately dependent on the quality and sealing characteristics of the final restoration (Fig. 5.4).

5.3 Tissue Engineering in Endodontic Therapies: Rationale and Progress to Date

Regenerative endodontics is defined as "biologically based procedures designed to replace damaged structures, including dentin and root structures, as well as cells of pulp-dentin complex" [40]. The primary goal of endodontic therapies is to eliminate clinical signs and symptoms of pulpal and periradicular diseases and resolution of apical periodontitis. The goal of regenerative endodontic therapy is to reinstate normal pulp function in necrotic teeth, i.e., restoration of protective functions, including innate pulp immunity, pulp repair through mineralization, and sensation of occlusal pressure and pain. Restoration of these pulpal functions will enhance long-term survival of teeth and help patients retain their natural dentition. Hence, it is critical to develop a novel regenerative approach that will restore not only pulp vitality but regenerate pulp tissue histologically complete with all innate physiological functions.

It is evident that revascularization procedures by way of canal disinfection using CH or triple antibiotic paste (TAP) yield very high success rates, at least short term, when success is defined as resolution of periradicular inflammation and signs and symptoms of endodontic pathoses (Fig. 5.5) [41]. It is also apparent that revascularization without the introduction of exogenous MSCs will result in ectopic tissue formation in the canals devoid of the regenerated pulp-dentin complex [42–45]. Several recent studies indicated that cell-based approaches may be required for pulp-dentin regeneration [46–49]. Hence, the process necessary for pulp-dentin regeneration may be far more complicated than the current strategy of revascularization, which includes root canal disinfection, induced bleeding, clot formation, CSC placement, and the final restoration [50]. It may require isolation of healthy pulp tissues, expansion of stem cells ex vivo utilizing specialized cell culture facilities, and retransplantation of these expanded cells in disinfected root canals. Assuming such complex clinical protocols are developed and materialize, one may pose the question, "why regenerate the dental pulp?"



Fig. 5.5 Revascularization promotes root maturation. Radiograph of an 8-year-old male patient showing incomplete root formation associated with a necrotic mandibular left second premolar characterized by *dens evaginatis*. (a) Postoperative radiograph after debridement, canal disinfection using NaOCl, dressing with CH intracanal medicament, and final MTA placement paired with bonded restoration (b). Two-year radiographic recall shows root maturation – advanced root wall thickening, increased root canal length, and apical closure (Courtesy of Dr. Warunee Sony, Bangkok, Thailand)

This is a valid question in light of the fact that conventional RCT is highly successful; various investigators report success rates of 94–99% for primary RCTs [51, 52]. However, these high success rates have not been confirmed in the systematic review of primary root canal treatment (Ref by Ng et al. 2007 [53], 2008 [54]). In addition, there is a general perception in the dental community that endodontically treated teeth eventually fail because of root fracture. While this notion may be exaggerated, it is not entirely false. Vire et al. (1991) [55] reported that 59.4% of all endodontically treated teeth were extracted due to some sort of structural defect, e.g., crown/root fractures, prosthetic failure, and recurrent caries. Interestingly, Toure et al. (2011) [56] reported that periodontal complications were the leading cause of extraction of endodontically treated teeth. However, this article also indicated significant structural defects, e.g., vertical root fracture and crown/root fracture, as the cause of tooth extraction. Hence, it is evident that endodontically treated teeth have been structurally weakened and their ability to withstand occlusal forces is compromised.

The study by Sedgley and Messer (1992) [57] found no difference in biomechanical properties between endodontically treated teeth and vital teeth, supporting the concept that root canal treated teeth do not become more "brittle." Rather, endodontically treated teeth can be weakened due to loss of tooth structure after caries and restoration removal amplified by mechanical canal preparation. Moreover, pulpal and periodontal ligament (PDL) innervations are believed to gauge immediate occlusal force perception [58, 59]; lack of a vital pulp may allow excessive occlusal force generation during normal function, possibly leading to root fracture. Absence of the pain sensory system in devitalized teeth would also lend restored teeth susceptible to progressive recurrent caries, which is one of the main causes of prosthetic failure in root canal treated teeth [55]. Pulp-dentin regeneration, in theory, would restore the functional pulp-dentin complex, resulting in enhanced structural integrity of teeth via synthesis of mineralized dentin and continued reactionary (tertiary) dentin deposition, proprioceptive cognizance, and immune defense mechanisms. Importantly, regenerative endodontic procedures do not involve obturation of root canals with filling materials, e.g., gutta-percha or bioceramics; therefore, the extent of root canal shaping may be minimized so as to leave as much sound radicular dentin during the treatment procedures. Therefore, pulp-dentin regeneration in lieu of nonsurgical RCT may be the next major frontier in endodontics. Successful regeneration of the dental pulp would ultimately expand and improve future treatment options for dental patients with non-vital teeth.

Generally, tissue engineering is described with the "triad" of key components, which include scaffold, growth-differentiation signals, and mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) [60]. This principle may be applicable for most tissue regeneration, e.g., bone and cartilage in a sterile environment. However, pulp tissue regeneration must be regarded as challenging because the connective tissue performs specialized functions including mechanical proprioception, i.e., occlusal force loading and integration with the existing tooth components and supporting structures. This requires restoration of biological tissues in a disinfected root canal space that may harbor persistent bacterial biofilms. For these reasons, the triad of dental pulp tissue engineering should include biomaterials, infection control, and MSCs (Fig. 5.6).



Fig. 5.6 "Triad" of endodontic regeneration. Tissue regeneration in pulp-dentin complex requires control of inflammation, biomaterials, and stem cells. Eradication of pulpal infection is essential in regenerative endodontic procedures and can be accomplished by use of intracanal medicaments and irrigants, including CH and NaOCI. Pulp regeneration is enabled by the advent of biocompatible, rigid, and sealable materials, including calcium silicate-based cement (CSC or Bioceramics), e.g., mineral trioxide aggregate. Finally, undifferentiated mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) from the dental pulp are required for pulp-dentin complex regeneration. In the absence of pulpal MSCs, de novo pulp-dentin regeneration does not take place

The ideal biomaterials for pulp tissue regeneration would provide a rigid structural foundation supporting the sealed permanent dental restoration that protects regenerated tissues. In addition, antimicrobial properties from the biomaterials would be an added benefit since the biomaterials would be placed within disinfected and previously diseased root canals. MTA or other CSCs would satisfy these requirements due to their enhanced adaptation to dentin and superior biocompatibility [61, 62].

Infection control within the root canal system is an absolute prerequisite for successful pulp tissue engineering. In fact, patients with infected root canals requiring regenerative procedures often present with radiographically large periapical lesions often associated with soft tissue swelling and sinus tracts. One of the primary objectives of pulp regeneration treatment protocols is to eradicate the root canal infection. This allows healing of the radicular periodontium, an important predicator to successful treatment (Figs. 5.7 and 5.8). Hence, infection control is a requirement of pulp tissue regeneration. It can be accomplished by irrigation during canal debridement with 1.5% NaOCl and root canal dressing with antimicrobial agents, e.g., CH or TAP [41, 63, 64].

Finally, dental pulp tissue regeneration requires multipotent MSCs from the dental pulp. Prior studies have demonstrated that MSCs retain the features of their tissue origin; subcutaneous transplantation of DPSCs, PDL stem cells (PDLSCs), and bone marrow-derived MSCs (BMSCs) in immunocompromised mice showed the formation of tissues resembling dental pulp, fibrous cementum, and bone, respectively [65]. Thus, MSCs derived from different tissues are programmed to differentiate to reflect their tissue origin. Many prior large animal studies and some case



Fig. 5.7 Revascularization eradicates apical periodontitis. A 12-year-old patient presented with pulpal necrosis, swelling, and symptomatic apical periodontitis associated with the mandibular right second premolar due to *dens evaginatus* (a–c). Root canal debridement and intracanal dressing with CH was performed (d, e). Immediate postoperative periapical radiograph after completion of treatment (f) and recall radiograph at 5 months (g). One-year 4-month radiographic review with final bonded restoration shows resolution of apical periodontitis, thickening of root canal walls, increased root length, and subsequent apical closure (Courtesy of Dr. Mitsuhiro Tsukiboshi, Aichi, Japan)

reports in human subjects indicate that revascularization results in formation of ectopic bone, cementum, and fibrotic tissues within the root canal space, without forming pulp-dentin complex [42, 43]. This is somewhat expected because revascularization is based on disinfection of root canals and recruitment of neighboring endogenous MSCs by means of intracanal bleeding. Hence, intracanal bleeding would have recruited MSCs from bone marrow, resulting in ectopic bone formation, and PDL, resulting in cementum and fibrotic tissues. Therefore, in cases where the tooth presents with necrotic pulp tissue and there are no residual viable DPSCs, recruitment of heterologous MSCs from bone marrow and the PDL would fail to induce pulp-dentin regeneration. In these cases, pulp regeneration would require transplantation of autogenous DPSCs or ex vivo cultured cells into the disinfected root canal space. With the current advances in biocompatible material technologies combined with available stem cell resources, the opportunity to pioneer biological approaches to accomplish the future goal of pulp regeneration has arrived.

5.3.1 Revascularization

Initial success for regenerative therapy was demonstrated in necrotic immature teeth after canal disinfection using the TAP and intracanal bleeding (Banchs and Trope 2004) [63]. This "revascularization" procedure has been reported in numerous



Fig. 5.8 Cone-beam CT corroborates apical healing by revascularization. Preoperative CBCT of mandibular right second premolar shown in Fig. 5.2 with *dens evaginatus*; sagittal, coronal, and axial views are shown in panels **a–c**, respectively. CBCT postoperative images at 16 months post-treatment (**d–f**) demonstrate resolution of apical periodontitis in all three views with confirmed maturation and root-end closure (Courtesy of Dr. Mitsuhiro Tsukiboshi, Aichi, Japan)

subsequent studies, attesting to elimination of endodontic infection and resolution of apical bony lesions by revascularization [41, 64, 66]. Several variants of this procedure have been published [42, 67, 68], and almost all studies demonstrate inflammation resolution and enhanced root formation after revascularization procedures.

It is important to address the question, "do procedural details matter?" Current investigations in pulp revascularization demonstrate successful resolution of periradicular inflammation and continued root formation (Fig. 5.9) [41, 64, 66, 69–74]. In fact, the vast majority of cases documented in the literature demonstrate nearly 100% success rate and 100% rate of apical closure, and such outcomes were achieved in various studies despite altered treatment protocols (Table 5.1). Supporting this evidence, Jung et al. (2008) [69] reported cases with CH or TAP as intracanal dressing and those with or without intracanal bleeding. All eight cases in this study showed resolution of inflammation and apical closure. Shah et al. (2008) [71] showed a series of 14 revascularization cases with NP-CAP that were dressed with formocresol, as opposed to TAP or CH. All these cases showed complete healing of apical lesions and root-end closure. Success of revascularization appears to



Fig. 5.9 Revascularization promotes root maturation. Radiograph of a 12-year-old male patient exhibiting incomplete root formation and large periapical lesion associated with a necrotic mandibular right second premolar showing *dens evaginatis* anatomy (**a**). Panorex shows gutta-percha point placed through the buccal sinus tract is directed to periapical lesion (**b**). Postoperative radiograph after canal debridement, disinfection with NaOCl and triple antibiotic paste (TAP), and MTA placement coronally and sealed with a bonded restoration (**c**). Six-year radiographic recall shows root wall thickening, root-end closure, and resolution of apical pathosis (**d**) (Courtesy Dr. Mark Olesen, North Vancouver, Canada)

depend largely on disinfection of root canals and recruitment of resident MSCs into the canal space rather than technical details of the revascularization procedure per se. Hence, future endeavors in regenerative endodontic research should focus on restoring the functionality of regenerated dental pulp tissue through pulp-dentin regeneration rather than the technical details of revascularization.

5.3.2 Pulp-Dentin Regeneration

Ongoing research indicates that the success rate of revascularization is very high and approaching ninety percent. However, these preliminary outcomes do not reflect data derived from long-term studies with larger sample sizes (see Table 5.1). The remaining question is whether revascularization achieves regeneration of pulp-dentin complex, which is histologically verifiable, showing the organized structure of a palisading odontoblast layer facing mineralized dentin. According to several animal studies and few case reports of extracted human teeth after revascularization, the answer is "no." Using a canine model, Wang et al. (2010) [44] showed that

Dof	No		Canal		No	Duration		Follow
nej	1NU.	Disinfection	dressing	Bleeding	vicite	of Ty	Success	up ^a
110.	Cases		uressing	Diccuing	715115		1/1	up
69	Case 1	5 % NaOCI	TAP ⁶	None	7	>14 weeks	1/1	60 mo.
69	Case 2	5.25 % NaOCl	TAP	None	2	11 days	1/1	24 mo.
69	Case 3	5% NaOCl	CH	None	3	10 weeks	1/1	10 mo.
69	Case 4	5.25 % NaOCl	TAP	None	2	2 weeks	1/1	24 mo.
69	Case 5	2.5 % NaOCl	TAP	Bleeding	3	3 weeks	1/1	24 mo.
69	Case 6	2.5 % NaOCl	TAP	Bleeding	2	2 weeks	1/1	24 mo.
69	Case 7	2.5 % NaOCl	CH	Bleeding	3	4 weeks	1/1	12 mo.
69	Case 8	2.5 % NaOCl	TAP	Bleeding	3	7 weeks	1/1	17 mo.
69	14	3 % H ₂ O ₂ 2.5 % NaOCl	Form	Bleeding	2–3	ND	14/14	<40 mo.
66	23	2.5 % NaOCl	TAP	None	ND	1–25 mo.	23/23	6 - 108 mo.
73	2	6 % NaOCl 2 % CHX	TAP	Bleeding	3	6 weeks	2/2	18 mo.
72	1	6 % NaOCl 2 % CHX	None	None	1	One Day	1/1	19 mo.
64	6	2.5 % NaOCl	CH	Bleeding	3	7 weeks	6/6	10 mo.
74	3	3% NaOCl	Misc ^c	Bleeding	3	4 weeks	3/3	<48 mo.
41	20	2.5 % NaOCl	TAP	Bleeding	3	ND	20/20	<29 mo.

Table 5.1 Characteristics of revascularization protocols and the treatment outcome

Abbreviation: *TAP* triple antibiotic paste, *CH* calcium hydroxide, *ND* not determined, *Tx* treatment, *Form* formocresol

^aFollow-up period given in months post-op

^bVaried protocol (TAP/CH/Erythromycin- CH)

^cmisc antibiotics included ciprofloxacine, metronidazole, and cephalosporin

revascularization led to intracanal cementum-like tissues juxtaposed to the dentinal wall. This finding was confirmed in a similar study in which the authors showed absence of organized odontoblastic layer in revascularized canine root canals [75]. Likewise, a case report of extracted human teeth demonstrated the occurrence of ectopic tissue formation in revascularized pulp, mainly composed of bone, cementum, and fibrous tissues, lacking evidence of organized pulp-dentin tissues [43]. Hence, evidence indicates that revascularization with or without growth factors (e.g., PRP) is not capable for regeneration of pulp-dentin complex and induces formation of ectopic tissues in root canals.

Clues in the requirement of tissue regeneration in pulp were suggested by a murine study in which pulp regeneration was performed in the presence or absence of cell transplantation [46, 47]. In both published studies, organized odontoblast-like layer was visible in the groups in which pulp MSCs were transplanted, while those without cell transplantation lacked organized pulp-dentin microstructure. Again, these studies demonstrate the critical requirement of pulp cell transplantation for pulp-dentin regeneration.

An important question is why revascularization with intracanal blood clot formation fails to regenerate dental pulp but allows ectopic osseous and fibro-tissue/cemental tissue formation. The answer to this question can be found in an earlier study, which showed that MSCs from different tissue sources retain their differentiation capacity directly reflecting the tissue of their origin [65]. For instance, upon transplantation into immunocompromised mice, MSCs from bone marrow formed osteogenic nodules; those from dental pulp formed pulp-dentin-like tissues; and those from the PDL formed fibrotic tissues and cementoid tissues. It is presumed that dental MSCs from different sites of the dentoalveolar organ are not the same. Accordingly, intracanal bleeding would recruit endogenous MSCs, primarily from periradicular tissues, that include alveolar bone and PDL, which result in differentiation into osseous and fibro-tissues/cemental tissues, respectively. Therefore, it appears that regeneration of functional dental pulp can only be accomplished by cell-based approaches, which at the present time can only be performed at preclinical levels. While pulp revascularization is highly efficacious in eradication of apical periodontitis, future research should focus on clinical translation of pulp-dentin regeneration techniques. In doing so, endodontists will be able to fully restore the vital pulp with its prescribed functionalities, including the sensibility of the environmental changes, occlusal force cognizance, restitution of the intrapulpal defense mechanisms against microbial insults, and completion of root development and apical closure.

5.4 Treatment Recommendations for Regenerative Endodontic Therapies

5.4.1 Vital Pulp Therapy

The following are treatment guidelines for DPC and pulpotomy procedures [76].

- After a differential diagnosis and local anesthesia, the tooth is isolated with a dental dam and the crown disinfected with 5.25–8.25 % NaOCl or 2 % chlorhexidine. Soft debris is removed with a spoon excavator and a high-speed diamond or carbide bur is used to remove undermined enamel. Illumination and optical magnification are recommended during caries removal.
- Caries removal is augmented with multiple applications of caries-detector dye using spoon excavators and slow speed no. 2–6 carbide round burs until no or only light pink staining is evident.
- Depending on the degree of pulpal exposure and involvement, the operator must assess the health of the remaining tissue and determine the extent of pulp tissue preservation and/or removal. If normal tissue is evident on exposure, then DPC can be initiated after hemostasis. However, necrotic tissue must be removed until healthy tissue is visible with PP or CP using a high-speed round diamond drill with water spray.
- Hemorrhaging is controlled by the placement of a cotton pellet moistened with 5.25–8.25 % NaOCl with a contact time of 1–10 min. If tissue hemostasis is not

attained in 10 min or the entire pulpal roof or axial wall removed during excavation, then a CP or pulpectomy is indicated.

- Excess NaOCl should be removed using water spray and the dentin gently dried before applying the CSC. The material is mixed according to the manufacturer's instructions. It is placed directly over the exposed pulp tissue and majority of surrounding dentin with DPC procedures. It should cover all exposed tissue and proximal dentin in PP or CP procedures. The CSC placement should have a minimum thickness of at 1.5–2.0 mm with DPC and thicker when initiating PP or CP. The CSC can be padded down using a moist cotton pellet during placement.
- With slower setting CSCs, a moist cotton pellet or gauze can be placed over the material and a provisional material provided in the two-step technique. The patient is then re-evaluated on a second visit using a cold test to determine pulp vitality with DPC or PP and a permanent restoration placed after confirming cement curing.
- When using faster setting CSCs, a flowable resin-modified glass ionomer cement can be used to cover the hardened cement before a final restoration is provided on the same visit. This can also be used for slow setting CSCs; however, it becomes challenging when a larger aliquot of the unset cement is used. Bonded composite restorations must be placed according to manufacturer's recommendations using a dental dam and are preferable to amalgam restorations.
- Radiographic follow-up, cold testing, and subjective symptomatology should be evaluated at 6 and 12 months for DPC and PP and yearly thereafter if possible. In immature permanent teeth, the cases should be followed up to evaluate root maturation. For CP, teeth should be monitored radiographically for absence of periapical disease and symptomatology at 6 and 12 months and continued on a yearly or biyearly basis to assess apexogenesis.

5.4.2 Root Canal Obturation (Apical Barrier Formation) with CSCs

Treatment for pulpless teeth with open apices for apexification procedures demands profound local anesthesia and proper isolation protocols with minimum canal preparation. This is a valid option for challenging behavioral management cases in pediatric patients. The working length is established using radiographic confirmation. Passive irrigation with 1.5% NaOCl for 15–20 min is recommended and the canal or canals are minimally filed along the walls circumferentially with larger K-files since canal enlargement is not required.

• After the canal is dried with large paper points, the bioceramic cement or CSC can be placed with a MTA or amalgam carrier and the cement compacted down into the canal by using the back end of an extra coarse paper point, gutta-percha point, endodontic plugger, or Glick instrument. A large K-file is used to compact the CSC toward the apical limit using gentle pressure to avoid cement extrusion, although CSC overfill does not compromise the outcome.

- Clinicians should exercise caution when using ultrasonic devices with endodontic pluggers in order to compact MTA or other CSCs, as excessive extrusion of the cement is a common drawback in teeth with open apices. It has been shown that manual compaction of MTA provides dense compaction and may be preferable to using ultrasonic condensation techniques [77].
- When uncontrolled hemorrhage is present during the obturation procedure, larger amounts of the CSC must be placed and condensed quickly. The cement can be introduced into the canal in bulk using a Glick instrument or transported with an amalgam carrier.
- Dry cotton pellets with or without calcium hydroxide powder or the back end of extra course paper points can be placed over the CSC using moderate pressure until hemostasis and cement stability are achieved. In cases where hemostasis is not attainable, the canal should be filled with CH paste and the patient rescheduled for CSC obturation at a later time.
- A radiograph should be taken after CSC barrier placement to assess density and position in relationship to the apical collar or rim. When completed, the obturation should ideally produce a 4–5 mm CSC plug to ensure an adequate seal [78].
- If the obturation appears satisfactory, the excess CSC can be flushed with sterile water using a side-venting needle (Vista TM Dental Products) and the remaining canal space dried with large paper points. The cement is then flattened with a plugger and the canal backfilled with warm vertically compacted gutta-percha and sealer. Superior outcomes are achieved when the access orifice is restored and sealed with a bonded composite material [79].
- Radiographic follow-up to assess apical maturation and resolution of periapical pathosis is recommended at 6 and 12 months postoperatively and continued on a yearly or biyearly basis as indicated (Fig. 5.10).

5.4.3 Pulp Revascularization

Treatment of necrotic teeth with open apices can be accomplished using revascularization approaches, which depends largely on resolution of intracanal infection and periradicular inflammation.

• During the first appointment, root canal debridement and disinfection are to be performed. The disinfection protocol follows those published in the literature [41, 66]. Briefly, patients are anesthetized with 3% mepivacaine without vaso-constrictor. Tooth should be isolated with dental dam placement and accessed with no. 4–6 round bur while removing all caries. Canals are instrumented with gentle circumferential filing using ISO no. 60 file for enlarged canals or using rotary systems, e.g., profile no. 25–40 with 0.04 taper (Dentsply). Necrotic debris must be irrigated using 20 ml 1.5% NaOCl and rinsed with 10 ml saline to remove residual NaOCl. Canals are then dressed with CH, and the tooth is temporized with IRM.



Fig. 5.10 Periapical radiograph of traumatized maxillary left central incisor in an 8-year-old male patient shows a wide-open apex and large periapical radiolucency (*arrow*) (**a**). Radiograph of file placement establishing approximate working length (**b**). Radiographic confirmation of MTA apical barrier placement (**c**). Final radiograph after obturation with thermoplastic gutta-percha, sealer, and bonded core (**d**). Three-month radiographic recall shows advancing remineralization of the periapical defect (**e**). Four-year 6-month radiographic review demonstrates apical closure and satisfactory periapical healing (**f**). The patient remained asymptomatic and presented without staining of the clinical crown ([®]Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)

On the second visit, revascularization will be performed by accessing the canals under local anesthesia, 3% mepivacaine without the vasoconstrictor under dental dam isolation. Canals are irrigated with 20 ml 1.5% NaOCl to remove CH and 17% EDTA to remove the smear layer and then rinsed with 10 ml saline [80]. If the patient is symptom-free and canals lack evidence of residual infection, canals are revascularized using induced bleeding with no. 25–35 K-files. If there is evidence of residual canal debris, infection, or continued symptoms, the canal should be debrided again with 1.5% NaOCl, medicated with CH and

temporized. For these patients, revascularization is performed in subsequent visits, pending resolution of intracanal infection, and patients' symptoms. After the induction of bleeding to the cementoenamel junction (CEJ), blood coagulation, and subsequent clot formation, the canal is coronally sealed with CollaPlug (Zimmer Dental) or similar material and MTA (Dentsply) or other CSC, and the tooth is provisionalized.

- At the final treatment visit one week postoperatively, the tooth is evaluated to ensure setting of MTA or CSC and, if satisfactory, restored with a permanent restoration.
- Patients should be recalled after 6 months and 1 year for postoperative clinical and radiographic evaluation to assess root maturation and root canal wall thickening.

Conclusions

Conventional RCT has been the treatment choice for teeth with pulpal and periradicular pathosis for nearly a century. During this period, a profusion of new techniques, materials, and technologies has emerged to enhance the efficiency and predictability of treatment. However, the procedure itself has essentially centered on the identical concept, e.g., pulp debridement, shaping of root canals, and obturation with foreign materials. This practice has clearly led to remarkable success in retaining the natural dentition and restoration of masticatory function. Nevertheless, the outcome of root canal therapy has not been improved for the past two decades [53]. In conventional root canal therapy, the physiological functions of the dental pulp are permanently lost and therefore compromise longterm tooth survival.

In recent years, with persistent interest in maintaining pulp vitality, several important events have contributed to the advancement of regenerative approaches in endodontics. Primarily, the introduction of biocompatible and dimensionally stable biomaterials such as MTA and other CSCs that enable repair, preservation, and partial or complete regeneration of dental pulp tissues [81, 82]. Another key component has been the discovery of undifferentiated MSCs in dental pulp that permit regeneration of the pulp-dentin complex [83, 84]. These events constitute the two elements of the "triad" of endodontic regeneration, while the final component is the control of inflammation, which can be accomplished by conventional materials, including CH and NaOCl.

The endodontic specialty is currently positioned to advance beyond conventional root canal therapies and embrace future strategies in vital pulp therapy and bioengineering technology. These new pathways focus on research and clinical efforts with the main goal of vital pulp preservation and de novo functional pulp tissue regeneration in devitalized teeth. These developments have coincided with major advancements in adhesion technology and the introduction of permanent restorations and biomaterials that reliably seal and promote continued pulpal protection. With combined treatment approaches based on stem cell engineering and the bioactive material evolution, a new horizon in restoring, maintaining, and regenerating functional dental pulp tissue has emerged. Finally, pulp biology and endodontic therapy are coming together.

References

- Winters J, Cameron AC, Widmer RP. Pulp therapy for primary and immature permanent teeth. In: Cameron AC, Widmer RP, editors. Handbook of pediatric dentistry. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: Mosby Elsevier; 2008. p. 95–113.
- Camp JH. Diagnosis dilemmas in vital pulp therapy: treatment for the toothache is changing, especially in young, immature teeth. Pediatr Dent. 2008;30:197–205.
- Friedlander LT, Cullinan MP, Love RM. Dental stem cells and their potential role in apexogenesis and apexification. Int Endod J. 2009;42:955–62.
- 4. Frank AL. Therapy for the divergent pulpless tooth by continued apical formation. J Am Dent Assoc. 1966;72:87–93.
- 5. Cvek M. Prognosis of non-vital maxillary incisors treated with calcium hydroxide and filled with gutta- percha: a retrospective clinical study. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1992;8:45–55.
- Qudeimat MA, Barrieshi-Nusair KM, Owais AI. Calcium hydroxide vs mineral trioxide aggregates for partial pulpotomy of permanent molars with deep caries. Eur Arch Pediatr Dent. 2007;8:99–104.
- Hilton TJ, Ferracane JL, Mancl L, for Northwest Practice-based Research Collaborative in Evidence-based Dentistry (NWP). Comparison of CaOH with MTA for direct pulp capping: a PBRN randomized clinical trial. J Dent Res. 2013;92:16S–22.
- Mente J, Geletneky B, Ohle M, et al. Mineral trioxide aggregate or calcium hydroxide direct pulp capping: an analysis of the clinical treatment outcome. J Endod. 2010;36:806–13.
- Mente J, Hufnagel S, Leo M, et al. Treatment of mineral trioxide aggregate or calcium hydroxide direct pulp capping: long-term results. J Endod. 2014;40:1746–51.
- 10. Barrieshi-Nusair KM, Qudeimat MA. A prospective clinical study of mineral trioxide aggregate for partial pulpotomy in cariously exposed permanent teeth. J Endod. 2006;32:731–5.
- 11. Witherspoon DE, Small JC, Harris GZ. Mineral trioxide aggregate pulpotomies: a case series outcomes assessment. J Am Dent Assoc. 2006;137:610–8.
- Bogen G, Kim JS, Bakland LK. Direct pulp capping with mineral trioxide aggregate: an observational study. J Am Dent Assoc. 2008;139:305–15.
- Nosrat A, Seifi A, Asgary S. Pulpotomy in caries-exposed immature permanent molars using calcium-enriched mixture cement or mineral trioxide aggregate: a randomized clinical trial. Int J Pediatr Dent. 2013;23:56–63.
- Yan M, Wu J, Yu Y, et al. Mineral trioxide aggregate promotes the odonto/osteogenic differentiation and dentinogenesis of stem cells from apical papilla via nuclear factor kappa B signaling pathway. J Endod. 2014;40:640–7.
- 15. Torabinejad M, Higa RK, McKendry DJ, et al. Dye leakage of four root end filling materials: effects of blood contamination. J Endod. 1994;20:159–63.
- Torabinejad M, Smith PW, Kettering JD, et al. Comparative investigation of marginal adaptation of mineral trioxide aggregate and other commonly used root-end filling materials. J Endod. 1995;21:295–9.
- Sarkar NK, Caicedo R, Ritwik P, et al. Physiochemical basis of the biologic properties of mineral trioxide aggregate. J Endod. 2005;31:97–100.
- Min KS, Park HJ, Lee SK, et al. Effect of mineral trioxide aggregate on dentin bridge formation and expression of dentin sialoprotein and heme oxygenase-1 in human pulp. J Endod. 2008;34:666–70.
- 19. Paranjpe A, Smoot T, Zhang H, et al. Direct contact with mineral trioxide aggregate activates and differentiates human dental pulp cells. J Endod. 2011;37:1691–5.
- 20. Fridland M, Rosado R. MTA solubility: a long term study. J Endod. 2005;31:376-9.
- Komabayashi T, Spångberg LS. Particle size and shape analysis of MTA finer fractions using Portland cement. J Endod. 2008;34:709–11.
- Yoo JS, Chang SW, Oh SR, et al. Bacterial entombment by intratubular mineralization following orthograde mineral trioxide aggregate obturation: a SEM study. Int J Oral Sci. 2014;6:227–32.

- Gandolfi MG, Ciapetti G, Taddei P, et al. Apatite formation on bioactive calcium-silicate cements for dentistry affects surface topography and human marrow stromal cells proliferation. Dent Mater. 2010;26:974–92.
- Paranjpe A, Zhang H, Johnson JD. Effects of mineral trioxide aggregate on human pulp cells after pulp-capping procedures. J Endod. 2010;36:1042–7.
- 25. Dammaschke T. The history of direct pulp capping. J Hist Dent. 2008;56:9-23.
- Do Nascimento ABL, Fontana UF, Teixeira HM, et al. Biocompatibility of a resin-modified glass-ionomer cement applied as pulp capping in human teeth. Am J Dent. 2000;13:28–34.
- 27. Silva GA, Gava E, Lanza LD, et al. Subclinical failures of direct pulp capping of human teeth by using a dentin bonding system. J Endod. 2013;39:182–9.
- 28. Tziafas D, Kodonas K. Differentiation potential of dental papilla, dental pulp and apical papilla progenator cells. J Endod. 2010;36:781–9.
- 29. Ricucci D, Loghin S, Lin LM, et al. Is hard tissue formation in the dental pulp after the death of the primary odontoblasts a regenerative or a reparative process? J Dent. 2014;42:1156–70.
- 30. Bjørndal L, Reit C, Bruun G, et al. Treatment of deep caries lesions in adults: randomized clinical trials comparing stepwise vs. direct complete excavation, and direct pulp capping vs. partial pulpotomy. Eur J Oral Sci. 2010;118:290–7.
- Maltz M, Garcia R, Jardim JJ, et al. Randomized trial of partial vs. stepwise caries removal: 3-year follow-up. J Dent Res. 2012;91:1026–31.
- Schwendicke F, Dörfer CE, Paris S. Incomplete caries removal: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Dent Res. 2013;92:306–14.
- Cvek M. A clinical report on partial pulpotomy and capping with calcium hydroxide in permanent incisors with complicated crown fracture. J Endod. 1978;4:232–7.
- 34. Holan G, Eidelman E, Fuks A. Long-term evaluation of pulpotomy in primary molars using mineral trioxide aggregate or formocresol. Pediatr Dent. 2005;27:129–36.
- 35. Eghbal MJ, Asgary S, Baglue RA, et al. MTA pulpotomy of human permanent molars with irreversible pulpitis. Aust Endod J. 2009;35:4–8.
- Barngkgei IH, Halboub ES, Alboni RS. Pulpotomy of symptomatic permanent teeth with carious exposure using mineral trioxide aggregate. Iran Endod J. 2013;8:65–8.
- 37. Asgary S, Eghbal MJ, Fazlyab M, et al. Five-year results of vital pulp therapy in permanent molars with irreversible pulpitis: a non-inferiority multicenter randomized clinical trial. Clin Oral Investig. 2015;19:335–41.
- 38. Bjørndal L, Demant S, Dabelsteen S. Depth and activity of carious lesions as indicators for the regenerative potential of dental pulp after intervention. J Endod. 2014;40:S76–81.
- 39. Caplan DJ, Cai J, Yin G, et al. Root canal filled versus non-root canal filled teeth: a retrospective comparison of survival times. J Public Health Dent. 2005;65:90–6.
- 40. Murray PE, Garcia-Godoy F, Hargreaves KM. Regenerative endodontics: a review of current status and a call for action. J Endod. 2007;33:377–90.
- 41. Jeeruphan T, Jantarat J, Yanpiset K, et al. Mahidol study 1: comparison of radiographic and survival outcomes of immature teeth treated with either regenerative endodontic or apexification methods: a retrospective study. J Endod. 2012;38:1330–6.
- 42. Torabinejad M, Faras H. A clinical and histological report of a tooth with an open apex treated with regenerative endodontics using platelet-rich plasma. J Endod. 2012;38:864–8.
- Martin G, Ricucci D, Gibbs JL, Lin LM. Histological findings of revascularized/revitalized immature permanent molar with apical periodontitis using platelet-rich plasma. J Endod. 2013;39:138–44.
- 44. Wang X, Thibodeau B, Trope M, Lin LM, Huang GT. Histologic characterization of regenerated tissues in canal space after the revitalization/revascularization procedure of immature dog teeth with apical periodontitis. J Endod. 2010;36:56–63.
- 45. Saoud TM, Zaazou A, Nabil A, et al. Histological observations of pulpal replacement tissue in immature dog teeth after revascularization of infected pulps. Dent Traumatol. 2015;31:243–9.

- Sakai VT, Zhang Z, Dong Z, et al. SHED differentiate into functional odontoblasts and endothelium. J Dent Res. 2010;89:791–6.
- 47. Huang GT, Yamaza T, Shea LD, Djouad F, Kuhn NZ, Tuan RS, Shi S. Stem/progenitor cellmediated de novo regeneration of dental pulp with newly deposited continuous layer of dentin in an in vivo model. Tissue Eng. 2010;16:605–15.
- Iohara K, Imabayashi K, Ishizak R, et al. Complete pulp regeneration after pulpectomy by transplantation of CD105+ stem cells with stromal cell-derived factor-1. Tissue Eng Part A. 2011;17:1911–20.
- 49. Hilkens P, Meschi N, Lambrechts P, Bronckaers A, Lambrichts I. Dental stem cells in pulp regeneration: near future or long road ahead? Stem Cells Dev. 2015;24:1610–22.
- Dissanayaka WL, Hargreaves KM, Jin L, Samaranayake LP, Zhang C. The interplay of dental pulp stem cells and endothelial cells in an injectable peptide hydrogelon angiogenesis and pulp regeneration in vivo. Tissue Eng Part A. 2015;21:550–63.
- 51. Imura N, Pinheiro ET, Gomes BP, et al. The outcome of endodontic treatment: a retrospective study of 2000 cases performed by a specialist. J Endod. 2007;33:1278–82.
- 52. Hannahan JP, Eleazer PD. Comparison of success of implants versus endodontically treated teeth. J Endod. 2008;34:1302–5.
- 53. Ng YL, Mann V, Rahbaran S, Lewsey J, Gulabivala K. Outcome of primary root canal treatment: systematic review of the literature – part 1. Effects of study characteristics on probability of success. Int Endod J. 2007;40:921–39.
- 54. Ng Y-L, Mann V, Rahbaran S, Lewsey J, Gulabivala K. Outcome of primary root canal treatment: systematic review of the literature – part 2. Influence of clinical factors. Int Endod J. 2008;41:6–31.
- 55. Vire DE. Failure of endodontically treated teeth: classification and evaluation. J Endod. 1991;17:338–42.
- Touré B, Faye B, Kane AW, Lo CM, Niang B, Boucher Y. Analysis of reasons for extraction of endodontically treated teeth: a prospective study. J Endod. 2011;37:1512–5.
- 57. Sedgley CM, Messer HH. Are endodontically treated teeth more brittle? J Endod. 1992;18:332–5.
- Randow K, Glantz PO. On cantilever loading of vital and non-vital teeth: an experimental clinical study. Acta Odontol Scand. 1986;44:271–7.
- 59. Paphangkorakit J, Osborn JW. The effect of normal occlusal forces on fluid movement through human dentine in vitro. Arch Oral Biol. 2000;45:1033–41.
- Alsberg E, Hill EE, Mooney DJ. Craniofacial tissue engineering. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med. 2008;12:64–75.
- Lee SJ, Monsef M, Torabinejad M. Sealing ability of a mineral trioxide aggregate for repair of lateral root performation. J Endod. 1993;19:541–4.
- Torabinejad M, Parirokh M. Mineral trioxide aggregate: a comprehensive literature review part II: leakage and biocompatibility investigations. J Endod. 2010;36:190–202.
- 63. Banchs F, Trope M. Revascularization of immature permanent teeth with apical periodontitis: new treatment protocol? J Endod. 2004;30:196–200.
- Cehreli ZC, Isbitiren B, Sara S, Erbas G. Regenerative endodontic treatment (revascularization) of immature necrotic molars medicated with calcium hydroxide: a case series. J Endod. 2011;37:1327–30.
- 65. Seo BM, Miura M, Gronthos S, Bartold PM, Batouli S, Brahim J, Young M, Robey PG, Wang CY, Shi S. Investigation of multipotent postnatal stem cells from human periodontal ligament. Lancet. 2004;364:149–55.
- 66. Chueh LH, Ho YC, Kuo TC, et al. Regenerative endodontic treatment for necrotic immature permanent teeth. J Endod. 2009;35:160–4.
- 67. Cotti E, Mereu M, Lusso D. Regenerative treatment of an immature, traumatized tooth with apical periodontitis: report of a case. J Endod. 2008;34:611–6.
- Jadhav G, Shah N, Logani A. Revascularization with and without platelet-rich plasma in nonvital, immature, anterior teeth: a pilot clinical study. J Endod. 2012;38:1581–7.

- 69. Jung IY, Lee SJ, Hargreaves KM. Biologically based treatment of immature permanent teeth with pulpal necrosis: a case series. J Endod. 2008;34:876–87.
- Bose R, Nummikoski R, Hargreaves KM. A retrospective evaluation of radiographic outcomes in immature teeth with necrotic root canal systems treated with regenerative endodontic procedures. J Endod. 2009;35:1343–9.
- Shah N, Logani A, Bhaskar U, Aggarwal V. Efficacy of revascularization to induce apexification/apexogenesis in infected, nonvital, immature teeth: a pilot clinical study. J Endod. 2008;34:919–25.
- 72. Shin SY, Albert JS, Mortman RE. One step pulp revascularization treatment of an immature permanent tooth with chronic apical abscess: a case report. Int Endod J. 2009;42:1118–26.
- Reynolds K, Johnson JD, Cohenca N. Pulp revascularization of necrotic bilateral bicuspids using a modified novel technique to eliminate potential coronal discolouration: a case report. Int Endod J. 2009;42:84–92.
- Kim DS, Park HJ, Yeom JH, et al. Long-term follow-ups of revascularized immature necrotic teeth: three case reports. Int J Oral Sci. 2012;4:109–13.
- 75. Zhu X, Zhang C, Huang GTJ, Cheung GS, Dissanayaka WL, Zhu W. Transplantation of dental pulp stem cells and platelet-rich plasma for pulp regeneration. J Endod. 2012;38:1604–9.
- Bogen G, Chandler NP. Vital pulp therapy. In: Ingle JI, Bakland LK, Baumbartner JC, editors. Ingle's endodontics. 6th ed. Hamilton: BC Decker Inc; 2008. p. 1310.
- El-Ma'aita AM, Qualtrough AJ, Watts DC. A micro-computed tomography evaluation of mineral trioxide aggregate root canal fillings. J Endod. 2012;38:670–2.
- Matt GD, Thorpe JR, Strother JM, McClanahan SB. Comparative study of white and gray mineral trioxide aggregate (MTA) simulating a one- or two-step apical barrier technique. J Endod. 2004;30:876–9.
- Desai S, Chandler N. The restoration of permanent immature anterior teeth, root filled using MTA: a review. J Dent. 2009;37:652–7.
- Martin DE, De Almeida JF, Henry MA. Concentration-dependent effect of sodium hypochlorite on stem cells of apical papilla survival and differentiation. J Endod. 2014;40:51–5.
- 81. Ford TR, Torabinejad M, Abedi HR, Bakland LK, Kariyawasam SP. Using mineral trioxide aggregate as a pulp-capping material. J Am Dent Assoc. 1996;127:1491–4.
- Torabinejad M, Chivian N. Clinical applications of mineral trioxide aggregate. J Endod. 1999;25:197–205.
- Gronthos S, Mankani M, Brahim J, et al. Postnatal human dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) in vitro and in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97:13625–30.
- Miura M, Gronthos S, Zhao M, et al. SHED: stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100:5807–12.

Endodontic Pharmacotherapeutics

6

Helaine De Brito-Gariepy, Thereza Cristina Botelho-Dantas, and Jennifer Lynn Gibbs

Abstract

Managing dental pain of endodontic origin is complicated by the multiple biological mechanisms that contribute to several distinct painful clinical entities including dentinal hypersensitivity, pulpitis pain, periapical pain, postoperative pain, and persistent posttreatment pain. In general pain of endodontic origin is best managed by initiating endodontic treatment, during which time the source of inflammation is mostly removed. In order to successfully perform endodontic treatment, the affected pulpal tissues and adjacent periodontal tissues must be completely anesthetized using local anesthetics. This is complicated by the fact that inflammation reduces the efficacy of local anesthetics. Strategies for obtaining successful pulpal anesthesia so that endodontic treatment can be administered with minimal or no discomfort to the patient are discussed. Postoperative endodontic pain is common and can be severe, and clinicians need to utilize anti-inflammatory analgesics to manage their patient's symptoms. Occasionally antibiotics are required to manage a spreading infection. In summary, successful endodontic treatment requires the wise use of pharmacotherapeutics before, during, and after clinical treatment. This chapter provides a review of the evidence and practical guidance for the use of pharmacotherapeutics with the overall goal to improve the prognosis of eliminating endodontic pain for our patients.

H. De Brito-Gariepy • J.L. Gibbs (⊠)

T.C. Botelho-Dantas

Department of Endodontics, New York University College of Dentistry, 345 E. 24th St., Clinic 7W, New York, NY 10010, USA e-mail: helaine.gariepy@nyu.edu; jlg15@nyu.edu

Basic Sciences and Craniofacial Biology, New York University College of Dentistry, 345 East 24th ST. room 921C, New York, NY 10010, USA e-mail: therezacfb@hotmail.com

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 N. Chugal, L.M. Lin (eds.), *Endodontic Prognosis*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-42412-5_6

6.1 Pain Is a Complex Sensory Experience

Orofacial pain is a widespread problem that accounts for around 40% of an estimated \$80 billion in pain-related healthcare costs annually in the United States [1]. Odontalgia, or toothache, is a common source of orofacial pain and can be a distressing and intensely painful experience, often leading to disruption of daily activities [2–5]. Pain is an important motivator for symptomatic patients to seek dental care, while a fear of pain during or after dental procedures causes some patients to avoid seeking routine dental treatments [6–9]. Pain is a complex sensory experience with emotional, conceptual, and motivational components. As such the experience of pain is unique to each individual [9]. Given the multifaceted nature of pain, it is not surprising that there are numerous and diverse means to prevent or inhibit the pain in a clinical setting, which run the gamut from relaxation strategies to reduce patient anxiety, to blocking sensory nerves with local anesthetics. This chapter will focus on pharmacological approaches to managing pain and infection before, during, and after endodontic treatment.

6.1.1 Mechanisms of Pain of Endodontic Origin

One might think the term odontalgia or toothache should describe a fairly homogenous clinical phenomenon. However, we now know that there are multiple etiologies for pain originating from teeth that include inflammation of the dental pulp, inflammation of periapical tissues, transdentinal stimulation of pulpal neurons, and even persistent pain after surgical intervention.

6.1.1.1 Nociceptive Pain

Nociceptive pain describes the inherent ability of pain fibers, or nociceptors, to detect stimuli that are potentially tissue damaging, and can be of a thermal, mechanical, or chemical nature. Nociceptive pain is mediated by smaller-diameter sensory afferents that include the myelinated A δ - and unmyelinated C-fiber classes. The dental pulp appears to have a unique sensory capacity, as almost any stimulus that activates pulpal nerve endings produces the sensation of pain. The neural component of the pulp tissue consists of sensory trigeminal afferents and sympathetic and parasympathetic efferent fibers [10, 11]. These fibers project into the pulpal tissues of the root canals through the apical foramen and are closely associated with blood vessels, forming a collagen-bound neurovascular bundle. Anatomical studies have demonstrated that the terminal portion of pulpal afferents can extend up to 150 µm into the predentin or the dentinal tubules and form a close association with the processes of odontoblasts [12, 13]. These sensitive fibers act like nociceptors, in that they produce pain when stimulated. However, according to their diameter, conduction velocity, and expression of specific markers that identify classes of neurons, most of these fibers are large-diameter myelinated Aβ-fibers, which typically transduce non-painful stimuli such as light touch [14-16]. This is an apparent paradox, as pain is thought to be exclusively mediated by the activation of A δ - and C-fiber

nociceptive afferents. In an attempt to explain this paradox, Fried and colleagues have proposed the novel term "algoneuron" to explain the observation that the pulp is innervated primarily by larger-diameter fibers that appear to, paradoxically, transduce painful stimuli [17].

Also found in the pulp are Aδ-fibers, which have a smaller diameter and slower conduction speed relative to the Aβ-fibers. At this time it is not known whether these fibers have a distinct function from that of the Aβ-fibers. Collectively the Aβ- and Aδ-fibers respond to stimuli that would produce fluid movement in dentinal tubules such as drilling, sweet foods, cold air, and hypertonic solutions and produce a sharp, bright, pain when activated [18, 19]. The low threshold for activation and the peripheral localization of these fibers suggest that they can become activated and produce pain without the presence of irreversible damage to the pulp. These fibers contribute to the increased sensitivity observed after restorative work involving enamel and dentin removal or toothbrush abrasion (see Dentinal Pain Sect. 6.1.2.3) [20].

Finally, the C-fiber subtype of sensory neurons, although less abundant, is are also found in the pulp. These are unmyelinated fibers with a low conduction velocity, a smaller diameter, and a higher excitation threshold. They are located deeper within the pulp than the myelinated fibers. C-fibers are activated by heat, mechanical, and chemical stimulation and produce a dull, diffuse, and longer-lasting pain [13]. It is thought that when C-fiber involvement produces pulpal pain, the patient reports a diffuse, dull, and achy pain that can be difficult to localize. This type of pain may suggest that concomitant damage to the pulp proper has occurred, which is more likely to be irreversible. While an injury results in an interruption in the pulp microcirculation, the C-fibers continue to function for a longer time compared to A-fibers as their oxygen consumption is higher than A-fibers [20]. This characteristic also underlines the familiar clinical occurrence in which a tooth that responds negatively to testing with a cold CO_2 stick is painful to mechanical instrumentation during endodontic therapy [21].

The ability of a sensory neuron to detect specific types of stimuli is dictated by the receptors that are expressed in the peripheral terminal. Of particular relevance to the detection of painful thermal, mechanical, and chemical stimuli is the presence of transient receptor potential channels (TRPs) [22, 23]. The most-studied TRP channels are TRPV1, TRPV2, TRPA1, and TRPM8, all of which are expressed in pulpal afferents and thus have the potential to mediate thermal and mechanical sensation in the dental pulp (Fig. 6.1). For example, applying heat directly in the tooth produces pain, which is most likely mediated by activation of the TRPV1 channel [24, 25]. In addition to heat, A δ - and C-fiber neurons also are responsive to noxious and non-noxious cold temperatures. Calcium imaging studies revealed that neurons responding to cold temperatures <18°C are more common in the trigeminal ganglion (14%) than in the dorsal root ganglion (7%) [26]. Both the TRPM8 and TRPA1 channels are stimulated by cold temperatures with thresholds of 25°C and 17°C, respectively, and both receptors have been localized in nerve fibers innervating the dental pulp [27, 28]. Further work is needed to determine whether TRPM8 and TRPA1 contribute to the transmission of painful cold in the dental pulp.



The role of odontoblasts in transducing nociceptive pain in the dental pulp is an active topic of debate [29]. Importantly, odontoblasts also appear to express several of the TRP receptors, which support their role in detection of sensory stimuli [30, 31]. The mechanism transduction of sensory stimuli from odontoblast to peripheral nerve is not clear, and studies attempting to better understand these mechanisms are ongoing.

6.1.1.2 Inflammatory Dental Pain

Inflammation is a normal protective immune response of the host to tissue infection. Circulating immunocompetent blood cells migrate through the endothelial barrier to gain access to the damaged tissues and eliminate injurious pathogens. However, uncontrolled inflammation may result in a full range of acute, chronic, and systemic inflammatory disorders [32]. Dental pulp tissues are rich in blood vessels and nerve fibers and have a relatively low interstitial compliance because of its enclosure in a rigid dentin chamber. Inflammation of the dental pulp, or pulpitis, can be intensely painful [33].

When infected dental caries approximates the dental pulp, lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from bacterial cell walls, and other virulent factors, stimulate an

inflammatory response from a variety of cells residing in the dental pulp tissues [34, 35]. The affected cells release inflammatory mediators such as prostaglandins and bradykinin, which then activate or sensitize pulpal sensory neurons, leading to thermal and mechanical hyperalgesia and allodynia [24, 36]. In advanced stages of pulpal inflammation, large parts of the pulp become inflamed and the pulpal tissue may ultimately degrade. During the degradation process, pulpal nerve fibers might remain partially intact and continue evoke spontaneous pain sensations. The diagnostic terms reversible and irreversible pulpits are based on the clinical prognosis of the pulp, but evidence-based clinical measurements to determine whether a pulp is truly reversibly or irreversibly inflamed are lacking [37–39]. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), opioid analgesics, acetaminophen, and steroids are all effective analgesics for treating inflammatory pulpal pain.

6.1.1.3 Dentinal Pain

The loss or compromise of enamel or cementum can cause exposure of the dentin to the oral cavity and produce the clinical condition of dentinal hypersensitivity. Dentinal pain is usually a brief, sharp pain that occurs in response to thermal, evaporative, tactile, osmotic, or chemical stimuli. The hydrodynamic theory explains that stimuli producing fluid movement within the dentinal tubules can activate the very sensitive nerve fibers that innervate the dentinal tubules [40]. Dentin sensitivity has a direct correlation with the dentinal tubule size and patency [41]. The loss of the enamel or cementum is commonly a consequence of attrition, erosion, abrasion, or abfraction. It is estimated that 30% of adults have dentin hypersensitivity at some point in their lives [11, 42]. Ultimately the symptoms may resolve when the tubules become occluded by salts, smeared dentin, peritubular dentin, and secondary or reparative dentin. Most existing therapeutics for dentinal hypersensitivity occlude the tubules, thus preventing dentinal fluid movement and, eventually, pain. Therapies include toothpastes containing strontium or oxalate salts, which deposit salts within the dentinal tubule. Professionally applied glass ionomers, resins, and resin adhesives are also effective [43]. Conservative treatments such as these are recommended as an initial strategy for providing pain relief, as there is usually little pulpal inflammation or pathology observed in teeth with dentinal hypersensitivity. Rather, this condition is just the expression of the profound sensitivity of normal pulpal sensory neurons to stimulation when the protective enamel or cementum is compromised.

6.1.1.4 Neuropathic Pain

Neuropathic pain is a type of chronic pain condition, which is caused by a primary lesion or dysfunction in the peripheral or central nervous system. Neuropathic pain has a complicated pathophysiology and can affect the orofacial region as well as other parts of the body. Of relevance to dentistry and endodontics is that it is now understood that neuropathic pain might be initiated by dental procedures including third-molar or implant surgery, surgical and nonsurgical endodontic treatment, and even dental injections [44, 45]. Neuropathic pain can also occur as a consequence of other disorders including diabetes (diabetic neuropathy), HIV (HIV neuropathy), and herpes zoster (postherpetic neuralgia). These peripheral neuropathies can occur

in orofacial regions including inside the mouth, in which case diagnosis can be very challenging. Unfortunately, many patients undergo unneeded dental procedures in an attempt to alleviate their pain. As neuropathic pain can be severely debilitating and intractable, measures to prevent or minimize nerve damage should always be implemented during treatment planning [46]. Lower molars and premolar teeth with apical roots approximating the mental nerve foramen of inferior alveolar canal should be approached with care to minimize damage to major nerve branches [47]. Typical analgesics and NSAIDs have minimal efficacy for treating neuropathic pain, although opioids are somewhat effective. In general, drugs that depress the nervous system have been found to have efficacy in treating neuropathic pain, including anticonvulsants such as gabapentin and antidepressant drugs such as nor-triptyline [48, 49].

6.2 Endodontic Pain Management

When an odontogenic source of pain has been identified, and the clinical intervention decided on by the practitioner and patient is root canal treatment, the most predictable route to alleviating pain is to remove the source of the infection, usually by caries removal, pulp extirpation (in vital cases), and some form of chemomechanical canal debridement. Pain management is essential, both during and after endodontic treatment, and knowledge of the judicious usage of pharmacotherapeutics is critical to a practitioner's success.

6.2.1 Intraoperative Pain Management: Local Anesthetics

The foundation of intraoperative pain management in the practice of endodontics is the effective administration of local anesthetics to block the transmission of sensory input from the nerve endings found in the dental pulp and periodontal tissues surrounding the treated tooth. Although this class of drugs is generally safe, practitioners should be familiar with dose limitations, side effects, and potential allergic reactions [50, 51]. Local anesthetics bind to sodium channels located on the cell membrane of sensory neurons, preventing the influx of sodium ions into the nerve fiber (Fig. 6.2). This prevents depolarization and action potential propagation along the neuron, effectively blocking the transmission of pain and other sensory signaling. As pain is the dominant sensation produced when stimulating sensory fibers of the dental pulp, complete pulpal anesthesia is required to be able to perform endodontic treatments, as well as many restorative treatments on teeth containing vital pulpal tissue.

6.2.1.1 Inflammation Reduces the Efficacy of Local Anesthetics

The ability to reliably obtain effective anesthesia is challenged in the setting of inflammation. A vital but inflamed dental pulp can be especially difficult to anesthetize, especially when attempting to utilize an inferior alveolar nerve (IAN) block to



Fig. 6.2 Primary structures of the α - and β -subunits of the voltage-gated sodium channel. The α -subunit is composed of four homologous domains (DI–DIV), each with six α -helical transmembrane segments (S1–S6). The S4 segment of each domain contains positive charged amino acid residues and forms part of the voltage sensor. The linker that connects S5 and S6 forms the external mouth of the channel pore and the selectivity filter. The cytoplasmic linker between DIII and DIV contains a critical hydrophobic motif that acts as a "hinged lid" (h) and is responsible for fast inactivation. Slow inactivation depends in part on residues located in the external pore lining of the channel. The α -subunit contains several receptor sites for neurotoxins (not shown). Amino acid residues in the S6 segment of DI, DIII, and DIV in the inner cavity of the channel pore form the binding site for local anesthetics and related antiepileptic and antiarrhythmic drugs such as lidocaine, mexiletine, carbamazepine, and phenytoin. Sodium channel blockade by these drugs is relatively weak at resting potential but strong if the membrane is depolarized ("use-dependent" blockade). A conserved amino acid sequence at the intercellular loop linking the DII-DIII binds ankyrin G (Ank) and is critical for targeting the channels to specific domains of the cell. The large intracellular loop between DI and DIII contains several modulatory phosphorylation sites (P) by protein kinases A and C. The carboxy-terminus domain associates with the β -subunit and other adaptor and cytoskeletal proteins. The auxiliary β -subunits are proteins with a single transmembrane domain, a long, heavily glycosylated extracellular amino-terminal domain that has an immunoglobulin-like structure with homology to cell adhesion molecules, and a short intracellular C-terminal tail. These subunits regulate targeting and kinetics of the channel (With permission from [208])

treat a painful mandibular molar. In this scenario, the attempt to successfully anesthetize the inflamed pulp with IAN block alone is more likely to fail than to succeed, with success rates reported in the range of 25-40% [52–55]. Multiple hypotheses exist to explain the reduced efficacy of local anesthetics in inflamed dental pulp (summarized here [56, 57]). Currently, the most accepted theory hinges on the concept of neuronal plasticity.

Neuroplasticity describes the inherent property of individual neurons and complex nervous tissues (e.g., the brain or spinal cord), to adapt to injury or disease, as well as changes in behavior or environment. More specifically, sensory neurons are fundamentally altered when the nerve terminals themselves are damaged or the surrounding tissues are inflamed. The amount and type of receptors and neurotransmitters that are expressed in a given class of sensory neurons are dynamic and change in response to growth factors and inflammatory mediators. Ultimately these changes can cause the neuron to exist in a sensitized state, where it is more easily activated by both painful and non-painful stimuli. These molecular changes underlie the clinical observations of hypersensitivity and allodynia after injury. Clinical examples of the manifestation of allodynia in the inflamed periodontal ligament include pain on biting or to mild percussion of the tooth. A typical example of hypersensitivity in the inflamed dental pulp is an exaggerated painful response to a cold stimulus. Of interest to the discussion of local anesthetics, inflammatory mediators directly influence the expression and activity of several important sodium channels, thus influencing the excitability of sensory neurons, and the efficacy of local anesthetics (Fig. 6.2).

6.2.1.2 Sodium Channel Subtypes

Sodium channels are divided into two distinct classes based on the presence or absence of sensitivity to tetrodotoxin (TTX). The Nav1.8 and Nav1.9 channels mediate the TTX-resistant (TTX-R) current [58, 59]. The Na_v1.8 channel is expressed at higher levels under inflammatory conditions, and an increased expression has been demonstrated in human dental pulp in persons experiencing painful pulpitis [60-63]. Importantly, increasing the expression of the Na_v1.8 channel reduces the efficacy of lidocaine in blocking neural transduction. Thus, the upregulation of Na, 1.8, within nerves innervating the inflamed dental pulp, could contribute to the clinical challenge of achieving adequate local anesthesia during dental procedures. Other sodium channels are likely also involved in mediating inflammatory pain. The channel Na, 1.7 is upregulated in many animal models of inflammatory pain and also in humans with painful pulpitis [64, 65]. In summary, multiple sodium channels are involved in the sensitization of sensory neurons. A change in expression of sodium channels, especially Nav1.8, is likely responsible for the clinical observation of reduced local anesthetic efficacy in the setting of inflammation.

6.2.1.3 Pulpal Anesthesia Versus Soft Tissue Anesthesia

When attempting to anesthetize asymptomatic, i.e., noninflamed pulpal tissues, it is important to remember that soft tissue anesthesia of adjacent tissues does not guarantee that pulpal anesthesia was achieved. This is especially true in the mandible, where successful pulpal anesthesia after an inferior alveolar nerve block is 35-60%, depending on the tooth [66–68]. So before initiating endodontic treatment, especially in the setting of inflammation, it is important to determine whether pulpal anesthesia was obtained. This can be accomplished by repeating pulpal sensibility tests with either a cold or electrical stimulus. However, in the setting of irreversible

pulpitis, even cases where pulpal anesthesia was confirmed using sensibility tests, some patients will still experience pain during treatment [69]. For this reason, supplementary injections and/or other adjunctive therapies are always recommended to minimize the chance of patient discomfort.

6.2.1.4 Supplementary Injections/Adjunctive Therapies

As mentioned previously, given the high rate of local anesthetic failure when performing endodontic treatment on painful teeth, especially in the mandible after IAN block, it is essential to administer additional anesthesia via supplementary routes before attempting to initiate treatment [70, 71]. Although a comprehensive review of the methods and evidence for the various supplementary anesthetic approaches are beyond the scope of this chapter, we wanted to mention that there is a strong support for the use of buccal infiltration (especially with 4% articaine), periodontal ligament injections, as well as intraosseous injections to supplement the IAN block and improve the likelihood of obtaining pulpal anesthesia [69, 72–78].

6.2.1.5 On Choosing a Local Anesthetic

Although there are several types of local anesthetic agents to choose from in the United States, the vast majority of dental practitioners utilize 2% lidocaine, and it remains the standard against which other anesthetics are compared. Articaine (4%) is another commonly used local anesthetic, and numerous studies have compared the ability of lidocaine to articaine in achieving soft tissue and pulpal anesthesia in teeth with normal pulps as well as those with symptomatic irreversible pulpitis. In general the two agents demonstrate comparable efficacy in achieving pulpal anesthesia [79, 80]. The exception is that articaine is more effective at accomplishing anesthesia when administered via infiltration [81]. This appears to be especially true for pulpal anesthesia in both symptomatic and asymptomatic cases when administering supplementary anesthetic via buccal infiltration in the mandible [53, 72, 73, 82]. Therefore, there is strong support for the choice of articaine over lidocaine as a supplementary anesthetic for buccal infiltration, in order to accomplish pain-free endodontic procedures in posterior mandibular teeth [81].

Lidocaine is the anesthetic of choice for nerve blocks including IAN, lingual, and mental nerve blocks. All local anesthetics are neurotoxic and have the potential to cause a neuropathy when administered in sufficient concentration adjacent to a nerve bundle or branch [83, 84]. Clinically this can produce prolonged numbness (anesthesia), prickling or "pins and needles" sensations (paresthesia), or more severe neuropathic pain symptoms in the region innervated by the damaged nerve. Higher concentration formulations such as articaine (4%) and prilocaine (4%) are associated with a higher risk of nerve damage, usually when administered for an IAN block [85–87]. Given the comparable efficacy of articaine and lidocaine in accomplishing pulpal and soft tissue anesthesia, combined with the increased risk of nerve damage with articaine, lidocaine is the anesthetic of choice for IAN block.

Bupivacaine (0.5%) is notable as a local anesthetic agent because it produces long-lasting anesthesia of up to 8 h [88]. Administration of bupivacaine at the end of a clinical procedure is a useful strategy to help reduce postoperative pain

[89–91]. This is ideal when significant levels of postoperative pain are anticipated, including surgical endodontic cases, and for patients who present with a high level of preoperative pain.

6.2.1.6 Preemptive Analgesics for Improving the Efficacy of Local Anesthetics

Given the inherent challenge in obtaining adequate pulpal anesthesia in the setting of inflammation, multiple strategies are needed to optimize the chances for clinicians to perform pain-free endodontic procedures. Studies evaluating the effects of inflammatory mediators on sodium channels have demonstrated that prostaglandin E2 increases the activity of TTX-R sodium channels [92]. Given that TTX-R channels are more resistant to local anesthetics, the important, clinically relevant question is whether pretreatment with an anti-inflammatory agent, for example, the nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) ibuprofen, improves the chances of obtaining pulpal anesthesia in patients with symptomatic pulpitis.

This hypothesis has been well tested in clinical studies, many of which were high-quality randomized controlled clinical trials. Several studies demonstrate efficacy for NSAIDs versus placebo in achieving more frequent pulpal anesthesia and/ or pain-free endodontic treatment [93–96]. However several trials failed to observe significant differences between drug and placebo, although it should be noted that in the majority of these studies, the trend was for the subjects receiving the NSAID to have more successful rates of anesthesia [97-100]. The variance in results between the studies could be due to differences in study design including varying definitions of irreversible pulpitis (i.e., different subject populations), differences in the definition of successful vs. failed anesthesia, and differences in how the study was powered (i.e., sample sizes). Importantly, the overall evidence supports the use of a single preoperative dose of NSAIDs for improving the chances for successful mandibular pulpal anesthesia via IAN block in patients with painful pulpitis, as demonstrated in a recent systematic review (ibuprofen 600-800 mg, lornoxicam 8 mg, and diclofenac potassium 50 mg were demonstrated to be better than placebo with ketorolac, ibuprofen/acetaminophen combination, and acetaminophen alone being no better than placebo) [101]. Although less studied, there is evidence that pretreatment with other anti-inflammatory agents, such as steroids, can increase the efficacy of pulpal anesthesia or the duration of anesthesia [102, 103]. In summary, pretreatment with an NSAID, such as 600 mg ibuprofen, 1 h prior to initiating endodontic therapy will increase the chances of obtaining pulpal anesthesia, helping to minimize the amount of pain experienced during endodontic treatment.

6.2.2 Postoperative Pain Management

6.2.2.1 Prognostic Factors Related to Endodontic Postoperative Pain

Studies regarding postoperative pain after endodontic treatment, both post-obturation or post-instrumentation for multi-visit treatments, suggest that the frequency and severity of pain are quite varied [104]. This is likely due to differences in when and

how pain was measured, in the patient population studied, and, importantly, in the preoperative pulpal and periradicular status of the subject populations. A recent systematic review reports that the prevalence of postoperative pain reported in individual studies ranges from 20-90% and severity is usually in the mild-moderate range (10–60 mm on a 100 mm VAS). One week after endodontic treatment, pain prevalence is typically less than 10%, and reported pain is, on average, reported to be at a low level of intensity [105]. Administering endodontic therapies is clearly an effective way to reduce pain of endodontic etiology, with postoperative pain levels dropping to 50% of preoperative levels after 24 h [105, 106]. This supports the idea that endodontic interventions, including root canal treatment, and emergency procedures such as pulpectomies and pulpotomies, in the appropriate clinical situations (e.g., the tooth is restorable, the tooth is in function), are the best way to quickly and predictably reduce the frequency and intensity of odontogenic pain.

Several patient factors have been identified that appear to predict the occurrence of postoperative pain. Numerous studies have identified the presence and/or intensity of preoperative pain to be one of the strongest predictors of postoperative pain (Fig. 6.3) [107–109]. This strong association was found in studies on subjects receiving endodontic therapies as well as studies involving subjects receiving other non-dental surgical interventions [110]. The clinical implication of this finding is that patients presenting with pain are more likely to experience significant postoperative pain, and care should be taken to ensure that appropriate postoperative analgesics are prescribed. Biologically, this observation is likely associated with plasticity in the central nervous system associated with the increased input from nociceptors in the peripheral nervous system, with central sensitization likely being an important contributory mechanism.

Other factors associated with postoperative pain include gender (with females experiencing more pain), tooth type (with posterior multi-rooted teeth more painful), and experiencing inter-appointment pain [107–109, 111, 112]. Most importantly, postoperative pain after completion of root canal treatment, or after a first of two or more visits, is a common enough occurrence that analgesics should be



Fig. 6.3 Preoperative pain level is an important predictor of postoperative pain level. This figure shows an example of a study demonstrating how the severity and incidence of postoperative pain after the first day of root canal treatment are predicted by the presence or absence of preoperative pain (Modified from Genet et al. 1986 [209])

regularly prescribed, regardless of the presence or absence of predictive factors. However, the presence of some of these predictive factors might make a clinician more likely to consider a multimodal analgesic approach and/or higher doses, as discussed further below.

6.2.2.2 Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs

The first choice of analgesic class for odontogenic pain, including postoperative endodontic pain, is the nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and includes common analgesics available over the counter such as ibuprofen, aspirin, and naproxen. As inflammation is an important contributory mechanism to odontogenic pain, it follows that anti-inflammatory drugs are quite effective analgesics. Ibuprofen is more effective than aspirin, acetaminophen, or combination drugs such as Vicodin that contain acetaminophen and an opiate type drug such as hydrocodone, in relieving postoperative pain in an oral surgery model [113–115]. There is also good evidence that ibuprofen is an effective analgesic for relieving postoperative endodontic pain [116, 117]. It is important to note that many of these studies are testing a single dose of drug given perioperatively and measuring effects out to 24 h or longer. Continued dosing of the analgesic, at the recommended time intervals, will have a greater impact on reducing postoperative pain. In conclusion, a single dose of ibuprofen (400-600 mg) administered perioperatively will predictably reduce postoperative pain, but dosing should be continued for 24-48 h every 6-8 h, in patients in which this class of drugs can be safely administered (for more detail regarding the safety, see [118] and Fig. 6.4).

Adverse Reactions from NSAIDS

MOST PREVALENT



LEAST PREVALENT - rare

Fig. 6.4 Adverse reactions from the NSAID class of drugs. The occurrence and severity of these reactions differ with each drug (Reproduced with permission from Birkhäuser Verlag [118])

6.2.2.3 Combination Ibuprofen and Acetaminophen

Strong evidence exists that the combination of ibuprofen and acetaminophen produces greater analgesia than either analgesic alone in the relief of acute pain, as described in several controlled clinical trials and summarized in a recent Cochrane review [119, 120]. There is also evidence for the efficacy of this combination specifically in postoperative endodontic pain ([121] but also see [122]). The concept of using combination analgesics makes sense from a biological standpoint, as different analgesics target different pain pathways, and so combining analgesics will more broadly inhibit pain signaling pathways, producing greater analgesia. The combination of ibuprofen and acetaminophen should be prescribed when moderate to severe pain is anticipated.

6.2.2.4 Opioids and Combination Opioid Drugs

Combination opioid drugs such as those that combine acetaminophen and hydrocodone or codeine (e.g., Vicodin or Tylenol III) are commonly prescribed for the management of odontogenic pain and postsurgical pain. However, on their own they are less effective pain relievers than analgesics available over the counter with antiinflammatory properties, such as ibuprofen [114, 123]. As the availability of prescription opioid pain killers has increased in recent years, so has the nonmedical use and abuse of these agents, as well as the most undesirable outcome of death by overdose [124]. In looking further into this alarming trend of prescription opioid misuse and abuse, dentists have been identified as a major source of opioid prescriptions (second only to family physicians). This has brought attention to the fact that greater care should be taken when prescribing these types of medications, as there is a chance that the drugs could end up being used for nonmedical purposes by someone other than the patient [125, 126]. With caution, combination opioids can be used in cases when severe pain is anticipated and NSAIDs are contraindicated, or pain is not relieved by NSAIDs or the combination of ibuprofen/acetaminophen. To prevent mishandling of any leftover medications, the dosing period can be limited to 24-48 h, during which time pain is anticipated to be most severe.

6.2.2.5 Steroids

Numerous studies have evaluated systemic and locally administered corticosteroids for the reduction of postoperative pain. Generally, there is ample support in the existing literature that steroids are effective at reducing postoperative pain after an endodontic intervention [127]. Systemic steroids, most commonly dexamethasone, administered intramuscularly or by oral tablets, decrease the incidence and intensity of postoperative pain when administered locally including intracanal, by intraligamentary injection and intraosseous administration [132–135]. Local administration has the benefit of limiting the systemic exposure to corticosteroids, thereby limiting potential side effects (although the short-term administration of steroids is quite safe for the vast majority of patients [136]). Further clarification is needed regarding which subclasses of endodontic pain are most responsive to corticosteroids (e.g., irreversible pulpitis pain versus periapical pain from a tooth with a necrotic pulp versus flare-up pain) [127].
6.2.2.6 Persistent Posttreatment Pain

Persistent pain after surgical procedures has gained attention recently as a public health problem and a potential opportunity for implementation of preventative methods to prevent the transition from acute to chronic pain [137]. Although occurring much less frequently than after major medical surgical procedures, the possibility for persistent pain after surgical dental interventions including surgical and nonsurgical root canal treatment, implant placement, and oral surgery procedures has been recognized for quite some time [138–143]. Although persistent symptoms after endodontic treatment could be due to ongoing odontogenic causes such as an undetected root fracture or recurrent infection, there are clearly cases when pain persists despite the absence of detectable pathology. Historically, such persistent pain was referred to as atypical odontalgia, or phantom tooth pain. The more current nomenclature is persistent dentoalveolar pain or peripheral painful traumatic trigeminal neuropathy [144, 145]. Although debates regarding the criteria for classification of this clinical entity are ongoing, and will surely continue, it likely represents a very specific type of persistent postsurgical pain. The etiology of non-odontogenic persistent post endodontic therapy pain is unknown, but there is some evidence that neuropathic mechanisms are involved [146–148]. More research is needed to better understand the biological mechanisms contributing to the development of persistent posttreatment endodontic pain.

6.3 Infection Management

6.3.1 The Role of Bacteria in Endodontic Pathology

Invasion of the root canal system by microorganisms precipitates the subsequent pathology of pulpal and periradicular tissues. The ultimate goal of endodontic treatment is biomechanical preparation of the root canal system, which includes cleaning, shaping, and disinfection, as well as hermetically sealing the canals, thereby creating the conditions for the healing of diseased periradicular tissues [149–151]. Primary endodontic infections are polymicrobial and caused predominantly by gram-negative anaerobic bacteria such as *Prevotella* ssp., *Porphyromonas* ssp., *Treponema* ssp., and *Fusobacterium* ssp. [152, 153]. Endodontic infections can spread beyond the root canal system producing localized inflammation and swelling in the soft tissue adjacent to the involved teeth or, more rarely, a nonlocalized spreading cellulitis.

As such, root canal disinfection is the fundamental component of successful root canal treatment. Contemporary techniques to eliminate or significantly reduce microorganisms in the root canal system include mechanical debridement, intracanal irrigation with antimicrobial/tissue dissolving agents, and placement of intracanal dressings. Importantly, the process of obturating the root canal and subsequently sealing the coronal aspect of the tooth prevents the introduction of new microorganisms. However, even during ideal treatment, some microorganisms can survive within the root canal system, causing persistent periapical inflammation, persistent symptoms, and sometimes flare-ups [154]. Some patients can experience flare-ups of endodontic infection within a few hours or a few days following the root canal treatment [149, 154–156]. The flare-up rate after endodontic treatment varies from as low as 1.5 % [157] to as high as 20 % [158–162].

The composition of the microbiota in secondary or recurrent infections in previously treated teeth differs from that found in untreated teeth. Gram-positive bacteria are more frequently present and gram-negative bacteria, which are the most common component of primary infections, are usually eliminated. Frequently found organisms include streptococci, *Parvimonas micra*, *Actinomyces* species, *Propionibacterium* species, *Pseudoramibacter alactolyticus*, *Lactobacillus*, and *Enterococcus faecalis* [163]. *Enterococcus faecalis* is the species most often found in the case of treatment failure (Fig. 6.5) [164–166]. Existing evidence suggests



Fig. 6.5 (a) Longitudinal aspect of an extracted tooth with a necrotic pulp, showing hand files placed in a working length. (b) A colony consisting of cocci of *Enterococcus faecalis* in an ecological niche on the root canal wall. The aggregated bacteria also show some penetration into the dentinal tubules. Scanning electron microscopy, magnification ×3,500. (c) Images using a confocal laser scanning microscopy of dentin tubules with *Enterococcus faecalis*. These fragments were stained with Live/Dead dye, showing alive bacteria stained with *green* (Acknowledgment to Dr. Simone Duarte and Department of Basic Science of Craniofacial Biology. New York University)

that, after *Enterococcus faecalis* and *Actinomyces* species, *Candida albicans* are the most prevalent microorganisms associated with failed endodontic treatment [167, 168]. This species can colonize and invade the dentin and seems to be resistant to calcium hydroxide dressing (Fig. 6.6) [153, 169].

The presence of microorganisms in the root canal system evokes the pathogenesis of apical periodontitis. The microorganisms and their virulent factors can penetrate periradicular tissue, resulting in an inflammatory process, the intensity of which depends on the virulence and amount of the microorganisms present (Fig. 6.7) [170]. In the case of symptomatic apical periodontitis, the predominant strains of microorganisms found are *Parvimonas micra*, *Eubacterium*, *Porphyromonas endodontalis*, *Porphyromonas gingivalis*, *Prevotella*, and notably the "blackpigmented bacteria" which have gained much attention [171]. In the complex anatomy of the root canal system with its ramifications, isthmi, apical deltas, and accessory canals, the complete removal of microorganisms from the root canal system remains a challenge (Fig. 6.7) [165, 170, 172]. Positive correlations were found between the persistence of high levels of bacteria and endotoxins and pain on palpation, exudation, and levels of TNF- α and IL-1 β [173].

6.3.2 Antibiotics in the Management of Endodontic Infections

The first-line treatment for teeth with either symptomatic apical periodontitis or an acute apical abscess is the removal of the source of inflammation or infection by local, operative measures including endodontic treatment or extraction of the tooth



Fig. 6.6 (a) Scanning electron microscopy showing a hand file after passing the apical foramen while carrying smear layer from the root canal wall. Magnification \times 120. (b) Image using a fluorescence microscopy of the smear layer with *Candida albicans*. These fragments were stained with Live/Dead dye, showing alive bacteria stained in *green* and dead in *red* (c) (Acknowledgment to Dr. Simone Duarte and Department of Basic Science of Craniofacial Biology. New York University College of Dentistry)



Fig. 6.7 (a) Dentinal tubules of root canal wall filled with a colony consisting of cocci along its path to the pulp, after the mechanical debridement with hand files. (b) Extracted human mandibular molar: longitudinal aspect of the endodontic space. Scanning electron microscopy, magnification $\times 1,500$ (Acknowledgment to Dr. Simone Duarte and Department of Basic Science of Craniofacial Biology. New York University)

and incision and drainage for localized swellings [174, 175]. Systemic antibiotics are recommended in situations where there is evidence of a spreading infection (cellulitis, lymph node involvement, diffuse swelling) or systemic symptoms (fever and malaise) as well as in treating refractory infections [176]. The overuse of antibiotics increases the chances for bacteria to develop antibiotic resistance and of an alteration of the commensal flora, thus increasing the potential for adverse events such as allergies, anaphylactic reactions, nausea, vomiting, etc. [177–179]. Since dentists prescribe approximately 8–10% of the antibiotics dispensed in developed countries, it is important not to underestimate the contribution of the dental profession to the increasingly serious problem of antibiotic-resistant bacteria [180, 181].

Systemically administered antibiotics should be considered an adjunct to endodontic therapy, and they should not be used to treat localized inflammatory conditions such as pulpitis and apical periodontitis. Several studies appear to indicate that antibiotics do not reduce the pain or swelling arising from teeth with symptomatic apical pathology in the absence of systemic involvement [45, 76]. Nevertheless, in a survey of members of the American Association of Endodontics, 54% of respondents reported that they would prescribe antibiotics as a first treatment for people with dental pain [182]. Except in patients with compromised immune system, antibiotics are not curative but instead function to assist in the reestablishment of the proper balance between the host's defenses and the invasive agent [183].

In order to maximize the effects of antibiotics and minimize the chances of resistant strains developing, patients must be instructed to initiate the course of antibiotics as soon as possible. Some controversy exists regarding the prescribing of long-term antibiotics. The typical regimen for treating an endodontic infection is 6-10 days on an around-the-clock schedule.

6.3.3 Endodontic Dressings

The anatomical complexity of the root canal systems, especially in the critical apical region, makes it impossible to completely remove all pulp tissue remnants and residual microorganisms, even when applying the highest technical standards of chemomechanical debridement (Fig. 6.7) [164, 165]. Because root canal infections are polymicrobial, consisting of both aerobic and anaerobic bacterial species, several intracanal dressings have been suggested to accomplish root canal disinfection [184, 185]. Local applications of antibiotics within the root canal have been proposed to overcome the potential risk of adverse systemic effects of antibiotics and as an active mode for drug delivery in teeth lacking blood supply due to necrotic pulps or pulpless status [185–187].

Several reports have been recently published describing revascularization or revitalization of immature permanent teeth with a necrotic dental pulp. In addition to traditional nonspecific endodontic disinfecting irrigants, these reports have documented the use of triple antibiotic paste (ciprofloxacin, metronidazole, and minocycline) [185–191], calcium hydroxide [192–195], or formocresol [196] as inter-appointment intracanal dressings. The triple antibiotic mix and calcium hydroxide appear to sometimes allow for continued increased root thickening and lengthening, but formocresol did not achieve the same effect [197]. The antimicrobial effectiveness of intracanal antibiotics versus calcium hydroxide requires further study, but the combination appears to be effective against endodontic pathogens [185, 198].

Calcium hydroxide has been widely accepted as an intracanal medicament because of its antimicrobial properties, especially on gram-negative bacteria [199, 200]. Studies *in vitro* and *in vivo* have shown an intracanal reduction of the microbial population or at least inhibition of bacterial proliferation [201–203]. Some authors have discussed whether calcium hydroxide is effective at eliminating *Enterococcus faecalis*. Other studies have evaluated the effect of intracanal calcium hydroxide on the incidence of posttreatment pain and found that calcium hydroxide is not very effective in reducing posttreatment pain when it is used alone [204, 205], but its effectiveness increased when used in combination with other medicaments like 2% chlorhexidine gluconate and camphorated monochlorophenol [206]. Additionally, several other studies have concluded that medicaments with the corticosteroid component in them are significantly better than calcium hydroxide in reducing the posttreatment pain, attributing to the anti-inflammatory action of corticosteroids (see Sect. 6.2.2.5) [206, 207].

References

^{1.} Israel HA, Scrivani SJ. The interdisciplinary approach to oral, facial and head pain. JADA. 2000;131:919–26.

Cohen LA, Harris SL, Bonito AJ, Manski RJ, Mark D, Macek MD, Edwards RR, Cornelius LJ. Coping with toothache pain- a qualitative study of low-income persons and minorities. Am Assoc Public Health Dent. 2007;67(1):28–35.

- Cohen LA, Bonito AJ, Akin DR, Manski RJ, Macek MD, Edwards RR, et al. Toothache pain: behavioral impact and self-care strategies. Spec Care Dentist. 2009;29(2):85–95.
- Pau A, Khan SS, Babar MG, Croucher R. Dental pain and care-seeking in 11–14-yr-old adolescents in a low-income country. Eur J Oral Sci. 2008;116:451–7.
- Heaivilin N, Gerbert B, Page JE, Gibbs JL. Public health surveillance of dental pain via Twitter. J Dent Res. 2011;90(9):1047–51.
- Riley 3rd JL, Gilbert GH, Heft MW. Health care utilization by older adults in response to painful orofacial symptoms. Pain. 1999;81(1–2):67–75.
- Davidson PL, Andersen RM. Determinants of dental care utilization for diverse ethnic and age groups. Adv Dent Res. 1997;11(2):254–62.
- 8. Meng X, Heft MW, Bradley MM, Lang PJ. Effect of fear on dental utilization behaviors and oral health outcome. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 2007;35(4):292–301.
- 9. Estrela C, Guedes OA, Silva JA, Leles CR, Estrela CRA, Pecora JD. Diagnostic and clinical factors associated with pulpal and periapical pain. Braz Dent J. 2011;23(4):306–11.
- 10. Byers MR. Dental sensory receptors. Int Rev Neurobiol. 1984;25:39-94.
- Byers MR, Narhi MVO. Dental injury models: experimental tools for understanding neuroinflammatory interactions and polymodal nociceptor functions. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med. 1999;10(1):4–39.
- 12. Gunji T. Morphological research on the sensitivity of dentin. Arch Histol Jpn = Nihon Soshikigaku Kiroku. 1982;45(1):45–67.
- Bergenholtz G, Hörsted-Bindslev P, Reit C. Textbook of endodontology. 2nd ed. Oxford: Oxford Wiley-Blackwell; 2010. p. 33–5.
- Gibbs JL, Melnyk JL, Basbaum AI. Differential TRPV1 and TRPV2 channel expression in dental pulp. J Dent Res. [Research Support, N.I.H., Extramural Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2011;90(6):765–70.
- Paik SK, Park KP, Lee SK, Ma SK, Cho YS, Kim YK, et al. Light and electron microscopic analysis of the somata and parent axons innervating the rat upper molar and lower incisor pulp. Neuroscience. 2009;162(4):1279–86.
- Henry MA, Luo S, Levinson SR. Unmyelinated nerve fibers in the human dental pulp express markers for myelinated fibers and show sodium channel accumulations. BMC Neurosci. 2012;13:29.
- Fried K, Sessle BJ, Devor M. The paradox of pain from tooth pulp: low-threshold "algoneurons"? Pain. 2011;152(12):2685–9.
- Narhi MV, Hirvonen TJ, Hakumaki MO. Responses of intradental nerve fibres to stimulation of dentine and pulp. Acta Physiol Scand. 1982;115(2):173–8.
- Narhi M, Jyvasjarvi E, Virtanen A, Huopaniemi T, Ngassapa D, Hirvonen T. Role of intradental A and C type nerve fibers in dental pain mechanisms. Proc Finn Dent Soc. 1992;88 Suppl 1:507–16.
- Narhi MV. The characteristics of intradental sensory units and their responses to stimulation. J Dent Res. 1985;64(Spec. No):564–71.
- Jain N, Gupta A, Meena N. An insight into neurophysiology of pulpal pain: facts and hypotheses. Korean J Pain. 2013;26(4):347–55.
- Chung G, Jung SJ, Oh SB. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of dental nociception. J Dent Res. 2013;92(11):948–55.
- Patapoutian A, Tate S, Woolf CJ. Transient receptor potential channels: targeting pain at the source. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2009;8(1):55–68.
- Gibbs JL, Urban R, Basbaum AI. Paradoxical surrogate markers of dental injury-induced pain in the mouse. Pain. [Research Support, N.I.H., Extramural]. 2013;154(8):1358–67.
- Caterina MJ, Schumacher MA, Tominaga M, Rosen TA, Levine JD, Julius D. The capsaicin receptor: a heat-activated ion channel in the pain pathway. Nature. 1997;389(6653):816–24.
- McKemy DD. How cold is it? TRPM8 and TRPA1 in the molecular logic of cold sensation. Mol Pain. 2005;1:16.
- Haas ET, Rowland K, Gautam M. Tooth injury increases expression of the cold sensitive TRP channel TRPA1 in trigeminal neurons. Arch Oral Biol. 2011;56(12):1604–9.

- Takashima Y, Daniels RL, Knowlton W, Teng J, Liman ER, McKemy DD. Diversity in the neural circuitry of cold sensing revealed by genetic axonal labeling of transient receptor potential melastatin 8 neurons. J Neurosci. 2007;27(51):14147–57.
- 29. Magloire H, Maurin JC, Couble ML, Shibukawa Y, Tsumura M, Thivichon-Prince B, et al. Topical review. Dental pain and odontoblasts: facts and hypotheses. J Orofac Pain. 2010;24(4):335–49.
- El Karim IA, Linden GJ, Curtis TM, About I, McGahon MK, Irwin CR, et al. Human odontoblasts express functional thermo-sensitive TRP channels: implications for dentin sensitivity. Pain. 2011;152(10):2211–23.
- Egbuniwe O, Grover S, Duggal AK, Mavroudis A, Yazdi M, Renton T, et al. TRPA1 and TRPV4 activation in human odontoblasts stimulates ATP release. J Dent Res. 2014;93(9):911–7.
- 32. Serhan CN, Petasis NA. Resolvins and protectins in inflammation resolution. Chem Rev. [Research Support, N.I.H., Extramural Review]. 2011;111(10):5922–43.
- Dong Y, Lan W, Wu W, Huang Z, Zhao J, Peng L, et al. Increased expression of EphA7 in inflamed human dental pulp. J Endod. 2013;39(2):223–7.
- Colombo JS, Moore AN, Hartgerink JD, D'Souza RN. Scaffolds to control inflammation and facilitate dental pulp regeneration. J Endod. [Research Support, N.I.H., Extramural]. 2014;40(Suppl 4):S6–12.
- 35. Tziafas D, Smith AJ, Lesot H. Designing new treatment strategies in vital pulp therapy. J Dent. 2000;28(2):77–92.
- 36. Turner CL, Eggleston GW, Lunos S, Johnson N, Wiedmann TS, Bowles WR. Sniffing out endodontic pain: use of an intranasal analgesic in a randomized clinical trial. J Endod. [Comparative Study Randomized Controlled Trial]. 2011;37(4):439–44.
- Schmalz G, Smith AJ. Pulp development, repair, and regeneration: challenges of the transition from traditional dentistry to biologically based therapies. J Endod. 2014;40 Suppl 4:S2–5.
- Levin LG, Law AS, Holland GR, Abbott PV, Roda RS. Identify and define all diagnostic terms for pulpal health and disease states. J Endod. 2009;35(12):1645–57.
- Setzer FC, Kataoka SH, Natrielli F, Gondim-Junior E, Caldeira CL. Clinical diagnosis of pulp inflammation based on pulp oxygenation rates measured by pulse oximetry. J Endod. 2012;38(7):880–3.
- 40. Brannstrom M, Astrom A. The hydrodynamics of the dentine; its possible relationship to dentinal pain. Int Dent J. 1972;22(2):219–27.
- Haywood VB. Dentin hypersensitivity bleaching and restorative consideration for successful management. Int Dent J. 2002;52:7–10.
- 42. Narhi M, Hirvonen TJ, Hakumaki MOK. Responses of intradental nerve fibres to stimulation of dentine and pulp. Acta Physiol Scand. 1992;115:173–8.
- 43. West NX. Dentine hypersensitivity: preventive and therapeutic approaches to treatment. Periodontol 2000. 2008;48:31–41.
- 44. Tinastepe N, Oral K. Neuropathic pain after dental treatment. Agri. 2013;25(1):1-6.
- 45. Vena DA, Collie D, Wu H, Gibbs JL, Broder HL, Curro FA, et al. Prevalence of persistent pain 3 to 5 years post primary root canal therapy and its impact on oral health-related quality of life: PEARL network findings. J Endod. 2014;40(12):1917–21.
- 46. Matthews J, Merrill RL. Sodium hypochlorite-related injury with chronic pain sequelae. J Am Dent Assoc. 2014;145(6):553–5.
- 47. Alonso-Ezpeleta O, Martin PJ, Lopez-Lopez J, Castellanos-Cosano L, Martin-Gonzalez J, Segura-Egea JJ. Pregabalin in the treatment of inferior alveolar nerve paraesthesia following overfilling of endodontic sealer. J Clin Exp Dent. 2014;6(2):e197–202.
- 48. Sirven JI. New uses for older drugs: the tales of aspirin, thalidomide, and gabapentin. Mayo Clin Proc. 2010;85(6):508–11.
- Finnerup NB, Sindrup SH, Jensen TS. The evidence for pharmacological treatment of neuropathic pain. Pain. 2010;150(3):573–81.

- 50. Becker DE, Reed KL. Local anesthetics: review of pharmacological considerations. Anesth Prog. 2012;59(2):90–101; quiz 2–3.
- Moore PA, Hersh EV. Local anesthetics: pharmacology and toxicity. Dent Clin N Am. 2010;54(4):587–99.
- Claffey E, Reader A, Nusstein J, Beck M, Weaver J. Anesthetic efficacy of articaine for inferior alveolar nerve blocks in patients with irreversible pulpitis. J Endod. 2004;30(8):568–71.
- 53. Rogers BS, Botero TM, McDonald NJ, Gardner RJ, Peters MC. Efficacy of articaine versus lidocaine as a supplemental buccal infiltration in mandibular molars with irreversible pulpitis: a prospective, randomized, double-blind study. J Endod. 2014;40(6):753–8.
- 54. Fowler S, Reader A. Is a volume of 3.6 mL better than 1.8 mL for inferior alveolar nerve blocks in patients with symptomatic irreversible pulpitis? J Endod. 2013;39(8):970–2.
- Cohen HP, Cha BY, Spangberg LS. Endodontic anesthesia in mandibular molars: a clinical study. J Endod. 1993;19(7):370–3.
- Hargreaves KM, Keiser K. Local anesthetic failure in endodontics: mechanisms and management. Endod Top. 2002;1(1):2639.
- 57. Milam SB, Giovannitti Jr JA. Local anesthetics in dental practice. Dent Clin N Am. 1984;28(3):493–508.
- Dib-Hajj SD, Tyrrell L, Black JA, Waxman SG. NaN, a novel voltage-gated Na channel, is expressed preferentially in peripheral sensory neurons and down-regulated after axotomy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95(15):8963–8.
- Akopian AN, Sivilotti L, Wood JN. A tetrodotoxin-resistant voltage-gated sodium channel expressed by sensory neurons. Nature. 1996;379(6562):257–62.
- Coggeshall RE, Tate S, Carlton SM. Differential expression of tetrodotoxin-resistant sodium channels Nav1.8 and Nav1.9 in normal and inflamed rats. Neurosci Lett. 2004;355(1–2):45–8.
- 61. Renton T, Yiangou Y, Plumpton C, Tate S, Bountra C, Anand P. Sodium channel Nav1.8 immunoreactivity in painful human dental pulp. BMC Oral Health. 2005;5(1):5.
- 62. Suwanchai A, Theerapiboon U, Chattipakorn N, Chattipakorn SC. NaV 1.8, but not NaV 1.9, is upregulated in the inflamed dental pulp tissue of human primary teeth. Int Endod J. 2012;45(4):372–8.
- Warren CA, Mok L, Gordon S, Fouad AF, Gold MS. Quantification of neural protein in extirpated tooth pulp. J Endod. 2008;34(1):7–10.
- Luo S, Perry GM, Levinson SR, Henry MA. Nav1.7 expression is increased in painful human dental pulp. Mol Pain. 2008;4:16.
- Beneng K, Renton T, Yilmaz Z, Yiangou Y, Anand P. Sodium channel Na v 1.7 immunoreactivity in painful human dental pulp and burning mouth syndrome. BMC Neurosci. 2010;11:71.
- 66. Fernandez C, Reader A, Beck M, Nusstein J. A prospective, randomized, double-blind comparison of bupivacaine and lidocaine for inferior alveolar nerve blocks. J Endod. 2005;31(7):499–503.
- 67. Hinkley SA, Reader A, Beck M, Meyers WJ. An evaluation of 4% prilocaine with 1:200,000 epinephrine and 2% mepivacaine with 1:20,000 levonordefrin compared with 2% lidocaine with:100,000 epinephrine for inferior alveolar nerve block. Anesth Prog. 1991;38(3):84–9.
- 68. Nusstein J, Reader A, Beck FM. Anesthetic efficacy of different volumes of lidocaine with epinephrine for inferior alveolar nerve blocks. Gen Dent. 2002;50(4):372–5; quiz 6–7.
- Nusstein J, Reader A, Nist R, Beck M, Meyers WJ. Anesthetic efficacy of the supplemental intraosseous injection of 2% lidocaine with 1:100,000 epinephrine in irreversible pulpitis. J Endod. 1998;24(7):487–91.
- 70. Meechan JG. Supplementary routes to local anaesthesia. Int Endod J. 2002;35(11):885–96.
- Nusstein JM, Reader A, Drum M. Local anesthesia strategies for the patient with a "hot" tooth. Dent Clin N Am. 2010;54(2):237–47.
- Kanaa MD, Whitworth JM, Corbett IP, Meechan JG. Articaine and lidocaine mandibular buccal infiltration anesthesia: a prospective randomized double-blind cross-over study. J Endod. 2006;32(4):296–8.

- Robertson D, Nusstein J, Reader A, Beck M, McCartney M. The anesthetic efficacy of articaine in buccal infiltration of mandibular posterior teeth. J Am Dent Assoc. 2007;138(8): 1104–12.
- Aggarwal V, Jain A, Kabi D. Anesthetic efficacy of supplemental buccal and lingual infiltrations of articaine and lidocaine after an inferior alveolar nerve block in patients with irreversible pulpitis. J Endod. 2009;35(7):925–9.
- 75. Nusstein J, Claffey E, Reader A, Beck M, Weaver J. Anesthetic effectiveness of the supplemental intraligamentary injection, administered with a computer-controlled local anesthetic delivery system, in patients with irreversible pulpitis. J Endod. 2005;31(5):354–8.
- Walton RE, Abbott BJ. Periodontal ligament injection: a clinical evaluation. J Am Dent Assoc. 1981;103(4):571–5.
- 77. Childers M, Reader A, Nist R, Beck M, Meyers WJ. Anesthetic efficacy of the periodontal ligament injection after an inferior alveolar nerve block. J Endod. 1996;22(6):317–20.
- Leonard MS. The efficacy of an intraosseous injection system of delivering local anesthetic. J Am Dent Assoc. 1995;126(1):81–6.
- Mikesell P, Nusstein J, Reader A, Beck M, Weaver J. A comparison of articaine and lidocaine for inferior alveolar nerve blocks. J Endod. 2005;31(4):265–70.
- Malamed SF, Gagnon S, Leblanc D. Efficacy of articaine: a new amide local anesthetic. J Am Dent Assoc. 2000;131(5):635–42.
- Evans G, Nusstein J, Drum M, Reader A, Beck M. A prospective, randomized, double-blind comparison of articaine and lidocaine for maxillary infiltrations. J Endod. 2008;34(4):389–93.
- Ashraf H, Kazem M, Dianat O, Noghrehkar F. Efficacy of articaine versus lidocaine in block and infiltration anesthesia administered in teeth with irreversible pulpitis: a prospective, randomized, double-blind study. J Endod. 2013;39(1):6–10.
- Selander D. Neurotoxicity of local anesthetics: animal data. Reg Anesth. 1993;18 Suppl 6:461–8.
- Peters CM, Ririe D, Houle TT, Aschenbrenner CA, Eisenach JC. Nociceptor-selective peripheral nerve block induces delayed mechanical hypersensitivity and neurotoxicity in rats. Anesthesiology. 2014;120(4):976–86.
- Hillerup S, Jensen RH, Ersboll BK. Trigeminal nerve injury associated with injection of local anesthetics: needle lesion or neurotoxicity? J Am Dent Assoc. 2011;142(5):531–9.
- Garisto GA, Gaffen AS, Lawrence HP, Tenenbaum HC, Haas DA. Occurrence of paresthesia after dental local anesthetic administration in the United States. J Am Dent Assoc. 2010;141(7):836–44.
- Haas DA, Lennon D. A 21 year retrospective study of reports of paresthesia following local anesthetic administration. J Can Dent Assoc. 1995;61(4):319–20, 23–6, 29–30.
- Moore PA. Bupivacaine: a long-lasting local anesthetic for dentistry. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1984;58(4):369–74.
- Gordon SM, Brahim JS, Dubner R, McCullagh LM, Sang C, Dionne RA. Attenuation of pain in a randomized trial by suppression of peripheral nociceptive activity in the immediate postoperative period. Anesth Analg. 2002;95(5):1351–7, table of contents.
- Moore PA, Dunsky JL. Bupivacaine anesthesia a clinical trial for endodontic therapy. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1983;55(2):176–9.
- Rosenquist JB, Rosenquist KI, Lee PK. Comparison between lidocaine and bupivacaine as local anesthetics with diffunisal for postoperative pain control after lower third molar surgery. Anesth Prog. 1988;35(1):1–4.
- Gold MS, Reichling DB, Shuster MJ, Levine JD. Hyperalgesic agents increase a tetrodotoxinresistant Na+ current in nociceptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93(3):1108–12.
- Modaresi J, Dianat O, Mozayeni MA. The efficacy comparison of ibuprofen, acetaminophencodeine, and placebo premedication therapy on the depth of anesthesia during treatment of inflamed teeth. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2006;102(3):399–403.
- 94. Prasanna N, Subbarao CV, Gutmann JL. The efficacy of pre-operative oral medication of lornoxicam and diclofenac potassium on the success of inferior alveolar nerve block in

patients with irreversible pulpitis: a double-blind, randomised controlled clinical trial. Int Endod J. 2011;44(4):330–6.

- Noguera-Gonzalez D, Cerda-Cristerna BI, Chavarria-Bolanos D, Flores-Reyes H, Pozos-Guillen A. Efficacy of preoperative ibuprofen on the success of inferior alveolar nerve block in patients with symptomatic irreversible pulpitis: a randomized clinical trial. Int Endod J. 2013;46(11):1056–62.
- 96. Parirokh M, Ashouri R, Rekabi AR, Nakhaee N, Pardakhti A, Askarifard S, et al. The effect of premedication with ibuprofen and indomethacin on the success of inferior alveolar nerve block for teeth with irreversible pulpitis. J Endod. 2010;36(9):1450–4.
- Simpson M, Drum M, Nusstein J, Reader A, Beck M. Effect of combination of preoperative ibuprofen/acetaminophen on the success of the inferior alveolar nerve block in patients with symptomatic irreversible pulpitis. J Endod. 2011;37(5):593–7.
- 98. Ianiro SR, Jeansonne BG, McNeal SF, Eleazer PD. The effect of preoperative acetaminophen or a combination of acetaminophen and Ibuprofen on the success of inferior alveolar nerve block for teeth with irreversible pulpitis. J Endod. 2007;33(1):11–4.
- 99. Aggarwal V, Singla M, Kabi D. Comparative evaluation of effect of preoperative oral medication of ibuprofen and ketorolac on anesthetic efficacy of inferior alveolar nerve block with lidocaine in patients with irreversible pulpitis: a prospective, double-blind, randomized clinical trial. J Endod. 2010;36(3):375–8.
- Oleson M, Drum M, Reader A, Nusstein J, Beck M. Effect of preoperative ibuprofen on the success of the inferior alveolar nerve block in patients with irreversible pulpitis. J Endod. 2010;36(3):379–82.
- 101. Li C, Yang X, Ma X, Li L, Shi Z. Preoperative oral nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs for the success of the inferior alveolar nerve block in irreversible pulpitis treatment: a systematic review and meta-analysis based on randomized controlled trials. Quintessence Int. 2012;43(3):209–19.
- 102. Vieira PA, Pulai I, Tsao GC, Manikantan P, Keller B, Connelly NR. Dexamethasone with bupivacaine increases duration of analgesia in ultrasound-guided interscalene brachial plexus blockade. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2010;27(3):285–8.
- 103. Shahi S, Mokhtari H, Rahimi S, Yavari HR, Narimani S, Abdolrahimi M, et al. Effect of premedication with ibuprofen and dexamethasone on success rate of inferior alveolar nerve block for teeth with asymptomatic irreversible pulpitis: a randomized clinical trial. J Endod. 2013;39(2):160–2.
- 104. Sathorn C, Parashos P, Messer H. The prevalence of postoperative pain and flare-up in singleand multiple-visit endodontic treatment: a systematic review. Int Endod J. 2008;41(2):91–9.
- 105. Pak JG, White SN. Pain prevalence and severity before, during, and after root canal treatment: a systematic review. J Endod. 2011;37(4):429–38.
- 106. Holstein A, Hargreaves KM, Niederman R. Evaluation of NSAIDs for treating postendodontic pain: a systematic review. Endod Top. 2002;3(1):3–13.
- 107. Glennon JP, Ng YL, Setchell DJ, Gulabivala K. Prevalence of and factors affecting postpreparation pain in patients undergoing two-visit root canal treatment. Int Endod J. 2004;37(1):29–37.
- 108. Genet JM, Hart AA, Wesselink PR, Thoden van Velzen SK. Preoperative and operative factors associated with pain after the first endodontic visit. Int Endod J. 1987;20(2):53–64.
- Torabinejad M, Kettering JD, McGraw JC, Cummings RR, Dwyer TG, Tobias TS. Factors associated with endodontic interappointment emergencies of teeth with necrotic pulps. J Endod. 1988;14(5):261–6.
- 110. Thomas T, Robinson C, Champion D, McKell M, Pell M. Prediction and assessment of the severity of post-operative pain and of satisfaction with management. Pain. 1998;75(2–3):177–85.
- 111. Ng YL, Glennon JP, Setchell DJ, Gulabivala K. Prevalence of and factors affecting postobturation pain in patients undergoing root canal treatment. Int Endod J. 2004;37(6):381–91.
- 112. Harrison JW, Baumgartner JC, Svec TA. Incidence of pain associated with clinical factors during and after root canal therapy. Part 2. Postobturation pain. J Endod. 1983;9(10):434–8.

- 113. Cooper SA, Schachtel BP, Goldman E, Gelb S, Cohn P. Ibuprofen and acetaminophen in the relief of acute pain: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Clin Pharmacol. 1989;29(11):1026–30.
- 114. Dionne RA, Campbell RA, Cooper SA, Hall DL, Buckingham B. Suppression of postoperative pain by preoperative administration of ibuprofen in comparison to placebo, acetaminophen, and acetaminophen plus codeine. J Clin Pharmacol. 1983;23(1):37–43.
- Cooper SA, Needle SE, Kruger GO. Comparative analgesic potency of aspirin and ibuprofen. J Oral Surg. 1977;35(11):898–903.
- Menke ER, Jackson CR, Bagby MD, Tracy TS. The effectiveness of prophylactic etodolac on postendodontic pain. J Endod. 2000;26(12):712–5.
- 117. Gopikrishna V, Parameswaran A. Effectiveness of prophylactic use of rofecoxib in comparison with ibuprofen on postendodontic pain. J Endod. 2003;29(1):62–4.
- 118. Rainsford KD. Ibuprofen: pharmacology, efficacy and safety. Inflammopharmacology. 2009;17(6):275-342.
- 119. Derry CJ, Derry S, Moore RA. Single dose oral ibuprofen plus paracetamol (acetaminophen) for acute postoperative pain. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;6, CD010210.
- Pickering AE, Bridge HS, Nolan J, Stoddart PA. Double-blind, placebo-controlled analgesic study of ibuprofen or rofecoxib in combination with paracetamol for tonsillectomy in children. Br J Anaesth. 2002;88(1):72–7.
- 121. Menhinick KA, Gutmann JL, Regan JD, Taylor SE, Buschang PH. The efficacy of pain control following nonsurgical root canal treatment using ibuprofen or a combination of ibuprofen and acetaminophen in a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Int Endod J. 2004;37(8):531–41.
- 122. Wells LK, Drum M, Nusstein J, Reader A, Beck M. Efficacy of Ibuprofen and ibuprofen/ acetaminophen on postoperative pain in symptomatic patients with a pulpal diagnosis of necrosis. J Endod. 2011;37(12):1608–12.
- 123. Sadeghein A, Shahidi N, Dehpour AR. A comparison of ketorolac tromethamine and acetaminophen codeine in the management of acute apical periodontitis. J Endod. 1999;25(4):257–9.
- 124. Jones CM, Mack KA, Paulozzi LJ. Pharmaceutical overdose deaths, United States, 2010. JAMA. 2013;309(7):657–9.
- 125. Denisco RC, Kenna GA, O'Neil MG, Kulich RJ, Moore PA, Kane WT, et al. Prevention of prescription opioid abuse: the role of the dentist. J Am Dent Assoc. 2011;142(7):800–10.
- Volkow ND, McLellan TA, Cotto JH, Karithanom M, Weiss SR. Characteristics of opioid prescriptions in 2009. JAMA. 2011;305(13):1299–301.
- 127. Marshall JG. Consideration of steroids for endodontic pain. Endod Top. 2002;3(1):41-51.
- 128. Marshall JG, Walton RE. The effect of intramuscular injection of steroid on posttreatment endodontic pain. J Endod. 1984;10(12):584–8.
- Krasner P, Jackson E. Management of posttreatment endodontic pain with oral dexamethasone: a double-blind study. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1986;62(2):187–90.
- 130. Glassman G, Krasner P, Morse DR, Rankow H, Lang J, Furst ML. A prospective randomized double-blind trial on efficacy of dexamethasone for endodontic interappointment pain in teeth with asymptomatic inflamed pulps. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1989;67(1):96–100.
- 131. Liesinger A, Marshall FJ, Marshall JG. Effect of variable doses of dexamethasone on posttreatment endodontic pain. J Endod. 1993;19(1):35–9.
- 132. Negm MM. Intracanal use of a corticosteroid-antibiotic compound for the management of posttreatment endodontic pain. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2001;92(4):435–9.
- 133. Kaufman E, Heling I, Rotstein I, Friedman S, Sion A, Moz C, et al. Intraligamentary injection of slow-release methylprednisolone for the prevention of pain after endodontic treatment. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1994;77(6):651–4.
- 134. Moskow A, Morse DR, Krasner P, Furst ML. Intracanal use of a corticosteroid solution as an endodontic anodyne. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1984;58(5):600–4.

- 135. Rogers MJ, Johnson BR, Remeikis NA, BeGole EA. Comparison of effect of intracanal use of ketorolac tromethamine and dexamethasone with oral ibuprofen on post treatment endodontic pain. J Endod. 1999;25(5):381–4.
- 136. Czerwinski AW, Czerwinski AB, Whitsett TL, Clark ML. Effects of a single, large, intravenous injection of dexamethasone. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1972;13(5):638–42.
- 137. Kehlet H, Jensen TS, Woolf CJ. Persistent postsurgical pain: risk factors and prevention. Lancet. 2006;367(9522):1618–25.
- 138. Osborn TP, Frederickson Jr G, Small IA, Torgerson TS. A prospective study of complications related to mandibular third molar surgery. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1985;43(10):767–9.
- Polycarpou N, Ng YL, Canavan D, Moles DR, Gulabivala K. Prevalence of persistent pain after endodontic treatment and factors affecting its occurrence in cases with complete radiographic healing. Int Endod J. 2005;38(3):169–78.
- 140. Nixdorf DR, Moana-Filho EJ, Law AS, McGuire LA, Hodges JS, John MT. Frequency of persistent tooth pain after root canal therapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Endod. 2010;36(2):224–30.
- 141. Marbach JJ, Hulbrock J, Hohn C, Segal AG. Incidence of phantom tooth pain: an atypical facial neuralgia. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1982;53(2):190–3.
- 142. Rodriguez-Lozano FJ, Sanchez-Perez A, Moya-Villaescusa MJ, Rodriguez-Lozano A, Saez-Yuguero MR. Neuropathic orofacial pain after dental implant placement: review of the literature and case report. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2010; 109(4):e8–12.
- Khawaja N, Renton T. Case studies on implant removal influencing the resolution of inferior alveolar nerve injury. Br Dent J. 2009;206(7):365–70.
- 144. Nixdorf DR, Drangsholt MT, Ettlin DA, Gaul C, De Leeuw R, Svensson P, et al. Classifying orofacial pains: a new proposal of taxonomy based on ontology. J Oral Rehabil. 2012;39(3):161–9.
- 145. Benoliel R, Zadik Y, Eliav E, Sharav Y. Peripheral painful traumatic trigeminal neuropathy: clinical features in 91 cases and proposal of novel diagnostic criteria. J Orofac Pain. 2012;26(1):49–58.
- 146. Haroutiunian S, Nikolajsen L, Finnerup NB, Jensen TS. The neuropathic component in persistent postsurgical pain: a systematic literature review. Pain. 2013;154(1):95–102.
- 147. Oshima K, Ishii T, Ogura Y, Aoyama Y, Katsuumi I. Clinical investigation of patients who develop neuropathic tooth pain after endodontic procedures. J Endod. 2009;35(7):958–61.
- 148. List T, Leijon G, Svensson P. Somatosensory abnormalities in atypical odontalgia: a casecontrol study. Pain. 2008;139(2):333–41.
- 149. Udoye CI, Jafarzadeh H, Aguwa EN, Habibi M. Flare-up incidence and related factors in Nigerian adults. J Contemp Dent Pract. 2011;12(2):120–3.
- 150. Farzana F, Hossain SMI, Islam SMN, Rahman MA. Postoperative pain following multi-visit root canal treatment of teeth with vital and non-vital pulps. J Armed Forces Med Coll. 2010;6:28–31.
- 151. Dahlen G. Culture-based analysis of endodontic infections. In: Fouad AF, editor. Endodontic microbiology. New Delhi: Wiley-Blackwell; 2009. p. 40–67.
- 152. Montagner F, Jacinto RC, Signoretti FG, Gomes BP. Treponema species detected in infected root canals and acute apical abscess exudates. J Endod. 2010;36(11):1796–9.
- 153. Rocas IN, Siqueira Jr JF. Identification of bacteria enduring endodontic treatment procedures by a combined reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction and reverse-capture checkerboard approach. J Endod. 2010;36(1):45–52.
- 154. Siqueira Jr JF. Microbial causes of endodontic flare-ups. Int Endod J. 2003;36(7):453-63.
- 155. Iqbal M, Kurtz E, Kohli M. Incidence and factors related to flare-ups in a graduate endodontic programme. Int Endod J. 2009;42(2):99–104.
- 156. Yu VS, Messer HH, Yee R, Shen L. Incidence and impact of painful exacerbations in a cohort with post-treatment persistent endodontic lesions. J Endod. 2012;38(1):41–6.
- 157. Ingle JI, Bakland LK, Baumgartner JC. Endodontics. 6th ed. Hamilton, Ontario: B.C. Decker Inc; 2008. p. 922.

- 158. Imura N, Zuolo ML. Factors associated with endodontic flare-ups: a prospective study. Int Endod J. 1995;28(5):261–5.
- 159. Pasqualini D, Mollo L, Scotti N, Cantatore G, Castellucci A, Migliaretti G, et al. Postoperative pain after manual and mechanical glide path: a randomized clinical trial. J Endod. 2012;38(1):32–6.
- Alves VO. Endodontic flare-ups: a prospective study. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2010;110(5):e68–72.
- 161. Morse DR, Koren LZ, Esposito JV, Goldberg JM, Belott RM, Sinai IH, et al. Asymptomatic teeth with necrotic pulps and associated periapical radiolucencies: relationship of flare-ups to endodontic instrumentation, antibiotic usage and stress in three separate practices at three different time periods. Int J Psychosom. [Case Reports Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 1986;33(1):5–87.
- 162. Tsesis I, Faivishevsky V, Fuss Z, Zukerman O. Flare-ups after endodontic treatment: a metaanalysis of literature. J Endod. [Meta-Analysis]. 2008;34(10):1177–81.
- 163. De Andrade FB, Midena RZ, Koga-Ito CY, Duarte MAH. Conventional and natural products against oral infections. In: Méndez-Vilas A, editor. Microbial pathogens and strategies for combating them: science, technology and education. Formatex Research Center C/ Zurbarán 1, 2º, Oficina 1 06002 Badajoz Spain; 2013.
- 164. Siqueira Jr JF, Rocas IN. Clinical implications and microbiology of bacterial persistence after treatment procedures. J Endod. [Review]. 2008;34(11):1291–301.e3.
- 165. Martinho FC, Leite FR, Nascimento GG, Cirelli JA, Gomes BP. Clinical investigation of bacterial species and endotoxin in endodontic infection and evaluation of root canal content activity against macrophages by cytokine production. Clin Oral Investig. 2014;18(9):2095–102.
- 166. Puri K, Puri N. Local drug delivery agents as adjuncts to endodontic and periodontal therapy. J Med Life. 2013;6(4):414–9.
- 167. Baumgartner JC, Hutter JW, Siqueira Jr JF. Endodontic microbiology and treatment of infections. In: Cohen S, Hargreaves MK, editors. Pathways of the pulp. 9th ed. St Louis: Mosby, Inc; 2006. p. 580–607.
- 168. Rocas IN, Hulsmann M, Siqueira Jr JF. Microorganisms in root canal-treated teeth from a German population. J Endod. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2008;34(8):926–31.
- 169. Gomes BP, Pinheiro ET, Jacinto RC, Zaia AA, Ferraz CC, Souza-Filho FJ. Microbial analysis of canals of root-filled teeth with periapical lesions using polymerase chain reaction. J Endod. 2008;34(5):537–40.
- 170. Ehrmann EH, Messer HH, Adams GG. The relationship of intracanal medicaments to postoperative pain in endodontics. Int Endod J. 2003;36(12):868–75.
- 171. Ince B, Ercan E, Dalli M, Dulgergil CT, Zorba YO, Colak H. Incidence of postoperative pain after single- and multi-visit endodontic treatment in teeth with vital and non-vital pulp. Eur J Dent. 2009;3(4):273–9.
- 172. Ajcharanukul O, Chidchuangchai W, Charoenlarp P, Vongsavan N, Matthews B. Sensory transduction in human teeth with inflamed pulps. J Dent Res. 2011;90(5):678–82.
- 173. Siqueira Jr JF, Rocas IN, Lopes HP, Elias CN, de Uzeda M. Fungal infection of the radicular dentin. J Endod. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2002;28(11):770–3.
- 174. Glenny AM, Simpson T. Clinical practice guideline on emergency management of acute apical periodontitis (AAP) in adults. Evid Based Dent. 2004;5(1):7–11.
- 175. SDCEP Guidance Scottish Dental Clinical Effectiveness Programme (SDCEP) 2011.
- 176. Gonzales R, Malone DC, Maselli JH, Sande MA. Excessive antibiotic use for acute respiratory infections in the United States. Clin Infect Dis. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2001;33(6):757–62.
- 177. Costelloe C, Metcalfe C, Lovering A, Mant D, Hay AD. Effect of antibiotic prescribing in primary care on antimicrobial resistance in individual patients: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. [Meta-Analysis Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't Review]. 2010;340:c2096.
- 178. World Health Organization. World Health Organization report on infectious diseases 2000: overcoming antimicrobial resistance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2000.

- 179. Al-Haroni M, Skaug, N. Incidence of antibiotic prescribing in dental practice in Norway and its contribution to national consumption. J Antimicrob Chemother [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2007;59(6):1161–6.
- 180. Holyfield G, Karki, A. Review of prescribing by dentists in Wales. National Public Health Service for Wales; 2009. www.1000livesplus.wales.nhs.uk/opendoc/179908
- 181. Henry M, Reader A, Beck M. Effect of penicillin on postoperative endodontic pain and swelling in symptomatic necrotic teeth. J Endod. [Clinical Trial Randomized Controlled Trial Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2001;27(2):117–23.
- 182. Yingling NM, Byrne BE, Hartwell GR. Antibiotic use by members of the American Association of Endodontists in the year 2000: report of a national survey. J Endod. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2002;28(5):396–404.
- 183. Tennert C, Fuhrmann M, Wittmer A, Karygianni L, Altenburger MJ, Pelz K, et al. New bacterial composition in primary and persistent/secondary endodontic infections with respect to clinical and radiographic findings. J Endod. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2014;40(5):670–7.
- 184. Foschi F, Nucci C, Montebugnoli L, Marchionni S, Breschi L, Malagnino VA, et al. SEM evaluation of canal wall dentine following use of Mtwo and ProTaper NiTi rotary instruments. Int Endod J. [Comparative Study Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2004; 37(12):832–9.
- 185. Windley W, Teixeira F, Levin L, Sigurdsson A, Trope M. Disinfection of immature teeth with a triple antibiotic paste. J Endod. 2005;31(6):439–43.
- 186. Pai S, Vivekananda Pai AR, Thomas MS, Bhat V. Effect of calcium hydroxide and triple antibiotic paste as intracanal medicaments on the incidence of inter-appointment flare-up in diabetic patients: an in vivo study. JCD. 2014;17(3):208–11.
- 187. Banchs F, Trope M. Revascularization of immature permanent teeth with apical periodontitis: new treatment protocol? J Endod. [Case Reports]. 2004;30(4):196–200.
- Petrino JA, Boda KK, Shambarger S, Bowles WR, McClanahan SB. Challenges in regenerative endodontics: a case series. J Endod. [Case Reports]. 2010;36(3):536–41.
- 189. Garcia-Godoy F, Murray PE. Recommendations for using regenerative endodontic procedures in permanent immature traumatized teeth. Dent Traumatol. [Review]. 2012;28(1):33–41.
- Lovelace TW, Henry MA, Hargreaves KM, Diogenes A. Evaluation of the delivery of mesenchymal stem cells into the root canal space of necrotic immature teeth after clinical regenerative endodontic procedure. J Endod. [Comparative Study Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2011;37(2):133–8.
- 191. Miller EK, Lee JY, Tawil PZ, Teixeira FB, Vann Jr WF. Emerging therapies for the management of traumatized immature permanent incisors. Pediatr Dent. [Case Reports]. 2012;34(1):66–9.
- 192. Chueh LH, Huang GT. Immature teeth with periradicular periodontitis or abscess undergoing apexogenesis: a paradigm shift. J Endod. [Case Reports]. 2006;32(12):1205–13.
- 193. Cehreli ZC, Isbitiren B, Sara S, Erbas G. Regenerative endodontic treatment (revascularization) of immature necrotic molars medicated with calcium hydroxide: a case series. J Endod. 2011;37(9):1327–30.
- 194. Chueh LH, Ho YC, Kuo TC, Lai WH, Chen YH, Chiang CP. Regenerative endodontic treatment for necrotic immature permanent teeth. J Endod. 2009;35(2):160–4.
- 195. Shah N, Logani A, Bhaskar U, Aggarwal V. Efficacy of revascularization to induce apexification/apexogensis in infected, nonvital, immature teeth: a pilot clinical study. J Endod. [Clinical Trial]. 2008;34(8):919–25; Discussion 1157.
- 196. Bose R, Nummikoski P, Hargreaves K. A retrospective evaluation of radiographic outcomes in immature teeth with necrotic root canal systems treated with regenerative endodontic procedures. J Endod. [Comparative Study]. 2009;35(10):1343–9.
- 197. Athanassiadis B, Abbott PV, Walsh LJ. The use of calcium hydroxide, antibiotics and biocides as antimicrobial medicaments in endodontics. Aust Dent J. 2007;52 Suppl 1:S64–82.

- 198. Sato I, Ando-Kurihara N, Kota K, Iwaku M, Hoshino E. Sterilization of infected root-canal dentine by topical application of a mixture of ciprofloxacin, metronidazole and minocycline in situ. Int Endod J. 1996;29(2):118–24.
- 199. Menezes MM, Valera MC, Jorge AO, Koga-Ito CY, Camargo CH, Mancini MN. In vitro evaluation of the effectiveness of irrigants and intracanal medicaments on microorganisms within root canals. Int Endod J. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2004;37(5):311–9.
- 200. Adl A, Motamedifar M, Shams MS, Mirzaie A. Clinical investigation of the effect of calcium hydroxide intracanal dressing on bacterial lipopolysaccharide reduction from infected root canals. Aust Endod J. 2013;41(1):12–6.
- 201. Anjaneyulu K, Nivedhitha MS. Influence of calcium hydroxide on the post-treatment pain in Endodontics: a systematic review. JCD. [Review]. 2014;17(3):200–7.
- 202. Lana PE, Scelza MF, Silva LE, Mattos-Guaraldi AL, Hirata Junior R. Antimicrobial activity of calcium hydroxide pastes on Enterococcus faecalis cultivated in root canal systems. Braz Dent J. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2009;20(1):32–6.
- Chai WL, Hamimah H, Cheng SC, Sallam AA, Abdullah M. Susceptibility of Enterococcus faecalis biofilm to antibiotics and calcium hydroxide. J Oral Sci. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2007;49(2):161–6.
- Walton RE, Holton Jr IF, Michelich R. Calcium hydroxide as an intracanal medication: effect on posttreatment pain. J Endod. [Clinical Trial Randomized Controlled Trial]. 2003;29(10):627–9.
- 205. Singh RD, Khatter R, Bal RK, Bal CS. Intracanal medications versus placebo in reducing postoperative endodontic pain a double-blind randomized clinical trial. Braz Dent J. [Comparative Study Randomized Controlled Trial]. 2013;24(1):25–9.
- 206. Orstavik D, Haapasalo M. Disinfection by endodontic irrigants and dressings of experimentally infected dentinal tubules. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1990;6(4):142–9.
- 207. Mohammadi Z. Systemic and local applications of steroids in endodontics: an update review. Int Dent J. [Review]. 2009;59(5):297–304.
- 208. Benarroch EE. Sodium channels and pain. Neurology. 2007;68(3):233-6.
- 209. Genet JM, Wesselink PR, Thoden van Velzen SK. The incidence of preoperative and postoperative pain in endodontic therapy. Int Endod J. 1986;19(5):221–9.

Anatomy, Access, and Length Determination

Frederick Barnett

Abstract

A sound knowledge of root canal anatomy is the first step in providing optimal treatment for the endodontic patient. In fact, each successive step in the clinical procedure is built upon the technical quality of the preceding step. However, modifications of the access preparation and especially the working length should be checked, rechecked, and modified as the clinical situation dictates. This chapter provides current and evidence-based information on three significantly important steps of the endodontic procedure.

7.1 Introduction

This chapter is comprised of three parts that are significantly important for successful clinical endodontics. Knowledge of root canal anatomy is required as it enables the clinician to prepare an appropriately shaped access preparation which then will allow for identification of the orifices of the root canals. Establishing and maintaining an optimal working length has been directly tied to clinical outcomes so its importance is obvious.

F. Barnett

I. B. Bender Division of Endodontics, Department of Dental Medicine, Albert Einstein Medical Center, 5501 Old York Road, Philadelphia, PA 19141, USA e-mail: barnettf@einstein.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 N. Chugal, L.M. Lin (eds.), *Endodontic Prognosis*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-42412-5_7

7.2 Root Canal Anatomy

A proper working knowledge of root canal morphology and the ability to find all of the canals within the tooth being treated is considered to be significantly important in improving endodontic outcomes. The failure to find and therefore treat all of the root canals could be the major cause of posttreatment endodontic disease [1-3]. As early as 1921 [4], it was clearly illustrated that root canal "systems" had wide variations and complexities and that the belief that a root contained a tapering canal and a single foramen was the exception rather than the rule.

Over the last decades, there have been several methods of studying tooth and root canal anatomy; histology, radiography, tooth clearing, micro-computed tomography to name a few. Tooth clearing allows for three-dimensional observation of the root canal anatomy [5, 6] and, in fact, provides more accurate information than do periapical radiographs (Figs. 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4 and 7.5). Micro-computed tomography (micro-CT) is a nondestructive imaging method used for the ex vivo study of dental anatomy because it can provide a detailed quantitative and qualitative description of the external and internal anatomy of the teeth [7, 8] (Figs. 7.6a–e and 7.7a–b). For example, the mesiobuccal root (MB) of the maxillary first molar has been extensively studied over the years, because it has caused many difficulties for clinicians. A recent study that utilized micro-CT for study of human tooth anatomy [9], and specifically the MB roots of maxillary first molars, found the following:

- 1. Second MB canal (MB2) was present in 90% of the roots.
- 2. Isthmuses (intercanal communications) were observed in 55% of the roots.
- 3. A single apical foramen was observed in 15% of roots, two foramina in 20%, and three or more foramina were present in 65%.
- 4. At the furcation level, 50% of the roots had two orifices, 40% had one orifice, and 10% had three orifices.
- 5. Accessory canals were present in 85% of the roots.



Fig. 7.1 (a) Periapical radiograph of mandibular first molar prior to extraction. (b) Photograph of that same tooth after being cleared. The complex anatomy is clearly evident (Courtesy of Dr. Craig Barrington)



Fig. 7.2 (a) Periapical radiograph of mandibular second premolar prior to extraction. (b) Photograph of that same tooth after being cleared. The complex apical anatomy is clearly evident (Courtesy of Dr. Craig Barrington)



Fig. 7.3 Photograph of maxillary second premolar after being cleared. The unexpected and complex apical anatomy is clearly evident (Courtesy of Dr. Craig Barrington)

Fig. 7.4 Photograph of MB root of maxillary first molar after being cleared (Courtesy of Dr. Craig Barrington)





Fig. 7.5 Photograph of DB root of maxillary first molar after being cleared. This extremely complex canal anatomy may be described as a 1-2-1-2 system (Courtesy of Dr. Craig Barrington)



Fig. 7.6 (a) Radiograph of extracted mandibular premolar with 2 roots. (b) Micro-CT reconstruction demonstrating complex root canal system in *green*. (c) Micro-CT axial slice of same tooth, coronal third. Only a single canal is evident. (d) Micro-CT axial slice of same tooth, middle third. Multiple canals are observed. (e) Micro-CT axial slice of same tooth, apical third. C-shaped anatomy is observed along with multiple separate canals (Courtesy of Dr. Ronald Ordinola-Zapata)

It is clear that the maxillary first molar has an extremely complex root canal anatomy, and the clinician must be prepared to manage these complexities.

Clinically, two or more angled periapical radiographs as well as a bite-wing radiograph should be taken following a thorough clinical examination. These angled images may provide the required information on tooth anatomy as well as the presence of caries at the osseous level that may go unnoticed by a single periapical radiograph. By changing the horizontal angulation of periapical radiographs by $20-40^{\circ}$, it was found that the number of roots in maxillary and mandibular molars were accurately detected [10]. However, 2-dimensional imaging often fails to provide accurate information on tooth and root canal anatomy as compared to cone beam computed tomography (CBCT) [11–13].

CBCT is a three-dimensional radiographic modality that offers the possibility to view an individual tooth or teeth in any view and has proven to be a powerful tool in endodontic diagnosis and treatment planning [13]. It has been reported that digital radiographs, regardless of the system used, failed to identify at least one root canal in 40% of teeth when compared with CBCT [14]. The presence of MB2 canals in maxillary molars is significantly better demonstrated with CBCT than with conventional periapical radiographs [15]. A recent study reported, using



Fig. 7.7 (a) Micro-CT reconstruction of maxillary first molar tooth. The MB root canal system appears to have a 2-1-2-2 complex system. (b) Micro-CT axial slice of maxillary first molar tooth at mid-root. The MB root canal system appears to have 2 canals at this level (Courtesy of Dr. Ronald Ordinola-Zapata)

micro-CT as the "gold standard," that CBCT imaging was very effective for detecting a missed MB2 canal in endodontically treated teeth [16]. In addition, the study results showed CBCT sensitivity for detecting MB2 was 96%, specificity was 100%, and total accuracy was 98%.

7.3 Access Preparation

7.3.1 Principles of Access Preparation

Clinical endodontic treatment commences with access preparation. The purpose of access preparation is to locate all the canal orifices in the tooth being treated for the purpose of proper debridement, irrigation, disinfection, and root filling. Prior to gaining access into the pulp chamber, all caries and defective restorations should be removed to ensure an aseptic technique and to prevent coronal leakage in between visits. It has been shown that it may be essential to remove all existing restorations from teeth requiring endodontic treatment in order to ensure complete caries removal, to visualize the presence of cracks, and to properly assess the restorability of the tooth [17].

7.3.2 Conservative vs. Traditional Access Preparation

Traditionally, the terms *outline form* and *convenience form* were used to describe the recommended shapes of access preparations. These access design shapes are from a projection of the internal chamber anatomy to the external tooth surface which also allows for straight-line access. The result would be that the clinician would be able to visualize all root canal orifices at the same time, without having to tilt their mirror. It appears that there may be an opportunity to preserve a significant amount of dentin while retaining the ability to locate all the root canal orifices with more conservative access preparations [18–23].

Recently, the traditional and previously accepted access cavity preparation designs have been questioned because of the potential weakening of the tooth caused by excessive dentin removal, making it more susceptible to eventual fracture under functional loads over time [18-23]. Post-endodontic tooth fractures have generally been attributed to weakened tooth structure caused by dental caries and subsequent restorative procedures, large endodontic access preparations, excessive canal enlargement especially in the cervical 1/3, and post preparations [18]. By changing/switching to a more conservative access preparation design, a significant amount of internal dentin may remain, thereby increasing the fracture resistance in mandibular molars and premolars [23] (Figs. 7.8, 7.9 and 7.10). Thus, the concept of "minimally invasive endodontics" has entered into our lexicon, and its purpose is to preserve the maximal amount of healthy dental structures during all endodontic procedures to enhance long-term tooth survival [18–25]. In this regard, access openings must be made, with a goal to preserve sound tooth structure; especially important is the prevention of gouging cervically, laterally, or into the floor of the pulp chamber when using a high-speed handpiece with a large round bur [24]. There must be a balance between a properly constructed conservative access and too small of an access that may prevent locating all of the canals and lead to an endodontic failure. Excessive dentin removal within the canal orifice by large Peeso reamers, Gates-Glidden drills, and large tapered orifice openers should be questioned and perhaps replaced with smaller tapered rotary instruments (i.e., .04 or .06).

7.3.3 Pulp Chamber Anatomy and Canal Location

It has been shown that the pulp chamber floor and wall anatomy provide a guide to determining what morphology is actually present. In a study evaluating 500 extracted teeth, it was determined that the cementoenamel junction was the most important anatomic landmark for determining the location of pulp chambers and root canal orifices [26]. The study demonstrated that specific and consistent pulp chamber floor and wall anatomy exist, and the authors proposed laws for assisting clinicians to properly identify canal morphology. The relationships expressed in these "laws" were found to occur in 95% of the teeth examined and are particularly helpful in locating calcified canal orifices



Fig. 7.8 Conservative access on tooth #2 (Courtesy of Dr. J. Joe)



Fig. 7.9 Conservative access on tooth #2 (Courtesy of Dr. J. Richards)



Fig. 7.10 (a) Post-op radiograph illustrating conservative access on tooth #30 (Courtesy of Dr. M. Trudeau) (b) Tooth #19 illustrating "truss access" (Courtesy of Dr. M. Trudeau)

Laws for locating canals:

- Law of Centrality: the CEJ is the most consistent and repeatable landmark for locating the position of the pulp chamber as the floor of the pulp chamber is always located in the center of the tooth at the level of the CEJ. Knowledge of this should help prevent crown perforations in a lateral direction regardless of how much coronal tooth structure has been lost or how extensive a crown restoration may be.
- Law of Color Change: the color of the pulp chamber floor is always darker than the walls (Figs. 7.10 and 7.11). This is often referred to as the "color map." Additionally, reparative dentin and calcifications are lighter than the pulp chamber floor and may often obscure the canal orifices. This law provides guidance to the clinician as to when the access preparation has been completed. Once accomplished, the following laws can be used to locate the exact position and number of canal orifices.
- Laws of Symmetry 1 and 2: except for maxillary molars, the orifices of the canals are equidistant and canals lie on a line perpendicular to a line drawn in a mesiodistal direction through the pulp chamber floor.
- Laws of Orifice Location 1 and 2: the orifices of the root canals are always located at the junction of the walls and the floor and the angles in the floor–wall junction (Fig. 7.11). The laws of orifice location in conjunction with the law of color change are often the only reliable indicator of the presence and location of an MB2 canal in maxillary molars.



Fig. 7.11 Photograph of molar chamber floor illustrating the color map. There are 2 distobuccal orifices evident (Courtesy of Dr. F. Barnett)

7.4 Working Length Determination

Working length (WL) is defined as the distance from a coronal reference point to the point at which canal preparation and filling terminates [27]. Ideally, instrumentation and root filling should terminate at a "biologically suitable" location within the root canal system in order to achieve the best outcomes [28–39]. Interestingly, this exact location of this termination of canal preparation and obturation has remained controversial over the decades. However, if the termination of the root-filling material is too short or too long from the radiographic apex, the outcome has been shown to be negatively influenced [28, 30–39]. Many studies are in agreement that in teeth with vital pulps, the apical level of instrumentation and obturation should be short of the apical foramen [28, 30–39]. For teeth with necrotic pulps with apical periodontitis, the apical limit was recommended to be closer to the radiographic apex [28, 30–39]. In fact, it was shown that for every millimeter loss in working length (away from the radiographic apex), the odds of failure increased by approximately 14 % [36] and 12 % [38].

Traditionally, the apical constriction (minor foramen) appeared to be an appropriate location to terminate the root preparation and filling. It was defined as the narrowest part of the canal and was located just short of the major apical foramen [40]. However, this apical constriction was identified in less than 50% of the teeth studied, and frequently, the apical canal was parallel [41]. Recent study using micro-CT analysis of the apical constriction (cement–dentinal junction) (AC) in extracted molar teeth found the following [42]:

- 1. An AC was found in all examined canals.
- 2. The most prevalent shape of the AC found was parallel.
- 3. The AC was in close proximity to the apical foramen (AF) (0.2 mm).
- 4. The size of the AC in molars corresponded to instrument size 30. Young patients had a significantly larger AC.
- 5. The location of AF was short of the radiographic apex in 88% of the canals; in 5% of the canals, the AF was more than 2 mm short of the anatomic apex.
- 6. The mean distance of the AC-radiographic apex was 0.9mm.
- 7. In 68% of the canals, the distance AC-radiographic apex was 0.5 mm shorter or longer than the mean (as shown in number 6), showing that determining the constriction by radiographs may be accurate in only 32% of the canals.

Additionally, the apical foramen, major foramen, defined as the most apical opening on the root, was shown not to be located at the anatomic apex in about 60-80% of the teeth examined and could be found from 0.0 to 3.0 mm away from anatomic apex [41, 43, 44].

Endodontic outcomes studies assess root-filling length only in relation to the radiographic apex, which does not necessarily correspond to the major apical foramen. However, it appears that all outcomes studies agreed, without exception, that **Fig. 7.12** Photograph of molar chamber floor illustrating the color map. There are 3 separate MB orifices evident. The orifices of the canals are observed to be at the junction of the dark chamber floor and the lighter walls (Courtesy of Dr. F. Barnett)



the overextension of the filling material indeed adversely influenced the treatment outcome [28, 30–39].

It becomes apparent that proper working length determination and its maintenance is important to achieve the best outcomes possible. As working length radiographs are not very accurate in determining the location of the apical constriction or foramen (Fig. 7.12), other methods, such as electronic apex locators (EAL) and paper point measurements (PPT), have become increasingly important in clinical practice. A recent in vivo study compared the accuracy of working length determination with EALs and radiographs, on 482 canals in 160 maxillary and mandibular teeth [45]. After extraction, the true location of apical constriction was determined by direct observation. The results showed that the measurements made by apex locators were within ± 0.5 mm of the minor foramen (apical constriction) 100% of the time, whereas for the radiographs, the measurements were within this range only 15% of the time. The implications of this are that proper use of an EAL will allow for more precise working length determination than do periapical radiographs.

7.5 Concluding Remarks

It has been well established that knowledge of root canal anatomy, locating and negotiating all canals and by achieving and maintaining proper working length throughout the entire endodontic procedure, the clinician can expect the best possible outcomes for their patients. **Fig. 7.13** Picture shows that the file in the palatal canal is at the radiographic apex, but in fact, it is extending past the root end by about 2 mm (Courtesy of Dr. F. Barnett)



References

- 1. Vertucci FJ. Root canal morphology and its relationship to endodontic procedures. Endod Top. 2005;10:3–29.
- Weine FS, Healey HJ, Gerstein H, Evanson L. Canal configuration in the mesiobuccal root of the maxillary first molar and its endodontic significance. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1969;28:419–25.
- Haapasalo M, Shen YA, Ricucci D. Reasons for persisting and emerging post-treatment endodontic disease. Endod Top. 2011;18:31–50.
- 4. Hess W. Formation of root canals in human teeth. Natl Dent Assoc J. 1921;8:704-25.
- Hasselgren G, Tronstad L. The use of transparent teeth in the teaching of preclinical endodontics. J Endod. 1975;1:278–80.
- Omer OE, Al Shalabi RM, Jennings M, Glennon J, Claffey NM. A comparison between clearing and radiographic techniques in the study of the root canal anatomy of maxillary first and second molars. Int Endod J. 2004;37:291–6.
- 7. Versiani MA, Pecora JD, Sousa-Neto MD. Microcomputed tomography analysis of the root canal morphology of single-rooted mandibular canines. Int Endod J. 2013;46:800–7.
- Filpo-Perez C, Bramante CM, Villas-Boas MH, Duarte MAH, Versiani MA, Ordinola-Zapata R. Micro–computed tomographic analysis of the root canal morphology of the distal root of mandibular first molars. J Endod. 2015;41:231–6.
- 9. Verma P, Love RM. A micro-CT study of the mesiobuccal root canal morphology of the maxillary first molar tooth. Int Endod J. 2011;44:210–7.
- Martinez-Lozano MA, Forner-Navarro L, Sanchez-Cortes JL. Analysis of radiologic factors in determining premolar root canal systems. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 1999;88:719–22.

- 11. Bernardes RA, de Paulo RS, Pereira LO, Duarte MA, Ordinola-Zapata R, de Azevedo JR. Comparative study of cone beam computed tomography and intraoral periapical radiographs in diagnosis of lingual-simulated external root resorptions. Dent Traumatol. 2012;28:268–72.
- Cotton TP, Geisler TM, Holden DT, Schwartz SA, Schindler WG. Endodontic applications of cone-beam volumetric tomography. J Endod. 2007;9:1121–32.
- Patel S, Durack C, Abella F, Shemesh H, Roig M, Lemberg K. Cone beam computed tomography in Endodontics – a review. Int Endod J. 2015;48:3–15.
- Matherne RP, Angelopoulos C, Kulilid JC, Tira D. Use of cone-beam computed tomography to identify root canal systems in vitro. J Endod. 2008;34:87–9.
- Blattner TC, Goerge N, Lee CC, Kumar V, Yelton CDJ. Efficacy of CBCT as a modality to accurately identify the presence of second mesiobuccal canals in maxillary first and second molars: a pilot study. J Endod. 2010;36:867–70.
- Mirmohammadi H, Mahdi L, Partovi P, Khademi A, Shemesh H, Hassan B. Accuracy of conebeam computed tomography in the detection of a second mesiobuccal root canal in endodontically treated teeth: an ex vivo study. J Endod. 2015;1:1–4.
- 17. Abbott PV. Assessing restored teeth with pulp and periapical diseases for the presence of cracks, caries and marginal breakdown. Aust Dent J. 2004;49:33–9.
- 18. Kishen A. Mechanisms and risk factors for fracture predilection in endodontically treated teeth. Endod Top. 2006;13:57–83.
- Clark D, Khademi J. Modern molar access and directed dentin conservation. Dent Clin N Am. 2010;54:249–73.
- Clark D, Khademi J. Case studies in modern molar access and directed dentin conservation. Dent Clin N Am. 2010;54:275–89.
- Tang W, Wu Y, Smales RJ. Identifying and reducing risks for potential fractures in endodontically treated teeth. J Endod. 2010;36:609–17.
- Gluskin AH, Peters CI, Peters OA. Minimally invasive endodontics: challenging prevailing paradigms. Br Dent J. 2014;216:347–53.
- Krishan R, Paque F, Ossareh A, Kishen A, Dao T, Friedman S. Impacts of conservative endodontic cavity on root canal instrumentation efficacy and resistance to fracture assessed in incisors, premolars, and molars. J Endod. 2014;40:1160–6.
- 24. Gutmann JL. Minimally invasive dentistry (endodontics). J Conserv Dent. 2013;16:282-3.
- 25. Burklein S, Schafer E. Minimally invasive endodontics. Quintessence Int. 2015;2:119-24.
- 26. Krasner P, Rankow HJ. Anatomy of the pulp chamber floor. J Endod. 2004;30:5-16.
- 27. Glossary of endodontic terms. 7th ed. American Association of Endodontists; 2003.
- Sjögren U, Hägglund B, Sundqvist G, Wing K. Factors affecting the long-term results of endodontic treatment. J Endod. 1990;16:498–504.
- Ricucci D, Langeland K. Apical limit of root canal instrumentation and obturation, part 2. A histological study. Int Endod J. 1998;31:394–409.
- 30. Ricucci D, Lin LM, Spangberg LS. Wound healing of apical tissues after root canal therapy: a long-term clinical, radiographic and histologic observation study. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2009;108:609–21.
- Ng V-L, Mann V, Rahbaran S, Lewsey J, Gulabivala K. Outcome of primary root canal treatment: systematic review of the literature—part 2. Influence of clinical factors. Int Endod J. 2008;41:6–31.
- Kerekes K, Tronstad L. Long-term results of endodontic treatment performed with a standardized technique. J Endod. 1979;5:83–90.
- Bergenholtz G, Lekholm U, Milthon R, Engstrom B. Influence of apical over-instrumentation and over filling on retreated root canals. J Endod. 1979;5:310–4.
- 34. Seltzer S, Soltanoff W, Smith J. Biologic aspects of endodontics. V. Periapical tissue reactions to root canal instrumentation beyond the apex and root canal filling short of and beyond the apex. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1973;36:725–37.
- 35. Chugal NM, Clive JM, Spangberg LS. A prognostic model for assessment of the outcome of endodontic treatment: effect of biologic and diagnostic variables. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2001;91:342–52.

- Chugal NM, Clive JM, Spangberg LS. Endodontic infection: some biologic and treatment factors associated with outcome. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2003; 96:81–90.
- Ricucci D, Russo J, Rutberg M, Burleson JA, Spangberg LS. A prospective cohort study of endodontic treatment of 1369 root canals: results after 5 years. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2011;112:825–42.
- Ng Y-L, Mann V, Gulabivala K. A prospective study of the factors affecting outcomes of nonsurgical root canal treatment: part 1: periapical health. Int Endod J. 2011;44:583–609.
- Wu MK, Wesselink PR, Walton RE. Apical terminus location of root canal treatment procedures. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2000;89:99–103.
- 40. Kuttler Y. Microscopic investigation of root apexes. J Am Dent Assoc. 1955;50:544-52.
- 41. Dummer PMH, McGinn JH, Rees DG. The position and topography of the apical canal constriction and apical foramen. Int Endod J. 1984;17:192–8.
- El Ayouti A, Hulber M, Judenhofer MS, Connert T, Mannheim JG, Lost C, et al. Apical constriction: location and dimensions in molars- A micro-computed tomography study. J Endod. 2014;40:1095–9.
- Chapman CE. A microscopic study of the apical region of human anterior teeth. J Br Endod Soc. 1969;3:52–8.
- 44. Burch JG, Hulen S. The relationship of the apical foramen to the anatomic apex of the tooth root. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1972;34:262–8.
- Marcos-Arenal JL, Rivera EM, Caplan DJ, Trope M. Evaluating the paper point technique for locating the apical foramen after canal preparation. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2009;108:101–5.

Instrumentation and Disinfection of Root Canals

Frederic Barnett and José F. Siqueira Jr.

Abstract

Preparation of the root canal system is recognized as being one of the most important steps in achieving successful endodontic treatment outcomes. However, thorough root canal preparation is quite demanding for the clinician because of the highly variable root canal anatomy and the inability to visualize this anatomy from routine periapical radiographs. In addition to mechanical shaping, it is well accepted that the use of antimicrobial irrigating agents is beneficial in dissolving inflamed as well as necrotic infected pulp tissue and disrupting the intracanal biofilm. Additionally, the use of interappointment antimicrobial dressings has also been recommended for teeth with periapical disease as a result of root canal infection.

8.1 Introduction

Preparation of the root canal system is recognized as being one of the most important steps in achieving successful endodontic treatment outcomes. In addition to removing inflamed vital and infected necrotic pulpal tissues, it also allows for the introduction of disinfecting irrigants and interappointment antimicrobial medications. Mechanical

F. Barnett (🖂)

J.F. Siqueira Jr.

I. B. Bender Division of Endodontics, Department of Dental Medicine, Albert Einstein Medical Center, 5501 Old York Road, Philadelphia, PA 19141, USA e-mail: barnettf@einstein.edu

Department of Endodontics, Estácio de Sá University,

Av. Alfredo Baltazar da Silveira 580 cob, 22790-701 Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil e-mail: jf_siqueira@yahoo.com

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 N. Chugal, L.M. Lin (eds.), *Endodontic Prognosis*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-42412-5_8

preparation along with chemical disinfection is commonly referred to as chemomechanical preparation. However, root canal preparation is quite demanding for the clinician because of the highly variable root canal anatomy and the inability to visualize this anatomy from routine periapical radiographs [1, 2].

8.1.1 Biologic and Technical Goals of Root Canal Preparation to Achieve Optimal Clinical Outcomes [2–6]

- 1. Sufficient removal of inflamed, necrotic, and infected pulpal tissues to reduce or arrest the host's inflammatory response.
- 2. Creation of sufficient space for adequate irrigation, medication, and root filling to best allow for the reduction/elimination of the root canal irritants and ensure an optimal obturation.
- 3. Preservation of the apical foramen to prevent complications (i.e., zipping, transporting, blocking, overfilling during obturation).
- 4. Prevention of iatrogenic complications (i.e., separating files, perforations, ledging, blocking, transporting).
- 5. Preservation of enough intact tooth structure for long-term tooth survival (to reduce the possibility of subsequent vertical root fractures).

8.1.2 Challenges in Root Canal Preparation [1, 2, 5]

- 1. Locating all canals: Missed canals have been attributed to decreased clinical outcomes. Therefore, knowledge of tooth and root canal anatomy is necessary as is the use of magnification and illumination devices (i.e., surgical loupes with light source or a dental operating microscope). These devices have significantly enhanced the ability to find and treat more canals.
- 2. Working length: Establishing and maintaining proper working length throughout the entire procedure will ensure more optimal debridement and will prevent canal blockage and over-instrumentation. Contemporary electronic apex locators have become a predictable and important adjunct for canal length determination.
- 3. Anatomic factors: Lateral and accessory canals, fins, isthmuses, curvatures, oval-shaped canals, etc., present a considerable challenge for optimal canal debridement. This highlights the significance of irrigating solutions and interappointment medications in routine endodontic treatment.
- 4. Degree of canal shaping: Optimal canal debridement is necessary for sufficient disinfection, irrigation, and subsequent root filling to achieve clinical success. However, it is not known how much cleaning and shaping is necessary for any given canal to achieve optimal success. Inadequate cleaning and shaping may leave excessive amounts of diseased and infected tissue in the root canal system which may cause persisting symptoms and periapical inflammation. Overzealous canal shaping with the removal of excessive root dentin may make the tooth susceptible to eventual fracture.

5. Canal disinfection: Sufficient reduction/elimination of the microbial burden (biofilm) within the root canal system is regarded as essential for successful outcomes. However, despite meticulous cleaning, shaping, disinfection, and root filling, some cases with preoperative apical periodontitis may still fail. The causes of these failures have been attributed to the persistence of infection in the apical canal that was unaffected by our treatment procedures [2].

8.1.3 Working Length (WL) and Working Width (WW)

Most clinical studies have shown that the best outcomes were achieved when the instrumentation and subsequent root filling were confined within the root canal system [6–11]. Root fillings ending 0–2mm short of the radiographic apex appeared to yield 94% success, underfilling greater than 2 mm short gave a 68% success rate, and overfilling yielded 76% success [9]. More recently, it was shown that instrumenting and root filling to 0.5mm short of the radiographic apex provided the highest success [10]. A meta-analysis has confirmed that overfilling the root canal is associated with a decreased success [11].

Working width is the degree of apical enlargement or final apical preparation size chosen by the clinician. However, there is little agreement about the final apical size and clinical success. In fact, a prospective outcome study [7] found that there was no significant difference in outcomes between cases enlarged to sizes <#30 and those enlarged to >#30. However, achieving patency was associated with higher success. A recent randomized prospective clinical study [12] evaluated the effect of apical preparation size in relation to the first apical binding file (FABF) on the clinical outcome of endodontic treatment in mandibular first molars. They found that the proportion of successfully healed cases increased with an increase in apical preparation size. They concluded that enlargement of the canal to 3 sizes larger than the FABF is adequate, and further enlargement did not provide any additional benefit during endodontic treatment.

8.1.4 Root Canal Disinfection

8.1.4.1 Irrigants

The main steps of endodontic treatment involved with infection control are represented by chemomechanical preparation (instrumentation and irrigation) and intracanal medication. The former plays a pivotal role in root canal disinfection, because instruments and irrigants act primarily on the main canal, which is the largest area of the root canal system and consequently harbors the highest numbers of bacterial populations. A large proportion of bacterial populations are eliminated from the root canal by the mechanical effects exerted by instruments and the flow of the irrigant solutions during preparation [13], but the use of an antimicrobial irrigant is required for enhanced disinfection [14–16]. In addition to promoting mechanical and chemical elimination of microorganisms from the root canal, irrigation serves other important goals during preparation as it also promotes cleaning by washing out necrotic and inflamed pulp tissue and debris and dissolving soft tissue, acts as a lubricant for instruments during negotiation and cutting, prevents packing of dentinal and pulp debris in the apical canal, and removes the smear layer.

8.1.4.2 Main Irrigants

Sodium Hypochlorite (NaOCI)

NaOCl is the most commonly used irrigant in endodontic practice, and no study has hitherto definitively shown that another substance is more effective than it in terms of disinfection [17]. Solutions ranging from 0.5% to 8% have been proposed for irrigation.

NaOCl has a strong broad-spectrum antimicrobial activity, rapidly killing vegetative and spore-forming bacteria, fungi, protozoa, and viruses. Most oral bacteria are killed after a short-time contact with NaOCl. NaOCl exerts its antibacterial effect mostly by inducing the irreversible oxidation of sulfhydryl groups of essential bacterial enzymes.

Chlorhexidine (CHX)

CHX is a cationic bis-biguanide that has been widely used as a topical antiseptic. CHX is highly effective against several oral microbial species [18, 19]. It also presents substantivity in dentin [20] and displays acceptable tissue compatibility [21, 22]. Because of these properties, CHX has emerged as a potential irrigant and interappointment medication. At the high concentrations used in antiseptic/disinfectant preparations, CHX enters the cytoplasm via the damaged cytoplasmic membrane and promotes precipitation of cytoplasmic contents, particularly phosphated entities, with resulting cell death.

Intracanal Antibacterial Effectiveness of Irrigants

The use of NaOCl as the main irrigant significantly enhances intracanal disinfection when compared to irrigation with saline [14, 23, 24]. Chemomechanical procedures using 2.5 % NaOCl as the irrigant reduce 10^2 to 10^5 -fold the numbers of bacteria, with an overall reduction exceeding 95 % [25]. After irrigation with NaOCl (in concentrations ranging from 0.5 % to 5%), about 40–60 %, the canals show no detectable cultivable bacteria [26–29].

In the root canal environment, increasing the NaOCl concentration has been shown to have no significant effects on bacterial reduction [26]. Most importantly, the regular exchange and the use of large amounts of irrigant help maintain the antibacterial effectiveness of the NaOCl solution, compensating for the effects of concentration [15].

8.2 Irrigants for Smear Layer Removal

Smear layer comprises a layer of organic and inorganic material, which is formed on mineralized dental tissues whenever they are cut with hand or rotary instruments [30] (Fig. 8.1). The smear layer covering the instrumented canal walls is



Fig. 8.1 Scanning electron micrographs showing the smear layer formed on the root canal wall (a) and after its removal (b)

approximately $1-2 \mu m$ thick and can also be observed in some regions as plugs packed into the dentinal tubules, sometimes called smear plug.

Removing the smear layer may be required for enhanced disinfection, as this layer may contain residual bacteria and substrate that might serve as a potential source for persistent root canal infection [31, 32]. In addition, the smear layer delays diffusion of antibacterial intracanal medications from the canal to the dentinal tubules, reducing their effectiveness [33].

The inorganic component of the smear layer can be removed by demineralizing substances or products, including ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) [34], citric acid [35], and doxycycline-containing products [36, 37] (BioPure MTAD, Dentsply, Tulsa, OK, and Tetraclean, Ogna Laboratori Farmaceutici, Milano, Italy)

EDTA does not act immediately when placed in contact with the mineralized tissue, taking a few minutes to achieve the chelating effect. Although EDTA has some antibacterial activity [38], it is not expected to improve disinfection beyond that achieved by the previous irrigation with either NaOCl or CHX. Therefore, its main use in endodontic therapy is for smear layer removal.

8.3 Intracanal Medication

Bacteria that escape from the effects of chemomechanical procedures are usually located in areas not reached by instruments and irrigants [5, 39–41]. Unaffected areas include dentinal tubules, isthmuses, lateral canals, apical ramifications, and even some areas of the main root canal walls that may remain untouched by instruments [39, 40, 42–44] (Figs. 8.2 and 8.3).



Fig. 8.2 The root canal infection may spread to areas that are difficult to reach. (**a**) A bacterial biofilm is covering the irregular root canal walls and the subjacent dentinal tubules are invaded by bacteria from the biofilm. (**b**) Higher magnification of the rectangle in A (Courtesy of Dr. Domenico Ricucci)



Fig. 8.3 Difficult-to-reach areas. (**a** and **b**) The root canal infection spread to lateral and apical ramifications. Note the formation of biofilms not only in the main canal but also in the ramifications. In these areas, bacteria may survive the effects of instrumentation and irrigation (Courtesy of Dr. Domenico Ricucci)

Although irrigants such as NaOCl and chlorhexidine have strong antimicrobial activity, their effects are mostly limited to the main canal. Even there, these substances need to be frequently replenished and remain for sufficient time to exert antibacterial and antibiofilm effects on areas not touched by instruments. In the clinical setting, the irrigant should diffuse to reach the areas mentioned above, but the short time they remain in the canal during preparation represents a major limitation. For the sake of comparison, whereas the irrigant remains in the canal for 10–30 min, an interappointment medication can remain for days. Therefore, the
intracanal medication has more chances to diffuse, reach, and eliminate bacteria in areas not affected by instruments and irrigants. Of the numerous substances that have been proposed as interappointment medication over the years, calcium hydroxide is the most commonly used.

8.3.1 Calcium Hydroxide

Calcium hydroxide is an inorganic compound, with the formula $Ca(OH)_2$, and has a strongly alkaline pH (approximately 12.4). In the presence of water, it dissociates into hydroxyl and calcium ions, and most of the biological effects attributed to this substance are related to the former [45]. Pure calcium hydroxide is available as a powder, but it should be mixed with a liquid, gel, or creamy carrier (or vehicle) for easier intracanal application and enhanced antimicrobial performance. Because calcium hydroxide effects are pH dependent, the ideal vehicle should enable the ionic dissociation of this substance. Dissociation varies according to the type of vehicle used. It is questionable if viscous or oily vehicles are of any value, since they do not permit a high dissociation and consequent release of hydroxyl ions.

Most bacterial species commonly found in infected root canals are eliminated in vitro after a short period of exposure to the high pH of calcium hydroxide [26]. Lethal effects of hydroxyl ions on bacterial cells are resultant of the effects on lipids, proteins, and DNA, leading to subsequent damage to the cellular apparatus and drastically altered cellular functions [45]. Calcium hydroxide has also been shown to inactivate bacterial virulence factors, such as lipopolisaccharides (endotoxins) and the lipoteichoic acid, components of the cell wall of gram-negative and grampositive bacteria, respectively [46, 47]. The antimicrobial effects of calcium hydroxide depend on the availability of hydroxyl ions in solution, which is much higher where the paste is applied (the main root canal). If this substance needs to diffuse to tissues and the hydroxyl concentration is decreased as a result of the action of tissue buffering systems (bicarbonate and phosphate), acids, proteins, and carbon dioxide, its antibacterial effectiveness may be reduced or even impeded [45]. Moreover, some microbial species like *Enterococcus faecalis* and some *Candida* species have shown some resistance to calcium hydroxide [48].

8.3.2 Outcome Studies: Intracanal Medication

Although there are several studies showing improved disinfection of the root canal system after using an interappointment medication [16, 28, 40, 49, 51], there are not many well-controlled clinical studies comparing the success rate of the endodontic treatment of infected root canals performed in one or more visits. Some studies revealed that two or more visits with calcium hydroxide as the intracanal medication increase the success rate in 10-20% when compared with one-visit treatment [9, 51–54] On the other hand, there are studies showing virtually no significant difference [55, 56] or even 10% more success for one-visit treatment [57, 58]. The

conflicting results are probably related to the fact that available data was insufficient for definitive conclusions, making statistical analyses underpowered. A study using a large sample size of treatments performed by a single operator [8] demonstrated a significantly higher success rate for infected teeth treated in two or more visits using calcium hydroxide interappointment dressing when compared with cases treated in one visit.

8.4 Concluding Remarks

To achieve the best possible treatment outcomes, the clinician must have a strong knowledge of root canal anatomy and be familiar with effective cleaning and shaping principles and making use of appropriate intracanal antimicrobial agents.

References

- 1. Peters OA. Current challenges and concepts in the preparation of root canal systems: a review. J Endod. 2004;30:559–67.
- Ricucci D, Siqueira JF. Anatomic and clinical challenges to achieving success with endodontic treatment: a case report. J Endod. 2008;34:1249–54.
- Hulsmann M, Peters OA, Dummer PMH. Mechanical preparation of root canals: shaping goals, techniques and means. Endod Topics. 2005;10:30–76.
- 4. Siqueira JF. Reaction of periradicular tissues to root canal treatment: benefits and drawbacks. Endod Topics. 2005;10:123–47.
- Ricucci D, Siqueira JF, Bate AL, Pitt Ford TR. Histologic investigation of root canal treated teeth with apical periodontitis: a retrospective study from 24 patients. J Endod. 2009;35:493–502.
- 6. Trope M, Debelian G. Endodontic treatment of apical periodontitis. In: Orstavik D, Pitt Ford T, editors. Essential endodontology. 2nd ed. Oxford: Blackwell Munksgaard; 2008.
- Ng YL, Mann V, Gulabivala K. A prospective study of the factors affecting outcomes of nonsurgical root canal treatment. Int Endod J. 2011;44:583–609.
- Ricucci D, Russo J, Rutberg M, Burleson JA, Spangberg LS. A prospective cohort study of endodontic treatments of 1369 root canals: results after 5 years. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Path Oral Radiol Endod. 2011;112:825–42.
- Sjögren U, Hagglund B, Sundqvist G, Wing K. Factors affecting the long-term results of endodontic treatment. J Endod. 1990;16:498–504.
- Chugal NM, Clive JM, Spangberg LS. Endodontic infection: some biologic and treatment factors associated with outcome. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Path Oral Radiol Endod. 2003;96: 81–90.
- Ng YL, Mann V, Rahbaran S, Lewsey J, Gulabivala K. Outcome of primary root canal treatment: systematic review of the literature – Part 2. Influence of clinical factors. Int Endod J. 2008;41:6–31.
- Saini HR, Tewari S, Sangwan P, Dushan J, Gupta A. Effect of different apical preparation sizes on outcome of primary endodontic treatment: a randomized controlled trial. J Endod. 2012;38:1309–15.
- 13. Byström A, Sundqvist G. Bacteriologic evaluation of the efficacy of mechanical root canal instrumentation in endodontic therapy. Scand J Dent Res. 1981;89:321–8.
- 14. Brito PR, Souza LC, Machado de Oliveira JC, Alves FR, De-Deus G, Lopes HP, et al. Comparison of the effectiveness of three irrigation techniques in reducing intracanal Enterococcus faecalis populations: an in vitro study. J Endod. 2009;35:1422–7.

- Siqueira Jr JF, Rôças IN, Favieri A, Lima KC. Chemomechanical reduction of the bacterial population in the root canal after instrumentation and irrigation with 1%, 2.5%, and 5.25% sodium hypochlorite. J Endod. 2000;26:331–4.
- Shuping GB, Ørstavik D, Sigurdsson A, Trope M. Reduction of intracanal bacteria using nickel-titanium rotary instrumentation and various medications. J Endod. 2000;26:751–5.
- 17. Zehnder M. Root canal irrigants. J Endod. 2006;32:389-98.
- Vianna ME, Horz HP, Gomes BP, Conrads G. *In vivo* evaluation of microbial reduction after chemo-mechanical preparation of human root canals containing necrotic pulp tissue. Int Endod J. 2006;39:484–92.
- Vianna ME, Gomes BP, Berber VB, Zaia AA, Ferraz CC, de Souza-Filho FJ. *In vitro* evaluation of the antimicrobial activity of chlorhexidine and sodium hypochlorite. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2004;97:79–84.
- Basrani B, Santos JM, Tjaderhane L, Grad H, Gorduysus O, Huang J, et al. Substantive antimicrobial activity in chlorhexidine-treated human root dentin. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2002;94:240–5.
- Yesilsoy C, Whitaker E, Cleveland D, Phillips E, Trope M. Antimicrobial and toxic effects of established and potential root canal irrigants. J Endod. 1995;21:513–5.
- Tanomaru Filho M, Leonardo MR, Silva LAB, Anibal FF, Faccioli LH. Inflammatory response to different endodontic irrigating solutions. Int Endod J. 2002;35:735–9.
- 23. Byström A, Sundqvist G. Bacteriologic evaluation of the effect of 0.5 percent sodium hypochlorite in endodontic therapy. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1983;55:307–12.
- Siqueira Jr JF, Rôças IN, Santos SR, Lima KC, Magalhães FA, de Uzeda M. Efficacy of instrumentation techniques and irrigation regimens in reducing the bacterial population within root canals. J Endod. 2002;28:181–4.
- 25. Siqueira Jr JF, Guimarães-Pinto T, Rôças IN. Effects of chemomechanical preparation with 2.5% sodium hypochlorite and intracanal medication with calcium hydroxide on cultivable bacteria in infected root canals. J Endod. 2007;33:800–5.
- 26. Byström A, Sundqvist G. The antibacterial action of sodium hypochlorite and EDTA in 60 cases of endodontic therapy. Int Endod J. 1985;18:35–40.
- Siqueira Jr JF, Magalhães KM, Rôças IN. Bacterial reduction in infected root canals treated with 2.5% NaOCl as an irrigant and calcium hydroxide/camphorated paramonochlorophenol paste as an intracanal dressing. J Endod. 2007;33:667–72.
- Sjögren U, Figdor D, Spångberg L, Sundqvist G. The antimicrobial effect of calcium hydroxide as a short-term intracanal dressing. Int Endod J. 1991;24:119–25.
- Baumgartner JC, Cuenin PR. Efficacy of several concentrations of sodium hypochlorite for root canal irrigation. J Endod. 1992;18:605–12.
- 30. Gwinnett AJ. Smear layer: morphological considerations. Oper Dent Suppl. 1984;3:2-12.
- 31. Brannstrom M. Smear layer: pathological and treatment considerations. Oper Dent Suppl. 1984;3:35–42.
- Torabinejad M, Handysides R, Khademi AA, Bakland LK. Clinical implications of the smear layer in endodontics: a review. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2002;94:658–66.
- Orstavik D, Haapasalo M. Disinfection by endodontic irrigants and dressings of experimentally infected dentinal tubules. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1990;6:142–9.
- Goldman M, Goldman LB, Cavaleri R, Bogis J, Lin PS. The efficacy of several endodontic irrigating solutions: a scanning electron microscopic study: Part 2. J Endod. 1982;8:487–92.
- Wayman BE, Kopp WM, Pinero GJ, Lazzari EP. Citric and lactic acids as root canal irrigants in vitro. J Endod. 1979;5:258–65.
- Torabinejad M, Khademi AA, Babagoli J, Cho Y, Johnson WB, Bozhilov K, et al. A new solution for the removal of the smear layer. J Endod. 2003;29:170–5.
- 37. Giardino L, Ambu E, Savoldi E, Rimondini R, Cassanelli C, Debbia EA. Comparative evaluation of antimicrobial efficacy of sodium hypochlorite, MTAD, and Tetraclean against Enterococcus faecalis biofilm. J Endod. 2007;33:852–5.
- Siqueira Jr JF, Batista MM, Fraga RC, de Uzeda M. Antibacterial effects of endodontic irrigants on black-pigmented gram-negative anaerobes and facultative bacteria. J Endod. 1998;24:414–6.

- 39. Nair PN, Henry S, Cano V, Vera J. Microbial status of apical root canal system of human mandibular first molars with primary apical periodontitis after "one-visit" endodontic treatment. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2005;99:231–52.
- Vera J, Siqueira Jr JF, Ricucci D, Loghin S, Fernandez N, Flores B, et al. One- versus two-visit endodontic treatment of teeth with apical periodontitis: a histobacteriologic study. J Endod. 2012;38:1040–52.
- Siqueira Jr JF, Araujo MC, Garcia PF, Fraga RC, Dantas CJ. Histological evaluation of the effectiveness of five instrumentation techniques for cleaning the apical third of root canals. J Endod. 1997;23:499–502.
- Peters OA, Schönenberger K, Laib A. Effects of four Ni-Ti preparation techniques on root canal geometry assessed by micro computed tomography. Int Endod J. 2001;34:221–30.
- Paque F, Balmer M, Attin T, Peters OA. Preparation of oval-shaped root canals in mandibular molars using nickel-titanium rotary instruments: a micro-computed tomography study. J Endod. 2010;36:703–7.
- 44. Siqueira Jr JF, Alves FR, Versiani MA, Rôças IN, Almeida BM, Neves MA, et al. Correlative bacteriologic and micro-computed tomographic analysis of mandibular molar mesial canals prepared by self-adjusting file, Reciproc, and Twisted File systems. J Endod. 2013;39:1044–50.
- 45. Siqueira Jr JF, Lopes HP. Mechanisms of antimicrobial activity of calcium hydroxide: a critical review. Int Endod J. 1999;32:361–9.
- Safavi KE, Nichols FC. Effect of calcium hydroxide on bacterial lipopolysaccharide. J Endod. 1993;19:76–8.
- 47. Baik JE, Kum KY, Yun CH, Lee JK, Lee K, Kim KK, et al. Calcium hydroxide inactivates lipoteichoic acid from Enterococcus faecalis. J Endod. 2008;34:1355–9.
- 48. Waltimo TM, Siren EK, Ørstavik D, Haapasalo MP. Susceptibility of oral Candida species to calcium hydroxide in vitro. Int Endod J. 1999;32:94–8.
- McGurkin-Smith R, Trope M, Caplan D, Sigurdsson A. Reduction of intracanal bacteria using GT rotary instrumentation, 5.25% NaOCl, EDTA, and Ca(OH)₂. J Endod. 2005;31:359–63.
- Paiva SS, Siqueira Jr JF, Rôças IN, Carmo FL, Leite DC, Ferreira DC, et al. Clinical antimicrobial efficacy of NiTi rotary instrumentation with NaOCl irrigation, final rinse with chlorhexidine and interappointment medication: a molecular study. Int Endod J. 2013;46:225–33.
- Friedman S, Lost C, Zarrabian M, Trope M. Evaluation of success and failure after endodontic therapy using a glass ionomer cement sealer. J Endod. 1995;21:384–90.
- Sjögren U, Figdor D, Persson S, Sundqvist G. Influence of infection at the time of root filling on the outcome of endodontic treatment of teeth with apical periodontitis. Int Endod J. 1997; 30:297–306.
- 53. Trope M, Delano EO, Ørstavik D. Endodontic treatment of teeth with apical periodontitis: single vs. multivisit treatment. J Endod. 1999;25:345–50.
- Molander A, Warfvinge J, Reit C, Kvist T. Clinical and radiographic evaluation of one- and two-visit endodontic treatment of asymptomatic necrotic teeth with apical periodontitis: a randomized clinical trial. J Endod. 2007;33:1145–8.
- 55. Penesis VA, Fitzgerald PI, Fayad MI, Wenckus CS, BeGole EA, Johnson BR. Outcome of one-visit and two-visit endodontic treatment of necrotic teeth with apical periodontitis: a randomized controlled trial with one-year evaluation. J Endod. 2008;34:251–7.
- 56. Paredes-Vieyra J, Enriquez FJ. Success rate of single- versus two-visit root canal treatment of teeth with apical periodontitis: a randomized controlled trial. J Endod. 2012;38:1164–9.
- 57. Weiger R, Rosendahl R, Lost C. Influence of calcium hydroxide intracanal dressings on the prognosis of teeth with endodontically induced periapical lesions. Int Endod J. 2000;33: 219–26.
- Peters LB, Wesselink PR. Periapical healing of endodontically treated teeth in one and two visits obturated in the presence or absence of detectable microorganisms. Int Endod J. 2002;35:660–7.

Obturation of Root Canals

9

Dag Ørstavik

Abstract

The root filling is the final leg of the endodontic triad of instrumentation, disinfection, and obturation. The *purpose* of treatment (prevention or cure of apical periodontitis) is served by the *functions* of the obturation (sealing, killing microbes, and filling the space), which depend on some *properties* of the materials. Over time, materials have been developed that take part in the excellent prognosis of teeth root filled after vital extirpation and in the very good results achievable after treatment of apical periodontitis. Current types and brands of endodontic sealers all seem to perform adequately for conventional, orthograde root filling: ZnO-eugenol-, synthetic resin-, silicone-, Ca(OH)₂-salicylate- and ceramic-based materials appear to work well clinically. They may however rely on different properties to serve the functions of the obturation. For retrograde fillings and perforation repair, the need to ensure tissue regeneration is an added requirement. Mineral trioxide aggregate (MTA) has become the standard of reference for this application, while newer, calcium-phosphate-based products show promise but lack extensive clinical documentation.

9.1 Introduction

Obturation is the final step of the classic triad of endodontics: instrumentation, disinfection, and obturation. It includes all the procedures and materials used to replace the empty spaces left after instrumentation and cleaning. Traditionally, the

D. Ørstavik

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 N. Chugal, L.M. Lin (eds.), *Endodontic Prognosis*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-42412-5_9

Department of Endodontics, Faculty of Dentistry, University of Oslo, Geitmyrsveien 71, N-0455 Oslo, Norway e-mail: dag.orstavik@odont.uio.no

endodontic part ended in the pulp chamber, but the concept of coronal leakage [1] has caused an extension of the endodontic procedures to include also the coronal part of the final restoration.

Any attempt to relate clinical practices to the prognosis of treatment must use the ultimate *function* of a procedure as the yardstick for evaluation. Sundqvist and Figdor [2] offered a simple and clinically useful description of the ultimate functions of the root filling: it should (1) prevent coronal leakage, (2) bury remaining microbes in the prepared canal, and (3) keep fluid from accumulating and serving as nutrients for bacteria entering or remaining in the root canal. Thus, all three functions seek to limit or eliminate microbial growth in and around the root canal; they are therefore an extension of the *purpose* of endodontic treatment in general: the prevention or cure of root canal infection and apical periodontitis. In cases where larger areas of soft connective or bone tissue are exposed, a fourth function may be added: promotion of tissue regeneration.

In order for the filling to achieve these functions, it is assumed that certain important *properties* are essential. Table 9.1 is a compilation of the purpose, function, properties, and some tests devised for them.

Level		Test methodology	
Purpose	Prevent or treat apical periodontitis	Clinical follow-up and comparison	
	Stimulate regeneration	Clinical studies and animal experiments	
Clinical functions	Seal coronally	Clinical studies and animal experiments	
	Bury and kill microbes		
	Fill to prevent stagnant fluids		
	Promote cell differentiation		
Properties	Leakage resistance/sealing ability ^a	Functional test: fluid filtration	
	Adhesion to dentin	Standard testing machine	
	Antibacterial activity ^a	Various in vitro	
	Sterility ^a	methodologies	
	Nontoxicity, nonallergenicity,	Standards: ANSI/ADA, ISO; CEN	
	noncarcinogenicity		
	Dimensional ^a and chemical stability		
	Handling properties ^a : working and setting		
	times, flow, film thickness		
	Radiopacity ^a		
	Nonstaining ^a	Clinical case reports and experience	
	Removability ^a	Ex vivo testing in extracted teeth	

 Table 9.1
 The purpose of obturation, the clinical functions of the root fillings, the properties of materials, and test methods for them

^aItems marked with an asterisk are properties in the classic listing of "requirements" by Grossman [3]

While product research and development typically target one or a few of the material's properties, many of them are potentially in conflict with each other. Therefore, one cannot rely only on one property to ensure clinical success.

Many of the properties are affected by the means of material delivery as much as by material chemistry, and endodontic materials come in various stages of viscosity, from stiff solid cores via heat-softened core materials to easy-flowing cements or sealers.

9.2 Indications for Endodontic Obturating Materials

Conventional Root Fillings These aim simply at sealing off the root from the external environment. The exposed area of connective tissue is very small; thus, there is less need to heed the tissue reaction outside the root apex. The clinical purpose is similarly simple: keeping microbes down and out to prevent recurrence of infection.

Pulp Amputation (Pulpotomy) This is mainly a pedodontic-endodontic procedure. The exposed pulp tissue area is larger (up to a few square millimeters) than for root fillings; therefore, the tissue reactions are of importance.

Pulp Capping An exposed noninfected pulp should be covered by a filling material that ideally induces regeneration of the damaged parts of the pulp. There is an incentive to develop materials that may stimulate such processes, which in addition have adequate properties related to control/elimination of bacteria. This is an area of intense research activity, with emphasis on synthetic and biological chemicals that may promote true pulp tissue regeneration and dentin formation [4–6]. However, these techniques and materials have not reached common clinical practice, and this particular aspect of endodontic obturation will not be discussed further.

Coronal Restoration The restorative aspects of the coronal filling will be dealt with in a separate chapter. Here, it may suffice to state that it has become firmly established that the coronal restoration is an integral part of the efforts to keep microbes out of the root canal system and thus to ensure optimal prognosis [7-9].

Apexification/Apexogenesis/Regeneration Microbial control by the filling remains essential also for these procedures. In apexification/apexogenesis procedures, one aims at maintaining and stimulating cells to produce hard tissue or dentin against a barrier of an otherwise inert root filling. In regenerative procedures, the aim is to stimulate cells to repopulate the pulp space with both vascular and connective tissues, but this is not done by the obturating material, which here serves as a barrier to microbial ingress [10].

Root Perforations These often destroy tissues in the periodontal ligament. The final filling is thought to function best if it may support/induce regeneration of these tissues [11, 12].

Root-End Filling The large size of the bony lesion makes it natural to focus on biocompatibility of procedures and materials for root-end filling and on regenerative aspects of the treatment. However, the area of material/tissue contact is usually quite small, and control of infection remains the primary purpose also of this type of endodontic filling. Modern techniques and materials have significantly improved treatment outcome of apicectomies [13–15].

In this chapter, focus will be on conventional obturation of root canals and on root-end fillings. It may be assumed that most of the properties and qualities of materials used for root-end filling are relevant also for many of the other applications aside from regular root fillings.

9.3 Evidence-Based Practice and Endodontic Prognosis

The triad of clinician (knowledge and skills), patient (needs and desires), and evidence (verified by research) constitutes evidence-based dentistry [16]. Materials and methods for endodontic obturation as such deal with the evidence part only; patients' preferences and operators' competence are outside the scope of this chapter.

The compilation of evidence in clinical practice has its own hierarchy of testing levels. Whether an endodontic obturation serves its purpose can only be verified in the patient receiving it. Research evidence produced in patients therefore outranks laboratory data, which can only assess certain properties assumed to be important in serving the clinical purpose. Experiments and surveys beat case series; randomized studies are better than cohort studies, and meta-analyses and systematic reviews of clinical research data are at the peak of the "evidence ladder" [17, 18] (Table 9.2).

While few obturation materials or methods have been developed using the evidence ladder from top to bottom prior to marketing, over time data have been produced that give some insight in the actual clinical performance of many material types. New materials should always be tested against this accumulated research data base.

The evidence sought for in regard to the influence on *prognosis*, by obturation techniques and materials, is directly linked to the development or healing of apical disease. Prognostication after treatment of vital pulps deals with the possible development of apical periodontitis, whereas after treatment of infected pulps, it concerns with the healing of apical periodontitis.

Monitoring of apical periodontitis after endodontic treatment is traditionally expressed as success or failure, assessed clinically and radiographically. A 1-year

 Table 9.2
 Levels of

 evidence and their associated
 sources for information

Level	Source of information	
Comprehensive	Systematic review of	
	comparative clinical data ^a	
	Meta-analysis of	
	comparative clinical data ^a	
Clinical comparison	Randomized clinical study	
	Cohort comparison	
Clinical feasibility	Case series	
	Case report	
Nonclinical information	Experts' opinion	
	Animal experiments	
	Laboratory testing	

^a*Note*: Systematic reviews and meta-analyses of data from lower-level test results do not bring the findings up the ladder

control will discover almost all developments of apical periodontitis in initially healthy periapices [19–21]. Teeth with a lesion at start will in most cases show signs of healing, even though completion may take 4–5 years [22], which is another favored time period for defining outcome [23–25]. Numerous cohort and comparative clinical experiments have established success rates after 1 year well above 90% for teeth without and 60–80% for teeth with apical periodontitis at start (for review, see [26]). The latter may rise significantly from 1 to 4–5 years, but then recall rates often fall to levels that reduce validity [27]. For purposes of comparing treatment variables including obturation materials and techniques, the results after 1 year should be suitable even if further healing may take place.

9.4 Types of Material and Their Rationale for Use

Table 9.3 gives an overview of material types and their areas of indication.

Core Materials Metals have been used, but currently gutta-percha and synthetic resins dominate. The standard of reference is gutta-percha.

Conventional gutta-percha points consist of up to 80 per cent zinc oxide and some 20 per cent beta-phase gutta-percha [28–30]. Coloring and softening agents are a minute addition to the basic material. Alpha-gutta-percha has a lower softening temperature and is a component of specialized points used in warm gutta-percha techniques [31, 32]. The purpose of gutta-percha points is primarily to passively fill the instrumented space and to serve as a piston for pressing sealer peripherally. Concern over the toxicity [33, 34] and nonpermanence of sealer materials has led to a precept that as much as at all possible should be filled with gutta-percha. The stability of most sealers used today [35, 36] and the necessity of solubility for long-term biological activity [37] cast doubt on the validity of this presumption.

Material	Subgroup	Common brands or types	Retro and repair	Root filling
ZnO-eugenol	Reinforced	IRM, Super-EBA	х	
	Sealer	Proco-Sol, Tubli-Seal		х
Resins	Epoxy	AH26, AH plus		Х
	Methacrylate	EndoREZ, Real Seal		Х
	Composites	RetroPlast, generic flowable	х	
Ca(OH) ₂		Apexit, Sealapex		Х
Silicone		RoekoSeal, GuttaFlow		Х
Ceramic	Ca-Si	MTA, Biodentine	х	(x)
	Ca-Si-P	Bioaggregate, EndoSequence	х	Х
Gutta-percha	Beta	generic		Х
	Alpha	GuttaFusion, GuttaCore, Herofill		х
Resin cores	Complete	Resilon		х
	Resin coating	EndoREZ, EndoSequence		х

Table 9.3 Overview of material types and their areas of indication

Resin cores are used in the so-called monoblock technique with a composite sealer [38]. The advantage over gutta-percha lies in the possibility of a chemical union with the resin sealer. Alternative approaches have used manufactured coatings of resins or minerals onto the gutta-percha points, for bonding either to a resin [39] or to a bioceramic sealer [40].

Sealers for Root Filling Most of the plastic, setting materials used in dentistry have also found application for this purpose. Currently, synthetic resin-, zinc-oxide-euge-nol-, silicon-, and ceramic-based materials dominate, with epoxy resin or zinc-oxide-eugenol frequently used as reference materials for comparisons. The sealers are primarily responsible for achieving the purpose of the filling. To combat (re) infection, leakage prevention has long been considered a critical property. Biocompatibility was – and is – also seen as important. But as the microbial etiology of endodontic disease has become established [41, 42], and since tissue reactions usually overcome initial toxicity [43], a degree of tissue irritation does not seem to impair the clinical performance of sealers. So, the focus today is on prevention of leakage and bacterial penetration, and promotion of adhesion is seen as a corollary to this property.

Leakage prevention was the rationale for the monoblock concept with chemical integration of sealer with dentin as well as with the core material. The synthetic resin core provides an all-synthetic root filling; in other techniques, a gutta-percha core is coated during manufacture with a compound selected for its ability to bond to the sealer. First marketed with composite resin materials for sealing (EndoREZ[®]), this principle is now applied to gutta-percha points used with sealers based on ceramic-type materials (EndoSequence[®]).

Cements for Root-End Filling, Repair, and Regeneration Mineral trioxide aggregate (MTA) has become the standard of reference [44–46], but ZnO-eugenol-based materials (IRM[®], Super-EBA[®]) are extensively used [47], and adhesive resin has its proponents [48]. See Table 9.1. The toxic properties of ZnO-eugenol-based materials [49] may be viewed as a drawback, particularly in repair of perforations. Current testing of this type of materials is concentrated on their ability to permit or promote repair and regeneration, primarily of hard tissues [50], although it is recognized that microbial control also in these situations is paramount [44, 45].

New Developments MTA appears to stimulate healing in a manner previously not experienced with other endodontic materials, but it has some practical drawbacks. It may stain tooth substance, it may be difficult to manipulate and apply, it contains some aluminum compounds in small quantities, and it may not be optimal for induction of hard tissue formation. The search for alternative or supplemental formulations has been extensive [51]. In some formulations, aluminum has been removed and the handling properties modified (Biodentine[®]) [52]; in others, calcium-phosphate compounds have been added to more selectively stimulate hard tissue production (e.g., EndoSequence[®]) [53–56].

9.5 Research Basis for Material Selection in Endodontic Obturation

9.5.1 Core Materials

Clinical Studies The chemical properties of gutta-percha and synthetic resins as core materials may have minimal influence on the clinical-radiographic outcome of endodontic treatment and do not seem to have been the object of any clinical study. As the sealer would most likely provide the properties that are important for the purpose of the filling, it would be the mechanical properties of the core in serving as piston for the fluid sealer that serves its function. For core materials applied cold, one would therefore not expect great differences among different types. Softening of the core material by heat is promoted as improving the physical filling of the prepared canal space [57]. There are insufficient data to critically assess any clinical effect of softened gutta-percha techniques [58, 59]. (See under Sect. 9.8)

Laboratory Studies Moving down the evidence ladder, studies ex vivo (extracted teeth) or in vitro (material testing without the use of clinical material) show differences among materials and techniques that have been given great importance in the past. Gutta-percha consists mainly of zinc oxide, which is a quite potent antibacterial substance [60, 61]. This may provide an additional insurance against (re)infection of the obturated canal space. Gutta-percha points may also have chlorhexidine added as an antibacterial ingredient, but this is marketed for temporary use [62, 63].

Synthetic resin core materials may also have additions of antimicrobial agents, such as bioglass [64] or other substances of very low solubility. There is little information about the relative potency of the antibacterial activity of different core materials, and the true impact on prognosis by the composition of the core is unknown.

9.5.2 Sealers

Whereas gutta-percha has maintained its dominance as core material and successfully withstood challenges from synthetic resin core materials, selection and use of sealer for seating and setting of the root filling have seen significant changes over many decades. See Table 9.3 for endodontic sealer types and commercial examples.

Clinical Studies Results from clinical studies provide little support for claims of superior performance for any of the many chemical variants used in the formulation of sealers. In several randomized clinical experiments where sealers have been compared, hardly any significant difference in clinical outcome has been found, irrespective of the clinical diagnosis (vital or infected teeth) [65–70]. Thus, ZnO-eugenol-based materials (with or without Ca(OH)₂), epoxy resin, Ca(OH)₂-salicylate- and silicon-based materials, and composite sealers all show the same clinical outcome when compared. A possible small reduction in success rate for chloroform-based sealers [24] may have been one factor that led to the virtual extinction of this otherwise time-honored method of obturation. Ceramic- or bioceramic-based materials do not currently have data from clinical studies sufficient for comparison.

Laboratory Studies The sealers come in a wide variety in chemical composition. It is not unexpected, therefore, that they perform differently in various laboratory tests ex vivo and in vitro. It is rather more of a surprise that the differences are not greater than what has been found. Resistance to leakage is considered a primary purpose of the filling and an important property of the sealer. Composite sealers have been developed based on the adhesive technology used for plastic fillings, but conventional epoxy resins also adhere to dentin to a similar degree. Moreover, adhesion to dentin ex vivo as a measure of leakage prevention may not be realistic for the clinical situation, as the bond may be intermittent over the surface as well as vulnerable to chemical and biochemical degradation. Furthermore, though silicone may not interact chemically with dentin, there is measurable physical adhesion to dentin also for this type of sealer material [71].

Testing leakage directly ex vivo has been promoted as relevant for the clinical situation, and so-called functional tests for leakage have been designed. Bacterial penetration tests [72] and fluid filtration tests [73] explore the concept of coronal leakage as a source of (re)infection of the root canal space. These tests are very hard

to standardize, and bacterial penetration tests have been shown to be very technique sensitive and to produce results that are highly variable [74, 75].

Another property of sealers presented as influencing leakage is infiltration of dentinal tubules [76–78]. Microscopic demonstration of sealer occupying large distances (up to 1 mm) into opened dentinal tubules would seem to reflect a clinically relevant property, but most commonly used sealers show some penetration, and the depth may not be a decisive factor [79].

The presence/absence of bacteria in the prepared root canal at the time of obturation is related to clinical success [80, 81], and bacteriologic sampling has been suggested as a crude means of prognostication. Laboratory studies have followed this concept by assessing survival of bacteria on the dentin surface and inside tubules after exposure to sealer [82, 83]. Epoxy resins and ZnO-eugenol materials appear able to eliminate bacteria or limit their activity in these situations, whereas composite materials may be less effective [84]. Silicone sealers have additions of silver nanoparticles, and bioglass is added to some composite and ceramic materials to give a degree of antibacterial activity. As the three primary purposes of a root filling are all related to microbial activity, it seems reasonable to assume that such antibacterial properties may be important particularly in the treatment of apical periodontitis. While sustained antibacterial properties are usually accompanied by some degree of tissue toxicity [85], toxicity may not be of clinical significance in conventional root fillings where the material/soft tissue interface is very small (see below under root end and repair materials for other situations).

Two factors have recently reactivated an interest in the microbial status of the root canal as important for all endodontic procedures: the final acceptance (long overdue) of bacteria as the only source of clinically relevant, chronic, or acute apical periodontitis [86, 87] and the rapidly increasing knowledge in the general field of biofilm formation and activity [88]. Most aspects of endodontic treatment are being reevaluated with a view at how they deal with biofilms in the root canal. This may become a major focus also for filling materials [89]; but biofilm disruption and inactivation may depend on more soluble factors than are available in current materials for permanent obturation.

9.5.3 Materials for Root-End Filling and Perforation Repair

Clinical Studies The procedure of apicectomy with root-end filling provides a relatively standardized clinical situation that lends itself easily to clinical experiments for testing of prognostic variables, including materials. When the procedures for application of the material are similar for two or more materials, one may assume that accumulated clinical data may reflect true differences in outcome. However, treatment outcome for apical surgery may be quite operator sensitive, so for materials and techniques that differ in this respect, the effect of operator influence must be considered.

Many of the classical and recent materials used have been tested and compared in fairly large cohort studies and in some randomized clinical experiments. The introduction of MTA for root-end filling initiated several clinical studies of this kind. MTA has been compared with IRM, Super-EBA (both based on ZnOeugenol), and RetroPlast, a composite material relying on an adhesive bonding to dentin for retention of the filling and containment of residual infection [90–93]. In all these studies, MTA performs as good as, or better than, materials used for comparison. The size and significance of the difference may vary among studies, but this stable trend has placed MTA as the product of reference for this indication; however, IRM shows similarly good clinical outcomes [90, 94]. Root perforations may create a similar biological environment as that of apical surgery: a fairly large area of periodontal tissues may be damaged and control of regeneration as well as infection becomes important. Clinical case series have documented good clinical results also for these applications of MTA [11, 45, 95, 96].

Clinical data for the calcium-phosphate-based cements and other recent products for retrograde filling are still largely lacking.

Laboratory Studies The perceived good clinical performance of MTA is mainly related to three factors: initially, a very high pH which emulates the good clinical properties of calcium hydroxide, the inhospitality of the surface for colonizing microorganisms, and the ability of connective tissue to grow and differentiate very close to the surface. This combination of tissue compatibility [35, 36, 97] and antibacterial activity [44, 98], is probably caused by a very steep pH gradient and by the fact that the substances which cause the antibacterial effects are bland and easily accepted as part of the tissues when reaching live cells even close to the materials' surface. Cell compatibility data for the calcium-phosphate-based cements appear as good as or better than MTA products [33, 35, 36, 99].

As with sealers, materials for retrograde filling have been extensively tested for leakage [46, 100–106], adhesion [107], and a number of practical properties such as working and setting time, radiopacity, etc. While they may perform differently in such tests, no property has been singled out as crucial for their clinical efficacy.

9.6 Modes of Placement

Warm Techniques Current techniques for softening the core material all relate to Schilder's concept of "filling root canal in three dimensions" [57]. The rationale is that more gutta-percha (or resin core material) will flow into recesses and irregular areas of instrumented or otherwise cleared areas in the root canal system. The traditional method employs heat-carrying instruments into the canal to softened pieces of gutta-percha already seated inside. Originally controlled by heating steel instruments over a flame, the technique has been developed and supplemented with several types of automated devices (Obtura[®], System B[®], BeeFill[®]). A simpler variant

of warm placement of the bulk filling is obturators with a solid or stiff core and a softer and thermoplastic outer coating (Thermafil[®], Soft-Core[®]). The "core of the core" was first metal, then more pliable synthetic resin. Recently, obturators for warm placement have been made of gutta-percha throughout, with the center made of beta-phase gutta-percha cross-linked for stability, and the outer parts of alpha-phase gutta-percha, which softens at lower temperatures than the center (GuttaFusion[®], GuttaCore[®]) [29, 32].

Lateral Condensation and Single-Cone Techniques Hand instrumentation cannot predictably yield a standardized prepared canal. To support the piston effect of the master points and to maintain a high gutta-percha-to-sealer ratio, lateral condensation of accessory cones have become the filling method of reference. But rotary and reciprocal machine instrumentation and greater instrument taper produce more standardized canal shapes than conventional hand instrumentation, and single-cone techniques with gutta-percha cores closely matching the final instrument are gaining acceptance. However, oval and complex canal systems will need special consideration and some form of lateral condensation.

Clinical Studies As mentioned, warm gutta-percha techniques have been compared to lateral condensation. A systematic review from 2007 did not find a difference in outcome for warm vertical and cold lateral filling techniques [58]. Case reports and case series of special situations (e.g., internal root resorption [108], dens invaginatus) show warm methods for application to fill effectively the irregular spaces, and to the extent that this may influence prognosis, warm gutta-percha techniques for obturation may offer an advantage in these cases.

Laboratory Studies Adhesion is for the most part determined by the sealer and less by the method of core placement. Variations in leakage may also be more influenced by the sealer, although several studies have assessed the effect of warm methods for filling in regard to microbial or liquid passage along root fillings [31, 109–112]. Warm techniques for application of gutta-percha and resin cores usually perform better with regard to completeness of fill, while only small and varying effects of the method of placement have been found in regard to penetration of bacteria or chemical compounds along root fillings ex vivo. Furthermore, the ratio of sealer to core material (gutta-percha) may be diminished when warm techniques are employed, which is seen as positive.

9.7 The Radiograph of the Final Root Filling: Factors of Prognostic Significance

Retrospective analyses of success and failures after endodontic treatment have found a few predictors for success in the radiographic appearance of the final root filling [68, 113, 114]. Some of these may be related to the materials or techniques

used in the procedure; others may be more reflecting of other aspects of treatment (e.g., instrumentation).

Length of Obturation The relative position of the end point of the root filling and the radiographic apex is relatively easy to measure and has been associated with success. Overfilling and fillings short of the apex have long been shown to give a reduced prognosis in large follow-up studies [25, 115]. A more detailed analysis of the data have found this to be true primarily for cases with preoperative apical periodontitis [116], whereas vital cases heal well even when the filling is longer or shorter than the perceived ideal of 1–2 mm distance from the radiographic apex. This probably means that in the absence of infection, apical periodontitis does not develop irrespective of the position of the root filling. Similarly, a surplus may not influence the outcome of treatment of apical periodontitis if the canal has been effectively disinfected. In this situation, a "sealer puff" will not negatively influence prognosis. But if the surplus filling material carries with it microbes or if it is placed in an infected area, it may serve as a surface for microbial colonization and disease persistence.

The differential effect of a short filling is similarly related to the microbial status of the tooth: in a noninfected case, disease does not develop and healing may take place irrespective of the end point location of the root filling; in an infected case, a short filling may leave infected pulp tissue toward the apex which will maintain the periodontal inflammation.

Homogeneity of the Root Filling In radiographs, the quality of the root filling is often judged by subjective characterization of voids or slits. There may be problems with standardization of such assessments [117], but there is general consensus in the literature that dense and homogenous fillings carry a better prognosis than fillings with voids or slits along its course [8, 115]. It must however be remembered that homogeneity is also a function of the material's radiopacity. High radiopacity may cover up real voids or slits; low radiopacity in a material may give the impression that the material is absent when in fact it is not.

Width of Instrumentation/Filling at the Apex The argument has been made that effective disinfection requires extensive instrumentation and removal of all pulpal tissue at or near the apex [23, 118]. This would translate into bold and wide root fillings apically in radiographs. However, whereas extensive instrumentation removes more bacteria [82, 118], there are no known studies relating the actual width of the root filling at its terminus to disease development or persistence. Typically, studies record the size of the last file used in instrumentation [113], but it is unclear how this theoretical value translates into actual removal of dentin and into the volume occupied by the root filling. Moreover, the size of the final instrumentation does not seem to have prognostic value.

9.8 Concluding Comments

True prognostication can only be based on clinical data. In endodontics, data are compiled fairly easily. While it may not be a necessary requirement that all new materials are tested in randomized experiments in comparison with a standard before they are placed on the market, such or similar studies must be carried out to support any claim of superiority. For laboratory data to take preference, they should document properties related to the pathogenesis/etiology that would likely make a difference in the prevention of a disease or its cure. However, it remains an unfortunate fact that no laboratory property has been linked unequivocally to clinical performance in the prevention or treatment of apical periodontitis.

Vital pulp extirpation followed by conventional root filling (prevention of apical periodontitis) is associated with a high level of success by traditional, clinical, and radiographic criteria [23–25, 115]. This translates to a high resistance against microbial leakage, in that teeth with root fillings judged adequate in radiographs have withstood the pressure from oral microbes to penetrate the filling, colonize the root, and produce disease. This is a universal finding testifying to the predictability of the endodontic treatment procedure. Given that success rates are so high for root fillings of noninfected teeth, changes in chemical formulations and modes of delivery cannot be expected to yield significant improvements of prognosis and would probably require prohibitively large randomized clinical studies for documentation of superior performance. This high success rate with chemically different materials also indicates that microbial leakage along root fillings *due to chemical particularities of the materials* is not a major problem. If it were of great practical importance, a much higher percentage of noninfected teeth would become infected and present with apical periodontitis at recall.

By contrast, there is greater uncertainty about the prognosis after root filling of teeth with apical periodontitis. Healing may take a long time and progress for decades after treatment. Most studies list preoperative apical periodontitis as the factor with the greatest negative influence on prognosis after root filling [24, 26, 113]. But it remains questionable whether improved leakage resistance in new products will lead to an improved prognosis compared to current materials and techniques.

Focus on the second and third purpose of the obturation may hold greater promise for improving treatment results: killing as well as burying bacteria (second purpose) by the material may be enhanced in new sealer materials, and it may be desirable and feasible to make the environment so hostile to bacteria as to prevent any (re)colonization (third purpose).

The current emphasis on biocompatibility and induction of repair is important and stimulating. Fortunately, treatment of apical periodontitis by conventional or surgical approaches already carries quite high success rates. It is as important as ever to maintain focus on asepsis and antisepsis and disinfection during all phases of endodontic treatment, including obturation.

References

- 1. Saunders WP, Saunders EM. Coronal leakage as a cause of failure in root-canal therapy: a review. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1994;10(3):105–8.
- Sundqvist G. Endodontic treatment of apical periodontitis. In: Ørstavik D, Ford TRP, editors. Essential endodontology: prevention and treatment of apical periodontitis. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Science; 1998. p. 242–77.
- 3. Grossman LI. Grossman's endodontic practice, 10th ed. Grossman LI. Philadelphia, Lea & Febiger, 1980.
- 4. Chmilewsky F, Jeanneau C, Dejou J, About I. Sources of dentin-pulp regeneration signals and their modulation by the local microenvironment. J Endod. 2014;40(4 Suppl): S19–25.
- Galler KM, Eidt A, Schmalz G. Cell-free approaches for dental pulp tissue engineering. J Endod. 2014;40(4 Suppl):S41–5.
- Nakashima M, Iohara K. Mobilized dental pulp stem cells for pulp regeneration: initiation of clinical trial. J Endod. 2014;40(4 Suppl):S26–32.
- Kirkevang LL, Ørstavik D, Horsted-Bindslev P, Wenzel A. Periapical status and quality of root fillings and coronal restorations in a Danish population. Int Endod J. 2000; 33(6):509–15.
- 8. Ray HA, Trope M. Periapical status of endodontically treated teeth in relation to the technical quality of the root filling and the coronal restoration. Int Endod J. 1995;28(1):12–8.
- Tronstad L, Asbjornsen K, Doving L, Pedersen I, Eriksen HM. Influence of coronal restorations on the periapical health of endodontically treated teeth. Endod Dent Traumatol. 2000;16(5):218–21.
- Garcia-Godoy F, Murray PE. Recommendations for using regenerative endodontic procedures in permanent immature traumatized teeth. Dent Traumatol. 2012;28(1):33–41.
- Krupp C, Bargholz C, Brusehaber M, Hulsmann M. Treatment outcome after repair of root perforations with mineral trioxide aggregate: a retrospective evaluation of 90 teeth. J Endod. 2013;39(11):1364–8.
- 12. Mente J, Leo M, Panagidis D, Saure D, Pfefferle T. Treatment outcome of mineral trioxide aggregate: repair of root perforations-long-term results. J Endod. 2014;40(6):790–6.
- 13. Kim S, Kratchman S. Modern endodontic surgery concepts and practice: a review. J Endod. 2006;32(7):601–23.
- 14. Setzer FC, Kohli MR, Shah SB, Karabucak B, Kim S. Outcome of endodontic surgery: a meta-analysis of the literature – part 2: comparison of endodontic microsurgical techniques with and without the use of higher magnification. J Endod. 2012;38(1):1–10.
- Setzer FC, Shah SB, Kohli MR, Karabucak B, Kim S. Outcome of endodontic surgery: a meta-analysis of the literature – part 1: comparison of traditional root-end surgery and endodontic microsurgery. J Endod. 2010;36(11):1757–65.
- 16. Straus SE, Sackett DL. Evidence-based medicine: how to practice and teach EBM. Edinburgh: Elsevier Churchill Livingstone; 2005.
- Torabinejad M, Kutsenko D, Machnick TK, Ismail A, Newton CW. Levels of evidence for the outcome of nonsurgical endodontic treatment. J Endod. 2005;31(9):637–46.
- 18. Walton RE. Outcomes. J Endod. 2013;39(3 Suppl):S63-6.
- 19. Halse A, Molven O, Grung B. Follow-up after periapical surgery: the value of the one-year control. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1991;7(6):246–50.
- 20. Ørstavik D. Time-course and risk analyses of the development and healing of chronic apical periodontitis in man. Int Endod J. 1996;29(3):150–5.
- 21. Reit C. Decision strategies in endodontics: on the design of a recall program. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1987;3(5):233–9.
- Byström A, Happonen RP, Sjögren U, Sundqvist G. Healing of periapical lesions of pulpless teeth after endodontic treatment with controlled asepsis. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1987; 3(2):58–63.

- Kerekes K, Tronstad L. Long-term results of endodontic treatment performed with a standardized technique. J Endod. 1979;5(3):83–90.
- Ørstavik D, Kerekes K, Eriksen HM. Clinical performance of three endodontic sealers. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1987;3(4):178–86.
- Strindberg L. The dependence of the results of pulp therapy on certain factors. Acta Odontol Scand. 1956;14 Suppl 21:1–175.
- 26. Friedman S. Expected outcomes in the prevention and treatment of apical periodontitis. In: Ørstavik D, Ford TRP, editors. <u>Essential endodontology: prevention and treatment of apical periododontitis</u>. Oxford, UK: Wiley Blackwell; 2008.
- Huumonen S, Ørstavik D. Radiographic follow-up of periapical status after endodontic treatment of teeth with and without apical periodontitis. Clin Oral Investig. 2013;17(9): 2099–104.
- Friedman CM, Sandrik JL, Heuer MA, Rapp GW. Composition and mechanical properties of gutta-percha endodontic points. J Dent Res. 1975;54(5):921–5.
- Maniglia-Ferreira C, Gurgel-Filho ED, de Araujo Silva Jr JB, de Paula RC, de Andrade Feitosa JP, De Sousa-Filho FJ. Chemical composition and thermal behavior of five brands of thermoplasticized gutta-percha. Eur J Dent Educ. 2013;7(2):201–6.
- Maniglia-Ferreira C, Silva Jr JB, Paula RC, Feitosa JP, Cortez DG, Zaia AA, Souza-Filho FJ. Brazilian gutta-percha points. Part I: chemical composition and X-ray diffraction analysis. Braz Oral Res. 2005;19(3):193–7.
- 31. Gilhooly RM, Hayes SJ, Bryant ST, Dummer PM. Comparison of lateral condensation and thermomechanically compacted warm alpha-phase gutta-percha with a single cone for obturating curved root canals. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2001;91(1):89–94.
- 32. Zhang C, Huang W, Sun Z, Hou B. A comparison of two gutta-percha master points consisting of different phases in filling of artificial lateral canals and depressions in the apical region of root canals when using a warm vertical compaction technique. Int Endod J. 2011;44(11):1041–6.
- Alanezi AZ, Jiang J, Safavi KE, Spångberg LS, Zhu Q. Cytotoxicity evaluation of endosequence root repair material. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2010;109(3):e122–5.
- 34. Spångberg L. Biological effects of root canal filling materials. 5. Toxic effect in vitro of root canal filling materials on HeLa cells and human skin fibroblasts. Odontol Revy. 1969;20(4):427–36.
- Zhou HM, Shen Y, Wang ZJ, Li L, Zheng YF, Hakkinen L, Haapasalo M. In vitro cytotoxicity evaluation of a novel root repair material. J Endod. 2013;39(4):478–83.
- Zhou HM, Shen Y, Zheng W, Li L, Zheng YF, Haapasalo M. Physical properties of 5 root canal sealers. J Endod. 2013;39(10):1281–6.
- Gutmann JL, Fava LR. Perspectives on periradicular healing using Sealapex: a case report. Int Endod J. 1991;24(3):135–8.
- 38. Teixeira FB, Teixeira EC, Thompson J, Leinfelder KF, Trope M. Dentinal bonding reaches the root canal system. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2004;16(6):348–54; discussion 354.
- 39. Zmener O, Pameijer CH. Clinical and radiographic evaluation of a resin-based root canal sealer. Am J Dent. 2004;17(1):19–22.
- 40. Ghoneim AG, Lutfy RA, Sabet NE, Fayyad DM. Resistance to fracture of roots obturated with novel canal-filling systems. J Endod. 2011;37(11):1590–2.
- 41. Kakehashi S, Stanley HR, Fitzgerald RJ. The effects of surgical exposures of dental pulps in germ-free and conventional laboratory rats. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1965;20:340–9.
- 42. Sundqvist G. Bacteriological studies of necrotic dental pulps. <u>Umeå Univ Odontological</u> <u>Dissertations;</u> no 7. Umeå University. Umeå, Sweden, 1976.
- 43. Ørstavik D, Mjor IA. Histopathology and x-ray microanalysis of the subcutaneous tissue response to endodontic sealers. J Endod. 1988;14(1):13–23.

- 44. Parirokh M, Torabinejad M. Mineral trioxide aggregate: a comprehensive literature review part I: chemical, physical, and antibacterial properties. J Endod. 2010;36(1): 16–27.
- Parirokh M, Torabinejad M. Mineral trioxide aggregate: a comprehensive literature review part III: clinical applications, drawbacks, and mechanism of action. J Endod. 2010;36(3):400–13.
- 46. Torabinejad M, Parirokh M. Mineral trioxide aggregate: a comprehensive literature review – part II: leakage and biocompatibility investigations. J Endod. 2010;36(2): 190–202.
- 47. Walivaara DA, Abrahamsson P, Isaksson S, Salata LA, Sennerby L, Dahlin C. Periapical tissue response after use of intermediate restorative material, gutta-percha, reinforced zinc oxide cement, and mineral trioxide aggregate as retrograde root-end filling materials: a histologic study in dogs. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;70(9):2041–7.
- 48. Yazdi PM, Schou S, Jensen SS, Stoltze K, Kenrad B, Sewerin I. Dentine-bonded resin composite (Retroplast) for root-end filling: a prospective clinical and radiographic study with a mean follow-up period of 8 years. Int Endod J. 2007;40(7):493–503.
- Chong BS, Owadally ID, Pitt Ford TR, Wilson RF. Cytotoxicity of potential retrograde rootfilling materials. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1994;10(3):129–33.
- 50. Asgary S, Eghbal MJ, Ehsani S. Periradicular regeneration after endodontic surgery with calcium-enriched mixture cement in dogs. J Endod. 2010;36(5):837–41.
- Enkel B, Dupas C, Armengol V, Akpe Adou J, Bosco J, Daculsi G, Jean A, Laboux O, LeGeros RZ, Weiss P. Bioactive materials in endodontics. Expert Rev Med Devices. 2008;5(4):475–94.
- Han L, Okiji T. Uptake of calcium and silicon released from calcium silicate-based endodontic materials into root canal dentine. Int Endod J. 2011;44(12):1081–7.
- Candeiro GT, Correia FC, Duarte MA, Ribeiro-Siqueira DC, Gavini G. Evaluation of radiopacity, pH, release of calcium ions, and flow of a bioceramic root canal sealer. J Endod. 2012;38(6):842–5.
- Loushine BA, Bryan TE, Looney SW, Gillen BM, Loushine RJ, Weller RN, Pashley DH, Tay FR. Setting properties and cytotoxicity evaluation of a premixed bioceramic root canal sealer. J Endod. 2011;37(5):673–7.
- 55. Willershausen I, Callaway A, Briseno B, Willershausen B. In vitro analysis of the cytotoxicity and the antimicrobial effect of four endodontic sealers. Head Face Med. 2011;7:15.
- Zoufan K, Jiang J, Komabayashi T, Wang YH, Safavi KE, Zhu Q. Cytotoxicity evaluation of Gutta Flow and Endo Sequence BC sealers. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2011;112(5):657–61.
- 57. Schilder H. Filling root canals in three dimensions. Dent Clin N Am. 1967;11:723-44.
- Peng L, Ye L, Tan H, Zhou X. Outcome of root canal obturation by warm gutta-percha versus cold lateral condensation: a meta-analysis. J Endod. 2007;33(2):106–9.
- 59. Tortini D, Grassi M, Re Cecconi D, Colombo M, Gagliani M. Warm gutta-percha obturation technique: a critical review. Minerva Stomatol. 2011;60(1–2):35–50.
- Moorer WR, Genet JM. Antibacterial activity of gutta-percha cones attributed to the zinc oxide component. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1982;53(5):508–17.
- Moorer WR, Genet JM. Evidence for antibacterial activity of endodontic gutta-percha cones. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1982;53(5):503–7.
- 62. Barthel CR, Zimmer S, Zilliges S, Schiller R, Gobel UB, Roulet JF. In situ antimicrobial effectiveness of chlorhexidine and calcium hydroxide: gel and paste versus gutta-percha points. J Endod. 2002;28(6):427–30.
- 63. Podbielski A, Boeckh C, Haller B. Growth inhibitory activity of gutta-percha points containing root canal medications on common endodontic bacterial pathogens as determined by an optimized quantitative in vitro assay. J Endod. 2000;26(7):398–403.
- Elzubair A, Elias CN, Suarez JC, Lopes HP, Vieira MV. The physical characterization of a thermoplastic polymer for endodontic obturation. J Dent. 2006;34(10):784–9.

- Cotton TP, Schindler WG, Schwartz SA, Watson WR, Hargreaves KM. A retrospective study comparing clinical outcomes after obturation with Resilon/Epiphany or Gutta-Percha/Kerr sealer. J Endod. 2008;34(7):789–97.
- 66. Huumonen S, Lenander-Lumikari M, Sigurdsson A, Ørstavik D. Healing of apical periodontitis after endodontic treatment: a comparison between a silicone-based and a zinc oxideeugenol-based sealer. Int Endod J. 2003;36(4):296–301.
- 67. Ørstavik D, Horsted-Bindslev P. A comparison of endodontic treatment results at two dental schools. Int Endod J. 1993;26(6):348–54.
- Ørstavik D, Qvist V, Stoltze K. A multivariate analysis of the outcome of endodontic treatment. Eur J Oral Sci. 2004;112(3):224–30.
- 69. Shanahan DJ, Duncan HF. Root canal filling using Resilon: a review. Br Dent J. 2011;211(2):81-8.
- Waltimo TM, Boiesen J, Eriksen HM, Ørstavik D. Clinical performance of 3 endodontic sealers. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2001;92(1):89–92.
- Saleh IM, Ruyter IE, Haapasalo M, Ørstavik D. The effects of dentine pretreatment on the adhesion of root-canal sealers. Int Endod J. 2002;35(10):859–66.
- Torabinejad M, Ung B, Kettering JD. In vitro bacterial penetration of coronally unsealed endodontically treated teeth. J Endod. 1990;16(12):566–9.
- Wu MK, De Gee AJ, Wesselink PR, Moorer WR. Fluid transport and bacterial penetration along root canal fillings. Int Endod J. 1993;26(4):203–8.
- Rechenberg DK, De-Deus G, Zehnder M. Potential systematic error in laboratory experiments on microbial leakage through filled root canals: review of published articles. Int Endod J. 2011;44(3):183–94.
- Rechenberg DK, Thurnheer T, Zehnder M. Potential systematic error in laboratory experiments on microbial leakage through filled root canals: an experimental study. Int Endod J. 2011;44(9):827–35.
- Kara Tuncer A, Tuncer S. Effect of different final irrigation solutions on dentinal tubule penetration depth and percentage of root canal sealer. J Endod. 2012;38(6):860–3.
- Mamootil K, Messer HH. Penetration of dentinal tubules by endodontic sealer cements in extracted teeth and in vivo. Int Endod J. 2007;40(11):873–81.
- Wu MK, de Gee AJ, Wesselink PR. Effect of tubule orientation in the cavity wall on the seal of dental filling materials: an in vitro study. Int Endod J. 1998;31(5):326–32.
- De-Deus G, Brandao MC, Leal F, Reis C, Souza EM, Luna AS, Paciornik S, Fidel S. Lack of correlation between sealer penetration into dentinal tubules and sealability in nonbonded root fillings. Int Endod J. 2012;45(7):642–51.
- Sjögren U, Figdor D, Persson S, Sundqvist G. Influence of infection at the time of root filling on the outcome of endodontic treatment of teeth with apical periodontitis. Int Endod J. 1997;30(5):297–306.
- Waltimo T, Trope M, Haapasalo M, Ørstavik D. Clinical efficacy of treatment procedures in endodontic infection control and one year follow-up of periapical healing. J Endod. 2005;31(12):863–6.
- Haapasalo M, Ørstavik D. In vitro infection and disinfection of dentinal tubules. J Dent Res. 1987;66(8):1375–9.
- Ørstavik D, Haapasalo M. Disinfection by endodontic irrigants and dressings of experimentally infected dentinal tubules. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1990;6(4):142–9.
- Prestegaard H, Portenier I, Kayaoglu G, Haapasalo M, Endal U. Antibacterial activity of various root canal sealers and root-end filling materials in dentin blocks infected ex vivo with Enterococcus faecalis. Acta Odontol Scand. 2014;72:970–6.
- Spångberg L, Engstrom B, Langeland K. Biologic effects of dental materials. 3. Toxicity and antimicrobial effect of endodontic antiseptics in vitro. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1973;36(6):856–71.
- Siqueira Jr JF, Rocas IN. Bacterial pathogenesis and mediators in apical periodontitis. Braz Dent J. 2007;18(4):267–80.

- Ørstavik DPF, Pitt Ford TR. Apical periodontitis: microbial infection and host responses. In: Ørstavik D, Pitt Ford TR, editors. Essential endodontology: prevention and treatment of apical periodontitis. Oxford, UK: Wiley; 2008. p. 3–10.
- Maddi A, Scannapieco FA. Oral biofilms, oral and periodontal infections, and systemic disease. Am J Dent. 2013;26(5):249–54.
- 89. Wang Z, Shen Y, Haapasalo M. Dental materials with antibiofilm properties. Dent Mater. 2014;30(2):e1–16.
- Chong BS, Pitt Ford TR, Hudson MB. A prospective clinical study of Mineral Trioxide Aggregate and IRM when used as root-end filling materials in endodontic surgery. Int Endod J. 2003;36(8):520–6.
- Tang Y, Li X, Yin S. Outcomes of MTA as root-end filling in endodontic surgery: a systematic review. Quintessence Int. 2010;41(7):557–66.
- 92. von Arx T. Apical surgery: a review of current techniques and outcome. Saudi Dent J. 2011;23(1):9–15.
- von Arx T, Hanni S, Jensen SS. Clinical results with two different methods of root-end preparation and filling in apical surgery: mineral trioxide aggregate and adhesive resin composite. J Endod. 2010;36(7):1122–9.
- Lindeboom JA, Frenken JW, Kroon FH, van den Akker HP. A comparative prospective randomized clinical study of MTA and IRM as root-end filling materials in single-rooted teeth in endodontic surgery. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2005;100(4): 495–500.
- 95. Arens DE, Torabinejad M. Repair of furcal perforations with mineral trioxide aggregate: two case reports. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 1996;82(1):84–8.
- 96. Ghoddusi J, Sanaan A, Shahrami F. Clinical and radiographic evaluation of root perforation repair using MTA. N Y State Dent J. 2007;73(3):46–9.
- Torabinejad M, Hong CU, Pitt Ford TR, Kettering JD. Cytotoxicity of four root end filling materials. J Endod. 1995;21(10):489–92.
- Eldeniz AU, Hadimli HH, Ataoglu H, Ørstavik D. Antibacterial effect of selected root-end filling materials. J Endod. 2006;32(4):345–9.
- Willershausen I, Wolf T, Kasaj A, Weyer V, Willershausen B, Marroquin BB. Influence of a bioceramic root end material and mineral trioxide aggregates on fibroblasts and osteoblasts. Arch Oral Biol. 2013;58(9):1232–7.
- 100. Ashraf H, Faramarzi F, Paymanpour P. Sealing ability of Resilon and MTA as root-end filling materials: a bacterial and dye leakage study. Iran Endod J. 2013;8(4):177–81.
- 101. Hirschberg CS, Patel NS, Patel LM, Kadouri DE, Hartwell GR. Comparison of sealing ability of MTA and endosequence bioceramic root repair material: a bacterial leakage study. Quintessence Int. 2013;44(5):e157–62.
- 102. Leal F, De-Deus G, Brandao C, Luna AS, Fidel SR, Souza EM. Comparison of the root-end seal provided by bioceramic repair cements and White MTA. Int Endod J. 2011;44(7): 662–8.
- 103. Lodiene G, Kleivmyr M, Bruzell E, Ørstavik D. Sealing ability of mineral trioxide aggregate, glass ionomer cement and composite resin when repairing large furcal perforations. Br Dent J. 2011;210(5), E7.
- 104. Malhotra N, Agarwal A, Mala K. Mineral trioxide aggregate: a review of physical properties. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 2013;34(2):e25–32.
- 105. Shahi S, Yavari HR, Rahimi S, Eskandarinezhad M, Shakouei S, Unchi M. Comparison of the sealing ability of mineral trioxide aggregate and Portland cement used as root-end filling materials. J Oral Sci. 2011;53(4):517–22.
- 106. Tanomaru-Filho M, Faleiros FB, Silva GF, Bosso R, Guerreiro-Tanomaru JM. Sealing ability of retrograde obturation materials containing calcium hydroxide or MTA. Acta Odontol Latinoam. 2011;24(1):110–4.
- 107. El-Ma'aita AM, Qualtrough AJ, Watts DC. The effect of smear layer on the push-out bond strength of root canal calcium silicate cements. Dent Mater. 2013;29(7):797–803.

- Nilsson E, Bonte E, Bayet F, Lasfargues JJ. Management of internal root resorption on permanent teeth. Int J Dent. 2013;2013, 929486.
- 109. Gernhardt CR, Kruger T, Bekes K, Schaller HG. Apical sealing ability of 2 epoxy resin-based sealers used with root canal obturation techniques based on warm gutta-percha compared to cold lateral condensation. Quintessence Int. 2007;38(3):229–34.
- 110. Raina R, Loushine RJ, Weller RN, Tay FR, Pashley DH. Evaluation of the quality of the apical seal in Resilon/Epiphany and Gutta-Percha/AH Plus-filled root canals by using a fluid filtration approach. J Endod. 2007;33(8):944–7.
- 111. Robberecht L, Colard T, Claisse-Crinquette A. Qualitative evaluation of two endodontic obturation techniques: tapered single-cone method versus warm vertical condensation and injection system: an in vitro study. J Oral Sci. 2012;54(1):99–104.
- 112. Wu MK, Kast'akova A, Wesselink PR. Quality of cold and warm gutta-percha fillings in oval canals in mandibular premolars. Int Endod J. 2001;34(6):485–91.
- 113. Ng YL, Mann V, Gulabivala K. A prospective study of the factors affecting outcomes of nonsurgical root canal treatment: part 1: periapical health. Int Endod J. 2011;44(7):583–609.
- 114. Ng YL, Mann V, Rahbaran S, Lewsey J, Gulabivala K. Outcome of primary root canal treatment: systematic review of the literature – part 2. Influence of clinical factors. Int Endod J. 2008;41(1):6–31.
- 115. Ng YL, Mann V, Rahbaran S, Lewsey J, Gulabivala K. Outcome of primary root canal treatment: systematic review of the literature – part 1. Effects of study characteristics on probability of success. Int Endod J. 2007;40(12):921–39.
- Sjögren U, Hagglund B, Sundqvist G, Wing K. Factors affecting the long-term results of endodontic treatment. J Endod. 1990;16(10):498–504.
- 117. Jordal K, Valen A, Ørstavik D. Periapical status of root-filled teeth in Norwegian children and adolescents. Acta Odontol Scand. 2014;72:1–5.
- 118. Card SJ, Sigurdsson A, Ørstavik D, Trope M. The effectiveness of increased apical enlargement in reducing intracanal bacteria. J Endod. 2002;28(11):779–83.

Restoration of Endodontically Treated Teeth

Nadim Z. Baba, Shane N. White, and George Bogen

You cannot open a book without learning something.

Confucius

Abstract

The restoration of endodontically treated teeth must be planned before initiating root canal treatment. Provisional (temporary) restorations during root canal treatment protect the root canal system form bacterial ingress and include zinc oxide eugenol or calcium sulfate preparations used for short periods and glass-ionomer or resin-modified glass-ionomers for longer interim periods. Ideally, a definitive core restoraton should be placed at the time of obturation, before removal of dental dam. The prognosis of mature teeth improves by conservation of tooth structure, avoiding posts whenever possible, avoiding gaps between gutta-percha and core restoration interface as well as full coverage restorations on anterior teeth and by the provision of cuspal coverage restorations on posterior teeth. Recent evidence suggests that conservative approaches, using direct-bonded resin-composite restorations, have promise for restoring largely intact posterior teeth. Fiber posts are associated with a higher incidence of restoration failure than metallic posts, but with a lower incidence of tooth fracture. When posts are indicated, preparations should be conservative, removing minimal radicular structures. The survival of immature teeth with open apices is enhanced by the use of bonded translucent resin composite core restorations rather than preformed stainless-steel crowns. Restoration quality is critical for both temporary

Hugh Love Center for Research and Education in Technology, Loma Linda University, Loma Linda, CA, USA e-mail: nbaba@llu.edu

S.N. White

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 N. Chugal, L.M. Lin (eds.), *Endodontic Prognosis*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-42412-5_10

N.Z. Baba (🖂)

School of Dentistry, University of California Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, USA e-mail: snwhite@dentistry.ucla.edu

G. Bogen Private Practice Limited to Endodontics, Los Angeles, CA, USA

and definitive restorations; bacterial contaminaitons must be permanently excluded. The main reason for extraction of endodontically treated teeth is not failure of endodontic treatment, but caries, inadequate restoration, periodontal disease and root fractures.

10.1 Introduction

Restoration of endodontically treated teeth (ETT) is often considered as being distinct from root canal treatment (RCT). However, both are inseparable in planning, execution, and prognosis. The restoration of ETT may be as important as the actual root canal obturation and has a profound effect in the ultimate goal of excluding microorganisms, the primary cause of endodontic disease [1–3]. Therefore all dental providers restoring ETT share the responsibility to ensure that every phase of treatment is appropriate, well executed, and timely.

The restoration of mature ETT has been extensively investigated, and existing literature is abundant with a broad range of benchtop and clinical outcome studies. However, there is paucity of high-quality clinical outcome data. Furthermore, much of the available information is outdated, applies to only specific situations, or is confounded by significant variables, making interpretation of the results difficult. It is not surprising that dentists are inconsistent in the restorative decision-making process regarding treatment protocols [4, 5]. This chapter reviews evidence-based clinical outcome data that will provide practical guidance to the restorative dentist and focuses on restorative prognostic factors that favorably influence the long-term performance of ETT.

10.2 Interim Restorations

Interim or provisional restorations (PRs) (former term "temporary restoration") must be durable and leak resistant to prevent microleakage and microbial ingress. Coronal microleakage is considered to be the most common cause of endodontic failure. Multiple investigations [6–12] have confirmed that inadequate root canal treatment and poor coronal restorations both contribute to increased microleakage and vulnerability to bacteria and their by-products (Fig. 10.1). Salivary recontamination of the root canal system and exposure to bacterial endotoxins can lead to periapical inflammation and endodontic failure [3–12]. The use of reliable interim prostheses will reduce the possibility of microbial leakage before, during, and after RCT.

Provisional restorations generally produce a poor coronal seal [13–17]. They are primarily used to provide a short-term restoration that is esthetic and functional while protecting the soft and hard tissues before the definitive restoration is delivered. Well-fitting PRs prevent mechanical failures such as fractures and help avoid root canal reinfections [16, 18]. A retrospective study that evaluated 775 ETT in 508

Fig. 10.1 Periapical radiograph of maxillary right molars exhibits poor-quality endodontic obturation with a carrierbased gutta-percha system. Visible are untreated canals and substandard foundation restorations with multiple material voids (© Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)



patients found a higher survival rate for teeth restored within 2 weeks after root canal therapy [19].

The duration of interim provisionalization must be considered before the appropriate material can be selected. For short restorative periods, it is recommended that cements such as zinc oxide eugenol (ZOE) be used only for periods of up to 1 or 2 weeks [20]. For longer periods, particularly when definitive restorations may be delayed, stronger cements should be used to assure a better seal against tooth structure. Glass ionomers, Zinc Phosphate, Polycarboxylate, or resin-modified glass ionomers (RMGIs) exhibit acceptable seals against dentin and have advantageous physical characteristics, making them suitable for short- to long-term temporization. However, these cements do not display adequate properties to be used as definitive buildups; therefore, their removal is required before placement of final restorations. Soft self-cured calcium sulfate-based temporary filling materials tend to be easily abraded, unstable over time, and absorb moisture. They can only be used for short periods of time in small cavities and must be removed completely along with the cotton or sponge pellet before placement of definitive restorations [21]. A contemporary investigation compared the leakage of different provisional materials (Intermediate Restorative Material (IRM[®]), Cavit[™], and TempBond[™]) and showed that none of the provisional materials examined using microbial markers prevented coronal leakage when tested for 30 days [13]. They also demonstrated that the delayed placement of the definitive restorations had an impact on the prognosis of ETT. When comparing definitive coronal restorations with PR, it has been shown that ETT restored with permanent coronal restorations have a higher survival rate than teeth restored with provisional restorations, even if the definitive restoration is delayed [17].

Before restorative treatment of ETT begins, all existing restorations should generally be removed, unless recently placed by the treating dentist [22]. Leakage under failing restorations is a major cause of new and recurrent endodontic disease. Carious dentin should also be completely removed before accessing the root canal system. Radiographs and oral examination should be performed to assess the quality of the root canal obturation, the presence of cracks, and the need for periodontal therapy (e.g., crown lengthening). When insufficient tooth structure is available, PR may be required before root canal treatment is initiated to ensure that the tooth can be isolated from the oral environment and salivary contamination (Fig. 10.2). For example,



Fig. 10.2 Radiograph of (**a**) two severely decayed maxillary left premolars before clinical isolation with glass ionomer cements during conventional endodontic treatment. (**b**) Final radiograph of premolars restored with stainless steel posts and bonded core buildups ([®] Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)

teeth with large defects, deep proximal boxes, can be quickly temporized using glass ionomer or RMGI restorations. This will facilitate effective dental dam isolation and contribute to improved cavity access preparation form. Opaque white or blue-colored materials can be employed because they are easily distinguished from tooth structure and facilitate removal when replaced by permanent restorations.

During endodontic treatment, microbial exclusion from the root canal system is a strict requirement. Therefore, placement of a durable thick temporary filling is essential between treatment sessions [23]. The thickness of the temporary restorative material should be maximized, while the height of the underlying cotton pellet should be minimized. A pellet of synthetic foam sponge is preferred to cotton, because bacterial growth will not be supported.

Extensively damaged teeth may require provisional crowns or onlays prior to endodontic care. Several materials can be used in the fabrication of provisional restorations, including acrylic and composite resins. Formulations of the most commonly used acrylic resin materials are based on polymethyl methacrylate (PMMA). Acrylic resin can be used for the fabrication of either direct or indirect provisional restorations. Investigations [24, 25] have demonstrated that indirect fabrication demonstrates improved marginal integrity compared with prostheses made by direct fabrication.

Indirect fabrication provides high-strength provisionals indicated for patients requiring long-span fixed partial dentures and prolonged treatment regimens and for patients with above-average masticatory strength. Alternatively, preformed provisionals made from polycarbonate, composite resins or other materials can be used. Intracoronal and extracoronal restorations can also be provided using composite resin-based materials.

Coronally compromised anterior and select premolar teeth may require, in addition to the provisional restorations, temporary posts to secure resistance and retention form. Minimal cement should be placed on prefabricated temporary posts, so that they can be easily removed at the time of final restoration placement. Different materials have been introduced for use as temporary posts; however, prefabricated permanent posts can also provide adequate retention when cemented temporarily. Temporary cements utilized for luting provisional crowns (former term "temporary crowns") and posts are generally zinc oxide-based cements. Some of these formulations contain eugenol, but non-eugenol cements are also widely used. If composite resin or resin-based cement is going to be utilized as a buildup material, it is strongly recommended to use a non-eugenol zinc oxide-based temporary cement. Eugenol plays a possible role in the inhibition of resin polymerization, so any eugenol-based sealer needs to be carefully removed before using resinous adhesives or restorative materials [26]. Contradictory conclusions have been reported regarding the inhibition of resin polymerization by eugenol. Some studies [27, 28] describe the decrease in bond strength to dentin, while others show no effect [29– 33]. However, provisional restorations often leak and can produce discomfort for patients with vital teeth. More importantly, they can permit microbial contamination in teeth undergoing root canal treatment, especially if a temporary post is used [13, 17]. Similar to permanent buildup restorations, the prefabricated temporary post should be placed before the dental dam is removed.

After root canal treatment has been completed, a durable PR should again be placed to ensure protection and temporary sealing. Preferably, the definitive foundation restoration made from composite resin or amalgam should be placed before the dental dam is removed. It is critically important that any underlying cotton pellet is removed before final restoration placement: damp cotton is an excellent culture material for unwanted microorganisms and an inferior foundation for the final loadbearing restoration. Residual provisional restorations such as Cavit[™] and IRM[®] also compromise the integrity of the permanent restoration and must be completely removed from the access cavity.

10.3 Restoration of Mature Teeth

The foundation restoration should ideally be placed immediately after the final obturation and before the dental dam is removed. There is no benefit postponing restorative care while waiting for resolution of symptoms or signs of healing. Adequately condensed gutta-percha (GP) or other obturation materials can then be safely removed and the post space prepared immediately, when indicated, after end-odontic treatment or generated during the root canal procedure [34, 35]. Several studies have indicated that there is no difference in leakage of the root canal filling material when the post space is prepared immediately after completing endodontic therapy [36–39]. The primary goals of bacterial exclusion and conservation of tooth structure must be observed during all phases of treatment [40].

Immediate restoration of structurally compromised anterior teeth after completion of RCT can be achieved with a prefabricated post and a composite resin core buildup when indicated. However, challenges related to the use of prefabricated posts in some anterior teeth require consideration. When the post space is too wide in the coronal aspect of the ETT, the cemented post may only contact the tooth in the most apical portion of the post space. Under these conditions, post retention depends primarily upon the cement. In the presence of minimal or no ferrule, when the tooth is subjected to occlusal forces, the cement seal will eventually break, leading to leakage, caries, loss of post retention, and crown failure. Additionally, when certain anterior teeth (e.g., canines) with ovoid canals are prepared for prefabricated round posts, the post preparation using a matching drill for the post may result in excessive removal of tooth structure, or the post will only contact the root canal space laterally. These types of teeth may benefit by using custom cast posts fabricated to better adapt the existing root canal morphology. On the other hand, the vast majority of posterior teeth not indicated for post placement can receive a definitive core buildup after canal obturation, thus sealing and protecting the RCT (Fig. 10.3).

Excess obturation materials should be removed to a millimeter below the level of the pulpal floor, or slightly below, in posterior teeth. For intact anterior teeth except for the access opening, GP or other filling materials should be removed to the level of the cemento-enamel junction or shortly below. It is important that excess sealer be removed after root canal obturation from the pulpal floor and remaining internal walls. Zinc oxide-based sealers inhibit the polymerization of dentin agents and composite resin as well as prevents adhesion of glass ionomer to dentin [41]. Some ZOE sealers set quickly and can be removed mechanically. Others set slowly and may need to be removed using chloroform and/or alcohol-soaked cotton pellets.

Most anterior teeth with intact coronal structure can be restored using direct composite resin restorations. Anterior ETT with lingual access cavities do not require complete coverage crowns except when they are structurally weakened by large or multiple coronal restorations. This includes teeth used as abutments for fixed partial dentures and removable partial dentures or when significant changes in morphology or shade are required. Preservation of tooth structure is paramount. Root canal preparations generally enlarge the root canal and pulp chamber rendering the walls of the tooth thinner and weaker; crown preparations concomitantly contribute to further reduce tooth strength [42].

In anterior ETT that are intact except for the access opening, direct restorations without further removal of tooth structure are preferred. Gutta-percha or other obturation materials should be placed to a few millimeters below the CEJ. A glass ionomer base can be placed to seal over the GP and against dentin, which protects the root filling material and reduces the bulk of resin composite required. If the tooth is discolored, internal bleaching, using sodium perborate, without heat or superoxyl, can be used to improve the value or brightness of the tooth. A deep core using



Fig. 10.3 Intraoral radiographs of (a) mandibular left second molar, (b) maxillary right first molar, and (c) mandibular right second molar restored with bonded composite core restorations without post placement ([®] Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)

opaque white composite resin can be used to improve value, but the restoration should be finished using natural shades. If the esthetic appearance is still unsatisfactory, a conservative porcelain veneer can be used.

Posts are only needed in anterior teeth when there is minimal coronal tooth structure remaining. Posts can provide resistance form against tipping or lateral forces and contribute to retention form. Posts do not strengthen teeth; they tend to weaken teeth through additional dentin removal and unfavorable stress concentration [43– 49]. For ETT molars adequate resistance and retention can routinely be obtained from the remaining walls of the pulp chamber through a bonded corono-radicular buildup [48, 49]. It is always preferable to restore molars without post placement when adequate remaining tooth structure is available.

In posterior teeth, two and or three intact walls are necessary for the corono-radicular buildup. If the material is bonded to dentin and enamel, there is no need to extend the materials into the root canal orifices. If however unbonded material such as amalgam is used, it may require countersinking into the orifices. However, none of the restorative materials provide a permanent leakproof seal. If the tooth cannot be restored immediately, it is recommended to seal the orifice of the canals with an orifice barrier such as flowable composite resin, hydrophilic resin, or glass ionomer [50–53]. Composite resin core buildup can be prepared for crowns immediately after curing and formulated to encompass light, chemical (self-cure), or dual polymerization. Self-curing composite resin in vitro study tested the bond strength of selected dual-polymerizing composite resin foundations using light, chemical, or dual-polymerized adhesive systems which suggested that dual-polymerized systems may not provide acceptable adhesive strength to dentin [54]. It can be concluded that light-polymerized adhesives without chemical activators produce improved bond strength to dentin.

Endodontically treated premolars present an intermediate situation between anterior teeth and molars. Mandibular first premolars with conservative access openings may not require cuspal coverage restorations. These teeth have no substantive occlusal intercuspation and are characterized by small, poorly developed lingual cusps. Premolars retaining both buccal and palatal walls can normally be restored without post placement using only a core buildup as the foundation restoration.

In the small minority of ETT where posting is indicated, the post design should be conservative, parallel, passive, vented, serrated, or roughened [40, 55] (Fig. 10.4). It is recommended that parallel-sided metal posts with tapered apical 2–3 mm are



Fig. 10.4 Final radiographs of mandibular (**a**) left first molar, (**b**) left second premolar, and (**c**) right first molar restored with conservative parallel-sided stainless steel posts and composite core buildups ([®] Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)

used to favorably reduce spreading forces and thereby preserve maximum radicular dentin thickness before post cementation. The post design can be critical in securing a favorable prognosis. Stainless steel has long been the material of choice being stronger than titanium and glass fiber-reinforced (GFR) epoxy resin posts. Glass fiber-reinforced epoxy resin posts are more flexible than stainless steel posts; this appears to increase the risk of restoration failure and decrease the risk of catastrophic root fracture when compared to metal posts [56–62].

Custom cast posts, when indicated, should also be conservative, passive, and airborne particle abraded; they have advantages that include better adaption, superior strength, and improved stress transfer from their shoulder to the root structure. It is important to leave at least 4–6 mm of GP or alternative obturation material to ensure adequate apical seal (Fig. 10.5). In addition to providing an apical seal, the 4–6 mm of remaining obturation material in the apical third of the root will protect the area containing additional complex anatomy, accessory canals, fins, bifurcations, apical deltas, etc. The apical part of the root is also extremely thin, weaker, and easily perforated when generating a post space.

Several guidelines have been proposed for determining the ideal length of post placement [63–67]. Ideally, the minimum length post should equal the height of the clinical crown but compromise, and a shorter post may be necessary under certain clinical conditions. While short posts cannot be recommended, they may be unavoidable in short or thin roots. Short posts do not distribute spreading forces equally along the long axis of the root and can often produce fractures in the coronal and mid-radicular areas (Fig. 10.6).

Longer posts offer the greatest rigidity and produce less root deflection; however, rigidity is a double-edged sword, protecting the restoration, but stressing the root itself, and sufficient root filling material must remain [68]. Care must be also be taken with longer posts to ensure that adequate root thickness is preserved apically, particularly with narrow or concave roots. When two or more coronal walls are remaining that are 1 mm in thickness after preparation, and 4 mm in height, a core, bonded or not, can be placed without using the post.

The post should be only one quarter, or less, of the width of the root. However, the delivery of the optimal post length can be challenging in many cases. When a tooth has an average or below average root length and the post occupies two-thirds or more of the root length, it may not be possible to retain 4 mm or more of filling material at the apex [69]. Therefore, optimal post length is determined by retaining 5 mm of apical GP or other filling materials and extending the post to that depth. However, in teeth which anatomically display shorter roots, the amount of remaining root filling material must be carefully determined on a case-by-case basis with the ultimate goal of avoiding the short post.

Multiple posts placed to support foundation buildups for premolars and molars are not recommended. A single post should be placed in the distal root of mandibular molars, the palatal root of maxillary molars, and the longest and straightest root of maxillary premolars (Fig. 10.7). The post diameter should not exceed one-third

Fig. 10.5 Periapical radiograph of maxillary left central and lateral incisors after orthograde retreatment and post space placement. The central incisor shows 4 mm of remaining gutta-percha (arrow) and the lateral incisor 6 mm of remaining root filling material (arrow). A greater length of root filing material was left in lateral incisor due to the presence of apical curvature ([©] Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)





Fig. 10.6 Recall radiograph of a (**a**) mandibular left second premolar with a short cast post shows loss of supporting bone (*arrows*) and periodontal ligament thickening consistent with a vertical root fracture. (**b**) Radiographic review of maxillary left first premolar with short preformed stainless steel post, vertical root fracture (*arrow*), recurrent caries, and apical pathosis ([®] Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)



Fig. 10.7 Periapical radiographs of (**a**) mandibular left first molar, (**b**) maxillary right first molar, and (**c**) mandibular right first molar with multiple post placements and concomitant resultant vertical root fractures (*arrows*) ([®] Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)

the root diameter. The diameter of the post should be 0.5–1.5 mm depending on the tooth, and only post preparation instruments that match the desired post diameter should be used [70].

When preparing the post space, be cautious of root concavities not easily detected on two-dimensional radiographs. Carefully observe multiple periodontal ligament outlines that are indicative of root concavities and potential root curvature in or out of the plane of the radiograph. Use a periodontal probe to explore the root anatomy and inclination. The endodontist may be best equipped to prepare the post space, as they are more familiar with the canal anatomy after treatment and can prepare the post space under dental dam isolation.

A variety of materials can be used for permanently cementing posts [71–74]. Polycarboxylate cements have poor physical properties and should be avoided. Zinc phosphate can be used, but newer adhesive cements offer many advantages; the one advantage of zinc phosphate is its brittleness which allows for post removal if end-odontic retreatment is required. Glass ionomer cements have good physical properties, seal against dentin, and release fluoride. As for any cement, attention to moisture control and protection during initial set are important when using glass ionomers [75–78].

Composite resin cements are advocated for the cementation of glass fiberreinforced (GFR) epoxy resin posts. However, there are notable differences in the retention values of the various types of composite resin cements that include etchand-rinse, self-adhesive, and self-etch systems [79–85]. Several investigators found that self-adhesive resin cements are adequate for cementation of posts [81–85]; but further trials are needed before confirming the superiority of self-adhesive cements to the other available systems. Additionally, it has been shown that thermocycling, cement type, and other factors influence the bond strength of self-adhesive cements [84, 85].

Regardless of the type of post used and the location of the restoration in the mouth, when restoring an ETT, a cervical ferrule should engage 2 mm of tooth structure to optimally prevent root fracture. Different lengths and forms of the ferrule have been studied [86–89] and are essential factors for the success of the resultant "ferrule effect." When possible, encompassing 2.0 mm of intact tooth structure below the entire circumference of a core creates an optimally effective crown ferrule. Ferrule effectiveness is enhanced by grasping larger amounts of tooth

structure. The amount of tooth structure engaged by the overlying crown appears to be more important than the length of the post at increasing a tooth's resistance to fracture.

10.4 Restoration of Immature Teeth with Open Apices

Tooth structure preservation is the ultimate objective in restoring endodontically treated immature permanent teeth in children. Young patients that receive vital pulp therapy or conventional RCT have teeth that can typically exhibit extensive loss of coronal structure as a result of deep caries, trauma, or developmental anomalies (Fig. 10.8). A majority of these permanent teeth present with incomplete root formation and open apices that require apexification or apexogenesis procedures [90–92]. These unique characteristics require a restorative treatment strategy that recognizes the fragility of immature permanent teeth and ensures tooth retention. Treatment is required that maintains normal masticatory function, preserves arch integrity, guards against microleakage, and protects teeth from cuspal fractures. Progress in adhesive dentistry has been instrumental in providing restorative options that conserve the remaining valuable tooth structure and allows continued tooth maturation while contributing to improved long-term survival.

Carious lesions in immature permanent molars can be aggressive, rendering teeth structurally weak after extensive carious dentin removal, endodontic treatment, and traditional restorative care. Consequently, these teeth are at a greater risk of fracture due to unsupported enamel, large pulps, and thin radicular walls (Fig. 10.9) [93]. Complicating factors such as hypocalcification, malformation of the enamel, and trauma can further compromise the tooth integrity and resistance to fracture [94, 95]. Due to these clinical features, some authors have advocated placing a preformed metal crown or stainless steel crown (PMC/SSC) after pulpal therapy to maintain the tooth as a space maintainer until implant placement [93]. However, innovative obturation and regenerative techniques using mineral trioxide aggregate (MTA) and other calcium silicate-based cements (CSCs) or bioceramics

Fig. 10.8 Periapical radiograph of mandibular left first molar in a 7-year-old patient with deep coronal caries and open apices. Pulp testing revealed normal pulpal responses ([®] Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)



Fig. 10.9 Six-year recall radiograph of mandibular left first molar in an 18-year-old patient treated for symptomatic apical periodontitis. The tooth has a poorly fitted PMC/SSC and was diagnosed with a distal root vertical fracture ([®] Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)



Fig. 10.10 Three-year recall radiograph of a permanent molar after RCT. Tooth was restored with an amalgam core without stainless steel crown coverage and was diagnosed clinically to have a vertical root fracture ([®] Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)



that encourage continued root-end formation in necrotic and vital immature teeth are changing currently accepted restorative strategies. These new biologically based treatment options can increase the structural integrity of immature teeth by promoting increased root length and wall thickening [90–92, 95–98].

Endodontically treated immature teeth that exhibit extensive loss of coronal structure have traditionally been restored with amalgam as the core material [99, 100]. However, the difference in the modulus of elasticity between amalgam (28–60 GPa) and dentin (12–18 GPa) can contribute to a greater risk of coronal and radicular fractures in these compromised teeth (Fig. 10.10) [101–103]. The material has much higher modulus of elasticity than dentin, can sensitize teeth care workers, and may not provide an impenetrable seal against microleakage and bacterial contamination [104–106]. Therefore, PMC/SSCs have been advocated with the goal of preventing irreparable coronal fracture, protecting against cuspal breakage, and acting as a secondary barrier against microleakage in the typically weakened crowns [95].

The PMC/SSC was initially developed to restore primary teeth and has shown to be a reliable restorative option in the deciduous dentition. They have also been Fig. 10.11 Clinical photograph shows edematous and hyperplastic gingival tissue associated with a poorly fitted stainless steel crown placed over a composite core buildup ([®] Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)



recommended for structurally compromised permanent molars in children as an interim restoration during the transitional dentition until such time a permanent restoration can be placed [106–109]. Clinical investigations have shown that well-adapted and cemented PMC/SSC shows little or inconsequential damage to periodontal health [110, 111]. However, poorly contoured PMC/SSCs predispose the gingiva to inflammation, and poor oral hygiene increases the probability of a compromised periodontium (Fig. 10.11) [112]. Since the crowns are pre-sized, they cannot always be ideally crimped to provide accurate marginal adaptation [94, 110–115]. Poor marginal adaptation of the PMC/SSC and potential cement leakage can lead to recurrent caries, gingival inflammation, tooth impaction, potential periodontal defects, and premature tooth loss [99, 112, 115–129] (Fig. 10.12). Although the PMC/SCC offers some advantages, the placement also requires additional tooth preparation and reduction of the remaining valuable tooth structure [94].

General dentists and pediatric dentists routinely place PMC/SSC restorations on permanent immature teeth that have been treated with direct and indirect pulp capping, partial or complete pulpotomies, hypomineralization or generalized developmental problems, and orthograde RCT [99, 119, 120]. However, the PMC/SSC has become the standard restoration in immature permanent teeth without any clear clinical evidence to support its continued application [94, 121, 125]. Although data demonstrates that these restorations have a much higher success rate when compared to amalgam alone for compromised primary teeth, there is no distinct understanding of how beneficial PMC/SSCs are for permanent molars in children after receiving endodontic treatment [106, 119].

It is generally recognized that the chairside time required to properly fit a permanent molar with a preformed metal crown is greater than that for a primary molar crown [106]. Multiple factors contribute to the difficulty in ensuring that all parameters for successful PMC/SSC placement are implemented. It has been estimated that approximately 80% of pediatric dental treatment is completed by general dentists who may be challenged because the permanent PMC/SSC is not shaped accurately at the cervical level to accommodate the variations in crown


Fig. 10.12 (a) Clinical photograph of stainless steel crown with open margin after plaque disclosure. (**b–d**) Removal of a stainless steel crown over an amalgam core buildup reveals recurrent caries, debris accumulation, and moderate gingivitis ([®] Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)

length and height encountered during the transitional dentition (Fig. 10.13) [112, 114, 126–128]. These preformed restorations can also pose a problem in sedation cases where aspiration of the crown is a risk that can be detrimental to the health of the child [129].

Improperly fitted PMC/SSCs can also cause impaction of erupting teeth and loss of leeway space resulting in orthodontic problems in the mixed dentition [118, 130]. Moreover, PMC/SSCs can release nickel, chromium, and iron that are absorbed by the root cementum at much higher rates when compared to intact molars [131]. Another major concern for teeth restored with amalgam cores and PMC/SSCs is that they predispose the patient to multiple future restorative procedures that may include posting and re-coring, crown lengthening, and extensive full-coverage restorations as the patient ages [132–138]. These procedures further reduce valuable tooth structure and may hasten tooth loss via root fractures, microleakage, and other restorative failures [132]. It has been shown that endodontically treated teeth that retain a greater amount of coronal tooth structure after restorative procedures are more resistant to fractures that can be irreparable [139–141]. Bonded core materials offer an alternative conservative approach that can preserve the often structurally weakened endodontically treated tooth in young patients (Fig. 10.14).

Three varieties of composite resin cores are available alternatives for restoring immature permanent teeth and include light-cured, self-cured, and dual-cured



Fig. 10.13 (a and b) Bitewing and periapical radiographs of maxillary right first molar after endodontic treatment. (c) Clinical view of molar after initial stainless steel crown removal shows accumulation of debris. (d) Amalgam core after stainless steel crown and cement removal reveals inflamed gingiva, caries, and staining of the clinical crown ($^{\odot}$ Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)

composite resins. When physical characteristics are considered, light-cured composite cores that have translucent properties offer distinct advantages over amalgam cores paired with PMC/SSC coverage when placed in endodontically treated immature teeth [142–145]. Translucent (clear) composite resin cores are directly bondable to dentin and enamel, which reduces the indication for additional retention and cavity preparation before placement. These specifically designed materials along with other composite core materials exhibit high compressive strengths and improved fracture resistance and tensile strengths [130–151]. Clear core materials can be light-cured in larger bulks in the majority of cases without incremental placement because of their translucent properties. Due to the high bonding strengths when paired with fourth- and fifth-generation self-etching hydrophilic resins, the "C" factor shrinkage is minimized during the early stages of polymerization when translucent core materials are incorporated [146–151].

Currently available translucent core materials include Build-ItTM (Pentron, Inc. Orange, CA, USA), Light-CoreTM (Bisco, Inc., Schaumburg, IL, USA), and ClearfilTM Photo Core (Kuraray Co. Ltd., Osaka, Japan). Photo Core exhibits unique properties that include a curing depth of 8 mm in 20 seconds, a flexural modulus similar to dentine (12±1.2GPa), a high flexural strength (125±12MPa), and a compressive strength approaching that of amalgam (334 MPa) [60, 69, 152–154]. This material can be easily applied and bonded with ClearfilTM SE Bond, SE Bond 2, or SE Protect



Fig. 10.14 (a) Clinical image of a structurally compromised mandibular right first molar in a 12-year-old patient after caries removal and completion of root canal therapy. (b) Tooth after bonded ClearfilTM Photo Core placement and (c) radiographic recall 1 year postoperatively shows normal alveolar bone height ([®] Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)

Bond into severely broken down immature permanent teeth after RCT or complete pulpotomy procedures. It will generally perform to acceptable levels long-term before permanent cuspal coverage restorations are provided (Fig. 10.15). Moreover, immature teeth that undergo indirect and direct pulp capping or pulpotomy procedures can also be reliably restored with other currently available opaque direct composite restorations when proper delivery protocols are observed [155, 156]. Although bonded composite restorations are currently more widely used to restore vital carious teeth in children than amalgam, the replacement rates have been higher [106, 150]. Restorative trends show glass ionomer and composite restorations are replacing amalgam in the restoration of primary teeth with vital pulps. Although some studies show that retention rates for amalgam restorations are superior when used in



Fig. 10.15 (a) Preoperative radiograph of mandibular right first molar with open apices in a 9-year-old patient with irreversible pulpitis. (b) Molar after placement of mineral trioxide aggregate apical plugs. (c) Finished obturation with thermoplastic gutta-percha, sealer, and translucent core buildup. (d) Periapical radiograph of molar at the 4-year 10-month recall shows normal crestal bone and intact crown (° Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)

teeth with vital pulps, survival times for composites are improving as material developments advance and tooth isolation requirements are recognized [157–159].

The main advantage in using bonded translucent composite core restorations in root canal treated immature permanent molars is the conservation of tooth structure when compared to amalgam core and PMC/SSC placement [159-161]. The bonded composite core may also provide superior microleakage resistance at the gutta-percha/MTA/CSC interface that protects the obturation material from further contamination and allows for continued root maturation (Fig. 10.16). Moreover, avoiding PMC/SSC placement may better preserve the periodontium and crestal bone height during the various stages of the transitional dentition. Bonded composite core delivery also requires less chairside treatment time for operators and may be more economical when compared to the alternative treatment requiring a second appointment to place the PMC/SSC. Root-filled and pulpotomized young structurally compromised permanent teeth can be successfully maintained until the patient reaches a stable point in craniofacial development and cuspal coverage is indicated. If immature endodontically treated permanent teeth can be restored without using the PMC/SSC, the advantages for both the patient and the treating dentist can be beneficial in optimizing tooth longevity and retention.



Fig. 10.16 (a) Periapical film of maxillary right central incisor after avulsion and reinsertion into socket in a 7-year-old. The extra oral time was 15 minutes. (b) Radiograph shows the tooth immediately after MTA obturation and placement of conservative core in the access cavity. (c) Three-year recall shows advancing root maturation. (d) 14.5-year recall demonstrates completed apexogenesis (*arrow*). Tooth had normal mobility and was in complete function ([®] Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)

10.5 Prognostic Factors and Treatment Outcome

The main reason for extraction of ETT is not failure of the endodontic treatment, but caries, periodontal disease, restorative factors, and root fracture [162–167]. Endodontic failures may occur earlier than failures from other causes, such as caries, periodontal disease, or prosthetic failure; however, endodontic factors are much less frequent than other related causes [166]. Clearly, the quality of the root canal treatment is critical, but the quality of the restorative treatment is equally as important to the long-term prognosis for the tooth [3, 164–166, 168–176].

Timely placement of a definitive restoration improves tooth survival [19]. Investigations have demonstrated that the lack of a permanent restoration dramatically decreases survival rates [16, 172, 177]. Crown and cuspal coverage placement protect against extraction in posterior teeth [16, 136, 165, 166, 170, 177, 178]. However, the high demand for esthetic and conservative restorations along with the requirement of an occlusal material stiffer than dentin has directed clinicians to use all-ceramic onlays, crowns, endocrowns, and partial-coverage restorations. These include gold partial veneers, onlays, and three-quarter crowns that capably cover the cusps and acceptably stabilize ETT [179–185]. The use of a composite resin buildup beneath a crown may provide a supportive effect [179], but is less significant than the presence of the coronal coverage [186–188]. Generally, teeth restored with single crowns or used as bridge abutments have a lower incidence of fracture than teeth with direct restorations [179].

Direct restorations are the preferred method of restoring anterior ETT. Conservation of tooth structure is critical when balanced with access cavities prepared observing minimal enlargement protocols to facilitate cleaning, shaping, and obturation. Crown preparations can remove considerable tooth structure, principally in the cervical area, which demands preservation to resist destructive sheer forces. If this standard is not observed, it can lead to an unfavorable outcome [178]. Alternatives to crown preparation such as direct composite resin restorations, internal bleaching, and conservative porcelain veneers are preferred.

Restoring posterior ETT with composite resin restorations has been proposed as an alternative treatment option to full coverage. Some investigators [179, 189– 192] recommend the use of composite resin buildup when one or both proximal marginal ridges or more than one or two coronal walls are intact. One study using a small sample size examined the cusp fracture of endodontically treated premolars restored with MOD amalgam or MOD composite resin restorations and concluded that composite resins may be preferred to amalgam [193]. Conversely, after a second analysis, the same group [194] also acknowledged that MOD cavities are unacceptable for restoring ETT posterior teeth if cuspal coverage is not treatment planned.

Another retrospective cohort study [177] evaluated the survival rate of ETT without crowns and determined that ETT teeth could be successfully restored with composite resin restorations when intact except for a conservative access opening. It confirms that survival rates improve with increased preservation of tooth structure. It was also concluded that the overall survival rate of ETT restored with composite resin diminishes after 5 years and supports the requirement of placing a cuspal coverage restoration on ETT molars. In a similar study, ETT premolars restored with a post and composite resin with and without complete coverage crowns showed similar success rates after 3 years [195]. Collectively, when compared with amalgam, direct restoration of posterior access cavities using composite resins appears to be associated with a lower incidence of cuspal fracture and higher survival rates [167, 177, 179, 193, 196].

Two systematic reviews [197, 198] examined the outcome of ETT restored by direct restorations versus crowns. One [197] concluded that ETT without crown coverage had a lower long-term survival rate than teeth covered with crowns. It was also revealed that the survival rate of ETT restored using only a core buildup without the benefit of cuspal coverage was 84% in the first 3 years. However, a significant decrease in the survival rate was recorded after this period. The other concluded that there is currently a lack of well-founded evidence to determine whether restoring a premolar with ample coronal tooth structure with a composite resin restoration is more effective than a crown [198].

When restoring ETT with a composite resin core buildup, it is critically important that light-cured resin composites be fully cured through the sequential addition and careful curing of 2 mm increments, with the exception of translucent core materials. Teeth restored using auto-curing resin composites have higher survival rates than those restored using light-cured composites [196], possibly due to increased polymerization. A current in vitro study tested adhesion strengths of selected dualpolymerized adhesive systems [54] and determined that dual-polymerized dentin adhesive systems may not provide acceptable bonding strength to dentin. It appears that light-polymerized adhesives without chemical activators produce superior bond



Fig. 10.17 (a) Periapical radiograph of maxillary right second premolar restored with threaded post shows vertical fracture with advanced loss of supporting alveolar bone and buccal cortical plate. (b) Clinical photograph demonstrates absence of cortical bone ([®] Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)

strengths to dentin and that stronger, more highly filled, hybrid composite resins increase tooth survival rates over microfilled composite resins [194]. Glass ionomers are markedly inferior to all other restorative options when restoring ETT [179], and they should only be used as liners or bases, not as core buildup or coronal restorations.

Overwhelming evidence exists to show that teeth restored with posts are generally lost more often than teeth without posts [19, 179, 180, 188]. Active threaded posts cannot be recommended. Laboratory studies have shown that all variations of threaded posts promote the greatest potential for root fracture [66, 163, 199–202] by generating undesirable levels of intracanal stress [66] (Fig. 10.17). Threaded tapered posts can increase the incidence of root fracture by 20 times compared to threaded parallel posts [200, 201]. When evaluating the combined data from multiple clinical studies, threaded posts generally produced the highest incidence of root fracture (7%) compared to tapered posts (2%) and parallel designed posts (1%) [45, 61, 179, 203–215].

Perforations, whether caused by post preparation or due to endodontic instrumentation, are not uncommon. They compromise the outcome for ETT and are a strong argument for avoiding post placement [162, 165, 216]. Teeth restored with posts appear to have an elevated risk of failure when used as abutments for fixed dental prostheses or removable partial dentures [137, 179].

Although implants and implant-supported prosthesis are optimal treatment options for restoring edentulous areas, alternative treatment options must be considered. The low-risk option of doming endodontically treated teeth for use as overdenture abutments to provide important vertical support for complete dentures is currently underutilized and even more so for support of removable partial dentures. This treatment modality for restoration and retention of endodontically treated teeth is a viable treatment option and, sometimes, the only option for medically compromised patients when tooth extraction is contraindicated or for economically disadvantaged populations worldwide who cannot afford an implant and implant-supported prosthesis. Importantly, application of this treatment modality may offer the advantages for preservation of alveolar bone height in all age groups, including pediatric patients with irreversible damage to the tooth/root as a result of traumatic injury and who are not of the age to receive an implant.

In recent years, prefabricated posts have become very popular. An exhaustive selection of systems and materials are available. Glass fiber-reinforced epoxy resin posts are generally the most frequently used. When compared to metallic posts, GFR posts exhibit favorable mechanical and physical properties [206]. However, they are more flexible than metallic posts and have a low modulus of elasticity [149]. When GFR posts are used in ETT with minimal or no ferrule, their ability to flex can produce more stress cervically, generating a high risk of post fracture, debonding of the post and/or core, and the loss of post retention followed by leakage and caries. Investigations using thermocycling and cyclic loading have indicated that GFR posts themselves exhibit a 40% reduction in strength and a 10% decrease in flexural modulus [207, 208]. Thus, direct exposure to oral fluids reduces their flexural strength, which is typically associated with a higher incidence of post debonding, post fracture, crown debonding, and root fracture [207]. Glass fiberreinforced epoxy resin posts show a higher prevalence of restoration failure than metallic posts, but also a lower incidence of tooth fracture [61, 209–214]. Similarly to prefabricated metallic posts, the placement of a GFR post does not improve the survival of ETT using direct composite resin restorations, suggesting that the amount of remaining tooth structure is paramount and that their primary function is core retention [187, 212, 215].

Overall, fixed dental prostheses, bridges, replacing extracted teeth, generally have significantly lower long-term survival rates than teeth retained through RCT and restoration or those replaced using single implant crowns [34, 35, 217]. The individual ETT has a very high survival rate and a lower complication rate than treatment alternatives, particularly, when proximal teeth are still present [47, 134, 136].

Gaps within the buildup or between the post and obturation material can provide niches for bacterial growth and recontamination of the root canal system (Fig. 10.18). Voids between a restoration and the obturation interface are equally detrimental and similar to obturation voids that can lead to increased incidence of apical disease [173, 218, 219]. It is recommended that clinicians confirm the post length/distance insertion placement before permanent cementation. Furthermore, care must be taken to ensure that sufficient gutta-percha or obturation material remains after post preparation to avoid the potential future emergence of end-odontic disease [173].

The amount of remaining tooth structure is more important than any restorative strategy, and [177, 179, 187, 189–191, 195, 209, 210, 212, 220, 221] the risks due to caries and periodontal disease must always be recognized [222, 223].

Fig. 10.18 Radiographic recall of mandibular left lateral incisor exhibits short cast post and the presence of a large unfilled space between the post and obturation material (*arrow*) ([®] Dr. George Bogen. All Rights Reserved)



Conclusions

Restoration is an integral component of root canal treatment. The quality of the restoration is paramount for both temporary and definitive restorations with the primary objective to exclude microorganisms from the root canal system. Definitive restorations should be placed as early as possible, preferably at the time of canal obturation and before the dental dam is removed. Tooth structure must ultimately be conserved. Immature permanent teeth can be conservatively restored using direct translucent resin composite restorations until the transitional dentition has concluded, when indirectly fabricated cuspal coverage restorations are indicated. Anterior teeth should not receive full-coverage restorations if structurally intact after RCT and conservative access cavity preparations. Posterior teeth that are largely intact can be restored using composite resin restorations short term; however, coronal coverage will benefit those that have lost substantial structure to protect them against potential root or cuspal fracture.

Posts do not strengthen teeth; they should only be placed when no other means can be used to secure resistance and retention forms. Most ETT extracted are removed due to caries, periodontal disease, restorative failures, and root fractures; these outlying factors must be considered. Restorative microleakage compromises the outcome and success of all endodontic treatment. No matter what kind of post and core system is employed, the incorporation of an adequate ferrule in the crown design correlates highly with success. Most importantly, the preservation of coronal tooth structure increases the long-term prognosis and retention of the ETT.

References

- Ng YL, Mann V, Gulabivala K. A prospective study of the factors affecting outcomes of nonsurgical root canal treatment: part 1: periapical health. Int Endod J. 2011;44:583–60.
- Ng YL, Mann V, Gulabivala K. A prospective study of the factors affecting outcomes of nonsurgical root canal treatment: part 2: tooth survival. Int Endod J. 2011;44:610–25.
- Gillen BM, Looney SW, Gu LS, Loushine BA, Weller RN, Loushine RJ, Pashley DH, Tay FR. Impact of the quality of coronal restoration versus the quality of root canal fillings on success of root canal treatment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Endod. 2011;37: 895–902.
- 4. Morgano SM, Milot P. Clinical success of cast metal posts and cores. J Prosthet Dent. 1993;70:11–6.
- Bader JD, Shugars DA, Roberson TM. Using crowns to prevent tooth fracture. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 1996;24:47–51.
- 6. Saunders WP, Saunders EM. Coronal leakage as a cause of failure in root-canal therapy: a review. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1994;10:105–8.
- Heling I, Gorfil C, Slutzky H, Kopolovic K, Zalkind M, Slutzky-Goldberg I. Endodontic failure caused by inadequate restorative procedures: review and treatment recommendations. J Prosthet Dent. 2002;87:674–8.
- Trope M, Chow E, Nissan R. In vitro endotoxin penetration of coronally unsealed endodontically treated teeth. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1995;11:90–4.
- 9. Alves J, Walton R, Drake D. Coronal leakage: endotoxin penetration from mixed bacterial communities through obturated, post-prepared root canals. J Endod. 1998;24:587–91.
- Torabinejad M, Ung B, Kettering JD. In vitro bacterial penetration of coronally unsealed endodontically treated teeth. J Endod. 1990;16:566–9.
- Khayat A, Lee SJ, Torabinejad M. Human saliva penetration of coronally unsealed obturated root canals. J Endod. 1993;19:458–61.
- Swanson K, Madison S. An evaluation of coronal microleakage in endodontically treated teeth. Part I. Time periods. J Endod. 1987;13:56–9.
- Balto H, Al-Nazhan S, Al-Mansour K, Al-Otaibi M, Siddiqu Y. Microbial leakage of Cavit, IRM, and Temp Bond in post-prepared root canals using two methods of gutta-percha removal: an in vivo study. J Contemp Dent Pract. 2005;6:53–61.
- Demarchi MG, Sato EF. Leakage of interim post and cores used during laboratory fabrication of custom posts. J Endod. 2002;28:328–9.
- Fox K, Gutteridge DL. An in vitro study of coronal microleakage in root-canal-treated teeth restored by the post and core technique. Int Endod J. 1997;30:361–8.
- Lynch CD, Burke FM, Ni Riordain R, Hannigan A. The influence of coronal restoration type on the survival of endodontically treated teeth. Eur J Prosthodont Restor Dent. 2004;12:171–6.
- Safavi KE, Dowen WE, Langeland K. Influence of delayed coronal permanent restoration on endodontic prognosis. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1987;3:187–91.

- Tang W, Wu Y, Smales RJ. Identifying and reducing risks for potential fractures in endodontically treated teeth. J Endod. 2010;36:609–17.
- Willershausen B, Tekyatan H, Krummenauer F, Briseno Marroquin B. Survival rate of endodontically treated teeth in relation to conservative vs post insertion techniques – a retrospective study. Eur J Med Res. 2005;10:204–8.
- Imura N, Otani SM, Campos MJ, Jardim Júnior EG, Zuolo ML. Bacterial penetration through temporary restorative materials in root-canal-treated teeth in vitro. Int Endod J. 1997;30:381–5.
- 21. Todd MJ, Harrison JW. An evaluation of the immediate and early sealing properties of Cavit. J Endod. 1979;5:362–7.
- Jensen AL, Abbott PV, Castro Salgado J. Interim and temporary restoration of teeth during endodontic treatment. Aust Dent J. 2007;52(1 Suppl):S83–99.
- 23. Naoum HJ, Chandler NP. Temporization for endodontics. Int Endod J. 2002;35:964-78.
- 24. Ehrenberg DS, Weiner S. Changes in marginal gap size of provisional resin crowns after occlusal loading and thermal cycling. J Prosthet Dent. 2000;84:139–48.
- Monday JJL, Blais D. Marginal adaptation of provisional acrylic resin crowns. J Prosthet Dent. 1985;54:194–7.
- He LH, Purton DG, Swain MV. A suitable base material for composite resin restorations: zinc oxide eugenol. J Dent. 2010;38:290–5.
- Ribeiro JC, Coelho PG, Janal MN, Silva NR, Monteiro AJ, Fernandes CA. The influence of temporary cements on dental adhesive systems for luting cementation. J Dent. 2011;39:255–62.
- Bayindir F, Akyil MS, Bayindir YZ. Effect of eugenol and noneugenol containing temporary cement on permanent cement retention and microhardness of cured composite resin. Dent Mater J. 2003;22:592–9.
- Abo-Hamar SE, Federlin M, Hiller KA, Friedl KH, Schmalz G. Effect of temporary cements on the bond strength of ceramic luted to dentin. Dent Mater. 2005;21:794–803.
- Ganss C, Jung M. Effect of eugenol-containing temporary cements on bond strength of composite to dentin. Oper Dent. 1998;23:55–62.
- Leirskar J, Nordbo H. The effect of zinc oxide-eugenol on the shear bond strength of a commonly used bonding system. Endod Dent Traumatol. 2000;16:265–8.
- Peutzfeldt A, Asmussen E. Influence of eugenol-containing temporary cement on bonding of self-etching adhesives to dentin. J Adhes Dent. 2006;8:31–4.
- Schwartz R, Davis R, Hilton TJ. Effect of temporary cements on the bond strength of a resin cement. Am J Dent. 1992;5:147–50.
- 34. Torabinejad M, Anderson P, Bader J, Brown LJ, Chen LH, Goodacre CJ, Kattadiyil MT, Kutsenko D, Lozada J, Patel R, Petersen F, Puterman I, White SN. Outcomes of root canal treatment and restoration, implant-supported single crowns, fixed partial dentures, and extraction without replacement: a systematic review. J Prosthet Dent. 2007;98: 285–311.
- 35. Iqbal MK, Kim S. For teeth requiring endodontic treatment, what are the differences in outcomes of restored endodontically treated teeth compared to implant-supported restorations. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 2007;22(Suppl):96–116.
- Madison S, Zakariasen KL. Linear and volumetric analysis of apical leakage in teeth prepared for posts. J Endod. 1984;10:422–7.
- Bourgeois RS, Lemon RR. Dowel space preparation and apical leakage. J Endod. 1981;7:66–9.
- Portell FR, Bernier WE, Lorton L, Peters DD. The effect of immediate versus delayed dowel space preparation on the integrity of the apical seal. J Endod. 1982;8:154–60.
- 39. Zmener O. Effect of dowel preparation on the apical seal of endodontically treated teeth. J Endod. 1980;6:687–90.
- 40. Sorensen JA. Preservation of tooth structure. J Calif Dent Assoc. 1988;16:15-22.
- 41. Macchi RL, Capurro MA, Herrera CL, Cebada FR, Kohen S. Influence of endodontic materials on the bonding of composite resin to dentin. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1992;8:26–9.

- 42. Edelhoff D, Sorensen JA. Tooth structure removal associated with various preparation designs for posterior teeth. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2002;22:241–9.
- Gluskin AH, Radke RA, Frost SL, Watanabe LG. The mandibular incisor: rethinking guidelines for post and core design. J Endod. 1995;21:33–7.
- Hunter AJ, Feiglin B, Williams JF. Effects of post placement on endodontically treated teeth. J Prosthet Dent. 1989;62:166–72.
- 45. Morfis AS. Vertical root fractures. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1990;69:631-5.
- 46. Eckerbom M, Magnusson T, Martinsson T. Prevalence of apical periodontitis, crowned teeth and teeth with posts in a Swedish population. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1991;7:214–20.
- Goodacre CJ, Bernal G, Rungcharassaeng K, Kan JY. Clinical complications in fixed prosthodontics. J Prosthet Dent. 2003;90:31–41.
- Nayyar A, Walton RE, Leonard LA. An amalgam coronal-radicular dowel and core technique for endodontically treated posterior teeth. J Prosthet Dent. 1980;43:511–5.
- 49. Starr CB. Amalgam crown restorations for posterior pulpless teeth. J Prosthet Dent. 1990;63:614–9.
- 50. Shindo K, Kakuma Y, Ishikawa H, Kobayashi C, Suda H. The influence of orifice sealing with various filling materials on coronal leakage. Dent Mater J. 2004;23:419–23.
- Celik EU, Yapar AG, Ates M, Sen BH. Bacterial leakage of barrier materials in obturated root canals. J Endod. 2006;32:1074–6.
- 52. Yamauchi S, Shipper G, Buttke T, Yamauchi M, Trope M. Effect of orifice plugs on periapical inflammation in dogs. J Endod. 2006;32:524–6.
- 53. Wolanek GA, Loushine RJ, Weller RN, Kimbrough WF, Volkmann KR. In vitro bacterial penetration of endodontically treated teeth coronally sealed with a dentin bonding agent. J Endod. 2001;27:354–7.
- 54. Al-Ansari A, Al-Harbi F, Baba NZ. In vitro evaluation of the bond strength of composite resin foundation materials to dentin. J Prosthet Dent. 2015;114:529–35.
- Standlee JP, Caputo AA, Hanson EC. Retention of endodontic dowels: effects of cement, dowel length, diameter, and design. J Prosthet Dent. 1978;39:400–5.
- 56. Akkayan B. An in vitro study evaluating the effect of ferrule length on fracture resistance of endodontically treated teeth restored with fiber-reinforced and zirconia dowel systems. J Prosthet Dent. 2004;92:155–62.
- King PA, Setchell DJ. An in vitro evaluation of a prototype CFRC prefabricated post developed for the restoration of pulpless teeth. J Oral Rehabil. 1990;17:599–609.
- Newman MP, Yaman P, Dennison J, Rafter M, Billy E. Fracture resistance of endodontically treated teeth restored with composite posts. J Prosthet Dent. 2003;89:360–7.
- Fokkinga WA, Kreulen CM, Vallittu PK, Creugers NH. A structured analysis of in vitro failure loads and failure modes of fiber, metal, and ceramic post-and-core systems. Int J Prosthodont. 2004;17:476–82.
- Hu S, Osada T, Shimizu T, Warita K, Kawawa T. Resistance to cyclic fatigue and fracture of structurally compromised root restored with different post and core restorations. Dent Mater J. 2005;24:225–31.
- Malferrari S, Monaco C, Scotti R. Clinical evaluation of teeth restored with quartz fiberreinforced epoxy resin posts. Int J Prosthodont. 2003;16:39–44.
- Eskitascioglu G, Belli S, Kalkan M. Evaluation of two post core systems using two different methods (fracture strength test and a finite element analysis). J Endod. 2002;28:629–33.
- 63. Baraban DJ. A simplified method for making posts and cores. J Prosthet Dent. 1970;24:287–97.
- 64. Mondelli J, Piccino AC, Berbert A. An acrylic resin pattern for a cast dowel and core. J Prosthet Dent. 1971;25:413–7.
- 65. Pickard HM. Variants of the post crown. Br Dent J. 1964;117:517-26.
- 66. Henry PJ. Photoelastic analysis of post core restorations. Aust Dent J. 1977;22:157-9.
- 67. Silverstein WH. Reinforcement of weakened pulpless teeth. J Prosthet Dent. 1964;14:372–81.

- Leary JM, Aquilino SA, Svare CW. An evaluation of post length within the elastic limits of dentin. J Prosthet Dent. 1987;57:277–81.
- 69. Zillich RM, Corcoran JF. Average maximum post lengths in endodontically treated teeth. J Prosthet Dent. 1984;52:489–91.
- Baba NZ, Goodacre CJ. Key principles that enhance success when restoring endodontically treated teeth. Roots. 2011;7:30–5.
- Radke RA, Barkhordar RA, Podesta RE. Retention of cast endodontic posts: comparison of cementing agents. J Prosthet Dent. 1988;59:318–20.
- 72. Øilo G. Luting cements: a review and comparison. Int Dent J. 1991;41:81-8.
- Ertugrul HZ, Ismail YH. An in vitro comparison of cast metal dowel retention using various luting agents and tensile loading. J Prosthet Dent. 2005;93:446–52.
- Scoville RK, Foreman F, Burgess JO. In vitro fluoride uptake by enamel adjacent to a glass ionomer luting cement. ASDC J Dent Child. 1990;57:352–5.
- Matsuya S, Maeda T, Ohta M. IR and NMR analyses of hardening and maturation of glassionomer cement. J Dent Res. 1996;75:1920–7.
- Small IC, Watson TF, Chadwick AV, Sidhu SK. Water sorption in resin-modified glassionomer cements: an in vitro comparison with other materials. Biomaterials. 1998;19:545–50.
- Phillips RW, Swartz ML, Lund MS, Moore BK, Vickery J. In vivo disintegration of luting cements. J Am Dent Assoc. 1987;114:489–92.
- Morgano SM, Brackett SE. Foundation restorations in fixed prosthodontics: current knowledge and future needs. J Prosthet Dent. 1999;82:643–57.
- Kececi AD, Ureyen Kaya B, Adanir N. Micro push-out bond strengths of four fiber-reinforced composite post systems and 2 luting materials. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2008;105:121–8.
- 80. Soares CJ, Pereira JC, Valdivia AD, Novais VR, Meneses MS. Influence of resin cement and post configuration on bond strength to root dentine. Int Endod J. 2012;45:136–45.
- Amaral M, Rippe MP, Bergoli CD, Monaco C, Valandro LF. Multi-step adhesive cementation versus one-step adhesive cementation: push-out bond strength between fiber post and root dentin before and after mechanical cycling. Gen Dent. 2011;59:e185–91.
- Sterzenbach G, Karajouli G, Naumann M, Peroz I, Bitter K. Fiber post placement with core build-up materials or resin cements-an evaluation of different adhesive approaches. Acta Odontol Scand. 2012;70:368–76.
- Zicari F, De Munck J, Scotti R, Naert I, Van Meerbeek B. Factors affecting the cement-post interface. Dent Mater. 2012;28:287–97.
- Mazzitelli C, Monticelli F, Toledano M, Ferrari M, Osorio R. Effect of thermal cycling on the bond strength of self-adhesive cements to fiber posts. Clin Oral Investig. 2012;16:909–15.
- Radovic I, Mazzitelli C, Chieffi N, Ferrari M. Evaluation of the adhesion of fiber posts cemented using different adhesive approaches. Eur J Oral Sci. 2008;116:557–63.
- Libman WJ, Nicholls JI. Load fatigue of teeth restored with cast posts and cores and complete crowns. Int J Prosthodont. 1995;8:155–61.
- Pereira JR, de Ornelas F, Conti PC, do Valle AL. Effect of a crown ferrule on the fracture resistance of endodontically treated teeth restored with prefabricated posts. J Prosthet Dent. 2006;95:50–4.
- Ng CCH, Dumbrigue HB, Al-Bayat MI, Griggs JA, Wakefield CW. Influence of remaining coronal tooth structure location on the fracture resistance of restored endodontically treated anterior teeth. J Prosthet Dent. 2006;95:290–6.
- Zhi-Yue L, Yu-Xing Z. Effects of post-core design and ferrule on fracture resistance of endodontically treated maxillary central incisors. J Prosthet Dent. 2003;89:368–73.
- 90. Shabahang S. Treatment options: apexogenesis and apexification. Pediatr Dent. 2013;35:125-8.
- Jeeruphan T, Jantarat J, Yanpiset K, Suwannapan L, Khewsawai P, Hargreaves KM. Mahidol study 1: comparison of radiographic and survival outcomes of immature teeth treated with

either regenerative endodontic or apexification methods: a retrospective study. J Endod. 2012;38:1330-6.

- 92. Witherspoon DE, Small JC, Regan JD, Nunn M. Retrospective analysis of open apex teeth obturated with mineral trioxide aggregate. J Endod. 2008;34:1171–6.
- 93. Schröder U. Pedodontic endodontics. In: Koch G, Poulsen S, editors. Pediatric dentistry: a clinical approach. 2nd ed. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell Publishing Ltd.; 2009. p. 161.
- 94. Croll TP. Permanent molar stainless steel crown restoration. Quintessence Int. 1987;18(5):313–21.
- Murray RR, Madden PW. Amalgam-reinforced stainless steel crown for restoration of permanent molars. Oper Dent. 1997;22:41–4.
- Bogen G, Kuttler S. Mineral trioxide aggregate obturation: a review and case series. J Endod. 2009;35(6):777–90.
- 97. Huang GT, Sonoyama W, Liu Y, et al. The hidden treasure in apical papilla: the potential role in pulp/dentin regeneration and bioroot engineering. J Endod. 2008;34:645–51.
- Friedlander LT, Cullinan MP, Love RM. Dental stem cells and their potential role in apexogenesis and apexification. Int Endod J. 2009;42:955–62.
- 99. Radcliffe RM, Cullen CL. Preservation of future options: restorative procedures on first permanent molars in children. ASDC J Dent Child. 1991;58(2):104–8.
- 100. Waggoner WF. Restorative dentistry for the primary dentition. In: Pinkham JR, editor. Pediatric dentistry infancy through adolescence. Philadelphia: WB Saunders Co; 1988. p. 244–8.
- Bryant RW, Mahler DB. Modulus of elasticity in bending composites and amalgams. J Prosthet Dent. 1986;56:243–8.
- O'Brien WJ. Dental materials and their selection. 2nd ed. Chicago: Quintessence Publishing Inc.; 1997. p. 347–51.
- Powers JM, Sakaguchi RL, editors. Craig's restorative materials. 12th ed. St Louis: Mosby/ Elsevier; 2006. p. 60–1.
- 104. Akerboom HB, Advokatt JG, Van Amerongen WE, Borgmeijer PJ. Long-term evaluation of rerestoration of amalgam restorations. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 1993;21:45–8.
- 105. Forss H, Widström E. The post-amalgam era: a selection of materials and their longevity in primary and young permanent dentitions. Int J Paediatr Dent. 2003;13:158–64.
- 106. Randall RC. Preformed metal crowns for primary and permanent molar teeth: review of the literature. Pediatr Dent. 2002;24:489–500.
- 107. Seale NS. The use of stainless steel crowns. Pediatr Dent. 2002;24:501-5.
- Croll TP. Preformed posterior stainless shell crowns: an update. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 1999;20:89–104.
- 109. Mink JR. The stainless steel crown revisited. Alpha Omegan. 2005;98:38-42.
- 110. Webber DL. Gingival health following placement of stainless steel crowns. ASDC J Dent Child. 1974;41:186–9.
- 111. Rector JA, Mitchell RJ, Spedding RH. The influence of tooth preparation and crown manipulation on the mechanical retention of stainless steel crowns. ASDC J Dent Child. 1985;52:422–7.
- 112. Checchio LM, Gaskill WF, Carrel R. The relationship between periodontal disease and stainless steel crowns. ASDC J Dent Child. 1983;50:205–9.
- 113. Adair SM, Byrd RL. Evaluation of practitioner-developed criteria for assessing the quality of stainless steel crown restorations. ASDC J Dent Child. 1983;7:291–9.
- 114. Kindelan SA, Day P, Nichol R, et al. UK National Clinical Guidelines in Paediatric Dentistry: stainless steel preformed crowns for primary molars. Int J Paediatr Dent. 2008;18 Suppl 1:20–8.
- 115. White SN, Ingles S, Kipnis K. Influence of marginal opening on microleakage of cemented artificial crowns. J Prosthet Dent. 1994;71:257–64.
- 116. Shiflett K, White SN. Microleakage of cements for stainless steel crowns. Pediatr Dent. 1997;19:103–10.

- 117. Ettinger R, Kambhu PP, Asmussen CM, Damiano PC. An in vitro evaluation of the integrity of stainless steel crown margins cemented with different luting agents. Spec Care Dentist. 1988;18:78–83.
- 118. Croll TP, McKay MS, Castaldi CR. Impaction of permanent posterior teeth by overextended stainless steel margins. J Pedod. 1981;5:240–4.
- 119. Roberts JF, Sherriff M. The fate and survival of amalgam and preformed crown molar restorations placed in a specialist paediatric dental practice. Br Dent J. 1990;169:237–44.
- 120. Kotsanos N, Kaklamanos EG, Arapostathis K. Treatment management of first permanent molars in children with molar-incisor hypomineralisation. Eur J Paediatr Dent. 2005;6:179–84.
- 121. Humphrey WP. Use of chrome steel in children's dentistry. Dent Surv. 1950;26:945-9.
- 122. Mink JR, Bennett TC. The stainless steel crown. ASDC J Dent Child. 1968;35:186-96.
- 123. Winters J, Cameron A, Widmer R. Pulp therapy for primary and permanent teeth. In: Cameron A, Widmer R, editors. Handbook of pediatric dentistry. 3rd ed. London: Elsevier Ltd.; 2008. p. 102.
- 124. McDonald R, Avery D, Dean J. Treatment of deep caries, vital pulp exposure and pulpless teeth. In: Dean J, Avery A, McDonald R, editors. Dentistry for the child and adolescent. 9th ed. St. Louis: Mosby/Elsevier; 2011. p. 351, 355.
- 125. Fuks A, Heling I. Pulp therapy for the young permanent dentition. In: Pinkham J, Casamassimo P, McTigue D, Fields Jr H, Nowak A, editors. Pediatric dentistry: infancy through adolescence. 4th ed. St. Louis: Elsevier Saunders; 2005. p. 581.
- 126. Welbury RR, Duggal MS, Hosey M-T. Paediatric dentistry. 3rd ed. New York: Oxford University Press; 2005. p. 195–6.
- 127. Kowolik J, Kozlowski D, Jones JE. Utilization of stainless steel crowns by general dentists and pediatric specialists in Indiana. J Ind Dent Assoc. 2007;85:16–21.
- 128. Durr DP, Ashrafi MH, Duncan WK. A study of plaque accumulation and gingival health surrounding stainless steel crowns. ASDC J Dent Child. 1982;49:343–6.
- 129. Adewumi A, Kays D. Stainless steel crown aspiration during sedation in pediatric dentistry. Pediatr Dent. 2008;30:59–62.
- 130. Roberts MW. Treatment of ectopically erupting maxillary permanent first molars with a distal extended stainless steel crown. ASDC J Dent Child. 1986;53:430–2.
- 131. Keinan D, Mass E, Zibermann U. Absorption of nickel, chromium, and iron by the root surface of primary molars covered with stainless steel crowns. Int J Dent. 2010;2010:326124. Epub 2011 Jan 17.
- 132. Caplan DJ, Cai J, Yin G, White BA. Root canal filled versus non-root canal filled teeth: a retrospective comparison of survival times. J Public Health Dent. 2005;65:90–6.
- 133. Kolker JL, Damiano PC, Caplan DJ, et al. Teeth with large amalgam restorations and crowns: factors affecting the receipt of subsequent treatment after 10 years. JADA. 2005; 136:738–48.
- 134. Mentink AG, Meeuwissen R, Käyser AF, Mulder J. Survival rate and failure characteristics of the all metal post and core restoration. J Oral Rehabil. 1993;20:455–61.
- 135. Torbjörner A, Karlsson S, Odman PA. Survival rate and failure characteristics for two post designs. J Prosthet Dent. 1995;73:439–44.
- 136. Caplan DJ, Kolker J, Rivera EM, Walton RE. Relationship between number of proximal contacts and survival of root treated teeth. Int Endod J. 2002;35:193–9.
- Wegner PK, Freitag S, Kern M. Survival rate of endodontically treated teeth with posts after prosthetic restoration. J Endod. 2006;32:928–31.
- 138. De Backer H, Van Maele G, Decock V, Van den Berghe L. Long-term survival of complete crowns, fixed dental prostheses, and cantilever prostheses with post and cores on root-canal treated teeth. Int J Prosthodont. 2007;20:229–34.
- 139. Al-Wahadni A, Gutteridge DL. An in vitro investigation into the effects of retained coronal dentine on the strength of a tooth restored with a cemented post and partial core restoration. Int Endod J. 2002;35:913–8.

- 140. Al-Omiri MK, Al-Wahadni AM. An ex vivo study of the effects of retained coronal dentine on the strength of teeth restored with composite core and different post and core systems. Int Endod J. 2006;39:890–9.
- 141. Kumar R, Patil S, Hoshing U, Medha A, Mahaparale R. MTA apical plug and clinical application of anatomic post and core for coronal restoration: a case report. Iran Endod J. 2011;6:90–4.
- 142. Rouhollahi M, Mohammadibasir M, Talim S. Comparative depth of cure among two lightcured core build-up composites by surface Vickers hardness. J Dent (Tehran). 2012;9:255–61.
- 143. Bolhuis PB, de Gee AJ, Kleverlaan CJ, El Zohairy AA, Feilzer AJ. Contraction stress and bond strength to dentin for compatible and incompatible combinations of bonding systems and chemical and light-cured core build-up resin composites. Dent Mater. 2006;22:223–33.
- 144. Akagawa H, Nikaido T, Burrow MF, Tagami J. Influence of cavity configuration on the adhesion of two resin-based composites to pulpal floor dentin. Am J Dent. 2005;18:233–6.
- 145. Wattanawongpitak N, Yoshikawa T, Burrow MF, Tagami J. The effect of bonding system and composite type on adaptation of different C-factor restorations. Dent Mater J. 2006;25:45–50.
- 146. Taha NA, Palamara JE, Messer HH. Fracture strength and fracture patterns of root-filled teeth restored with direct resin composite restorations under static and fatigue loading. Oper Dent. 2014;39:181–8.
- 147. Mohammadi N, Kahnamoii MA, Yeganeh PK, Navimipour EJ. Effect of fiber post and cusp coverage on fracture resistance of endodontically treated maxillary premolars directly restored with composite resin. J Endod. 2009;35:1428–32.
- 148. Scotti N, Scansetti M, Rota R, Pera F, Pasqualini D, Berutti E. The effect of the post length and cusp coverage on the cycling and static load of endodontically treated maxillary premolars. Clin Oral Investig. 2011;15:923–9.
- Plotino G, Buono L, Grande NM, Lamorgese V, Somma F. Fracture resistance of endodontically treated molars restored with extensive composite resin restorations. J Prosthet Dent. 2008;99:225–32.
- Moosavi H, Moazzami SM, Loh S, Salari S. Microleakage evaluation of core buildup composite resins with total-etch and self-etch adhesive systems. J Contemp Dent Pract. 2010;11:9–16.
- 151. Taha NA, Palamara JE, Messer HH. Fracture strength and fracture patterns of root filled teeth restored with direct resin restorations. J Dent. 2011;39:527–35.
- 152. Rüttermann S, Alberts I, Raab WH, Janda RR. Physical properties of self-, dual-, and lightcured direct core materials. Clin Oral Investig. 2011;15:597–603.
- Kijsamanmith K, Timpawat S, Harnirattisai C, Messer HH. Micro-tensile bond strengths of bonding agents to pulpal floor dentine. Int Endod J. 2002;35:833–9.
- 154. Burrow MF, Harada N, Kitasako Y, Nikaido T, Tagami J. Seven-year dentin bond strengths of a total- and self-etch system. Eur J Oral Sci. 2005;113:265–70.
- 155. Mjör IA, Dahl JE, Moorhead JE. Placement and replacement of restorations in primary teeth. Acta Odontol Scand. 2002;60:25–8.
- 156. Roberts JF, Attari N, Sherriff M. The survival of resin modified glass ionomer and stainless steel crown restorations in primary molars, placed in a specialist paediatric practice. Br Dent J. 2005;198:427–31.
- 157. Soncini JA, Maserejian NN, Tachtenberg F, Tavares M, Hayes C. The longevity of amalgam versus compomer/composite restorations in posterior primary and permanent teeth: findings from the New England Children's Amalgam Trial. J Am Dent Assoc. 2007;138:763–72.
- 158. Lempel E, Tóth A, Fábián T, Krajczár K, Szalma J. Retrospective evaluation of posterior direct composite restorations: 10-year findings. Dent Mater. 2014;pii: S0109-5641(14)00653-8. doi:10.1016/j.dental.2014.11.001 [Epub ahead of print].

- 159. Dennison JB, Hamilton JC. Treatment decisions and conservation of tooth structure. Dent Clin N Am. 2005;49:825–45.
- Slutzky-Goldberg I, Slutzky H, Gorfil C, Smidt A. Restoration of endodontically treated teeth review and treatment recommendations. Int J Dent. 2009;2009:150251. Epub 2010 Jan 26.
- 161. Ree M, Schwartz RS. The endo-restorative interface: current concepts. Dent Clin N Am. 2010;54:345–74.
- 162. Touré B, Faye B, Kane AW, Lo CM, Niang B, Boucher Y. Analysis of reasons for extraction of endodontically treated teeth: a prospective study. J Endod. 2001;37:1512–5.
- 163. Fuss Z, Lustig J, Katz A, Tamse A. An evaluation of endodontically treated vertical root fractured teeth: impact of operative procedures. J Endod. 2001;27:46–8.
- 164. Fuss Z, Lustig J, Tamse A. Prevalence of vertical root fractures in extracted endodontically treated teeth. Int Endod J. 1999;32:283–6.
- 165. Zadik Y, Sandler V, Bechor R, Salehrabi R. Analysis of factors related to extraction of endodontically treated teeth. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Endod. 2008;106:e31–5.
- 166. Vire DE. Failure of endodontically treated teeth: classification and evaluation. J Endod. 1991;17:338–42.
- 167. Mannocci F, Qualtrough AJ, Worthington HV, Watson TF, Pitt Ford TR. Randomized clinical comparison of endodontically treated teeth restored with amalgam or with fiber posts and resin composite: five-year results. Oper Dent. 2005;30:9–15.
- 168. Eckerbom M, Magnusson T, Martinsson T. Reasons for and incidence of tooth mortality in Swedish population. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1992;8:230–4.
- 169. Ray HA, Trope M. Periapical status of endodontically treated teeth in relation to the technical quality of the root filling and the coronal restoration. Int Endod J. 1995;28:12–8.
- 170. Valderhaug J, Jokstad A, Ambjørnsen E, Norheim PW. Assessment of the periapical and clinical status of crowned teeth over 25 years. J Dent. 1997;25:97–105.
- 171. Alley BS, Kitchens GG, Alley LW, Eleazer PD. A comparison of survival of teeth following endodontic treatment performed by general dentists or by specialists. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Endod. 2004;98:115–8.
- 172. Aquilino SA, Caplan DJ. Relationship between crown placement and the survival of endodontically treated teeth. J Prosthet Dent. 2002;87:256–63.
- 173. Jamani KD, Aqrabawi J, Fayyad MA. A radiographic study of the relationship between technical quality of coronoradicular posts and periapical status in a Jordanian population. J Oral Sci. 2005;47:123–8.
- 174. Chugal NM, Clive JM, Spångberg LS. Endodontic treatment outcome: effect of the permanent restoration. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2007;104:576–82.
- 175. Tavares PB, Bonte E, Boukpessi T, Siqueira JF, Lasfargues J. Prevalence of apical periodontitis in root canal-treated teeth from an urban French population: influence of the quality of root canal fillings and coronal restorations. J Endod. 2009;35:810–3.
- 176. Ng YL, Mann V, Gulabivala K. Tooth survival following non-surgical root canal treatment: a systematic review of the literature. Int Endod J. 2010;43:171–89.
- 177. Nagasiri R, Chitmongkolsuk S. Long-term survival of endodontically treated molars without crown coverage: a retrospective cohort study. J Prosthet Dent. 2005;93:164–70.
- 178. Sorensen JA, Martinoff JT. Intracoronal reinforcement and coronal coverage: a study of endodontically treated teeth. J Prosthet Dent. 1984;51:780–4.
- 179. Dammaschke T, Nykiel K, Sagheri D, Schäfer E. Influence of coronal restorations on the fracture resistance of root canal-treated premolar and molar teeth: a retrospective study. Aust Endod J. 2013;39:48–56.
- Magne P, Belser UC. Porcelain versus composite inlays/onlays: effects of mechanical loads on stress distribution, adhesion, and crown flexure. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 2003;23:543–55.
- Beier US, Kapferer I, Burtscher D, Giesinger JM, Dumfahrt H. Clinical performance of allceramic inlay and only restorations in posterior teeth. Int J Prosthodont. 2012;25:395–402.

- 182. Guess PC, Selz CF, Steinhart YN, Stampf S, Strub JR. Prospective clinical split-mouth study of pressed and CAD/CAM all-ceramic partial-coverage restorations: 7-year results. Int J Prosthodont. 2013;26:21–5.
- 183. Magne P, Carvalho A, Bruzi G, Anderson R, Maia H, Giannini M. Influence of no-ferrule and no-post buildup resin on the fatigue resistance of endodontically treated molars restored with resin nanoceramic CAD/CAM crowns. Oper Dent. 2014;39:595–602.
- 184. Biacchi GR, Basting RT. Comparison of fracture strength of endocrowns and glass fiber postretained conventional crowns. Oper Dent. 2012;37:130–6.
- 185. Dejak B, Młotkowski A. 3D-finite element analysis of molars restored with endocrowns and posts during masticatory simulation. Dent Mater. 2013;29:e309–17.
- Hatzikyriakos AH, Reisis GI, Tsingos N. A 3-year postoperative clinical evaluation of posts and cores beneath existing crowns. J Prosthet Dent. 1992;67:454–8.
- Creugers NH, Kreulen CM, Fokkinga WA, Mentink AG. A 5-year prospective clinical study on core restorations without covering crowns. Int J Prosthodont. 2005;18:40–1.
- Walton TR. An up to 15-year longitudinal study of 515 metal-ceramic FPDs: part 2. Modes of failure and influence of various clinical characteristics. Int J Prosthodont. 2003;16:177–82.
- 189. Ferrari M, Vichi A, Fadda GM, Cagidiaco MC, Tay FR, Breschi L, Polimeni A, Gorracci C. A randomized controlled trial of endodontically treated and restored premolars. J Dent Res. 2012;91(7 Suppl):72S–8.
- 190. Signore A, Benedicenti S, Kaitsas V, Barone M, Angiero F, Ravera G. Long-term survival of endodontically treated, maxillary anterior teeth restored with either tapered or parallel-sided glass-fiber posts and full-ceramic crown coverage. J Dent. 2009;37:115–21.
- 191. Naumann M, Koelpin M, Beuer F, Meyer-Lueckel H. 10-year survival evaluation for glassfiber-supported postendodontic restoration: a prospective observational clinical study. J Endod. 2012;38:432–5.
- 192. Bitter K, Noetzel J, Stamm O, Vaudt J, Meyer Lueckel H, Neumann K, Kielbassa AM. Randomized clinical trial comparing the effects of post placement on failure rate of postendodontic restorations: preliminary results of a mean period of 32 months. J Endod. 2009;35:1477–82.
- 193. Hansen EK. In vivo cusp fracture of endodontically treated premolars restored with MOD amalgam or MOD resin fillings. Dent Mater. 1988;4:169–73.
- 194. Hansen EK, Asmussen E. In vivo fractures of endodontically treated posterior teeth restored with enamel-bonded resin. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1990;6:218–25.
- 195. Mannocci F, Bertelli E, Sherriff M, Watson TF, Ford TR. Three-year clinical comparison of survival of endodontically treated teeth restored with either full cast coverage or with direct composite restoration. J Prosthet Dent. 2002;88:297–301.
- Hansen EK, Asmussen E, Christiansen NC. In vivo fractures of endodontically treated posterior teeth restored with amalgam. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1990;6:49–55.
- 197. Stavropoulou AF, Koidis PT. A systematic review of single crowns on endodontically treated teeth. J Dent. 2007;35:761–7.
- 198. Fedorowicz Z, Carter B, de Souza RF, Chaves CA, Nasser M, Sequeira-Byron P. Single crowns versus conventional fillings for the restoration of root filled teeth. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;5, CD009109.
- 199. Ross RS, Nicholls JI, Harrington GW. A comparison of strains generated during placement of five endodontic posts. J Endod. 1991;17:450–6.
- Standlee JP, Caputo AA, Holcomb JP. The dentatus screw: comparative stress analysis with other endodontic dowel designs. J Oral Rehabil. 1982;9:23–33.
- Deutsch AS, Musikant BL, Cavallari J, et al. Root fracture during insertion of prefabricated posts related to root size. J Prosthet Dent. 1985;53:786–9.
- 202. Caputo AA, Hokama SN. Stress and retention properties of a new threaded endodontic post. Quintessence Int. 1987;18:431–5.

- Wallerstedt D, Eliasson S, Sundström F. A follow-up study of screwpost-retained amalgam crowns. Swed Dent J. 1984;8:165–70.
- Linde LÅ. The use of composites as core material in root filled teeth. II. Clinical investigation. Swed Dent J. 1984;8:209–16.
- 205. Ross IF. Fracture susceptibility of endodontically treated teeth. J Endod. 1980;6:560-5.
- 206. Baba NZ, Golden G, Goodacre CJ. Non-metallic prefabricated dowels: a review of compositions, properties, laboratory and clinical test results. J Prosthodont. 2009;18:527–36.
- Lassila LV, Tanner J, Le Bell AM, Narva K, Vallittu PK. Flexural properties of fiber reinforced root canal posts. Dent Mater. 2004;20:29–36.
- Lassila LVJ, Nohrström T, Vallitu P. The influence of short-term water storage on the flexural properties of unidirectional glass fiber-reinforced composites. Biomaterials. 2002;23:2221–9.
- 209. Bitter K, Kielbassa AM. Post-endodontic restorations with adhesively luted fiber-reinforced composite post systems: a review. Am J Dent. 2007;20:353–60.
- Ferrari M, Cagidiaco MC, Goracci C, Vichi A, Mason PN, Radovic I, Tay F. Long-term retrospective study of the clinical performance of fiber posts. Am J Dent. 2007;20:287–91.
- Ferrari M, Vichi A, Mannocci F, Mason PN. Retrospective study of the clinical performance of fiber posts. Am J Dent. 2000;13(Spec No):9B–13.
- 212. Bolla M, Muller Bolla M, Borg C, Lupi-Pegurier L, Laplanche O, Leforestier E. Root canal posts for the restoration of root filled teeth. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2007;1, CD004623.
- 213. Goodacre CJ. Carbon fiber posts may have fewer failures than metal posts. J Evid Based Dent Pract. 2010;10:32–4.
- Goracci C, Ferrari M. Current perspectives on post systems: a literature review. Aust Dent J. 2011;56 Suppl 1:77–83.
- 215. Cagidiaco MC, García Godoy F, Vichi A, Grandini S, Goracci C, Ferrari M. Placement of fiber prefabricated or custom made posts affects the 3-year survival of endodontically treated premolars. Am J Dent. 2008;21:179–84.
- 216. Bogen G, Munce CJ, Chandler NP. Repair of perforations in endodontically treated teeth. In: Baba NZ, editor. Contemporary restoration of endodontically treated teeth. Hanover Park: Quintessence Publishing Inc.; 2013. p. 167.
- Baba NZ, Goodacre CJ, Kattadiyil MT. Tooth retention through root canal treatment or tooth extraction and implant placement: a prosthodontic perspective. Quintessence Int. 2014;45:405–16.
- 218. Ozkurt Z, Kayahan MB, Sunay H, Kazazoğlu E, Bayirli G. The effect of the gap between the post restoration and the remaining root canal filling on the periradicular status in a Turkish subpopulation. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2010;110:131–5.
- 219. Moshonov J, Slutzky Goldberg I, Gottlieb A, Peretz B. The effect of the distance between post and residual gutta-percha on the clinical outcome of endodontic treatment. J Endod. 2005;31:177–9.
- Ferrari M, Cagidiaco MC, Grandini S, De Sanctis M, Goracci C. Post placement affects survival of endodontically treated premolars. J Dent Res. 2007B;86:729–34.
- 221. Mancebo JC, Jiménez-Castellanos E, Cañadas D. Effect of tooth type and ferrule on the survival of pulpless teeth restored with fiber posts: a 3-year clinical study. Am J Dent. 2010;23:351–6.
- 222. Zitzmann NU, Krastl G, Hecker H, Walter C, Waltimo T, Weiger R. Strategic considerations in treatment planning: deciding when to treat, extract, or replace a questionable tooth. J Prosthet Dent. 2010;104:80–91.
- 223. Merdad K, Sonbul H, Bukhary S, Reit C, Birkhed D. Caries susceptibility of endodontically versus nonendodontically treated teeth. J Endod. 2011;37:139–42.

Local, Systemic, and Genetic Considerations of Endodontic Treatment Prognosis

Matthew Malek and Louis M. Lin

Abstract

The outcome of nonsurgical endodontic treatment/re-treatment and the survival of the endodontically treated tooth depend on many known and possibly unknown factors. Among the ones that have been identified in the literature, 21 factors will be discussed in this chapter. These factors are classified under local (including anatomical, preoperative, intraoperative, and postoperative) and systemic (including demographic, genetic, systemic disease and medications, and geriatric) factors. Each factor is reviewed, and its effect on the outcome of the endodontic treatment and/or survival of the treated tooth is discussed based on the highest available evidence. Among the factors discussed in this chapter, the ones that are believed to be strongly associated with the outcome of the root canal treatment/re-treatment are periapical status, apical extent of root canal filling, quality of the root canal filling, and quality of the restoration.

Many studies have been performed on the outcome of endodontic treatment. However, the results of these studies are not always consistent with one another. These inconsistencies may be due to different factors, such as adopting different definitions of success and failure [1-3], varied follow-up periods [2, 3], different sample sizes [1, 2], different geographical locations of study [3], different study methodologies [3], etc.

In order to reconcile these inconsistencies and identify the most commonly accepted predictors, the base of this chapter will be focused on systematic reviews that have been done in those areas. Regarding the factors that have not been fully

N. Chugal, L.M. Lin (eds.), *Endodontic Prognosis*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-42412-5_11

M. Malek • L.M. Lin (🖂)

Department of Endodontics, New York University College of Dentistry, New York, NY, USA e-mail: matthewmalek@nyu.edu; lml7@nyu.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017

developed in systematic reviews, or if the reviews failed to satisfactorily identify the factors, an overview of the most important studies regarding those factors would be presented.

For the sake of this chapter, the factors involved in the prognosis of root canal treatment are categorized under local and systemic factors listed below:

Local Factors:

- Anatomic factors
- Preoperative factors
- Intra- (inter)operative factors
- · Postoperative factors

Systemic Factors:

- Demographic factors
- Genetic factors
- · Systemic diseases and medications
- Geriatric patients

11.1 Local Factors

11.1.1 Anatomical Factors

11.1.1.1 Tooth Type

Many studies have assessed the outcome of initial root canal treatment in relation to the tooth type, but the findings differ from one another. Kerekes and Tronstad [4] found that specific teeth (maxillary canines, second premolars, and mandibular canines) might have a better prognosis than others. Few other studies [5–7] found that mandibular molars had significantly lower success rates than other tooth types. In contrast, one study [8] observed that mandibular teeth might have a better success rate than maxillary teeth.

Studies on re-treatments have also shown that mandibular teeth in general have lower success rates compared to maxillary teeth [9-11].

A systematic review on survival rates of endodontically treated teeth has shown that non-molar teeth have higher chance of survival than molar teeth [12].

11.1.1.2 Number of Roots

Few studies have evaluated the outcome of endodontic treatment based on number of roots. Strindberg [13] and Engstrom [14] found that single-rooted teeth had more frequent failure rates than two-rooted and three-rooted teeth. Grahnen and Hansson [15] also found that treatment result was better for three-rooted than for two-rooted teeth and poorest for single-rooted teeth. In contrast, Friedman [16] found that teeth with single canals showed a higher success rate than teeth with multiple canals. The results of the Toronto study also reported that single-rooted teeth might have a better outcome than multi-rooted teeth [17].

11.1.1.3 Proximal Contacts

The effect of proximal contacts has been studied mostly in relation to tooth survival. Teeth with two proximal contacts have shown to have a better survival rate than teeth with one or no proximal contacts [18]. In some studies it was found that root canal-treated teeth with fewer than two proximal contacts were lost at a rate three times that of teeth with two proximal contacts [19, 20].

11.1.2 Preoperative Factors

11.1.2.1 Pulp Status

There is a great amount of contrast between the results of studies that examined the effect of pulp status on the outcome of the endodontic treatment. It must be noted that since necrotic pulp is mostly associated with periapical periodontitis, an end-odontic treatment on a tooth with necrotic pulp may have a low success rate due to the existence of a periapical periodontitis, not necessarily the pulp status. In a systematic review, after controlling this possible confounding factor, no significant difference was found between the outcomes of endodontic treatment between vital and non-vital teeth [3].

11.1.2.2 Clinical Symptoms

There is no good correlation between clinical symptoms and actual histology of pulp and periapical pathology [21]. Therefore, any studies based on this correlation should be evaluated with caution.

Few studies considered preoperative pain to have a significant influence on the long-term success of root canal fillings [16, 22]. However, according to the majority of outcome studies that considered this factor, preoperative symptoms did not have a significant effect on initial treatment [8, 23–26] or re-treatment cases [17].

In one study [27], preoperative sinus tract was found to have a significant effect on the outcome of root canal treatment. In contrast, an earlier study did not find this factor to be of any significance [28].

11.1.2.3 Periapical Status

Existence of a periapical lesion is one of the most agreed preoperative factors that can negatively affect the outcome of the root canal treatment. Regarding initial root canal treatment, in a systematic review based on 14 studies, it was concluded that non-vital teeth without periapical lesion had approximately 1.95 times higher odds of success than non-vital teeth with periapical lesions [3]. With respect to re-treatment cases, another systematic review based on eight studies concluded that non-vital teeth without periapical lesion had approximately 6.32 times higher odds of success than non-vital teeth with periapical lesion had approximately 6.32 times higher odds of success than non-vital teeth with periapical lesions [2]. It therefore appears that the existence of periapical pathology has more significant effect on the outcome of re-treatment cases than treatment cases (Table 11.1).

	Existence of periapical lesion	Size $\geq 5 \text{ mm}$
Effect on primary treatment	1.95 times less successful	No significant effect
Effect on re-treatment	6.32 times less successful	Significantly less successful than <5 mm

Table 11.1 The effect of periapical lesion and its size on the success of treatment

11.1.2.4 Size of the Periapical Lesion

A systematic review on the outcome of primary root canal treatment did not find the size of the periapical lesion ($5 < \text{ or } \ge 5$) to have a significant effect on the outcome of the treatment [3]. However, a systematic review on the outcome of secondary root canal treatments found that teeth associated with lesions equal or larger than 5 mm had a significant less chance of success than teeth with lesions smaller than 5 mm [2] (Table 11.1).

11.1.2.5 Factors Related to Previous Treatment

Time Interval Between the First and Second Treatment Based on the current evidence, time interval between the first and second treatment does not seem to affect the success of re-treatment [9, 29]. However, this finding should be considered with caution, since the precise time of primary root canal treatment is usually difficult to establish.

Quality of Previous Root Canal Treatment According to one study [30], the quality of the root filling material did not have an effect on the success of re-treatment. However, another study [29] found that in cases with preoperative periapical lesions, the success of re-treatment of teeth with high-quality root filling (0–2 mm to the radiographic apex and no voids) was significantly higher than teeth with low-quality root filling. Another study [27] evaluated the same factor, but the results were not statistically significant after adjusting the results for the presence of periapical lesion.

Foreign Materials in the Canal Regarding foreign materials in the canal, the results of the studies vary [2]. It seems that intracanal foreign materials can affect the outcome of re-treatment if they prevent chemomechanical debridement of the canal apical to the foreign materials [27]. Regarding re-treatments, it has been suggested that as long as patency is achieved at the canal terminus, success of treatment would not be affected by the type of foreign material, whether it was removed or bypassed [27].

Preexisting Perforation In a systematic review, it was shown that preexisting perforations in the root canal might lower the success rate of re-treatment cases up to 32% compared to the teeth without perforations [2].

11.1.2.6 Periodontal Status

Studies have shown that the main reason for extracting endodontically treated teeth is usually not endodontic failure, but restorative failure or periodontal disease [31–33]. In one study, marginal bone support was found to have a significant effect on the success of endodontic treatment [8]. Setzer [34] also found significant positive correlations between the attachment loss of the tooth and untoward events (any form of re-treatment or extraction) in molars. Another study found that cracked teeth with >3 mm periodontal pocketing might affect the long-term survival of the tooth [35]. These findings emphasize the need for periodontal evaluation prior to endodontic treatment.

11.1.3 Inter-/Intraoperative Factors

11.1.3.1 The Use of Rubber Dam

The use of rubber dam is mandatory in root canal treatments [36]. Not only it protects the patient during treatment procedures but also enhances the treatment efficiency [37]. Few studies have evaluated the use of rubber dam in root canal treatment. In a retrospective study, using rubber dam during post preparation was associated with a significantly higher success rate in root canal-treated teeth [38]. Regarding the use of rubber dam during root canal treatment, one study found that re-treatment outcome with the use of rubber dam was significantly higher than with cotton roll isolation [39]. Another study also found that the lack of use of rubber dam was one of the main reasons for postoperative pain [40].

11.1.3.2 Factors Related to Cleaning and Shaping

Culture Test Results

In a systematic review, the meta-analysis showed that the odds of success of primary treatment on teeth with pre-obturation negative culture were not significantly different from those of teeth with a positive culture regardless of periapical status. When the results were stratified for teeth without periapical lesion, the difference was still not significantly different. But when the results were stratified for teeth with periapical lesion, the odds of success of those teeth with negative culture were two times higher than those teeth with positive culture results [3] (Table 11.2).

Table 11.2The effect ofculture test results on thesuccess of treatment with orwithout periapical lesion		Negative compared to positive test results
	Teeth without periapical lesion	No significant effect
	Teeth with periapical lesion	Two times more successful

Apical Size of Preparation and Taper of the Preparation The available data regarding these factors are either insufficient or variable [2, 3]. However, most of the findings do not concur with the views that more effective bacterial debridement may be achieved with larger apical preparation [27] and wider taper [2].

Apical Extent of Instrumentation Orstavik [8] reported that over-instrumentation could influence treatment outcome. Regarding re-treatment cases, a study found that over-instrumentation (beyond apex) was associated with significantly lower success rates compared to when instrumentation was limited to the root canal space, regardless of the preoperative periapical status of the teeth [41].

Sjogren et al. [25] found that in teeth with preoperative apical periodontitis, 90% of cases healed when instrumented to the apical constriction, but only 69% of the cases healed when it was not possible to instrument the canal to its total length. Such a difference was not found in re-treatment cases.

Another study used radiographic apex as their reference point and found that the instrumentation level for successfully treated teeth/roots with normal preoperative pulp and periapex was farther away from the radiographic apex (1.23 ± 0.13 mm) than for teeth/roots with an unsuccessful outcome (0.20 ± 0.09 mm). However, successfully treated teeth/roots with pulp necrosis and apical periodontitis had working length levels closer to the radiographic apex (0.55 ± 0.12 mm) than did teeth/roots with unsuccessful outcomes (1.73 ± 0.30 mm). In teeth/roots with apical periodontitis, a millimeter loss in working length increased the chance of treatment failure by 14% [42].

11.1.3.3 Procedural Errors

Separated Instruments The results of different studies are not in agreement. Few studies found that instrument separation during treatment significantly reduced the success [13, 27]. Others found that in the absence of a periapical lesion, the presence of a fractured instrument might not affect the outcome of the root canal treatment [43, 44]. Some studies found that in cases with periapical lesion, separated instruments might lead to delayed healing [41] or persistent infection [45]. Another study reported that separated instruments decreased the success rate only in necrotic teeth [4]. A systematic review (with only two included studies) did not find separated instruments to have a significant effect on the outcome of endodontic treatments [46].

Perforations Perforation location and its size seem to significantly influence the occurrence of perforation-associated periodontal damage. Crestal perforations (at the level of crestal bone) induce significantly more pathological changes in the adjacent periodontal tissue than perforations coronal or apical to the crestal bone [47]. Few studies have reported that perforations reduced the success rate [25, 27, 45]. Other studies found that in cases with periapical lesion, perforations might lead to delayed healing [41] or persistent infection [17, 45]. Another study reported that perforations would lower the success rate only in necrotic teeth [4].

Table 11.3 Clinical	RCMR	RCMA
situations divided to root	Calcification	Apical transportation
(RCMR) and root canal morphology altered (RCMA)	Apical stop (blockage)	Perforation
	Broken instrument	Stripping
	Underfilled canal	Internal resorption

Careful examination of aforementioned studies shows that procedural errors may not be the direct cause of endodontic disease. It has been suggested that endodontic procedural errors are not the direct cause of treatment failure; rather, the presence of pathogens in the root canal system is the cause of periapical pathoses [48]. In light of this explanation, Gorni and Gagliani divided clinical situations in re-treatment cases to two categories (Table 11.3): root canal morphology respected (RCMR) – including calcification, apical stop, broken instrument, and underfilled canal – and root canal morphology altered (RCMA), including apical transportation, perforation, stripping, and internal resorption. In their findings, the overall success in RCMA cases was significantly less than RCMR cases (48.7% vs. 83.3%). This difference was more significant in the presence of periapical lesion, whereas in cases without periapical lesions, the difference was insignificant [49].

11.1.3.4 Intracanal Irrigants and Medications

There are few studies that have focused on the effect of intracanal irrigants and medications on the outcome of root canal treatment. However, due to different methodologies, significant amount of heterogeneities, and varied protocols, their results vary. As a result, systematic reviews have failed to prove any irrigant or medication to be superior or significantly more efficient compared to others. For instance, two systematic reviews did not find calcium hydroxide an efficient intracanal medication to eliminate bacteria from human root canals [50] or to increase the healing rate of root canal treatments [51]. Regarding intracanal irrigants, systematic reviews on root canal treatments and re-treatments did not find sufficient data to perform further analysis or even a meta-analysis [2, 3].

11.1.3.5 Number of Visits

Two systematic reviews have explored the difference between the outcomes of single- and multiple-visit treatments. One study reported that the healing rate of singleand multiple-visit root canal treatments is similar [52]. The other study reported that no detectable difference was found in the effectiveness of root canal treatment in terms of radiologic success between single and multiple visits [53].

11.1.3.6 Flare-Up

The average prevalence of flare-up is reported to be around 8.4% [54], and most studies have shown that it does not have an effect on the treatment outcome [4, 25, 55]. However, a more recent study showed that the occurrence of flare-up significantly reduced the outcome of endodontic treatment [27].

11.1.3.7 Obturation

Filling Materials, Techniques, and Type of Sealers Two systematic reviews did not find sufficient data to analyze the effect of root canal materials, techniques, and type of sealers on the outcome of the treatment [2, 3].

Apical Extent of Root Filling A systematic review on primary root canal treatment showed that there was no significant difference in the odds of success between root canal treatments with flush (within 0–2 mm short of the radiographic apex) and short (>2 mm short of radiographic apex) root fillings in teeth without preoperative periapical lesion. However, in teeth with preoperative periapical lesion, flush root fillings had higher odds of success. Flush root fillings had always more odds of success than long (beyond the radiographic apex) root filling regardless of the periapical status. Short root fillings had higher odds of success than long fillings in cases without preoperative periapical lesion, but in cases with preoperative periapical lesion, there was no significant difference between long and short fillings [3].

In re-treatment cases, short and flush root fillings had significantly higher success rates than those with long root fillings. In the presence of periapical lesion, the same trend was observed but with less significant difference [2] (Table 11.4).

Another systematic review on the optimal obturation length showed that after at least 2 years of follow-up, obturation 0-1 mm short of the radiographic apex had a better outcome than obturation 1-3 mm short of the apex; both were superior to obturation beyond the apex [56].

Quality of Root Canal Filling The success rate of treatment with satisfactory root canal fillings (adequate seal and absence of voids) is significantly higher than the success rate of treatment with unsatisfactory root canal fillings [3]. This difference was found to be higher in re-treatment cases than primary treatments [2].

The above findings emphasize the fact that endodontic disease is mainly a result of bacterial infection. Therefore, any kind of obturation deficiency would amplify the effect of bacterial contamination. In cases that the bacterial contamination is

		Flush (0-2 mm	Short (>2 mm
	Long (>2 mm long)	short)	short)
Primary treatment without periapical lesion	Less success than flush and short	No significant difference	
Primary treatment with periapical lesion	Less success than flush but similar to short	Flush has higher success than short	
Re-treatment without periapical lesion	Less success than flush and short	Flush and short higher success than long	
Re-treatment with periapical lesion	Less success than flush and short	Flush and short high long	her success than

Table 11.4 The effect of apical extent of root filling on the success of treatment (measurements are from radiographic apex)

under control, such deficiencies have less effect on the outcome of the treatment. This observation is consistent with previous studies. In an animal study, wellinstrumented, but non-obturated, teeth healed similarly to the obturated teeth with the presence of apical periodontitis [57]. Lin [58] also found that the apical extent of root canal fillings, i.e., underfilled, flush filled, or overfilled, seems to have no correlation to treatment failures. In another study, it is clearly shown that when no bacteria are present, healing occurs regardless of the quality of the obturation. But when bacteria are present at the time of obturation, there is a correlation between the quality of obturation and nonhealing [59].

11.1.4 Postoperative Factors

11.1.4.1 Type and Quality of Restoration

Type of Restoration In general there is adequate evidence to show that restored teeth (temporarily or permanently) are associated with significantly higher success rates than unrestored teeth [9, 16, 29]. Regarding the type of restorations, a systematic review reported 10-year survival of 81% for crowned endodontically treated teeth and a 10-year survival of 63% for endodontically treated teeth with direct restorations (resin composites, amalgam, cements) [60]. Another systematic review showed that teeth not functioning as fixed or removable prosthesis abutments were associated with a significant higher survival probability than those that functioned as fixed prosthesis abutments [12].

The Effect of Post Regarding the effect of post on the outcome, study results are varied. In general, it seems that teeth with post-retained restorations may have a slightly lower survival rate than teeth without post-retained restorations [12].

Quality of Restoration The odds of success of primary treatment and re-treatments are significantly higher for teeth with satisfactory restorations (no evidence of discrepancy, discoloration, or recurrent caries at the restoration margin with absence of a history of decementation) compared to unsatisfactory restorations [2, 3].

Quality of Filling vs. Quality of Restoration There are few studies comparing the importance of the quality of root canal fillings with the quality of coronal restoration. One study reported that high-quality post-endodontic restorations resulted in significantly more successful cases when compared with good endodontics (80% vs. 75.7%) and poor restorations resulted in significantly more periradicular inflammation cases when compared with poor endodontics [61]. Another study found no difference between the quality of coronal restoration and root fillings [62]. Yet another one reported that the technical quality of the endodontic treatment as judged radiographically was significantly more important than the technical quality of the coronal restoration when the periapical status of endodontically treated teeth is evaluated [63]. A systematic review concluded that although poorer clinical outcomes may be expected with adequate root filling–inadequate coronal restoration and

inadequate root filling-adequate coronal restoration, there is no significant difference in the odds of healing between these two combinations [64].

11.2 Systemic Factors

11.2.1 Demographic Factors

Age and gender have not been shown to significantly affect the outcome of root canal treatments and re-treatments [2, 3, 12]. The results of studies done on survival rates of endodontically treated tooth regarding these factors vary significantly [12].

11.2.2 Genetic Factors

Genetic disorders or genetic polymorphism might affect the host's defense mechanisms, such as innate or adaptive immunity, and result in susceptibility to diseases or altered response to treatment. Genetic disorder is an illness usually caused by one or more abnormalities in the genome. Gene polymorphism is due to certain point mutations in the genotype.

There is paucity of studies between the relationship of genetic polymorphism and posttreatment apical periodontitis [65–68]. Two genetic conditions, carriage of allele H131 of the FcrRIIa gene and a combination of this allele with allele Na² of the FcrRIIIb gene, have been reported to be associated with posttreatment apical periodontitis [67]. The individuals with rare allele (allele 2 or T) of IL-1ß were reported seven times more likely to have posttreatment apical periodontitis compared with individuals homozygous for the common allele (allele 1 or C) [65]. Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) of other inflammation-associated genes, matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) 2 and 3, also show susceptibility to the development of periapical lesions and healing response [69].

11.2.3 Systemic Diseases and Medications

An early study suggested that osteoporosis, avitaminose C, steroid therapy, and diabetes may delay healing and, as a result, negatively affect the outcome of endodontic treatment [70]. From this list, scientific evidence exists at least for steroid therapy and diabetes to have an effect on the outcome of endodontic treatment. A recent systematic review did not find general medical health to significantly affect the outcome of root canal treatment [3]. However, there are evidence suggesting that there are few systemic health-related problems that may affect the outcome of endodontic treatment.

Diabetes Mellitus Diabetes has numerous complications that are of concern to oral health professions [71]. Increased susceptibility to infection, neuropathy,

and delayed healing of the diabetic patients may affect the outcome of endodontic treatment.

Most studies have shown that diabetes is associated with increased prevalence of apical periodontitis [72-74]. In contrast to these studies, one study did not find an association between apical periodontitis and diabetes in treated teeth [75].

Fouad has suggested that diabetic patients with preoperative periapical lesions are less likely to be determined successful 2 years or longer postoperatively [76]. A study on endodontic treatment outcome showed that a history of diabetes was associated with a significant reduced successful outcome [77]. A prospective study on the factors affecting the survival of nonsurgical root canal treatment found that diabetic patients have a higher chance of having an endodontically treated tooth be extracted [27]. This study is in line with another prospective study that also found that the risk of tooth extraction in endodontically treated teeth is significantly associated with diabetes [78]. It is interesting to note that in Ng's study, most of the tooth loss was due to persistent postoperative pain, possibly due to neuralgia, and not delayed healing [27]. In Wang's study, most of the teeth were extracted due to restorative concerns and tooth fractures [78].

Hypertension One study found that the prevalence of apical periodontitis and endodontic treatment was not significantly different in hypertensive patients compared with controlled subjects without hypertension [79]. However, few other studies have found that tooth extraction is significantly associated with hypertension [78, 80]. Although diabetes and hypertension may exist simultaneously, one study provided data that showed hypertension and diabetes are independent risk factors for tooth extraction 2 years after nonsurgical root canal treatment [78].

Smoking Few studies have shown that the prevalence of apical periodontitis and endodontic treatment is significantly higher in smoker hypertensive patients compared with nonsmoker patients [81, 82]. Another study has also reported that smoking is significantly associated with endodontic disease and prognosis [83]. However, more evidence-based studies are required to determine the significance of this factor on the outcome of endodontic treatment.

Human Immunodeficiency Syndrome (HIV) HIV virus has been detected in dental pulp [84] and periapical lesion [85] of HIV-positive patients. Therefore, its role in pathogenesis and healing of periapical lesions is of a concern. It has been reported that conditions associated with impaired nonspecific immune responses reduced the success of root canal treatment [86], but most of the available evidence does not support the fact that the success of root canal treatment in HIV-positive patients is less than HIV-negative patients. One study reported that root canal treatment on HIV-positive patients was associated with no short-term (3 months) complications [87]. In an outcome study, the authors did not find any difference between the outcomes of endodontic treatment of patients with HIV/AIDS compared with the

patients without HIV/AIDS [88]. Another study reported that there is no statistically significant difference between the two groups of patients (HIV-positive and HIV-negative patients) with respect to the degree of periradicular healing after 1 year after endodontic treatment [89].

Systemic Steroid Therapy The negative effect of steroid therapy on treatment outcome has been attributed to delayed healing and compromised immune system [70]. A prospective study on the factors affecting the survival of nonsurgical root canal treatment found that patients receiving systemic steroid therapy might have a higher chance of having an endodontically treated tooth be extracted [27].

Bisphosphonate Therapy Bisphosphonates are usually used in the management and treatment of bone diseases, such as osteoporosis and Paget's disease, and to prevent bone complications and to treat malignant hypercalcemia in certain types of cancer. There are an increasing number of reports of bisphosphonateassociated osteonecrosis of the jaws that have substantial implications for the patient and for the treating dentist, few of which are a result of endodontic treatment [90].

Most of the knowledge on the effect of bisphosphonates on endodontic outcome has been gathered through case reports. According to the American Board of Endodontics Position Statement (this statement can be found at http://www.aae.org/ uploadedfiles/publications_and_research/guidelines_and_position_statements/ bisphosonatesstatement.pdf), patients taking IV bisphosphonates are in a higher risk than patients taking oral bisphosphonates. In the former cases, conservative nonsurgical root canal therapy is an appropriate treatment in cases where the tooth may otherwise be extracted. Case reports have shown that conservative root canal treatment is successful in similar cases [91].

11.2.4 Geriatric Patients

It has been shown that age is not a determining factor in the success of endodontic treatment [2, 3]. However, this finding may be confounded by the smaller number of older patients compared to younger patients included in those studies. In general it is important to understand and consider the systemic (such as oral pain as a result of side effects of medications), local (such as root canal calcifications), biologic, and anatomic differences in the dental tissues between older and younger patients. Such differences, if not taken into consideration, may lead to misdiagnosis and mistreatment. However, these differences generally do not contraindicate treatment, which when performed correctly will be successful in the elderly patient [92]. It is also important to understand that usually the periradicular tissues will heal as readily in elderly as in young patients [7]. However, wound healing may take longer for the older patients than the younger patients because of aged stem cells and old micro-environmental cues [93].

11.3 Summary

Throughout this chapter the factors involved in endodontic outcome were reviewed. These factors were classified based on certain criteria such as location (local or systemic) and time (preoperative, intraoperative, and postoperative). However, there are other ways to classify these factors. For instance, they can be classified based on whether they affect primary or secondary treatments (re-treatments). Although most factors should influence both, there is not enough evidence to support the effect of some factors on re-treatment cases. Based on this review, there is some evidence to show that the following seven factors may also affect re-treatment cases: tooth type, periapical status, use of rubber dam, apical extent of instrumentation, apical extent of root filling, quality of the root filling, and quality of the restoration. The only factor that affects only the re-treatment cases is the one that is related to the previous treatment.

Another way to classify these factors is based on whether they influence the outcome of the treatment or the survival of the treated tooth. Positive outcome is different than survival, although there is some overlapping. Positive outcome discusses healing or nonhealing, or success or failure (based on the terminology used), but survival discusses the odds of the treated tooth to survive in the oral cavity. Among the factors discussed, the following factors seem to influence the survival of the root canal-treated tooth: tooth type, proximal contacts, periodontal status, type of restoration, and few systemic factors.

After identifying the factors that have determining effect on the outcome of the treatment or the survival of the tooth, the following guidelines are emphasized to achieve the highest possible success in root canal treatment:

- 1. Case selection: Review of the medical history and taking into consideration all medical conditions that may affect treatment outcome. Also, one should consider the type of tooth, the periodontal condition (probing, attachment loss, crown-to-root ratio), restorability of the tooth (preferable a crown), and whether the tooth is part of a bridge or not.
- 2. Informing the patient: It is paramount that the patient is fully informed of all factors that may affect the outcome of the treatment. For instance, a central incisor with normal periapex and no bone loss will most likely have a better survival rate than a molar with poor crown-to-root ratio. As another example, a primary treatment on a vital premolar will most likely have a better outcome than a retreatment on another premolar with large periapical lesion. The situation will be complicated if the patient has a preexisting medical condition, such as diabetes. Adapting patient's level of expectation to the reality of each treatment is one of the most important elements in the quality of service rendered.
- 3. Proper treatment: The most important factor in the success of endodontic treatment is infection control and prevention of secondary infection. Proper use of the rubber dam, adequate cleaning and shaping, and obturation, all fall into this category. If the case is carefully selected, but the treatment is not rendered properly, failure will be expected.

4. Proper restoration: The last but not least is properly restoring the tooth in a timely manner. If the tooth is not properly and timely restored, even with the highest-quality root canal treatment, failure will be expected. Therefore, reevaluating the treated cases in few months is important to make sure the tooth is properly restored. The restoration phase should also be discussed with the patient prior to the initiation of endodontic treatment so that the patient is aware, is able, and can plan the restorative phase of the treatment appropriately.

References

- 1. Friedman S. Prognosis of initial endodontic therapy. Endod Top. 2002;2:59-88.
- Ng YL, Mann V, Gulabivala K. Outcome of secondary root canal treatment: a systematic review of the literature. Int Endod J. 2008;41:1026–46.
- Ng YL, Mann V, Rahbaran S, Lewsey J, Gulabivala K. Outcome of primary root canal treatment: systematic review of the literature – part 1. Effects of study characteristics on probability of success. Int Endod J. 2007;40:921–39.
- Kerekes K, Tronstad L. Long-term results of endodontic treatment performed with a standardized technique. J Endod. 1979;5:83–90.
- Benenati FW, Khajotia SS. A radiographic recall evaluation of 894 endodontic cases treated in a dental school setting. J Endod. 2002;28:391–5.
- 6. Smith CS, Setchell DJ, Harty FJ. Factors influencing the success of conventional root canal therapy a five-year retrospective study. Int Endod J. 1993;26:321–33.
- 7. Swartz DB, Skidmore AE, Griffin Jr JA. Twenty years of endodontic success and failure. J Endod. 1983;9:198–202.
- Orstavik D, Qvist V, Stoltze K. A multivariate analysis of the outcome of endodontic treatment. Eur J Oral Sci. 2004;112:224–30.
- Allen RK, Newton CW, Brown Jr CE. A statistical analysis of surgical and nonsurgical endodontic retreatment cases. J Endod. 1989;15:261–6.
- 10. Pekruhn RB. The incidence of failure following single-visit endodontic therapy. J Endod. 1986;12:68–72.
- Selden HS. Pulpoperiapical disease: diagnosis and healing. A clinical endodontic study. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1974;37:271–83.
- Ng YL, Mann V, Gulabivala K. Tooth survival following non-surgical root canal treatment: a systematic review of the literature. Int Endod J. 2010;43:171–89.
- 13. Strindberg LZ. The dependence of the results of pulp therapy on certain factors. Acta Odontol Scand. 1956;14 Suppl 21:1–175.
- 14. Engstrom B, Frostell G. Experiences of bacteriological root canal control. Acta Odontol Scand. 1964;22:43–69.
- Grahnen H, Hansson L. The prognosis of pulp and root canal therapy. A clinical and radiological follow-up examination. Odontol Revy. 1961;12:146–65.
- Friedman S, Lost C, Zarrabian M, Trope M. Evaluation of success and failure after endodontic therapy using a glass ionomer cement sealer. J Endod. 1995;21:384–90.
- de Chevigny C, Dao TT, Basrani BR, Marquis V, Farzaneh M, Abitbol S, et al. Treatment outcome in endodontics: the Toronto study – phase 4: initial treatment. J Endod. 2008;34:258–63.
- Alley BS, Kitchens GG, Alley LW, Eleazer PD. A comparison of survival of teeth following endodontic treatment performed by general dentists or by specialists. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2004;98:115–8.
- Caplan DJ, Kolker J, Rivera EM, Walton RE. Relationship between number of proximal contacts and survival of root canal treated teeth. Int Endod J. 2002;35:193–9.

- Caplan DJ, Weintraub JA. Factors related to loss of root canal filled teeth. J Public Health Dent. 1997;57:31–9.
- Seltzer S, Bender IB, Ziontz M. The dynamics of pulp inflammation: correlations between diagnostic data and actual histologic findings in the pulp. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1963;16:846–71 (contd.).
- 22. Stoll R, Betke K, Stachniss V. The influence of different factors on the survival of root canal fillings: a 10-year retrospective study. J Endod. 2005;31:783–90.
- 23. Marquis VL, Dao T, Farzaneh M, Abitbol S, Friedman S. Treatment outcome in endodontics: the Toronto study. Phase III: initial treatment. J Endod. 2006;32:299–306.
- Orstavik D, Horsted-Bindslev P. A comparison of endodontic treatment results at two dental schools. Int Endod J. 1993;26:348–54.
- Sjogren U, Hagglund B, Sundqvist G, Wing K. Factors affecting the long-term results of endodontic treatment. J Endod. 1990;16:498–504.
- Weiger R, Rosendahl R, Lost C. Influence of calcium hydroxide intracanal dressings on the prognosis of teeth with endodontically induced periapical lesions. Int Endod J. 2000;33:219–26.
- Ng YL, Mann V, Gulabivala K. A prospective study of the factors affecting outcomes of nonsurgical root canal treatment: part 1: periapical health. Int Endod J. 2011;44:583–609.
- Chugal NM, Clive JM, Spangberg LS. A prognostic model for assessment of the outcome of endodontic treatment: effect of biologic and diagnostic variables. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2001;91:342–52.
- 29. Farzaneh M, Abitbol S, Friedman S. Treatment outcome in endodontics: the Toronto study. Phases i and ii: orthograde retreatment. J Endod. 2004;30:627–33.
- Danin J, Stromberg T, Forsgren H, Linder LE, Ramskold LO. Clinical management of nonhealing periradicular pathosis. Surgery versus endodontic retreatment. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 1996;82:213–7.
- Fonzar F, Fonzar A, Buttolo P, Worthington HV, Esposito M. The prognosis of root canal therapy: a 10-year retrospective cohort study on 411 patients with 1175 endodontically treated teeth. Eur J Oral Implantol. 2009;2:201–8.
- 32. Toure B, Faye B, Kane AW, Lo CM, Niang B, Boucher Y. Analysis of reasons for extraction of endodontically treated teeth: a prospective study. J Endod. 2011;37:1512–5.
- 33. Vire DE. Failure of endodontically treated teeth: classification and evaluation. J Endod. 1991;17:338–42.
- Setzer FC, Boyer KR, Jeppson JR, Karabucak B, Kim S. Long-term prognosis of endodontically treated teeth: a retrospective analysis of preoperative factors in molars. J Endod. 2011;37:21–5.
- Tan L, Chen NN, Poon CY, Wong HB. Survival of root filled cracked teeth in a tertiary institution. Int Endod J. 2006;39:886–9.
- 36. Cohen S, Schwartz S. Endodontic complications and the law. J Endod. 1987;13:191-7.
- 37. Ahmad IA. Rubber dam usage for endodontic treatment: a review. Int Endod J. 2009;42:963–72.
- Goldfein J, Speirs C, Finkelman M, Amato R. Rubber dam use during post placement influences the success of root canal-treated teeth. J Endod. 2013;39:1481–4.
- Van Nieuwenhuysen JP, Aouar M, D'Hoore W. Retreatment or radiographic monitoring in endodontics. Int Endod J. 1994;27:75–81.
- 40. Abbott PV. Factors associated with continuing pain in endodontics. Aust Dent J. 1994;39:157-61.
- Bergenholtz G, Lekholm U, Milthon R, Heden G, Odesjo B, Engstrom B. Retreatment of endodontic fillings. Scand J Dent Res. 1979;87:217–24.
- Chugal NM, Clive JM, Spangberg LS. Endodontic infection: some biologic and treatment factors associated with outcome. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2003;96:81–90.
- Grossman LI. Guidelines for the prevention of fracture of root canal instruments. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1969;28:746–52.

- Spili P, Parashos P, Messer HH. The impact of instrument fracture on outcome of endodontic treatment. J Endod. 2005;31:845–50.
- 45. Cvek M, Granath L, Lundberg M. Failures and healing in endodontically treated non-vital anterior teeth with posttraumatically reduced pulpal lumen. Acta Odontol Scand. 1982;40:223–8.
- 46. Panitvisai P, Parunnit P, Sathorn C, Messer HH. Impact of a retained instrument on treatment outcome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Endod. 2010;36:775–80.
- 47. Tsesis I, Rosenberg E, Faivishevsky V, Kfir A, Katz M, Rosen E. Prevalence and associated periodontal status of teeth with root perforation: a retrospective study of 2,002 patients' medical records. J Endod. 2010;36:797–800.
- Lin LM, Rosenberg PA, Lin J. Do procedural errors cause endodontic treatment failure? J Am Dent Assoc. 2005;136:187–93; quiz 231.
- 49. Gorni FG, Gagliani MM. The outcome of endodontic retreatment: a 2-yr follow-up. J Endod. 2004;30:1–4.
- Sathorn C, Parashos P, Messer H. Antibacterial efficacy of calcium hydroxide intracanal dressing: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int Endod J. 2007;40:2–10.
- Sathorn C, Parashos P, Messer HH. Effectiveness of single- versus multiple-visit endodontic treatment of teeth with apical periodontitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int Endod J. 2005;38:347–55.
- Su Y, Wang C, Ye L. Healing rate and post-obturation pain of single- versus multiple-visit endodontic treatment for infected root canals: a systematic review. J Endod. 2011;37:125–32.
- 53. Figini L, Lodi G, Gorni F, Gagliani M. Single versus multiple visits for endodontic treatment of permanent teeth: a Cochrane systematic review. J Endod. 2008;34:1041–7.
- 54. Tsesis I, Faivishevsky V, Fuss Z, Zukerman O. Flare-ups after endodontic treatment: a metaanalysis of literature. J Endod. 2008;34:1177–81.
- 55. Bystrom A, Happonen RP, Sjogren U, Sundqvist G. Healing of periapical lesions of pulpless teeth after endodontic treatment with controlled asepsis. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1987;3:58–63.
- Schaeffer MA, White RR, Walton RE. Determining the optimal obturation length: a metaanalysis of literature. J Endod. 2005;31:271–4.
- 57. Sabeti MA, Nekofar M, Motahhary P, Ghandi M, Simon JH. Healing of apical periodontitis after endodontic treatment with and without obturation in dogs. J Endod. 2006;32:628–33.
- Lin LM, Skribner JE, Gaengler P. Factors associated with endodontic treatment failures. J Endod. 1992;18:625–7.
- 59. Fabricius L, Dahlen G, Sundqvist G, Happonen RP, Moller AJ. Influence of residual bacteria on periapical tissue healing after chemomechanical treatment and root filling of experimentally infected monkey teeth. Eur J Oral Sci. 2006;114:278–85.
- 60. Stavropoulou AF, Koidis PT. A systematic review of single crowns on endodontically treated teeth. J Dent. 2007;35:761–7.
- 61. Ray HA, Trope M. Periapical status of endodontically treated teeth in relation to the technical quality of the root filling and the coronal restoration. Int Endod J. 1995;28:12–8.
- 62. Song M, Park M, Lee CY, Kim E. Periapical status related to the quality of coronal restorations and root fillings in a Korean population. J Endod. 2014;40:182–6.
- Tronstad L, Asbjornsen K, Doving L, Pedersen I, Eriksen HM. Influence of coronal restorations on the periapical health of endodontically treated teeth. Endod Dent Traumatol. 2000;16:218–21.
- 64. Gillen BM, Looney SW, Gu LS, Loushine BA, Weller RN, Loushine RJ, et al. Impact of the quality of coronal restoration versus the quality of root canal fillings on success of root canal treatment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Endod. 2011;37:895–902.
- 65. Morsani JM, Aminoshariae A, Han YW, Montagnese TA, Mickel A. Genetic predisposition to persistent apical periodontitis. J Endod. 2011;37:455–9.
- 66. Rocas IN, Siqueira Jr JF, Del Aguila CA, Provenzano JC, Guilherme BP, Goncalves LS. Polymorphism of the CD14 and TLR4 genes and post-treatment apical periodontitis. J Endod. 2014;40:168–72.

- Siqueira Jr JF, Rocas IN, Provenzano JC, Daibert FK, Silva MG, Lima KC. Relationship between fcgamma receptor and interleukin-1 gene polymorphisms and post-treatment apical periodontitis. J Endod. 2009;35:1186–92.
- 68. Siqueira Jr JF, Rocas IN, Provenzano JC, Guilherme BP. Polymorphism of the fcgammariiia gene and post-treatment apical periodontitis. J Endod. 2011;37:1345–8.
- 69. Menezes-Silva R, Khaliq S, Deeley K, Letra A, Vieira AR. Genetic susceptibility to periapical disease: conditional contribution of MMP2 and MMP3 genes to the development of periapical lesions and healing response. J Endod. 2012;38:604–7.
- Bender IB, Seltzer S. The relationship of systemic diseases to endodontic failures and treatment procedures. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1963;16:1102–15 (contd.).
- Vernillo AT. Dental considerations for the treatment of patients with diabetes mellitus. J Am Dent Assoc 2003;134(Spec No):24S-33.
- Falke D, Muntefering H, Stallmach D. Is type I diabetes a virus-induced disease? Wien Klin Wochenschr. 1988;100:422–30.
- Lopez-Lopez J, Jane-Salas E, Estrugo-Devesa A, Velasco-Ortega E, Martin-Gonzalez J, Segura-Egea JJ. Periapical and endodontic status of type 2 diabetic patients in catalonia, spain: a cross-sectional study. J Endod. 2011;37:598–601.
- 74. Segura-Egea JJ, Castellanos-Cosano L, Machuca G, Lopez-Lopez J, Martin-Gonzalez J, Velasco-Ortega E, et al. Diabetes mellitus, periapical inflammation and endodontic treatment outcome. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2012;17:e356–61.
- Marotta PS, Fontes TV, Armada L, Lima KC, Rocas IN, Siqueira Jr JF. Type 2 diabetes mellitus and the prevalence of apical periodontitis and endodontic treatment in an adult Brazilian population. J Endod. 2012;38:297–300.
- 76. Fouad AF. Diabetes mellitus as a modulating factor of endodontic infections. J Dent Educ. 2003;67:459–67.
- 77. Fouad AF, Burleson J. The effect of diabetes mellitus on endodontic treatment outcome: data from an electronic patient record. J Am Dent Assoc. 2003;134:43–51; quiz 117–118.
- Wang CH, Chueh LH, Chen SC, Feng YC, Hsiao CK, Chiang CP. Impact of diabetes mellitus, hypertension, and coronary artery disease on tooth extraction after nonsurgical endodontic treatment. J Endod. 2011;37:1–5.
- Segura-Egea JJ, Jimenez-Moreno E, Calvo-Monroy C, Rios-Santos JV, Velasco-Ortega E, Sanchez-Dominguez B, et al. Hypertension and dental periapical condition. J Endod. 2010;36:1800–4.
- Mindiola MJ, Mickel AK, Sami C, Jones JJ, Lalumandier JA, Nelson SS. Endodontic treatment in an American Indian population: a 10-year retrospective study. J Endod. 2006;32:828–32.
- Lopez-Lopez J, Jane-Salas E, Martin-Gonzalez J, Castellanos-Cosano L, Llamas-Carreras JM, Velasco-Ortega E, et al. Tobacco smoking and radiographic periapical status: a retrospective case-control study. J Endod. 2012;38:584–8.
- Segura-Egea JJ, Castellanos-Cosano L, Velasco-Ortega E, Rios-Santos JV, Llamas-Carreras JM, Machuca G, et al. Relationship between smoking and endodontic variables in hypertensive patients. J Endod. 2011;37:764–7.
- Duncan HF, Pitt Ford TR. The potential association between smoking and endodontic disease. Int Endod J. 2006;39:843–54.
- Glick M, Trope M, Pliskin ME. Detection of HIV in the dental pulp of a patient with AIDS. J Am Dent Assoc. 1989;119:649–50.
- Elkins DA, Torabinejad M, Schmidt RE, Rossi JJ, Kettering JD. Polymerase chain reaction detection of human immunodeficiency virus DNA in human periradicular lesions. J Endod. 1994;20:386–8.
- Marending M, Peters OA, Zehnder M. Factors affecting the outcome of orthograde root canal therapy in a general dentistry hospital practice. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2005;99:119–24.
- 87. Cooper H. Root canal treatment on patients with HIV infection. Int Endod J. 1993;26:369–71.
- Alley BS, Buchanan TH, Eleazer PD. Comparison of the success of root canal therapy in HIV/ AIDS patients and non-infected controls. Gen Dent. 2008;56:155–7.
- Quesnell BT, Alves M, Hawkinson Jr RW, Johnson BR, Wenckus CS, BeGole EA. The effect of human immunodeficiency virus on endodontic treatment outcome. J Endod. 2005;31:633–6.
- 90. Sarathy AP, Bourgeois Jr SL, Goodell GG. Bisphosphonate-associated osteonecrosis of the jaws and endodontic treatment: two case reports. J Endod. 2005;31:759–63.
- Katz H. Endodontic implications of bisphosphonate-associated osteonecrosis of the jaws: a report of three cases. J Endod. 2005;31:831–4.
- 92. Walton RE. Endodontic considerations in the geriatric patient. Dent Clin N Am. 1997;41:795–816.
- Conboy IM, Rando TA. Aging, stem cells and tissue regeneration: lessons from muscle. Cell Cycle. 2005;4:407–10.

Criteria for Outcome Assessment of Nonsurgical Endodontic Treatment

Nadia Chugal, Sanjay M. Mallya, and Bill Kahler

What's in a name? That which we call a rose by any other name would smell as sweet.

William Shakespeare

Abstract

Robust criteria for outcome assessment of nonsurgical endodontic treatment are essential determinants for any measure of success. Strindberg (1956) established strict criteria for clinical and radiographic evaluation of the endodontically-treated tooth at follow-up examinations. The absence of clinical symptoms, and the presence or absence of periapical radiolucency became the principal outcome measures of endodontic treatment. Subsequent studies have considered additional parameters that influence outcome such as microbiologic status prior to obturation, histopathologic data, and the effects of different techniques and materials. The "periapical index" (PAI) introduced the concept of a "continuum" that exists between success and failure where lesions could be considered as "healing." The Toronto study introduced a novel outcome category of "functional" for teeth that were asymptomatic regardless of the PAI score. The American Association of Endodontists (AAE) has proposed that

N. Chugal (\boxtimes)

S.M. Mallya Section of Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology, UCLA School of Dentistry, Los Angeles, CA, USA e-mail: smallya@ucla.edu

B. Kahler

Section of Endodontics, UCLA School of Dentistry, Los Angeles, CA, USA e-mail: nchugal@dentistry.ucla.edu

School of Dentistry, University of Queensland, Brisbane, QLD, Australia e-mail: wyattkahler@bigpond.com

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 N. Chugal, L.M. Lin (eds.), *Endodontic Prognosis*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-42412-5_12

endodontically-treated teeth are considered (1) healed, (2) nonhealed, (3) healing, or (4) functional. More recently, technological advances in radiology and the application of high-resolution cone beam computed tomography (CBCT) have increased diagnostic accuracy of radiographic changes in the apical periodontium. However, the use of this technology has been limited in outcome studies. Microbiological studies indicate the importance of disinfection of the root canal system on endodontic outcome. Therefore, the absence of clinical symptoms and presence or absence of radiographic apical periodontitis, as determined by periapical radiography, remain the principal outcome measures of endodontic treatment. The aim of this chapter is to discuss the development of the criterion for outcome for nonsurgical endodontic treatment from the strict view of success and failure while adequately considering newer concepts of healing and functionality.

12.1 Introduction

With completion of endodontic treatment and placement of permanent restoration, the professional obligation to our patients does not end. One of the most exciting aspects of endodontics is actually following up the patients and evaluating how the treatment performed affected the end result, i.e., the resolution of patient symptoms, restoration of normal periradicular structures, function, and ultimately tooth retention. Outcome assessment of endodontically treated teeth has been extensively studied. The terminology used to assess outcomes is varied and may be confusing to the practicing dentist. It is the intent of this chapter to clarify some of those terms and to present outcome assessment with the needs of a primary care dentist in mind. The knowledge gained from the outcome studies should be applied to the case assessment before the commencement of endodontic treatment. This information must be part of preoperative discussion, treatment planning, and informed consent.

Methods used to evaluate the outcome of endodontic therapy include clinical observation for resolution of clinical symptoms and signs, radiographic evaluation of periapical status, and histopathologic findings of biopsy specimens. Symptoms include spontaneous pain and/or pain to percussion, palpation, or biting, following endodontic treatment. The signs include swelling or draining sinus tract after end-odontic treatment [1–3].

High pretreatment root canal-associated pain prevalence drops moderately within 1 day and substantially to minimal levels by 7 days after root canal treatment [4]. The frequency of persistent all-cause pain 6 months or longer after root canal therapy of permanent teeth is approximately 5% and may include pain from an adjacent tooth, referred pain from a nonodontogenic structure, or deafferentation pain [5]. This remaining pain may also be an indicator of persistent infection [3]. Histopathologic analysis is not possible for routine nonsurgical endodontic

	Success (%)	Failure (%)	Uncertain (%)
No radiolucency	89.16	8.04	2.80
Yes radiolucency	68.40	29.00	2.60
Overall rate	80.79	16.49	2.71

 Table 12.1
 Therapeutic results at 4-year and final follow-up examinations [6]

A significant difference exists in outcome rates between cases with preoperative periapical radiolucency compared to those with normal periapex (p < 0.05)

treatment. Therefore, radiographic evaluation of periapical status remains the primary means to assess endodontic treatment outcomes.

A landmark study on endodontic outcome assessment was published in 1956 - a classic study by Strindberg that laid the foundation for conduct of future endodontic outcome studies [6]. The study was a human clinical prospective cohort study of 344 patients, which included 539 teeth and 779 roots, all treated by a single operator. All pertinent medical, dental, and treatment data were systematically collected, recorded, and analyzed. The follow-up period was 6 years, every 6 months for the first 2 years and yearly thereafter. The retention rate of the treated patients (75%) was remarkably high. The highlights of this study are that it:

- 1. Established criteria for evaluation of endodontic outcome, commonly referred to as Strindberg's criteria
- 2. Presented success rates for orthograde (conventional) endodontic treatment (Table 12.1)
- 3. Related the outcome of endodontic treatment to the preoperative periapical diagnosis
- 4. Defined the duration and frequency of follow-up: every 6 months for the first 2 years and yearly thereafter up to a minimum of 4 years postoperatively

Outcome studies that followed evaluated the result of endodontic treatment using Strindberg's criteria or its modification [7-10]. Others expanded on the range of variables being investigated, such as microbiologic status prior to obturation [11-13], the effect of intracanal medicaments [14-16], sealers [17], technical aspects of endodontic treatment [8, 9, 18, 19], and the effect of restoration [20-24].

12.2 Strindberg's Criteria

Following the publication of his landmark study, and to this day, Strindberg's criteria continue to be widely used to evaluate the outcome of endodontic treatment. The outcome assessment is based on comparative analysis of clinical presentation and radiographic evaluation of the treated tooth at the time of treatment and follow-up examination. Determination of endodontic outcome was expressed as success, failure, or uncertain and was based on the following criteria that became known as Strindberg's criteria:

I. Success

Clinical

• No symptoms

Radiographic

- Contours and width of the periodontal ligament (PDL) are normal (Fig. 12.1).
- PDL contours are widened mainly around excess root filling (Fig. 12.2).
- Lamina dura is intact (Figs. 12.3 and 12.4).

II. Failure

Clinical

• Symptoms present

Radiographic

- Unchanged periradicular rarefaction (Fig. 12.5)
- Decrease in periradicular rarefaction, but no resolution (Fig. 12.6)
- Appearance of new rarefaction or an increase in the size of initial rarefaction (Fig. 12.7)
- Discontinuous or poorly defined lamina dura

III. Uncertain

Radiographic

- Ambiguous or technically unsatisfactory radiograph which could not be interpreted with certainty (Fig. 12.8).
- Periradicular rarefaction less than 1 mm and disrupted lamina dura.
- The tooth was extracted prior to recall due to reasons not related to endodontic outcome.

These criteria were accepted as a standard by which endodontically treated teeth are evaluated. It soon became evident that Strindberg's criteria were very rigid. For example, only teeth with complete absence of clinical signs and symptoms and normal radiographic presentation are classified as "success" (Figs. 12.1, 12.2 and 12.3).



Fig. 12.1 Strindberg's criteria for success: reestablishment of the normal apical periodontal structures. (a) Pretreatment periapical radiograph demonstrating widening of the periodontal ligament space and loss of the adjacent lamina dura around the mesial and distal roots of the mandibular first molar (*white arrows*). (b) Periapical radiographs made after the completion of endodontic treatment. Trabecular bone around the mesial root apex is slightly radiolucent (*white arrow*), and the bony contours of the lamina dura are not established around the root apex. Note reduction of radiolucency around the distal root apex. (c) Follow-up periapical radiograph taken at the 1-year recall visit. Trabecular bone around both roots is of normal density. The lamina dura around both root apices is also formed (*black arrow*) (Images courtesy of Dr. Charles Maupin)



Fig. 12.2 Strindberg's criteria for success: altered periodontal ligament space contours around excess endodontic material/root filling. (a) Pretreatment periapical radiograph demonstrating an irregular radiolucency that encompasses almost the entire length of the distal root and the apex of the mesial root (*white arrows*). Note multiple mesial roots and pulp canals. (b and c) Periapical radiographs made at the completion of endodontic obturation following 4 months of dressing with calcium hydroxide. The radiographs were taken with different horizontal angulations to separate the buccal and lingual pulp canals in the two roots. Note persistence of the radiolucency around the mesial root apex, but considerable resolution with partial osseous healing around the distal root. (d) Follow-up periapical radiograph made at a recall visit, 3.5 years after completion of endodontic therapy. Trabecular bone around both roots is of normal density. The lamina dura around both root apices is also formed. Minimal widening of the periodontal ligament space is seen adjacent to the excess endodontic filling material (*black arrow*) (Images courtesy of Dr. Charles Maupin)

In contrast, an asymptomatic tooth with the appearance of broken or poorly defined lamina dura is classified as uncertain (Fig. 12.8), and clinical judgment is required for its subsequent management.

12.3 Radiographic Evaluations Have Been Inconsistent

Absence of clinical symptoms and absence of periapical radiolucency are currently the principal outcome measures that denote successful endodontic treatment. However, radiographic examination has its limitations. Radiographs provide us with a static image of the degree of mineralization in the tooth and its surrounding periodontal structures. However, for changes in bone to be radiographically apparent, there must be sufficient demineralization (or remineralization) within the lesion.



Fig. 12.3 Strindberg's criteria for success: normal lamina dura. (**a**) Pretreatment periapical radiograph showing disruption of lamina dura and widening of the periodontal ligament space around the mesial root apex of the mandibular second molar (*white arrow*) and resorption in the distal root canal. An incidental finding is the proximity of the root apices to the mandibular canal lumen (*arrow heads*). (**b**) Periapical radiographs made 1 year after completion of endodontic treatment, following 15 months and two exchanges of calcium hydroxide dressing. Note normal trabecular architecture around the mesial root apex with an intact lamina dura (*black arrow*). The distal root is shortened, but with normal architecture of the adjacent trabecular bone, suggestive of arrested resorption. As described in Strindberg's original manuscript, teeth with root resorption but no periradicular pathological changes are categorized as success (Images courtesy of Dr. Nadia Chugal)



Fig. 12.4 Strindberg's criteria for success: normal lamina dura. (**a**) Pretreatment periapical radiograph showing a mandibular molar with three roots. The periodontal ligament space around all roots is discernible. (**b** and **c**) Periapical radiographs made immediately following obturation and 1 year after completion of endodontic treatment. Note that there are no interval changes in the periodontal structures (Images courtesy of Dr. Charles Maupin)

A classic study examined the sensitivity of conventional radiography to detect experimental lesions in bone and showed that periapical lesions confined to the cancellous bone are not predictably detected [25]. Furthermore, radiographic evaluations tend to be subjective and influenced by observer bias [1, 26–29]. Indeed, multiple evaluators that reviewed the same radiographs differed in their scoring/ interpretation, with six evaluators agreeing only 47% of the time [26]. Importantly, radiographic assessment is also not very reproducible – when the same radiographs



Fig. 12.5 Strindberg's criteria for failure: little or no reduction in periradicular rarefaction. (**a** and **b**) Pretreatment periapical radiograph showing a periapical radiolucency around the palatal root of the maxillary first molar (*white arrow*). Note the superimposition of the zygomatic process of the maxilla (*black arrow*) that can be avoided by changing the vertical angulation as in panel **b**. (**c** and **d**) Follow-up periapical radiographs after completion of endodontic treatment show persistence of the periapical radiolucency (*white arrow*). Nine months after completion of endodontic treatment, the tooth became symptomatic again. The AAE classification would categorize this radiographic appearance as "nonhealed" (symptomatic). (**e** and **f**) Periapical radiographs made 1 year after surgical management of the palatal root (*black arrow*) (Images courtesy of Dr. Alexis Moore and Dr. David Han)



Fig. 12.6 Strindberg's criteria for failure: decrease in size but no resolution of periradicular rarefaction. (a) Pretreatment periapical radiograph showing a periapical radiolucency around the mesial root of the mandibular first molar (*white arrow*). Note external resorption of the mesial root apex. (b through e) Sequential periapical radiographs after completion of endodontic treatment show an increase in the radiodensity of the periapical bone. However, the area of rarefaction is persistent and, in the appropriate clinical context, may be categorized as a treatment failure. The AAE classification would categorize this as "nonhealed" (if symptomatic) or "healing" (if clinically asymptomatic) (Images courtesy of Dr. Nadia Chugal)



Fig. 12.7 Strindberg's criteria for failure: increase in the size of the initial rarefaction. (a) Pretreatment periapical radiograph showing disruption of the lamina dura and widening of the periodontal ligament space around the root apices of the mandibular first molar, particularly evident around the mesial root (*white arrow*). The surrounding trabecular bone is sclerotic, suggestive of a chronic inflammatory process. (b and c) Follow-up periapical radiographs three and a half years after completion of endodontic treatment show persistence and an increase in the size of the periapical radiolucency (*white arrow*) and, in the appropriate clinical context, (accompanied with increasing clinical symptoms of pain) is categorized as a treatment failure. (d) Periapical radiograph made after completion of endodontic surgery. Note radiolucent bony defect around the mesial root apex (*black arrow*). (e) Osseous healing and resolution of the periapical radiolucency (*black arrow*) (Images courtesy of Dr. David Han)

were evaluated 6–8 months later, the intraexaminer agreement ranged from approximately 72% to 88% depending on the radiographic feature being examined [27]. This variability between evaluators, and within the same evaluator, may explain the large variations in the outcome rates among clinical and radiographic studies [30]. These data underscore the need to calibrate evaluators and minimize inconsistencies



Fig. 12.8 Strindberg's criteria, uncertain outcome: periapical rarefaction less than 1 mm and with broken lamina dura. (**a**) Pretreatment periapical radiograph showing periradicular rarefaction around the mesial and distal roots of the mandibular first molar (*white arrows*). (**b**) Periapical radiograph made immediately after obturation, following 4 months in calcium hydroxide intracanal dressing. Note reduction in periapical radiolucency during this 4-month period. Slight excess of endodontic filling material is noted at the distal root apex (*white arrow*). (**c**) Periapical radiograph made 6 months post-obturation. The periodontal ligament space at the distal root apex is wide (*white arrow*), with absence of the lamina dura. As an asymptomatic tooth, this radiographic appearance would be categorized as an uncertain endodontic outcome. In contrast, the AAE classification would categorize this as "healing" (clinically asymptomatic). (**d**) Periapical radiograph made 18 months posttreatment. The periodontal ligament space at the distal root apex is minimally wide. Note presence of an intact lamina dura around the root (*black arrow*) signifying resolved periapical radiolucency and a successful radiographic outcome. The AAE classification would categorize this as "healed" and "functional" (clinically asymptomatic) (Images courtesy of Dr. Charles Maupin)

in radiographic evaluation when designing studies evaluating endodontic treatment outcomes. Importantly, the inherent observer variability in radiographic analyses emphasizes the need to select those radiographic outcome measures that are robust to be used in clinical practice.

12.4 The Periapical Index (PAI) Scoring System

In clinical practice, the principal end points to assess endodontic treatment outcomes are clinical findings and the status of apical periodontal bone as assessed by periapical radiography. These radiographic assessments are based on subjective evaluation of changes in radiodensity of the periapical lesion with osseous healing and with the reestablishment of the apical periodontal structures. Currently used criteria for endodontic outcome assessment are Strindberg's criteria and the American Association of Endodontic (AAE) classification, and both of these require radiographic assessment as one of the key end points analyzed.

For widespread application of such criteria, clinicians should be trained to reproducibly identify radiographic features of apical periodontitis. Equally important, research studies that examine endodontic treatment outcomes should use reliable and reproducible criteria to define success and failure. To address this issue, a scoring system for apical periodontitis, as depicted on conventional two-dimensional periapical radiographs was developed [31]. This scale provides clinicians and researchers with a reliable and reproducible tool to assess endodontic outcomes and to reasonably discriminate between subpopulations of success and failure.

The periapical index is a structured scoring system for categorization of radiographic features of apical periodontitis. It is based on a visual scale of periapical periodontitis severity and was built upon a classical study of histological-radiological correlations [32]. It is a five-point ordinal scale as listed below:

- 1. Normal periapical structures
- 2. Small changes in bone structure with no demineralization
- 3. Changes in bone structure with some diffuse demineralization
- 4. Apical periodontitis with well-defined radiolucent area
- 5. Severe apical periodontitis, with exacerbating features

The PAI therefore provides more objective criteria for radiographic evaluation of periapical status of teeth that have undergone endodontic treatment. Consequently, it has been used in a number of endodontic outcome studies for the assessment of periapical status [33–46].

Recently, cone beam computed tomography (CBCT) has found considerable applications in endodontic diagnosis and treatment planning [47]. The CBCT-PAI (CBCT periapical index) was developed to apply standardization in approaches to assess the severity of apical periodontitis by CBCT. This index is a six-point scale that includes a score (0–5) plus two variables that assess expansion and destruction of cortical bone. The CBCT-PAI scale is as listed below:

- 0: Intact periapical bone structures
- 1: Diameter of periapical radiolucency 0.5–1 mm
- 2: Diameter of periapical radiolucency 1–2 mm
- 3: Diameter of periapical radiolucency 2-4 mm
- 4: Diameter of periapical radiolucency 4–8 mm
- 5: Diameter of periapical radiolucency 8 mm
- E: Expansion of periapical cortical bone
- D: Destruction of periapical cortical bone

CBCT is more sensitive than conventional periapical radiography for detection of apical radiolucencies. Thus, it can be expected that the CBCT-PAI will likely reduce the number of false-negative diagnoses on periapical radiographs. However, a recent study demonstrated significant variation in the periodontal ligament space morphology of clinically healthy teeth [48]. This underscores the need to better evaluate and clearly define normal and abnormal features on CBCT imaging, before considering systematic application of this new technology to outcome assessment.

12.5 Outcome Definitions Have Been Inconsistent

Over the years, the terms "success" and "failure" came under close scrutiny due to discrepancies in clinical, histologic, and radiographic observations [2]. New modifiers and criteria were added such as "stringent" and "lenient" where strict definition of success is characterized by "clinical and radiographic normalcy" and lenient only

by "clinical normalcy" [49, 50]. Additional criteria were defined such as "strict" and "loose" [51, 52]. Strict criteria of success are defined by the absence of clinical signs and symptoms and by conventional radiographic measures of complete healing/presence of a normal periodontal ligament space. In contrast, success based on loose criteria may be defined by absence of signs and symptoms and conventional radiographic measures of complete healing or presence of a normal periodontal ligament space of a normal periodontal ligament space of a normal periodontal ligament space of a normal periodontal assessment of endodontic outcome.

Escalating the debate and controversy on endodontic treatment choices was the misleading comparison of endodontic treatment outcomes to the success rate of a single-tooth implant [53-55]. The term "success" was based on entirely different criteria for two treatment modalities. This comparison is also confusing to patients who have to decide whether to elect endodontic treatment or to extract the tooth and replace it with an implant.

A series of papers now known as the Toronto study [37, 39, 40, 43–45] introduced yet another set of terms that were deemed more appropriate to assess endodontic outcomes and differed from the commonly used outcome categorization of "success." The Toronto study assessment of outcome was based on the periapical index (PAI) and categorized outcomes as "healed" when the PAI score is less than 3 or "disease" for PAI scores greater than or equal to 3. Importantly, the group introduced a novel category "functional" for all teeth that were asymptomatic, regardless of PAI score. Subsequently, it was proposed that that endodontic treatment outcome should be expressed in terms of the healing of disease, and these new terms were proposed: healed, healing, disease, and functional retention [55].

12.6 The American Association of Endodontists Outcome Criteria

Typical radiographic features of periradicular inflammation that are evident on periapical radiographs include disruption of the lamina dura, widening of the periodontal ligament space, periapical radiolucency, and root resorption. With successful endodontic treatment, the periradicular inflammatory changes resolve and the osseous and periodontal structures regenerate around the tooth apex. For these changes to be radiographically apparent, there must be adequate remineralization of the bone. This emphasizes the need to consider the radiographic changes in the context of the tooth's functional status and clinical symptoms. Recognizing this, the AAE and AAE Foundation (AAEF) took the lead to review the existing criteria used in endodontics and compared these to the outcome measures used by other specialties. The organization subsequently defined new terms for outcome assessment using valid measures that are appropriate for endodontics. The rationale for new definitions was that terms such as "success" and "failure" are too vague. As an alternative to the widely used Strindberg's criteria, the new definitions were approved by the Foundation's Board of Trustees in 2004 and by the AAE Board of Directors in 2005 [56].

12.7 The AAE-Approved Definitions of Endodontic Outcomes

- I. *Healed* Functional*, asymptomatic teeth with no or minimal radiographic periradicular pathosis (Figs. 12.1c, 12.3b, 12.4c, 12.5e–f, 12.7e, 12.8d)
- II. *Nonhealed* Nonfunctional, symptomatic teeth with or without radiographic periradicular pathosis (Figs. 12.2b–c, 12.5c–d, 12.6b–e, 12.7b–c)
- III. *Healing* Teeth with periradicular pathosis, which are asymptomatic and functional, or teeth with or without radiographic periradicular pathosis, which are symptomatic but whose intended function is not altered (Fig. 12.8c)
- IV. *FUNCTIONAL** A treated tooth or root that is serving its intended purpose in the dentition

12.8 Cone Beam Computed Tomography-Based Outcome Assessment

Over the last few years, newer imaging modalities such as cone beam computed tomography (CBCT) have been used increasingly in endodontic diagnosis and treatment planning, with intent to incorporate this technology to better assess treatment decisions and outcomes [57, 58]. The AAE and the American Academy of Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology (AAOMR) jointly developed guidelines for the appropriate use of CBCT imaging in endodontics. These guidelines define clinical scenarios and two-dimensional radiographic appearances that are likely to benefit from CBCT imaging. Notably, CBCT is more sensitive than periapical radiography to detect bone lesions, and thus, its use to evaluate outcomes will undoubtedly be beneficial to identify cases that would be false negatives on periapical radiography. Despite its higher accuracy for detecting periapical disease, the AAE-AAOMR guidelines recommend against using CBCT as a routine diagnostic and outcome assessment tool [59].

The role of CBCT imaging in endodontics is best illustrated by a case presented in Chap. 3, (Fig. 3.8). This case highlights the value of CBCT as a powerful diagnostic tool that alters diagnosis and treatment plans. Note that the decision to proceed with CBCT was made only after clinical examination and two-dimensional radiography. Additional information provided by the CBCT examination was critical in elucidating the cause of endodontic failure by identifying an untreated infected canal. It is important for clinicians to recognize that CBCT imaging does not replace conventional imaging for documentation of case completion and outcome assessment. Whereas CBCT is of value in potentially identifying causes of endodontic treatment failure, the use of CBCT imaging only to monitor treatment outcome for asymptomatic teeth is unjustified (Fig. 12.9).

12.9 Outcome Rates for Orthograde Endodontic Treatment

The results of Strindberg's seminal study on outcomes of endodontic treatment at the end of the 4-year follow-up are presented in Table 12.1. These data demonstrate that success rates for endodontic treatment are significantly lower for necrotic teeth with apical periodontitis than for the teeth with a normal periapex (p<0.05). The



Fig. 12.9 Monitoring outcomes by radiography. The maxillary second molar was retreated (see details in Chap. 3, Fig. 3.8). (**a**, **b**, and **c**) Periapical radiographs taken at different horizontal angulations to evaluate endodontically treated symptomatic maxillary left second molar. Note the presence of a radiolucency around the mesiobuccal root apex. This represents a treatment failure according to Strindberg's criteria and nonhealing according to the AAE classification. (**d**, **e**, and **f**) Axial, coronal, and sagittal CBCT sections, respectively, through the maxillary second molar. Note the presipical radiographs. The extent of the lytic changes (*yellow arrows*) is better visualized on the CBCT sections, compared with the periapical radiographs. (**g**, **h**, and **i**) Periapical radiographs made at completion of endodontic re-treatment and 6-month and 30-month recall visits, respectively. The tooth continued to be clinically asymptomatic. The progressive resolution of apical periodontitis is consistent with a successful outcome (Strindberg's criteria) and/or healed classification of outcome (AAE). Note that in the absence of symptoms, conventional imaging is adequate to document this successful outcome. Additional imaging with CBCT at these follow-up stages is unnecessary and unjustified (Images courtesy of Dr. Nadia Chugal and Dr. Sotirios Tetradis)

rates for aggregate analysis and stratification on preoperative periapical diagnosis demonstrate the intimate relationship between endodontic diagnosis and outcome of treatment. Therefore, the presence of a preoperative periapical radiolucency, denoting apical periodontitis, represents a powerful prognostic indicator [6]. This finding has been repeatedly demonstrated in a number of outcome studies that followed [8–10, 37, 52, 60, 61].

An outcome study utilized microbiologic sampling prior to obturation and stratified analysis of treatment outcome based on bacteriologic findings [11]. The 4-year outcome was assessed according to Strindberg's criteria. The results showed that teeth with positive bacteriologic culture prior to obturation, denoting residual infection, had significantly lower rate of success compared with teeth that had negative culture results (Table 12.2).

Long-term healing (8–10 years after endodontic treatment) demonstrated 96% success rate for roots with vital pulps and 98 % success rate for necrotic teeth without preoperative periapical radiolucency [9]. However, only 86% of roots with pulp necrosis and periapical lesion healed after root canal treatment. Thus, the prognosis for roots without a preoperative periapical radiolucency is significantly more favorable than for those presenting with periapical rarefaction (p < 0.0001). Another study investigated the role of infection on the prognosis of endodontic treatment 5 years postoperatively using Strindberg's criteria [13]. All teeth were diagnosed with pulp necrosis and apical periodontitis and microbiologic analysis was performed prior to obturation. This study also had an impressive 5-year retention rate of 96%. The results showed complete healing in 94% of teeth that exhibited preobturation negative culture and 68% if the preobturation culture was positive (p < 0.05), (Table 12.3). The Toronto study arrived at the outcome rates based on PAI score. Teeth without preoperative apical periodontitis (PAI score < 3) showed healed rate of 92 %, whereas those with preoperative apical periodontitis (PAI \geq 3) had a healed rate of 74% [37].

A systematic review of clinical studies pertaining to success and failure of nonsurgical endodontic treatment reported an overall radiographic success rate of 81.5% over a period of 5 years [61]. Another systematic review on the outcome of primary endodontic treatment concluded that the success rates have not changed over the last four or five decades [51]. The wide range of reported success rates in individual studies was attributed to the criteria used. When strict criteria are applied to the analysis of outcome, the average success rates ranged between 31% and 96.2% with a pooled success rate of 74.7%. In contrast, when loose criteria were

Culture	Success (%)	Failure (%)	Uncertain (%)
No bacteria	88.6	11.4	0
Yes bacteria	68.6	25.4	6.0

 Table 12.2
 Correlation of positive cultures with the prognosis of endodontic treatment [11]

Outcome rates stratified on microbiologic status immediately prior to obturation demonstrated significant differences (p < 0.05)

Table 12.3Influence ofinfection at the time of rootfilling on the outcome ofendodontic treatment of teethwith apical periodontitis [13]

Culture	Success (%)	Failure (%)
No bacteria	94	6
Yes bacteria	68	32

Outcome rates stratified on microbiologic status immediately prior to obturation are significantly different for the two groups of teeth (p < 0.05)

applied to the analysis, success ranged from 60% to 100%, with pooled success rate of 85.2%. These results show that success rates were on the average about 10% lower when strict criteria were used [51]. Similar rates were obtained in a prospective study where the success rate of endodontic treatment was 83% when strict criteria were used in the assessment of outcome [52].

It is evident that varied results in outcome studies may be due to many factors, including definition of success, conditions under which radiographs were taken, calibration of evaluators, criteria used, patient pool, case selection, and length of follow-up. However, common to all these studies is a significantly lower success rate for infected teeth with preoperative apical periodontitis. This emphasizes again the strong axis between diagnosis and prognosis. As discussed in Chap. 3, this places responsibility on the treating dentist to be an astute diagnostician and intervene earlier in the disease process in order to optimize treatment outcome.

Conclusion

The criteria to assess outcomes of nonsurgical endodontic treatment were initially proposed by Strindberg as "success," "failure," and "uncertain," based on specific clinical and radiographic presentations. These criteria were widely adopted, and the presence or absence of clinical signs and symptoms and the persistence or resolution of the periapical radiolucency became the principal outcome measures of endodontic treatment. However, Strindberg's criteria for radiographic categorization of outcome are stringent and standardization among observers is challenging, and thus, its application to clinical practice was limited. Accordingly, a more reproducible index, PAI, was introduced to guide clinicians to evaluate the healing of periapical lesions after root canal treatment, as depicted on conventional periapical radiographs. Interpretation of the PAI index allows for clinical decisions on transitional phases in the healing/failing process.

More recently, in categorizing the endodontic treatment outcome, the concept of a "functional tooth" was introduced. Similarly, "tooth survival" has been adopted and parallels a common outcome measure in the dental implant literature. An important distinction is that while retention of a functional asymptomatic tooth with a persistent radiographically evident periapical lesion can be regarded an important patient-centered outcome, it is also an indicator of the unsuccessful elimination of the infection as shown in histological studies. Functional and survival clinical outcomes do not imply a successful histopathological outcome. In contrast, successful histopathological outcome implies functional or survival outcome. Clinicians must clearly understand this difference, especially when interpreting the outcome literature, and be able to explain these concepts to their patients. Nevertheless, the presence or absence of clinical signs and symptoms and the persistence or resolution of the radiographic periapical lesion still remain the principal outcome measures of endodontic treatment.

References

- 1. Bender IB, Seltzer S, Soltanoff W. Endodontic success a reappraisal of criteria. Part 1. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1966;22:780–9.
- Bender IB, Seltzer S, Soltanoff W. Endodontic success-a reappraisal of criteria. Part II. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1966;22:790–802.
- Lin LM, Pascon E, Skirbner J, Gaengler P, Langeland K. Clinical, radiographic, and histologic study of endodontic treatment failures. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1991;71:603–11.
- 4. Pak JG, White SN. Pain prevalence and severity before, during, and after root canal treatment: a systematic review. J Endod. 2011;37:429–38.
- Nixdorf DR, Moana-Filho EJ, Law AS, McGuire LA, Hodges JS, John MT. Frequency of persistent tooth pain after root canal therapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Endod. 2010;36:224–30.
- 6. Strindberg LZ. The dependence of the results of pulp therapy on certain factors. Acta Odontol Scand. 1956;14:1–175.
- Grahnén H, Hansson L. The prognosis of pulp and root canal therapy. A clinical and radiographic follow-up examination. Odontol Revy. 1961;12:146–65.
- Kerekes K, Tronstad L. Long-term results of endodontic treatment performed with a standardized technique. J Endod. 1979;5:83–90.
- Sjögren U, Hågglund B, Sundqvist G, Wing K. Factors affecting the long-term results of endodontic treatment. J Endod. 1990;16:498–504.
- Chugal NM, Clive JM, Spångberg LSW. A prognostic model for assessment of the outcome of endodontic treatment: effect of biologic and diagnostic variables. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2001;91:342–52.
- 11. Engström B, Segerstad LHA, Ramström G, Frostell G. Correlation of positive cultures with the prognosis for root canal treatment. Odontol Revy. 1964;15:257–70.
- 12. Engström B, Lundberg M. The correlation between positive culture and the prognosis of root canal therapy after pulpectomy. Odontol Revy. 1965;16:194–203.
- Sjögren U, Figdor D, Persson S, Sundqvist G. Influence of infection at the time of root filling on the outcome of endodontic treatment of teeth with apical periodontitis. Int Endod J. 1997;30:297–306.
- Bystrom A, Claesson R, Sundqvist G. The antibacterial effect of camphorated paramonochlorophenol, camphorated phenol and calcium hydroxide in the treatment of infected root canals. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1985;1:170–5.
- Byström A, Happonen R-P, Sjögren U, Sundqvist G. Healing of periapical lesions of pulpless teeth after endodontic treatment with controlled asepsis. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1987; 3:58–63.
- Weiger R, Rosendahl R, Lost C. Influence of calcium hydroxide intracanal dressings on the prognosis of teeth with endodontically induced periapical lesions. Int Endod J. 2000;33: 219–26.
- Friedman S, Löst C, Zarrabian M, Trope M. Evaluation of success and failure after endodontic therapy using a glass ionomer cement sealer. J Endod. 1995;21:384–90.
- 18. Kerekes K. Radiographic assessment of an endodontic treatment method. J Endod. 1978;4:210-3.
- Chugal N, Clive JM, Spångberg LSW. Endodontic infection: some biologic and treatment factors associated with outcome. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2003;96:81–90.
- Safavi KE, Dowden WE, Langeland K. Influence of delayed coronal permanent restoration on endodontic prognosis. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1987;3:187–91.
- 21. Kirkevang LL, Ørstavik D, Hörsted-Bindslev P, Wenzel A. Periapical status and quality of root fillings and coronal restorations in a Danish population. Int Endod J. 2000;33:509–15.
- Ricucci D, Gröndahl K, Bergenholtz G. Periapical status of root-filled teeth exposed to the oral environment by loss of restoration or caries. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2000;90:354–9.

- Tronstad L, Asbjørnsen K, Døving L, Pedersen I, Eriksen HM. Influence of coronal restorations on the periapical health of endodontically treated teeth. Endod Dent Traumatol. 2000;16:218–21.
- 24. Chugal N, Clive JM, Spångberg LSW. Endodontic treatment outcome: effect of the permanent restoration. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2007;104:576–82.
- 25. Bender IB, Seltzer S. Roentgenographic and direct observation of experimental lesions in bone: part I. J Am Dent Assoc. 1961;62:152–60.
- Goldman M, Pearson AH, Darzenta N. Endodontic success who's reading the radiograph? Oral Surg. 1972;33:432–7.
- Goldman M, Pearson AH, Darzenta N. Reliability of radiographic interpretations. Oral Surg. 1974;38:287–93.
- Gelfand M, Sunderman EJ, Goldman M. Reliability of radiographical interpretations. J Endod. 1983;9:71–5.
- Zakariasen KL, Scott DA, Jensen JR. Endodontic recall radiographs: how reliable is our interpretation of endodontic success or failure and what factors affect our reliability? Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1984;7:343–47.
- Reit C, Grondahl H. Application of statistical decision theory to radiographic diagnosis of endodontically treated teeth. Scand J Dent Res. 1983;91:213–8.
- Ørstavik D, Kerekes K, Eriksen HM. The periapical index: a scoring system for radiographic assessment of apical periodontitis. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1986;2:20–34.
- Brynolf I. A histologic and roentgenologic study of the periapical region of human upper incisors. Odontol Revy. 1967;11(Suppl):1–176.
- Ørstavik D, Kerekes K, Eriksen HM. Clinical performance of three endodontic sealers. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1987;3:178–86.
- 34. Ericksen HM, Ørstavik D, Kerekes K. Healing of apical periodontitis after endodontic treatment using three different root canal sealers. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1988;4:114–7.
- Ørstavik D, Horsted-Bindslev P. A comparison of endodontic treatment results at two dental schools. Int Endod J. 1993;26:348–54.
- 36. Trope M, Delano EO, Ørstavik D. Endodontic treatment of teeth with apical periodontitis: single vs. multivisit treatment. J Endod. 1999;25:345–50.
- Friedman S, Abitbol S, Lawrence HP. Treatment outcome in endodontics: the Toronto study. Phase 1: initial treatment. J Endod. 2003;29:787–93.
- Huumonen S, Lenander-Lumikari M, Sigurdsson A, Ørstavik D. Healing of apical periodontitis after endodontic treatment: a comparison between a silicone-based and a zinc oxideeugenol-based sealer. Int Endod J. 2003;36:296–301.
- 39. Farzaneh M, Abitbol S, Lawrence HP, Friedman S, the Toronto Study. Treatment outcome in endodontics-the Toronto study. Phase II: initial treatment. J Endod. 2004;30:302–9.
- 40. Farzaneh M, Abitbol S, Friedman S. Treatment outcome in endodontics: the Toronto study. Phases I and II: orthograde retreatment. J Endod. 2004;30:627–33.
- Quesnell BT, Alves M, Hawkinson Jr RW, Johnson BR, Wenckus CS, BeGole EA. The effect of human immunodeficiency virus on endodontic treatment outcome. J Endod. 2005;31:633–6.
- 42. Waltimo T, Trope M, Haapasalo M, Ørstavik D. Clinical efficacy of treatment procedures in endodontic infection control and one year follow-up of periapical healing. J Endod. 2005;31:863–6.
- Marquis VL, Dao T, Farzaneh M, Abitbol S, Friedman S. Treatment outcome in endodontics: the Toronto study. Phase III: initial treatment. J Endod. 2006;32:299–306.
- 44. de Chevigny C, Dao TT, Basrani BR, Marquis V, Farzaneh M, Abitbol S, Friedman S. Treatment outcome in endodontics: the Toronto study – phases 3 and 4: orthograde retreatment. J Endod. 2008;34:131–7.
- 45. de Chevigny C, Dao TT, Basrani BR, Marquis V, Farzaneh M, Abitbol S, Friedman S. Treatment outcome in endodontics: the Toronto study – phase 4: initial treatment. J Endod. 2008;34:258–63.

- 46. Kirkevang LL, Vaeth M, Wenzel A. Ten-year follow-up of root filled teeth: a radiographic study of a Danish population. Int Endod J. 2014;47:980–8.
- Estrela C, Bueno MR, Azevedo BC, Azevedo JR, Pécora JD. A new periapical index based on cone beam computed tomography. J Endod. 2008;34:1325–31.
- Pope O, Sathorn C, Parashos P. A comparative investigation of cone-beam computed tomography and periapical radiography in the diagnosis of a healthy periapex. J Endod. 2014;40:360–5.
- Friedman S. Treatment outcome and prognosis of endodontic therapy. Essential endodontology: prevention and treatment of apical periodontitis. Oxford: Blackwell Science; 1998. p. 367–91.
- 50. Friedman S. Prognosis of initial endodontic therapy. Endod Top. 2002;2:59-88.
- Ng YL, Mann V, Rahbaran S, Lewsey J, Gulabivala K. Outcome of primary root canal treatment: systematic review of the literature – part 1. Effects of study characteristics on probability of success. Int Endod J. 2007;40:921–39.
- Ng YL, Mann V, Gulabivala K. A prospective study of the factors affecting outcomes of nonsurgical root canal treatment: part 2: tooth survival. Int Endod J. 2011;44:610–25.
- Albrektsson T, Zarb G, Worthington P, Eriksson AR. The long-term efficacy of currently used dental implants: a review and proposed criteria of success. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 1986;1:11–25.
- 54. Roos J, Sennerby L, Lekholm U, Jemt T, Gröndahl K, Albrektsson T. A qualitative and quantitative method for evaluating implant success: a 5-year retrospective analysis of the Brånemark implant. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 1997;12:504–14.
- 55. Friedman S, Mor C. The success of endodontic therapy-healing and functionality. J Calif Dent Assoc. 2004;32:493–503.
- The American Association of Endodontists Communiqué. AAE and Foundation approve definition of Endodontic Outcomes. XXIX, August/September 2005:3
- 57. Wu M-K, Shemesh H, Wesselink PR. Limitations of previously published systematic reviews evaluating the outcome of endodontic treatment. Int Endod J. 2009;42:656–66.
- Patel S, Mannocci F, Shemesh H, Wu M-K, Wesselink P, Lambrecht P. Editorial. Int Endod J. 2011;44:887–8.
- 59. American Association of Endodontists and American Academy of Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology Position Statement, 2015. http://c.ymcdn.com/sites/www.aaomr.org/resource/ resmgr/Docs/AAOMR-AAE_postition_paper_CB.pdf
- Matsumoto T, Nagai T, Ida K, Ito M, Kawai Y, Horiba N, Sato R, Nakamura H. Factors affecting successful prognosis of root canal treatment. J Endod. 1987;13:239–42.
- Torabinejad M, Kutsenko D, Machnick TK, Ismail A, Newton CW. Levels of evidence for the outcome of nonsurgical endodontic treatment. J Endod. 2005;31:637–46.

From Tooth Retention Through Root Canal Treatment to Extraction and Replacement

Shane N. White and Mahmoud Torabinejad

Abstract

Initial nonsurgical root canal treatment (NSRCT) is highly successful, is appreciated by patients, relieves pain, and is cost-effective. Results from systematic reviews and studies with very large sample sizes show very high tooth survival rates following NSRCT. Very few patient-associated factors decrease the prognosis for healing after NSRCT. The vast majority of cases will heal following initial NSRCT; the small minority that do not heal are generally best addressed by nonsurgical retreatment. Nonsurgical retreatment is effective and conservative, addressing bacteria remaining within the root canal system. Healing rates increase over time following nonsurgical retreatment. The very small proportion of cases that do not heal after nonsurgical retreatment are best addressed by modern apical microsurgery. Additional case-specific surgical options should be considered before extraction. Intentional replantation remains a viable alternative to extraction. Autotransplantation has a place, particularly in growing patients with an appropriate donor tooth. Root amputation is effective when disease is localized to a single root where adequate remaining tooth structure and periodontal support will remain. Valid reasons to extract and replace an unhealed NSRCT tooth include lack of remaining tooth structure, high caries risk, or high periodontal risk. Not all extracted teeth need to be replaced, but when replacement is indicated, the single-tooth implant is preferred. Single-tooth implants have

S.N. White (🖂)

M. Torabinejad

UCLA School of Dentistry, Los Angeles, CA, USA e-mail: snwhite@dentistry.ucla.edu

Advanced Specialty Education Program in Endodontics, Department of Endodontics, School of Dentistry, Loma Linda University, Loma Linda, CA, USA e-mail: mtorabinejad@llu.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 N. Chugal, L.M. Lin (eds.), *Endodontic Prognosis*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-42412-5_13

higher survival rates, but the natural state has intrinsic value. Comprehensive case assessment, evaluation of all endodontic options, and risk assessment for caries and periodontal disease are always necessary when choosing the optimal treatment for a patient when initial root canal treatment has failed to heal.

13.1 Introduction

The principal objectives of tooth retention through root canal treatment and restoration are to provide long-term comfort, function, and aesthetics for an individual patient. The purpose of this chapter is to review prognostic considerations of the patient treatment pathways leading to endodontic options to address a tooth that has not healed after initial nonsurgical root canal treatment (NSRCT), the decision to extract, and the replacement alternatives, notably the single implant crown. Root canal treatment and implants are complementary therapies, not competing treatments, with quite distinct indications, contraindications, advantages, and disadvantages [1]. This chapter describes the flow of treatment options from tooth retention to tooth replacement.

13.1.1 High Survival Rates of NSRCT Teeth

The prognosis for healing after NSRCT is extremely good. Systematic reviews, the highest form of clinical evidence, demonstrate extremely high NSRCT tooth survival rates. Iqbal and Kim reported a 6-year survival rate for NSRCT teeth of 97% [2]. Torabinejad et al. reported a weighted 6-plus-year survival rate of 97% [3]. Another systematic review by Ng et al. restricted to far fewer source articles estimated an 8–10-year tooth survival rate of 87% [4]. The endodontic literature contains several outcome studies with extraordinarily large sample sizes which show extremely high survival rates as well as low need for additional interventions following NSRCT [5–8]. Practice-based research network studies of NSRCT outcomes in community general practice also show high tooth survival rates [9, 10]. These results speak to the remarkable performance of NSRCT teeth over time.

Interestingly, the most common reasons for extraction of NSRCT teeth for extraction are decay, periodontal disease, non-restorability, prosthodontic failure, and fracture, not failure of the NSRCT itself [7, 10-16].

A cross-sectional systematic review of the prevalence of periapical radiolucency and NSRCT indicated that some disease and unmet need remain; however, billions of teeth are retained through root canal treatment [17].

13.1.2 Patient-Centered Outcomes of NSRCT

Patients choose NSRCT to retain teeth so as to preserve the natural aesthetics of their smile and for relief of pain. A recent systematic review found that the severity

of root canal-associated pain severity was moderate before treatment, dropped substantially within one day of treatment, and dropped to minimal levels in a week [18]. Likewise, the prevalence of pain drops to minimal levels in a week [18–20]. A high percentage of patients who experienced NSRCT report willingness to choose it again [21]. Overall satisfaction ratings for root canal treatment are extremely high [20, 22]. Complication rates are low [13, 23]. Costs for NSRCT and restoration are substantially lower than they are for replacement with implant single crowns or fixed dental prostheses [3, 24–26].

13.1.3 Prognostic Indicators of NSRCT Performance

It must be understood that studies on prognostic indicators using strict radiographic criteria such as those of Strindberg or Orstavik are just that, studies on prognostic indicators, not on patient outcomes [27–29]. However, these studies do help the dentist identify patients with higher or lower chances of healing following NSRCT.

Most patient factors do not influence NSRCT prognosis. For example, advanced age and HIV status do not influence prognosis [30–35]. However, diabetes and steroid therapy may decrease prognosis [30, 34, 36]. Teeth with vital pulps are associated with a slightly better prognosis than with necrotic pulps [32, 37–42]. The presence of a periapical radiolucency may also decrease prognosis; likewise, its absence may increase prognosis [38, 39, 42–45]. Treatment quality is, of course, important [34, 46].

Importantly, NSRCT may greatly benefit patients who have bleeding disorders, have received head and neck radiation, or have received high dosage of bisphosphonates in avoiding high-risk extractions or other surgical procedures, including implant placement.

Overall, patient factors affecting NSRCT prognosis are few, and their impacts are only moderate.

13.1.4 Endodontic Treatments Following Non-healing Initial NSRCT

The vast majority of teeth with NSRCT will heal without any further intervention, but additional endodontic treatments can provide a safety net [47]. These principally include nonsurgical retreatment, endodontic surgery, intentional replantation, and autotransplantation (Fig. 13.1).

Nonsurgical retreatment is generally the first line of treatment used to address failure of initial NSRCT; it has been widely studied and generally highly successful [48, 49]. Nonsurgical retreatment addresses the usual cause of failure to heal bacteria that have either remained in the root canal system or that have reentered through coronal leakage. Teeth addressed by nonsurgical retreatment tend to show increased rates of healing over time, giving a more favorable long-term outcome than surgery [50, 51].



Fig. 13.1 Flowchart of main choices when initial nonsurgical root canal treatment (NSRCT) has not produced healing. The vast majority of cases will heal following initial NSRCT; the small minority that do not heal are generally best addressed by nonsurgical retreatment. The very small proportion of cases that do not heal after nonsurgical retreatment are best addressed by apical microsurgery; however, a variety of other case-specific options should be considered before extraction

Apical surgery, apicoectomy, is generally now reserved for situations where nonsurgical retreatment is not practicable or in the small number of cases where it has not been successful [52]. Recent studies of modern endodontic microsurgery, using microscopes, ultrasonic instrumentation, or current apical filling materials, have produced superior results to traditional endodontic surgery [53–55]. Apical surgery generally only addresses root apices, not the entire root canal system. Teeth addressed by surgery heal well initially, but have a tendency toward failure over time [51, 55].

Intentional replantation, the temporary extraction, treatment, and reinsertion of a tooth into its socket, is only indicated when there is no other way to maintain a strategic tooth. Intentionally replanted teeth are often successful if careful case selection is performed [56].

Autotransplantation, the transfer of a tooth from one alveolar socket to another area in the same patient, may have a reasonable prognosis [57–59]. Ankylosis and resorption are the most common failure modes of intentionally and autotransplanted teeth. Autotransplantation, sometimes simply called transplantation, may be a useful option in younger growing patients who have suitable candidate teeth.

Root amputation is effective when remaining disease is localized to a single root where adequate remaining tooth structure and periodontal support will remain [60]. Care must be taken to provide smooth cleansable emergence profile and contours.

13.1.5 Extraction and Tooth Replacement Decisions

Should a NSRCT tooth fail to heal initially, it should generally receive nonsurgical retreatment. In the small number of cases where this is not effective, endodontic microsurgery surgery can be provided. Should endodontic surgery be ineffective in producing healing, the tooth should be extracted (Fig. 13.1).

Lack of remaining tooth structure, high caries risk, and high periodontal risk are also valid reasons to extract and replace an unhealed NSRCT tooth.

Retaining substantial tooth structure in the endodontically treated tooth is more important than any restorative choice [61–75]. Restorations on teeth with substantial remaining dentin height and bulk had significantly higher survival rates than on teeth with minimal remaining dentin height and bulk; however, even those with minimum remaining dentin had an 84 % 10-year survival rate.

Caries is, of course, a concern with patients who undergo endodontic treatment, caries being the overwhelming cause of pulpal disease and root canal treatment. Caries risk assessment systems, such a CAMBRA, should be routinely used [75–77]. However, their predictive value may be limited [77, 78]. Recent caries history records may be more valuable in assessing a patient with an endodontically treated tooth.

Periodontal risk has been notoriously difficult to quantify [79]. Only the teeth with excellent and hopeless prognoses are easy to quantify [80]. Those in the middle, the fair, poor, and questionable, may go either way [80]. Patient-based risk assessments have become more predictive of which patients are at risk to disease progression, but not to which particular tooth may be lost [79].

Comprehensive case evaluation and risk assessment is always necessary to choose the optimal treatment for an individual patient's individual tooth when initial NCRCT has failed [81–83].

13.1.6 Fixed and Removable Dental Prostheses and Implant Alternatives

Should a decision be made to extract an endodontically treated tooth, the first question is whether to replace or not. Loss of a single tooth has remarkably little effect or oral function or health, but the loss of multiple teeth may be more problematic, and individual teeth may have critical strategic value [3]. Furthermore, appearance is incredibly important to patients [3].

Next, the mode of replacement must be determined. Removable partial denture provides excellent cost-benefit, but these are least preferred by patients [24].

Removable partial dentures can be stressful to abutment teeth, particularly to key abutments in tissue-supported situations. Fixed dental prostheses, bridges, have long been a preferred mode of tooth replacement; however, systematic review has shown that they have much lower survival and success rates than an implant single crown [3]. They also entail removal of healthy tooth structure from abutment teeth, unless already prepared. However, they may have a place in patients who are poor candidates for implant surgery and those who have already full-coverage preparations on their abutment teeth.

The implant single crown is the replacement of choice. Systematic reviews have shown it to have superior success and survival rates in comparison to fixed dental prostheses [3, 84]. The implant single crown has survival rates equal to a NSRCT tooth [1, 2]. It has superior survival rates to failed NSRCT teeth that have been treated using endodontic microsurgery, but that did not receive prior nonsurgical retreatment [55]. It also has superior survival rates to intentionally replanted teeth and likely to autotransplanted teeth [56]. Although the success of single-tooth implants has produced a paradigm shift in treatment planning, other options must be considered before extraction and tooth replacement. Implant single crowns have high complication rates, necessitating many additional interventions [55]. Implant placement may be contraindicated for patient reasons, continuing growth, diabetes, smoking, bleeding disorders, high dosage of bisphosphonates, and head and neck radiation; may not be possible for anatomic reasons, e.g., proximity to the inferior alveolar canal; or may be of undue complexity, e.g., some pneumatized maxillary sinuses [81-83]. The healthcare economist tells us that the natural state, a tooth, has intrinsic value [3]. The alternative to the natural must be better or less expensive, or both [2]. The implant single crown is no better than a natural tooth and is considerably more expensive than tooth retention, in both initial and ongoing costs [3, 24-26]. The preceding sections speak to the high bar set by conventional NSRCT for the alternatives in terms of survival, patient-centered measures, prognosis, and effective endodontic fallback procedures. Implant single crowns can offer predictable replacement of failed NSRCT when other treatment options have been attempted without success and are not possible or when the tooth has poor restorative, caries, or periodontal risks [1]. They should generally be considered as the first choice for single-tooth replacement.

Conclusions

Survival rates of root canal treated teeth are extremely high, and patient benefit is immense. The enormous benefit of initial nonsurgical root canal treatment is supported by an extraordinary weight of different types of evidence. The first treatment option after failure of initial nonsurgical root canal treatment is nonsurgical retreatment. Other options then include endodontic surgery, intentional replantation, and autotransplantation. Should the tooth still have unacceptable endodontic, restorative, periodontal, or carious risks, then the implant single crown is generally the best alternative. Comprehensive case evaluation and risk assessment of the individual patient and tooth is always necessary.

References

- 1. White SN. Complementary therapies, not competing treatments. Int J Prosthodont. 2008;21:10.
- Iqbal MK, Kim S. For teeth requiring endodontic therapy, what are the differences in the outcomes of restored endodontically treated teeth compared to implant-supported restorations? Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 2007;221(suppl):96–116.
- Torabinejad M, Anderson P, Bader J, et al. The outcomes of endodontic treatment, single implant, fixed partial denture and no tooth replacement: a systematic review. J Prosthet Dent. 2007;98:285–311.
- 4. Ng YL, Mann V, Gulabivala K. Tooth survival following non-surgical root canal treatment: a systematic review of the literature. Int Endod J. 2010;43:171–89.
- Lazarski MP, Walker 3rd WA, Flores CM, et al. Epidemiological evaluation of the outcomes of nonsurgical root canal treatment in a large cohort of insured dental patients. J Endod. 2001;27:791.
- Salehrabi R, Rotstein I. Endodontic treatment outcomes in a large patient population in the USA: an epidemiological study. J Endod. 2004;30:846–50.
- Chen S, Chueh L, Hsiao CK, Tsai M, Ho S, Chiang C. An epidemiologic study of tooth retention after nonsurgical endodontic treatment in a large population in Taiwan. J Endod. 2007;33:226–9.
- Raedel M, Hartmann A, Bohm S, Walter MH. Three-year outcomes of root canal treatment: mining an insurance database. J Dent. 2015;43:412–7.
- 9. Gilbert GH, Tilashalski KR, Litaker MS, et al. Outcomes of root canal treatment in Dental Practice-Based Research Network practices. Gen Dent. 2010;58:28–36.
- Bernstein SD, Horowitz AJ, Man M, et al. Outcomes of endodontic therapy in general practice: a study by the Practitioners Engaged in Applied Research and Learning Network. J Am Dent Assoc. 2012;143:478–87.
- 11. Vire DE. Failure of endodontically treated teeth: classification and evaluation. J Endod. 1991;17:338–42.
- Fuss Z, Lustig J, Tamse A. Prevalence of vertical root fractures in extracted endodontically treated teeth. Int Endod J. 1999;32:283–6.
- Doyle SL, Hodges JS, Pesun IJ, Law AS, Bowles WR. Retrospective cross sectional comparison of initial nonsurgical endodontic treatment and single-tooth implants. J Endod. 2006; 32:822–7.
- 14. Chen S-C, Chueh L, Hsiao CK, et al. First untoward events and reasons for tooth extraction after nonsurgical endodontic treatment in Taiwan. J Endod. 2008;34:671–4.
- Wang C, Chueh L, Chen S, Feng Y, Hsiao CK, Chiang C. Impact of diabetes mellitus, hypertension, and coronary artery disease on tooth extraction after nonsurgical endodontic treatment. J Endod. 2011;37:1–5.
- Lee AH, Cheung GS, Wong MC. Long-term outcome of primary non-surgical root canal treatment. Clin Oral Investig. 2012;16:1607–17.
- Pak JG, Fayazi S, White SN. Prevalence of periapical radiolucency and root canal treatment: a systematic review of cross-sectional studies. J Endod. 2012;38:1170–6.
- 18. Pak JG, White SN. Pain prevalence and severity before, during, and after root canal treatment: a systematic review. J Endod. 2011;37:429–38.
- Law AS, Nixdorf DR, Rabinowitz I, et al. Root canal therapy reduces multiple dimensions of pain: a national dental practice-based research network study. J Endod. 2014;40:1738–45.
- Torabinejad M, Salha W, Lozada JL, Hung YL, Garbacea A. Degree of patient pain, complications, and satisfaction after root canal treatment or a single implant: a preliminary prospective investigation. J Endod. 2014;40:1940–5.
- Lobb WK, Zakariasen KL, McGrath PJ. Endodontic treatment outcomes: do patients perceive problems? J Am Dent Assoc. 1996;127:597–600.
- Dugas NN, Lawrence HP, Teplitsky P, Friedman S. Quality of life and satisfaction outcomes of endodontic treatment. J Endod. 2002;28:819–27.

- Goodacre CJ, Bernal G, Rungcharassaeng K, Kan JY. Clinical complications in fixed prosthodontics. J Prosthet Dent. 2003;90:31–41.
- 24. Balevi B, Shepperd S. The management of an endodontically abscessed tooth: patient health state utility, decision-tree and economic analysis. BMC Oral Health. 2007;7:17.
- 25. Kim SG, Solomon C. Cost-effectiveness of endodontic molar retreatment compared with fixed partial dentures and single-tooth implant alternatives. J Endod. 2011;37:321.
- Hamedy R, Shakiba B, Fayazi S, Pak JG, White SN. Patient-centered endodontic outcomes: a narrative review. Iran Endod J. 2013;8:197–204.
- Strindberg LL. The dependence of the results of pulp therapy on certain factors. Acta Odontol Scand. 1956;14:175.
- Ørstavik D, Kerekes K, Eriksen HM. The periapical index: a scoring system for radiographic assessment of apical periodontitis. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1986;2:20–34.
- Ng YL, Mann V, Rahbaran S, Lewsey J, Gulabivala K. Outcome of primary root canal treatment: systematic review of the literature—part 1. Effects of study characteristics on probability of success. Int Endod J. 2007;40:921–39.
- 30. Storms J. Factors that influence the success of endodontic treatment. J Can Dent Assoc. 1969;35:83–97.
- 31. Fouad AF, Burleson J. The effect of diabetes mellitus on endodontic treatment outcome: data from an electronic patient record. J Am Dent Assoc. 2003;134:43.
- 32. Kojima K, Inamoto K, Nagamatsu K, et al. Success rate of endodontic treatment of teeth with vital and nonvital pulps. A meta-analysis. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2004;97:95–9.
- Quesnell BT, Alves M, Hawkinson RW, Johnson BR, Wenckus CS, BeGole EA. The effect of human immunodeficiency virus on endodontic treatment outcome. J Endod. 2005;31:633–6.
- Ng YL, Mann V, Gulabivala K. A prospective study of the factors affecting outcomes of nonsurgical root canal treatment: part 2: tooth survival. Int Endod J. 2011;44:610–25.
- 35. Hamedy R, Shakiba B, Pak JG, Barbizam JV, Ogawa RS, White SN. Prevalence of root canal treatment and periapical radiolucency in elders: a systematic review. Gerodontology. 2014;33:116–27.
- Britto LR, Katz J, Guelmann M, Heft M. Periradicular radiographic assessment in diabetic and control individuals. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2003;96:449–52.
- Sjögren U, Hägglund B, Sundqvist G, Wing K. Factors affecting the long-term results of endodontic treatment. J Endod. 1990;16:498–504.
- 38. Friedman S. Success and failure of initial endodontic therapy. Ont Dent. 1997;74:35-8.
- 39. Chugal NM, Clive JM, Spangberg LS. A prognostic model for assessment of the outcome of endodontic treatment: effect of biologic and diagnostic variables. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2001;91:342–52.
- 40. Stoll R, Betke K, Stachniss V. The influence of different factors on the survival of root canal fillings: a 10-year retrospective study. J Endod. 2005;31:783–90.
- 41. Tavares PB, Bonte E, Boukpessi T, Siqueira Jr JF, Lasfargues JJ. Prevalence of apical periodontitis in root canal-treated teeth from an urban French population: influence of the quality of root canal fillings and coronal restorations. J Endod. 2009;35:810–3.
- 42. Pirani C, Chersoni S, Montebugnoli L, Prati C. Long-term outcome of non-surgical root canal treatment: a retrospective analysis. Odontology. 2014;103:185–93.
- Kerekes K, Tronstad L. Long-term results of endodontic treatment performed with a standardized technique. J Endod. 1979;5:83–90.
- Matsumoto T, Nagai T, Ida K, Ito M, Kawai Y, Horiba N, Sato R, Nakamura H. Factors affecting successful prognosis of root canal treatment. J Endod. 1987;13:239–42.
- Torabinejad M, Kutsenko D, Machnick TK, et al. Levels of evidence for the outcome of nonsurgical endodontic treatment. J Endod. 2005;31:637–46.
- Chugal NM, Clive JM, Spangberg LS. Endodontic infection: some biologic and treatment factors associated with outcome. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2003;96:81–90.

- 47. Torabinejad M, White SN. Endodontic treatment options after unsuccessful initial root canal treatment: alternatives to single-tooth implants. J Am Dent Assoc 2016;147:214–20.
- Paik S, Sechrist C, Torabinejad M. Levels of evidence for the outcome of endodontic retreatment. J Endod. 2004;30:745–50.
- 49. Farzaneh M, Abitbol S, Friedman S. Treatment outcome in endodontics: the Toronto study. Phases I and II: orthograde retreatment. J Endod. 2004;30:627–33.
- Bergenholtz G, Lekholm U, Milthon R, et al. Retreatment of endodontic fillings. Scand J Dent Res. 1979;87:217–24.
- 51. Torabinejad M, Corr R, Handysides R, Shabahang S. Outcomes of nonsurgical retreatment and endodontic surgery: a systematic review. J Endod. 2009;35:930–7.
- 52. Mead C, Javidan-Nejad S, Mego M, et al. Levels of evidence for the outcome of endodontic surgery. J Endod. 2005;31:1924.
- Rubinstein RA, Kim S. Long-term follow-up of cases considered healed one year after apical microsurgery. J Endod. 2002;28:378–83.
- 54. Setzer FC, Kohli MR, Shah SB, Karabucak B, Kim S. Outcome of endodontic surgery: a metaanalysis of the literature—part 2: comparison of endodontic microsurgical techniques with and without use of higher magnification. J Endod. 2010;36:1757–65.
- 55. Torabinejad M, Landaez M, Milan M, et al. Tooth retention through endodontic microsurgery or tooth replacement using single implants: a systematic review of treatment outcomes. J Endod. 2015;41:1–10.
- 56. Torabinejad M, Dinsbach N, Turman M, et al. Survival of intentionally replanted teeth and implant-supported single crowns: a systematic review of treatment outcomes. J Endod. 2015;41:992–8.
- 57. Andreasen JO, Paulsen HU, Yu Z, et al. A long-term study of 370 autotransplanted premolars. Part II. Tooth survival and pulp healing subsequent to transplantation. Eur J Orthod. 1990;12:14–24.
- Tsukiboshi M. Autogenous tooth transplantation: a reevaluation. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent. 1993;13:120–49.
- 59. Akiyama Y, Fukuda H, Hashimoto K. A clinical and radiographic study of 25 autotransplanted third molars. J Oral Rehabil. 1998;25:640–4.
- 60. Fugazzotto PA. A comparison of the success of root resected molars and molar position implants in function in a private practice: results of up to 15-plus years. J Periodontol. 2001;72:1113–23.
- Mannocci F, Bertelli E, Sherriff M, Watson TF, Ford TR. Three-year clinical comparison of survival of endodontically treated teeth restored with either full cast coverage or with direct composite restoration. J Prosthet Dent. 2002;88:297–301.
- 62. Creugers NH, Mentink AG, Fokkinga WA, Kreulen CM. 5-year follow-up of a prospective clinical study on various types of core restorations. Int J Prosthodont. 2005;18:34–9.
- 63. Creugers NH, Kreulen CM, Fokkinga WA, Mentink AG. A 5-year prospective clinical study on core restorations without covering crowns. Int J Prosthodont. 2005;18:40–1.
- 64. Grandini S, Goracci C, Tay FR, Grandini R, Ferrari M. Clinical evaluation of the use of fiber posts and direct resin restorations for endodontically treated teeth. Int J Prosthodont. 2005;18:399–404.
- 65. Nagasiri R, Chitmongkolsuk S. Long-term survival of endodontically treated molars without crown coverage: a retrospective cohort study. J Prosthet Dent. 2005;93:164–70.
- Bolla M, Muller Bolla M, Borg C, Lupi-Pegurier L, Laplanche O, Leforestier E. Root canal posts for the restoration of root filled teeth. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2007;1, CD004623.
- Ferrari M, Cagidiaco MC, Goracci C, Vichi A, Mason PN, Radovic I, Tay F. Long-term retrospective study of the clinical performance of fiber posts. Am J Dent. 2007;20:287–91.
- Ferrari M, Cagidiaco MC, Grandini S, De Sanctis M, Goracci C. Post placement affects survival of endodontically treated premolars. J Dent Res. 2007;86:729–34.
- 69. Bitter K, Noetzel J, Stamm O, Vaudt J, Meyer Lueckel H, Neumann K, Kielbassa AM. Randomized clinical trial comparing the effects of post placement on failure rate of

postendodontic restorations: preliminary results of a mean period of 32 months. J Endod. 2009;35:1477-82.

- Signore A, Benedicenti S, Kaitsas V, Barone M, Angiero F, Ravera G. Long-term survival of endodontically treated, maxillary anterior teeth restored with either tapered or parallel-sided glass-fiber posts and full-ceramic crown coverage. J Dent. 2009;37:115–21.
- 71. Signore A, Kaitsas V, Ravera G, Angiero F, Benedicenti S. Clinical evaluation of an ovalshaped prefabricated glass fiber post in endodontically treated premolars presenting an oval root canal cross-section: a retrospective cohort study. Int J Prosthodont. 2011;24:255–63.
- Mancebo JC, Jiménez-Castellanos E, Cañadas D. Effect of tooth type and ferrule on the survival of pulpless teeth restored with fiber posts: a 3-year clinical study. Am J Dent. 2010;23:351–6.
- Ferrari M, Vichi A, Fadda GM, Cagidiaco MC, Tay FR, Breschi L, Polimeni A, Goracci C. A randomized controlled trial of endodontically treated and restored premolars. J Dent Res. 2012;91(S 7):72–8.
- Naumann M, Koelpin M, Beuer F, Meyer Lueckel H. 10-year survival evaluation for glassfiber-supported postendodontic restoration: a prospective observational clinical study. J Endod. 2012;38:432–5.
- Dammaschke T, Nykiel K, Sagheri D, Schäfer E. Influence of coronal restorations on the fracture resistance of root canal-treated premolar and molar teeth: a retrospective study. Aust Dent J. 2013;39:48–56.
- Hurlbutt M, Young DA. A best practices approach to caries management. J Evid Based Dent Pract. 2014;14(Suppl):77–86.
- 77. Kutsch VK. Dental caries: an updated medical model of risk assessment. J Prosthet Dent. 2014;11:280–5.
- Tellez M, Gomez J, Pretty I, Ellwood R, Ismail AI. Evidence on existing caries risk assessment systems: are they predictive of future caries? Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 2013;41:67–78.
- Lang NP, Suvan JE, Tonetti MS. Risk factor assessment tools for the prevention of periodontitis progression a systematic review. J Clin Periodontol. 2015;42 Suppl 16:S59–70.
- 80. McGuire MK, Nunn ME. Prognosis versus actual outcome. III. The effectiveness of clinical parameters in accurately predicting tooth survival. J Periodontol. 1996;67:666–74.
- Torabinejad M, Goodacre CJ. Endodontic or dental implant therapy: the factors affecting treatment planning. J Am Dent Assoc. 2006;137:973–7.
- White SN, Miklus VG, Potter KS, Cho J, Ngan AY. Endodontics and implants, a catalog of therapeutic contrasts. J Evid Based Dent Pract. 2006;6:101–9.
- Zitzmann NU, Krastl G, Hecker H, Walter C, Waltimo T, Weiger R. Strategic considerations in treatment planning: deciding when to treat, extract, or replace a questionable tooth. J Prosthet Dent. 2010;104:80–91.
- 84. Salinas TJ, Eckert SE. In patients requiring single-tooth replacement, what are the outcomes of implant- as compared to tooth-supported restorations? Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 2007;22(Suppl):71–95.

Index

A

AAE Consensus conference recommended diagnostic terminology periapical disease, 39–41 pulpal disease, 35, 36 American Academy of Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology (AAOMR), 222 American Association of Endodontists (AAE), 211, 217–219, 221–223 Apical and periradicular tissues, 40, 44–48, 50–54

B

Biofilm lifestyle bacteria build biofilms, 18, 19 bacteria form biofilms, 19 biofilm formation in root canals, 18–19 biofilm resistance to antimicrobials, 19–20

С

Calcium silicate-based cement (CSC), 66-71, 73, 79-80, 82, 171, 177 Carious infection plaque biofilm, 44 pulpal-periapical tissue complex bacterial infection, 44 extraradicular infection, 46, 48, 50 immuno-inflammatory reaction, 44-46 necrotic tissue, 46, 47 pulpal inflammation/necrosis, 48 root canal therapy, 46, 48 CBCT. See Cone beam computed tomography (CBCT) Chemomechanical procedures, 132, 134-136 Chlorhexidine (CHX), 20, 78, 104, 132, 133, 134, 136, 147 Cone beam computed tomography (CBCT) AAE-AAOMR guidelines, 222, 223

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 N. Chugal, L.M. Lin (eds.), *Endodontic Prognosis*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-42412-5

PAI scoring system, 220 periapical disease, 38–39 pulpal disease, 35, 36 outcome assessment, 222 Conventional intraoral radiography periapical disease, 37–38 pulpal disease, 35 Cvek technique, 69, 70

D

Dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs), 67–69, 73, 74 Dentinal pain, 91

Е

Electric pulp test (EPT) PPV and NPV, 34, 35 sensory nerve fibers, 33 tester, 32 Endodontic infections biofilm lifestyle bacteria build biofilms, 18, 19 bacteria form biofilms, 19 biofilm formation in root canals, 18-19 biofilm resistance to antimicrobials, 19_20 microbial colonization of tooth surfaces, 14 microbiological methods culture and molecular, 20-21 in situ microscopy, 22, 23 molecular biology methods, 22 oral ecosystem, 14 oral health and disease, 14-15 root canal ecosystem, 15 root canal infections endodontic pathogen, 16 immunoevasive strategies of bacteria, 16.17

Endodontic infections (cont.) pathways of microbial entry, 15 polymicrobial nature of, 17-18 primary invaders, 16 prognosis of, 22-25 pulp inflammatory reaction, 15-16 Endodontic prognosis and outcome apical periodontitis, 2 dental treatment planning, 2 evidence-based dentistry principles, 2 intraoperative factors, 8, 197 multifactorial nature of infection-induced apical root resorption, 2, 7 obliterated canal, 2, 5, 6 pathologic/idiopathic root resorption, 2, 7 periapical lesion, 3, 5-10 risk factors, 5, 8, 10 root canal system, 3, 4, 8 postoperative factors, 9, 194, 201-202 preoperative factors, 5-8, 195 radiographic examination, 9, 125 root canal infection effect, 9 Strindberg's stringent criteria, 9-10, 213-215 Endodontically treated teeth (ETT) immature teeth with open apices bonded translucent composite core restorations, 177 carious lesions, 171 complicating factors, 171 coronal and radicular fractures, 172 PMC/SSC, 171-175, 177 regenerative techniques, 171 tooth structure preservation, 171 translucent core materials, 175 vital pulp therapy, 171 interim restorations, 162-165 mature teeth, restoration of cementing posts, 170 coronal structure, 166 corono-radicular buildup, 167 custom cast posts, 166, 168 GFR epoxy resin posts, 168, 170 gutta-percha, 165, 166 longer posts, 168 mandibular first premolars, 167 post design, 167, 168 prefabricated posts, 165, 181 single post, 168 prognostic factors and treatment outcome crown preparation, 178-179 direct restorations, 166, 178 endodontic failures, 178

GFR posts, 181 implants and implant-supported prosthesis, 180–181 MOD composite, 179 post and obturation material, 181–182 prefabricated posts, 165, 181 resin core buildup, 179 threaded posts, 180 *Enterococcus faecalis*, 24–25, 101, 102, 104, 137 ETT. *See* Endodontically treated teeth (ETT)

G

Glass fiber-reinforced (GFR) posts, 168, 170, 181

H

Healing process, 50

I

Immature teeth ETT bonded translucent composite core restorations, 177 carious lesions, 171 complicating factors, 171 coronal and radicular fractures, 172 PMC/SSC, 171-175, 177 regenerative techniques, 171 tooth structure preservation, 171 translucent core materials, 175 vital pulp therapy, 171 tissue engineering biomaterials for, 73 CH/triple antibiotic paste, 71 growth-differentiation signals, 72, 73 MSCs, 72-74 pulp-dentin regeneration, 76-78 pulpal and PDL innervations, 72 radicular periodontium, 73, 74 **RCT. 72** revascularization, 74-76 scaffold, 72, 73 treatment of direct pulp capping, 67-69, 78-79 indirect pulp capping, 68-69 partial and complete pulpotomy, 69-70 pulp revascularization, 80-82 root canal obturation, 79-81 vital pulp therapy, 67 Inflammatory dental pain, 90-91 Interim restorations, 162–165

Irrigation intracanal medication calcium hydroxide, 137-138 chlorhexidine, 104 dentinal tubules and isthmuses, 132, 135 lateral canals and apical ramifications, 135-136 root canal disinfection antimicrobial, 133, 136, 137 bacterial populations, 133 chlorhexidine, 104, 134 intracanal antibacterial effectiveness, 133 root canal preparation, 132-133 sodium hypochlorite, 134 working length and working width, 133 smear layer removal, 134-135

М

Mature teeth ETT cementing posts, 170 coronal structure, 166 corono-radicular buildup, 167 custom cast posts, 166, 168 GFR epoxy resin posts, 168, 170 gutta-percha, 165, 166 longer posts, 168 mandibular first premolars, 167 post design, 167, 168 prefabricated posts, 165, 181 single post, 168 treatment of after nonsurgical endodontic treatment, 58 - 59posttreatment endodontic pain/ swelling, 57-58 symptomatic apical periodontitis, 57-59 symptomatic irreversible pulpitis, 54-56 with apical periodontitis, 50-53 without apical periodontitis, 49-50 Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), 71-74, 76-78 Mineral trioxide aggregate (MTA), 147, 150

Ν

Negative predictive value (NPV), 33, 34 Neuropathic pain, 91–92 Nociceptive pain, 88–90 Non-surgical endodontic treatment outcome rates for 4-year follow-up, 213, 222–225 long-term healing, 224 positive bacteriologic culture, 224

PAI scoring system, 219-220 radiographic evaluations, 214-216, 218-219 Strindberg's criteria clinical signs and symptoms, 214-215 decrease in periradicular rarefaction. 214-216, 218-219 lamina dura, 214, 216 periodontal ligament, 214, 215 size of initial rarefaction, 214, 217-218 unchanged periradicular rarefaction, 214, 217 Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), 91, 92, 96, 98, 99 Nonsurgical root canal treatment (NSRCT) extraction and tooth replacement decisions, 230 - 234high survival rates of, 230 implant single crown, 234 non-healing, 231-233 patient-centered outcomes of, 230-231 prognostic indicators of, 231 removable partial dentures, 233-234

0

Odontalgia, 88 Orofacial pain, 88

P

Periapical disease palpation test, 37 percussion test, 37 pulp tests, 37 radiographic examination CBCT, 38-39 clinical diagnostic terminology, 39-41 conventional intraoral radiography, 37-38 swelling/draining sinus track, 37 Periapical index (PAI) scoring system, 219-221 Periodontal ligament (PDL) innervations, 72 Pharmacotherapeutics dentinal pain, 91 infection management antibiotics, 102-103 endodontic dressings, 104 role of bacteria, 100-103 inflammation pain, 90-91 intraoperative pain management, local anesthetics articaine, 95 bupivacaine, 95-96 inflammatory mediators, 92-94

lidocaine, 95

Pharmacotherapeutics (cont.) preemptive analgesics, 96 pulpal anesthesia vs. soft tissue anesthesia, 94-95 sodium channel subtypes, 94 supplementary injections/adjunctive therapies, 95 neuropathic pain, 91-92 nociceptive pain, 88-90 postoperative pain management experiencing inter-appointment pain, 97 gender, 97 ibuprofen and acetaminophen, 99 nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, 98 opioid drugs, 99 persistent posttreatment pain, 100 post-obturation/post-instrumentation, 96 predictors of, 97 prevalence of, 97 steroids, 99 tooth type, 97 Positive predictive value (PPV), 33-35 Preformed metal crown/stainless steel crown (PMC/SSC), 171-175, 177 Provisional restorations (PRs), 162-165 Pulpal disease CBCT, 35, 36, 38-39 chief complaint, 30 clinical diagnostic terminology, 35, 36, 37 cold test CO₂ snow and ethyl chloride, 31-32 Endo-Ice, 31, 32 PPV and NPV, 34 refrigerate spray for, 32 sensitivity value of, 33, 34 thermal tests interpretation, 33 conventional intraoral radiography, 35 dental history, 30-31 electric pulp test PPV and NPV, 34, 35 sensory nerve fibers, 33 tester, 32 extraoral examination, 31 heat test gutta-percha, 32 System B unit, 32 thermal tests interpretation, 33 intraoral examination, 31 medical history, 30 reliability of, 33-35 reversible and irreversible pulpitis, 35 signs/symptoms, 35

R

RCT. See Root canal treatment (RCT) Regenerative endodontic therapy tissue engineering biomaterials for, 73 CH/triple antibiotic paste, 71, 73, 75 growth-differentiation signals, 72, 73 MSCs, 72-74, 76, 78 pulp-dentin regeneration, 76-78 pulpal and PDL innervations, 72 radicular periodontium, 73, 74 **RCT**, 72 revascularization, 74-76 scaffold, 72, 73 treatment of direct pulp capping, 67-69, 78-79 indirect pulp capping, 68-69 partial and complete pulpotomy, 69 - 70pulp revascularization, 80-82 root canal obturation, 79-81 vital pulp therapy, 67 Resin-modified glass ionomers (RMGIs), 163 Reversible/irreversible pulpitis, 33, 35 Root canal infections coronal restorations and root canal fillings, 59-60 endodontic pathogen, 16 immunoevasive strategies of bacteria, 16, 17 pathways of microbial entry, 15 polymicrobial nature of, 17-18 primary invaders, 16 prognosis of apical labyrinth, 24 apical root surface, 24 chronic inflammatory response, 25 dentinal tubuli, 23-24 Enterococcus faecalis, 24-25 risk factor, 22 root resoptions/lacunae, 24 treatment, 24 pulp inflammatory reaction, 15-16 Root canal irrigation antimicrobial, 133, 136, 137 bacterial populations, 133 chlorhexidine, 134 intracanal antibacterial effectiveness, 133 sodium hypochlorite, 134 Root canal morphology respected (RCMR), 199 Root canal treatment (RCT), 72 anatomic factors number/roots, 194

proximal contacts, 195 tooth type, 194 demographic factors, 202 ETT (see Endodontically treated teeth (ETT)) genetic factors, 202 geriatric patients, 204 guidelines, 205-206 intra-(inter)operative factors cleaning and shaping, 197-198 flare-up, 199 intracanal irrigants and medications, 199 number of visits, 199 obturation, 200-201 procedural errors, 198-199 use of rubber dam, 197 postoperative factors, 201 preoperative factors clinical symptoms, 195 first and second treatment, 196 foreign materials, canal, 196 periapical status, 195, 196 periodontal status, 197 preexisting perforation, 196 pulp status, 195 quality of, 196 size of periapical lesion, 196 systemic diseases and medications bisphosphonate therapy, 204 diabetes mellitus, 202-203 HIV virus, 203-204 hypertension, 203 smoking, 203 steroid therapy, 204 Root filling clinical functions, 142 conventional gutta-percha, 151, 152 materials for, 145-147 modes of placement, 150-151 MTA, 147, 150 obturating materials apexification/apexogenesis/ regeneration, 143 conventional root fillings, 143

core materials, 147–148 coronal restoration, 143 evidence-based practice, 144–145 pulp amputation, 143 pulp capping, 143 root perforations, 144 root-end filling, 144, 147, 149–150 sealers, 148–149 properties, 142 purpose, 148 radiographic appearance, 151–152 resin cores, 146 ZnO-eugenol-based materials, 146, 147

S

Stem cells of the apical papilla (SCAP), 66, 67, 69 Strindberg's criteria clinical signs and symptoms, 214, 221, 225 decrease in periradicular rarefaction, 214, 218 lamina dura, 214–216, 218–219, 222 periodontal ligament, 214–216, 218–221 size of initial rarefaction, 214, 217–219, 220, 224 uncertain outcome, 214, 215, 219, 221, 225 unchanged periradicular rarefaction, 214, 217

Т

Transient receptor potential (TRPs) channels, 89, 90 Triple antibiotic paste (TAP), 71, 73, 75

V

Vital pulp therapy (VPT), 46, 67, 78-79

W

Working length (WL), 79, 125–126, 132, 133, 198